
  
                    
              
TTaazzeewweellll CCoouunnttyy  BBooaarrdd     
Wednesday, April 30, 2025  
Brett Grimm, Chairman of the Board 
Michael Harris, Vice-Chairman of the Board 

 
COUNTY BOARD AGENDA            2 
              
MINUTES             5 
 
HEALTH SERVICES HS-25-08 AGREEMENT FOR DEPUTY ADMINISTRATOR OF TAZEWELL COUNTY ANIMAL   12 

& RABIES CONTROL 
UPON APPROVAL OF IN-PLACE MEETING  

 
TRANSPORTATION T-25-7  RESOLUTION – 19-14119-00-DR – ROBISON RD. BOX CULVERT  18 

 
TRANSPORTATION T-25-8  RESOLUTION – 25-00000-01-GM – COUNTY GENERAL MAINTENANCE 21  
    
TRANSPORTATION T-25-9  RESOLUTION – 25-00000-05-GM – COUNTY SHOULDER WIDENING 23 

 
TRANSPORTATION T-25-10 RESOLUTION – 25-17000-02-GM – SPRING LAKE RD PULVERIZATION 25 
  
TRANSPORTATION T-25-11 RESOLUTION – 25-00051-00-ES – TRI-CO. REGIONAL PLANNING –  27 

BLR 09110    
 
LAND USE  LU-25-03 CASE NO. 25-09-S CINCINNATI CSG 1, LLC – SPECIAL USE  32 
 
LAND USE  LU-25-04 CASE NO. 25-10-S CINCINNATI CSG 2, LLC – SPECIAL USE  43 
 
LAND USE  LU-25-05 CASE NO. 25-11-Z NICKOLAS RUZICKA – REZONING   54 
 
PROPERTY  P-25-06 ADDITIONAL ITEMS FOR THE NEW IMPOUND BUILDING IN TREMONT 63 
 
PROPERTY  P-25-07 PROPOSAL FOR NEW ANIMAL CONTROL BUILDING    68 
 
FINANCE   F-25-14 INCREASES IN THE SHERIFF’S OFFICE FEES PER COST STUDY  205 
 
FINANCE   F-25-15 FY26 BUDGET PARAMETERS      224 

 
EXECUTIVE  E-25-34 WE CARE APPLICATION FOR SECTION 5311 AND DOAP GRANTS FOR FY26 225 
            
EXECUTIVE  E-25-37 2ND QUARTER 2025 PAYMENT TO GREATER PEORIA ECONOMIC   284 

DEVELOPMENT COUNCIL  
 

EXECUTIVE  E-25-38 ADDITION TO PROJECT LIST FOR FEDERAL COMMUNITY PROJECT FUNDING  286 
UPON APPROVAL OF IN-PLACE MEETING  
 

EXECUTIVE    APPOINTMENTS AND REAPPOINTMENTS     288 
 
MAY 2025 CALENDAR OF MEETINGS            296 

1



   TAZEWELL COUNTY BOARD 
   James Carius Community Room 

101 S. Capitol Street 
Pekin, Illinois 61554 

 
Wednesday, April 30, 2025 - 6:00 p.m. 

 
Brett Grimm - Chairman of the Board 

Michael Harris - Vice Chairman of the Board 
 

A. Roll Call 

B. Invocation and Pledge of Allegiance  

C. Communications from members of the public and county employees 
 
1. Presentation: Pekin Township Supervisor/Shannon Saal 
  

D. Communications from elected and appointed county officials   
 
1. Health Department Overview by Amy Fox and Stacie Ealey 
 

E. Approve the minutes of the March 26, 2025 and April 10, 2025 County Board 
Proceeding 
 

F. In-Place Health Services Committee Meeting 
 

G. In-Place Executive Committee Meeting 
 

H. Consent Agenda: 

Health Services 

HS-25-08  1. Approve Agreement for Deputy Administrator of Tazewell County Animal &  
Rabies Control 
Upon Approval of In-Place Meeting 
 

Transportation 

  T-25-7                  2. Approve Resolution – 19-14119-00-DR – Robison Rd. Box Culvert 
 
  T-25-8                  3. Approve Resolution – 25-00000-01-GM – County General Maintenance 
 
  T-25-9                  4. Approve Resolution – 25-00000-05-GM – County Shoulder Widening 
 
  T-25-10                5. Approve Resolution – 25-17000-02-GM – Spring Lake RD Pulverization 
 

2



  T-25-11                6. Approve Resolution – 25-00051-00-ES – Tri-Co. Regional Planning – BLR 
09110     

 
                   Land Use 
 
  LU-25-03              7. Approve Case No. 25-09-S Cincinnati CSG 1, LLC – Special Use 
  
  LU-25-04              8. Approve Case No. 25-10-S Cincinnati CSG 2, LLC – Special Use 
 
  LU-25-05              9. Approve Case No. 25-11-Z Nickolas Ruzicka – Rezoning  
       

 
 Property  

 P-25-06         10. Approve Additional Items for the New Impound Building in Tremont 

 P-25-07         11. Approve Proposal for New Animal Control Building   

      Finance 

 F-25-14         12. Approve Increases in the Sheriff’s Office Fees per Cost Study 

 F-25-15         13. Approve FY26 Budget Parameters 

  Executive 

 
E-25-34         14. Approve We Care Application for Section 5311 and DOAP grants for FY26 
 
E-25-37         15. Approve 2nd Quarter 2025 Payment to Greater Peoria Economic  

Development Council 
 

E-25-38         16. Addition to Project List for Federal Community Project Funding 
Upon Approval of In-Place Meeting 

  
  Appointments and Reappointments 

  
  E-25-28         17. Approve reappointment of Lori Prater to the Northern Tazewell Fire  

Protection District  
 

E-25-29         18. Approve reappointment of Kathy Perhay to the Northern Tazewell Fire  
Protection District  
 

E-25-30         19. Approve reappointment of Brad Brooks to the East Peoria Sanitary District 
 
E-25-31         20. Approve reappointment of Samantha Severns to the Greater Creve Coeur  

Sanitary District  
   
E-25-32         21. Approve reappointment of Wilbert Grimm to the Lake Arlann Drainage  

District 
3



 
E-25-33         22. Approve appointment of Nic Maquet to the Lake Arlann Drainage District 
 
E-25-35         23. Approve reappointment of Jimmy Stevens to the Board of Review 
 
E-25-36         24. Approve reappointment of John Bisanz to the Board of Review 
 
 

   
I. Unfinished Business 

 
J. New Business 

 
K. Review of approved bills 

 
L. Approve the May 2025 Calendar of Meetings   

  
M. Recess to May 28, 2025  

4



Chairman Brett Grimm        Vice Chairman, Michael Harris, Dist. 3     
Kim D. Joesting, Dist. 1       Jay Hall, Dist. 1 
Nancy Proehl, Dist. 1      Deene Milam, Dist. 1  
Mark Goddard, Dist. 1          Joe Woodrow, Dist. 1 
Kaden Nelms, Dist. 1       Jon Hopkins, Dist. 2        
Nick Graff, Dist. 2            Maxwell Schneider, Dist. 2          
Greg Menold, Dist. 2            Cathryn Stump, Dist. 2         
Greg Sinn, Dist. 2              Eric Stahl, Dist. 2       
Eric Schmidgall, Dist. 3           John C. Ackerman       Russ Crawford, Dist. 3 
Dave Mingus, Dist. 3         County Clerk     Aaron Phillips, Dist. 3 
Tammy Rich-Stimson, Dist. 3      Greg Longfellow, Dist. 3 

TAZEWELL COUNTY BOARD  
MEETING MINUTES 

WEDNESDAY MARCH 26, 2025 
6:00 PM 

James Carius Community Room, Tazewell Law & Justice Center, 
101 S. Capitol Street, Pekin, Illinois 61554 

ROLL CALL BY COUNTY CLERK 

Attendance was taken by Roll Call, and the following members of the board were 
present:  Chairman Grimm, Vice Chairman Harris, Members Crawford, Goddard, Graff, 
Hall, Hopkins, Joesting, Longfellow, Menold, Milam, Mings, Schmidgall, Schneider, 
Sinn, Stump, Woodrow – 17.  Absent: Members Nelms, Proehl, Rich-Stimson, Stahl – 4. 

INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Member Hall led the invocation followed by Chairman Grimm leading the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 

APPROVAL & SWEARING IN OF NEWLY APPOINTED COUNTY BOARD MEMBER 

Motion by Member Hopkins to approve the appointment of Aaron Phillips to County 
Board District 3 seat; seconded by Member Sinn. Motion to approve Resolution E-25-25 
was approved by voice vote of 16 Yeas; 0 Nays.  

County Clerk John C. Ackerman administered the oath of office to County Board District 
3 Member Aaron Phillips. 

COMMUNICATION FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND/OR COUNTY 
EMPLOYEES 

No communication from members of the public or county employees. DRAFT

5



TAZEWELL COUNTY BOARD MINUTES MARCH 26, 2025 
 

2 
 

COMMUNICATIONS FROM ELECTED & APPOINTED COUNTY OFFICIALS 

Tazewell County Clerk John C. Ackerman spoke about an event on April 16th at 4:30 
PM recognizing the World War II Naval Ship U.S.S. Tazewell.  A portrait along with red 
and green navigational lights will be on display at the courthouse.   

Tazewell County Sheriff, Jeff Lower provided an overview of the services his office 
performs throughout the county.  He stated there are four divisions at the sheriff’s office, 
patrol, corrections, court security and civil process.  He stated Patrol handled over 
25,000 calls last year and Civil Process served over 3,500 court documents.  He 
explained the jail has a capacity of 226 but could be expanded if necessary.   

Human Resources Director Sue Webster and County Board Chairman Brett Grimm 
recognized Board Members Russ Crawford, Greg Sinn, Nick Graff and Mike Harris with 
service pens for their dedicated service to Tazewell County. 

APPROVE THE MINUTES OF FEBRUARY 19, 2025, FEBRUARY 22, 2025, AND 
FEBRUARY 26, 2025, COUNTY BOARD PROCEEDING 

Member Schmidgall moved to approve the minutes of the Strategic Planning Meetings 
held on February 19, 2025, and February 22, 2025, and County Board Meeting held on 
February 26, 2025, as printed; seconded by Member Hopkins.  Motion to approve the 
minutes as printed were approved by voice vote of 16 Yeas; 0 Nays. 

CONSENT AGENDA 

Health Services: Approve annual recycling grant payment to East Peoria for 
curbside recycling, Resolution HS-25-01. 

Health Services: Approve annual recycling grant payment to Morton for curbside 
recycling, Resolution HS-25-02.   

Health Services: Approve annual recycling grant payment to Village of Creve 
Coeur for curbside recycling, Resolution HS-25-03. 

Health Services: Approve annual recycling grant payment to Pekin for curbside 
recycling, Resolution HS-25-04. 

Health Services:  Approve annual recycling grant payment to Washington for 
curbside recycling, Resolution HS-25-05. 

Health Services:  Approve the annual recycling collection programs, Resolution      
HS-25-06. DRAFT

6



TAZEWELL COUNTY BOARD MINUTES MARCH 26, 2025 
 

3 
 

Health Services:  Approve Veterinarian-Reduced Fee/Spay Neuter Surgery 
Agreement, Resolution HS-25-07. 

Transportation:  Approve 22-00026-00-DR-Tobaggan Ave. – Amended BLR 05530, 
Resolution T-25-03. 

Transportation: Approve 22-00026-00-DR-Tobaggan Ave - Drainage, Resolution T-
25-04. 

Transportation: Approve 25-02000-01-GM-Cincinnati Road District – Steel Slag, 
Resolution T-25-05 

Transportation:  Approve 19-14119-00-DR-Robison Rd. Culvert – Eng. Agreement, 
Resolution T-25-06. 

Property: Approve elevator upgrades, Resolution P-25-05. 

Finance:  Approve creation of two funds in MIP for Sheriff’s State and Federal 
Asset Forfeitures, Resolution F25-12. 

Finance: Approve a transfer for elevator upgrade costs, Resolution F-25-13.   

Human Resources:  Approve amended plan summary, Resolution HR-25-05. 

Human Resources:  Approve Carle Health Contract Extension, Resolution HR-25-
06. 

Executive:  Approve six-month review of Executive Session minutes by the 
State’s Attorney’s Office, Resolution E-25-24. 

Executive:  Approve amended Intergovernmental Agreement to provide public 
transportation in Tazewell and Woodford Counties, Resolution E-25-27. 

Member Graff moved to approve the Consent Agenda items as outlined in the agenda 
packet; seconded by Member Menold.  The Consent Agenda was approved by voice 
vote of 16 Yeas; 0 Nays. 

No items were removed from the Consent Agenda for further discussion. 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

It was determined the board had no unfinished business at this time. 

NEW BUSINESS 

It was determined the board had no new business at this time. 

DRAFT

7



TAZEWELL COUNTY BOARD MINUTES MARCH 26, 2025 
 

4 
 

CONSIDERATION OF A MOTION FOR THE TAZEWELL COUNTY BOARD TO 
ENTER EXECUTIVE SESSION PURSUANT TO 5 ILCS 120/2(C)(11) LITIGATION 
WHEN AN ACTION AGAINST, AFFECTING OR ON BEHALF OF THE PARTICULAR 
PUBLIC BODY HAS BEEN FILED AND IS PENDING BEFORE A COURT OR 
ADMINISTRATIVE TRIBUNAL, OR WHEN THE PUBLIC BODY FINDS THAT AN 
ACTION IS PROBABLE OR IMMINENT, IN WHICH CASE THE BASIS FOR THE 
FINDING SHALL BE RECORDED AND ENTERED INTO THE MINUTES OF THE 
CLOSED MEETING. 

Member Hall moved to enter Executive Session pursuant to 5 ILCS 120/2(c)(11), 
Litigation when an action against, affecting or on behalf of the particular public body has 
been filed and is pending before a court or administrative tribunal, or when the public 
body finds that an action is probable or imminent, in which case the basis for the finding 
shall be recorded and entered into the minutes of the closed meeting; seconded by Vice 
Chairman Harris.  Motion passed by voice vote of 16 Yeas; 0 Nays.  The Tazewell 
County Board entered Executive Session at 6:18 PM. 

The Tazewell County Board returned to open session at 6:58 PM 

RESCIND THE DENIAL OF SPECIAL USE PETITIONS FROM ORDINANCE LU-24-
13 (UNSICKER 1, LLC CASE NO. 24-27-S), LU-24-14 (UNSICKER 2, LLC CASE 24-
28-S) AND LU-24-15 (UNSICKER3, LLC CASE 24-29-S) FROM THE AUGUST 28, 
2024, MEETING 

Member Schneider motioned to rescind the denial of Special Use Petitions from 
Ordinance LU-24-13 (Unsicker 1, LLC Case No. 24-27-S), LU-24-14 (Unsicker 2, LLC 
Case 24-28-S) and LU-24-15 (Unsicker3, LLC Case 24-29-S) from the August 28, 2024, 
Meeting; seconded by Member Milan. 

Member Crawford asked a procedural question regarding voting. 

State’s Attorney Kevin Johnson spoke on the board rules. 

Motion passed by roll call vote of 11 Yeas; 0 Nays; 5 Present – Crawford, Graff, Harris, 
Mingus, Schmidgall; 1 Abstention – Hopkins.  Member Hopkins’ reasoning for 
abstention was that major changes in state legislation needed to be made. 

APPROVAL OF SPECIAL USE PETITIONS FOR ORDINANCES LU-24-13 
(UNSICKER 1, LLC CASE NO. 24-27-S), LU24-14 (UNSICKER 2, LLC CASE 24-28-
S), AND LU-24-15 (UNSICKER 3, LLC CASE 24-29-S) 

Member Schnieder motioned to approve Special Use Petitions for Ordinance LU-24-13, 
LU-24-14 and LU-24-15; seconded by Member Menold. 

DRAFT

8



TAZEWELL COUNTY BOARD MINUTES MARCH 26, 2025 
 

5 
 

Motion passed by roll call vote of 12 Yeas; 2 Nays – Crawford, Graff; 2 Present – Harris, 
Mingus; 1 Abstention – Hopkins.  Member Hopkins’ reasoning for abstention was that 
major changes in state legislation needed to be made. 

IN-PLACE RISK COMMITTEE MEETING 

The meeting started at 7:13 PM and ended at 7:14 PM. 

RISK MANAGEMENT: APPROVE SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT, RESOLUTION RM-
25-01. 

Member Crawford motioned to approve the settlement agreement, Resolution RM-25-
01; seconded by Member Schneider.  

Motion passed by roll call vote of 13 Yeas; 0 Nays; 3 Present – Graff, Harris, Mingus; 1 
Abstention – Hopkins.  Member Hopkins’ reasoning for abstention was that major 
changes in state legislation needed to be made. 

REVIEW OF APPROVED BILLS 

Board members have been sent the approved bills. 

APPROVE APRIL 2025 CALENDAR 

Member Mingus moved to approve the April 2025 calendar; seconded by Member 
Schmidgall.  Motion to approve the April 2025 calendar was approved by voice vote of 
16 Yeas; 0 Nays. 

IN-PLACE HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE MEETING 

The meeting started at 7:13 PM, then entered Executive Session.  

Meeting adjourned at 7:24 PM, then returned to Open Session. 

ADJOURNMENT 

The Tazewell County Board returned to open session at 7:25 PM. 

Chairman Grimm thanked everyone for their time and commitment to Tazewell County. 

There being no further business before the Board, Chairman Grimm announced the 
meeting adjourned.  The Tazewell County Board Meeting adjourned at 7:25 PM.  The 
next scheduled County Board meeting will be April 30, 2025. 

 
DRAFT

9



Chairman Brett Grimm        Vice Chairman, Michael Harris, Dist. 3     
Kim D. Joesting, Dist. 1       Jay Hall, Dist. 1 
Nancy Proehl, Dist. 1      Deene Milam, Dist. 1  
Mark Goddard, Dist. 1          Joe Woodrow, Dist. 1 
Kaden Nelms, Dist. 1       Jon Hopkins, Dist. 2        
Nick Graff, Dist. 2            Maxwell Schneider, Dist. 2          
Greg Menold, Dist. 2            Cathryn Stump, Dist. 2         
Greg Sinn, Dist. 2              Eric Stahl, Dist. 2       
Eric Schmidgall, Dist. 3           John C. Ackerman       Russ Crawford, Dist. 3 
Dave Mingus, Dist. 3         County Clerk     Aaron Phillips, Dist. 3 
Tammy Rich-Stimson, Dist. 3      Greg Longfellow, Dist. 3 

SPECIAL TAZEWELL COUNTY BOARD  
MEETING MINUTES 

THURSDAY APRIL 10, 2025 
6:00 PM 

James Carius Community Room, Tazewell Law & Justice Center, 
101 S. Capitol Street, Pekin, Illinois 61554 

ROLL CALL BY COUNTY CLERK 

Attendance was taken by Roll Call, and the following members of the board were 
present:  Chairman Grimm, Vice Chairman Harris, Members Crawford, Goddard, Hall, 
Hopkins, Joesting, Longfellow, Menold, Milam, Mingus, Phillips, Proehl, Rich-Stimson, 
Schmidgall, Schneider, Sinn, Stahl, Stump, Woodrow – 20.  Absent: Members Graff, 
Nelms– 2. 

INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Member Grimm led the invocation followed by Chairman Grimm leading the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 

COMMUNICATION FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC AND/OR COUNTY 
EMPLOYEES 

No communication from members of the public or county employees. 

COMMUNICATIONS FROM ELECTED & APPOINTED COUNTY OFFICIALS 

Member Crawford stated he was in favor of progress and the criminal justice system but 
voiced concern on the need to protect the county general fund. 

Update/Discussion: New Justice Center Annex 

Chairman Grimm spoke on the new annex and indicated bids were going out within the 
next few weeks.  He stated the previous board had approved the annex with four board 
members that are no longer on the Tazewell County Board and the vote was 12 Yeas 
and 7 Nays.   He discussed that the new board recently held Strategic Planning 

DRAFT

10



SPECIAL TAZEWELL COUNTY BOARD MINUTES APRIL 10, 2025 
 

2 
 

Meetings, which discussed a salary study, a new animal control building, and repairs on 
current buildings.  Therefore, Chairman Grimm provided a handout with building options 
of the current proposed three-story building or a new option of just a two-story annex.  
He voiced concerns with the software upgrades that are needed in the county and the 
uncertainty with state or federal funding. 

Tazwell County Circuit Clerk Lincoln Hopson spoke on the process of the options 
presented.  He provided a handout, which was a letter from two years ago asking for the 
construction of the Justice Center Annex, signed by the Tenth Judicial Circuit Court 
Chief Judge, Tazewell County Presiding Judge, Tazewell County Resident Judge, 
Tazewell County Circuit Clerk, Tazewell County State’s Attorney, Tazewell County 
Sheriff and Tazewell County Public Defender.   

Tazewell County Circuit Clerk Finance Manager Caleb Zobrist provided an overview of 
the previous discussions in the early stages of the planning process for the annex 
project. He informed the board of the technology push from the Administrative Office of 
the Illinois Courts and the use of Artificial Intelligence by judges and judicial staff.  He 
indicated the Circuit Clerk has received over $2 million in grants to assist with 
technology.  

Discussion took place in regard to meeting the technology needs within the current 
courthouse.  It was explained that the expansion of additional wi-fi has helped. Judge 
Doscotch stated Heart Technologies has helped improve the technology at the 
courthouse.  He indicated the main reason for the Justice Center Annex was for safety 
concerns. 

Discussions turned into concern over the need for a third floor and additional cost for 
construction. Several board members expressed support for the proposed third floor 
addition, while other members expressed concern with the cost. 

Chairman Grimm indicated this building would be a positive for the county and he was 
just looking for a consensus to move forward.  

UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

It was determined the board had no unfinished business at this time. 

ADJOURNMENT 

Chairman Grimm thanked everyone for their time and commitment to Tazewell County. 

There being no further business before the Board, Chairman Grimm announced the 
meeting adjourned.  The Special Tazewell County Board Meeting adjourned at 7:24 PM.  
The next scheduled County Board meeting will be April 30, 2025. 

DRAFT

11



HS-25-08 
COMMITTEE REPORT 

 
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Health Services Committee has considered the following RESOLUTION and 
recommends that it be adopted by the Board: 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

RESOLUTION 
 

WHEREAS, the County’s Health Services Committee recommends to the County Board 
that the attached Agreement between Tazewell County and Rescued Heart Animal 
Hospital to serve as the Deputy Administrator of Tazewell County Animal & Rabies 
Control be approved; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Deputy Administrator will serve Tazewell County as the State of Illinois 
licensed veterinarian who will perform duties specified by contract as defined by the 
Illinois Animal Control Act; and 
 
WHEREAS, compensation for said Deputy Administrator services will be paid based on 
services provided as outlined in the contract; and 
 
WHEREAS, the terms of this contract will be from April 01, 2025 and shall continue in 
force until terminated by either party pursuant to this Agreement. 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the Tazewell County Board approve this agreement. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notify the County Board Office, the 
Director of Animal & Rabies Control and the Auditor of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 30th DAY OF APRIL, 2025. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
              
Tazewell County Clerk    Tazewell County Board Chairman 

12



13



14



15



16



17



  T-25-07 
COMMITTEE   REPORT 

 

Mr. Chairman and Members of Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Transportation Committee has considered the following RESOLUTION and recommends 
that it be adopted by the Board. 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 

R E S O L U T I O N 

                                                        

WHEREAS, the Transportation Committee received bids; and 
  
WHEREAS, subject to the approval of the County Board and the Illinois Department of 
Transportation, accepted the following low bid: 
 
Morton Road District, Section 19-14119-00-DR (Box Culvert Replacement on Robison Road 
over Tributary to Mud Creek): To Illinois Civil Contractors, Inc., in the amount of $450,806.07,  
to be paid from TBP Funds, County Bridge Funds, and Morton Road District local funds. 
 

THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the County Board award the contract as recommended 
by the Transportation Committee. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notify the County Board Chairman, 
Illinois Department of Transportation, Chairman of the Transportation Committee, and County 
Engineer of this action. 
 
ADOPTED this 30th day of April, 2025 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________________    _____________________________________ 

County Clerk             County Board Chairman 
 

18



Sheet 1 of 2
Tazewell County DATE:
Robison Rd. Box Culvert - Morton R.D.
Sec. 19-14119-00-DR
 APPROVED ESTIMATE: 573,215.00$      BID: 450,806.07$       BID: 477,600.00$      BID: 556,819.28$            

ITEM ITEM UNIT QTY. UNIT TOTAL UNIT TOTAL UNIT TOTAL UNIT TOTAL
NO. PRICE PRICE PRICE PRICE

20300100 CHANNEL EXCAVATION CU YD 660 40.00$           26,400.00$        53.67$         35,422.20$         35.44$          23,390.40$        29.00$           19,140.00$              
20700220 POROUS GRAN EMBANK CU YD 335 100.00$         33,500.00$        70.88$         23,744.80$         100.68$        33,727.80$        78.00$           26,130.00$              
21400100 GRADING & SHAP DITCH FOOT 24 40.00$           960.00$             61.19$         1,468.56$           17.67$          424.08$             28.00$           672.00$                  
25000200 SEEDING CL 2 ACRE 0.25 8,200.00$      2,050.00$          11,811.76$   2,952.94$           11,515.08$   2,878.77$          10,825.00$    2,706.25$                
25100635 HD EROS CONTR BLANKET SQ YD 1107 5.00$             5,535.00$          2.18$           2,413.26$           2.13$            2,357.91$          2.00$             2,214.00$                
28000305 TEMP DITCH CHECKS FOOT 30 20.00$           600.00$             7.37$           221.10$              22.59$          677.70$             16.00$           480.00$                  
28000400 PERIMETER EROS BAR FOOT 120 11.00$           1,320.00$          5.21$           625.20$              8.56$            1,027.20$          9.00$             1,080.00$                
28000500 INLET & PIPE PROTECT EACH 2 300.00$         600.00$             258.77$       517.54$              175.81$        351.62$             135.00$         270.00$                  
28100209 STONE RIPRAP CL A5 TON 326 100.00$         32,600.00$        149.08$       48,600.08$         88.42$          28,824.92$        122.00$         39,772.00$              
28200200 FILTER FABRIC SQ YD 353 5.00$             1,765.00$          3.43$           1,210.79$           3.39$            1,196.67$          5.50$             1,941.50$                
28300400 AGGREGATE DITCH TON 6 200.00$         1,200.00$          210.54$       1,263.24$           209.63$        1,257.78$          150.00$         900.00$                  
28400100 GABIONS CU YD 37 400.00$         14,800.00$        302.93$       11,208.41$         570.07$        21,092.59$        529.00$         19,573.00$              
35101400 AGG BASE CSE B TON 81 100.00$         8,100.00$          44.64$         3,615.84$           38.45$          3,114.45$          104.00$         8,424.00$                
40200800 AGG SURF CSE B TON 12 50.00$           600.00$             74.33$         891.96$              59.90$          718.80$             154.00$         1,848.00$                
40600275 BIT MATLS PR CT POUND 411 5.00$             2,055.00$          2.18$           895.98$              2.13$            875.43$             2.00$             822.00$                  
40600290 BIT MATLS TACK CT POUND 130 5.00$             650.00$             1.47$           191.10$              1.44$            187.20$             1.35$             175.50$                  
40602978 HMA BC IL-9.5 N50 TON 16 500.00$         8,000.00$          434.86$       6,957.76$           423.94$        6,783.04$          400.00$         6,400.00$                
40604050 HMA SC IL-9.5 C N50 TON 15 500.00$         7,500.00$          434.86$       6,522.90$           423.94$        6,359.10$          400.00$         6,000.00$                
44000100 PAVEMENT REM SQ YD 179 40.00$           7,160.00$          18.99$         3,399.21$           20.72$          3,708.88$          19.00$           3,401.00$                
48101200 AGGREGATE SHLDS B TON 8 200.00$         1,600.00$          80.88$         647.04$              79.21$          633.68$             367.00$         2,936.00$                
50100100 REM EXIST STRUCT EACH 1 40,000.00$    40,000.00$        27,594.77$   27,594.77$         19,034.17$   19,034.17$        38,685.00$    38,685.00$              
50105220 PIPE CULVERT REMOV FOOT 107 30.00$           3,210.00$          29.95$         3,204.65$           25.13$          2,688.91$          9.00$             963.00$                  
50800105 REINFORCEMENT BARS POUND 28540 2.00$             57,080.00$        1.61$           45,949.40$         1.62$            46,234.80$        2.00$             57,080.00$              
50800205 REINF BARS, EPOXY CTD POUND 1,490 5.00$             7,450.00$          1.75$           2,607.50$           2.05$            3,054.50$          2.00$             2,980.00$                
51500100 NAME PLATES EACH 1 700.00$         700.00$             750.95$       750.95$              906.35$        906.35$             950.00$         950.00$                  
54003000 CONC BOX CUL CU YD 196.9 1,200.00$      236,280.00$      837.09$       164,823.02$       1,107.19$     218,005.71$      1,300.00$      255,970.00$            
54262715 METAL FL EN SEC 15" EACH 2 700.00$         1,400.00$          632.48$       1,264.96$           668.02$        1,336.04$          585.00$         1,170.00$                
542D0220 P CUL CL D 1 15 FOOT 86 100.00$         8,600.00$          67.33$         5,790.38$           53.50$          4,601.00$          66.00$           5,676.00$                
59100100 GEOCOMPOSITE WALL DR SQ YD 136 30.00$           4,080.00$          21.68$         2,948.48$           17.55$          2,386.80$          35.00$           4,760.00$                
66600105 FUR ERECT ROW MARKERS EACH 8 300.00$         2,400.00$          309.37$       2,474.96$           340.17$        2,721.36$          360.00$         2,880.00$                
67100100 MOBILIZATION L SUM 1 30,000.00$    30,000.00$        22,540.30$   22,540.30$         21,628.89$   21,628.89$        23,000.00$    23,000.00$              
78001110 PAINT PVT MK LINE 4 FOOT 260 10.00$           2,600.00$          3.27$           850.20$              4.26$            1,107.60$          4.00$             1,040.00$                
X5810103 MEMBR WTRPR SYS B STR SQ YD 136 70.00$           9,520.00$          67.39$         9,165.04$           19.36$          2,632.96$          55.00$           7,480.00$                
X7011800 TRAF CONT-PROT BLR 21 L SUM 1 5,000.00$      5,000.00$          4,357.85$    4,357.85$           4,467.74$     4,467.74$          4,400.00$      4,400.00$                
Z0013798 CONSTRUCTION LAYOUT L SUM 1 7,500.00$      7,500.00$          3,273.47$    3,273.47$           6,298.30$     6,298.30$          4,400.00$      4,400.00$                
Z0051400 REM & RESET POSTS EACH 1 100.00$         100.00$             110.05$       110.05$              379.45$        379.45$             500.00$         500.00$                  
Z0077803 REMOV WOOD POST EACH 3 100.00$         300.00$             110.06 330.18$              175.8 527.40$             0.01 0.03$                      

Stark Excavating, Inc.

STATE OF ILLINOIS
TABULATION OF BIDS 

April 17, 2025
Illinois Civil Contractors, Inc. Otto Baum Company, Inc.

19



Sheet 2 of 2
Tazewell County DATE:
Robison Rd. Box Culvert - Morton R.D.
Sec. 19-14119-00-DR
 APPROVED ESTIMATE: 573,215.00$      BID: 597,914.50$       BID: -$                   BID: -$                        

ITEM ITEM UNIT QTY. UNIT TOTAL UNIT TOTAL UNIT TOTAL UNIT TOTAL
NO. PRICE PRICE PRICE PRICE

20300100 CHANNEL EXCAVATION CU YD 660 40.00$           26,400.00$        33.00$         21,780.00$         -$                   -$                        
20700220 POROUS GRAN EMBANK CU YD 335 100.00$         33,500.00$        120.00$       40,200.00$         -$                   -$                        
21400100 GRADING & SHAP DITCH FOOT 24 40.00$           960.00$             47.00$         1,128.00$           -$                   -$                        
25000200 SEEDING CL 2 ACRE 0.25 8,200.00$      2,050.00$          15,340.00$   3,835.00$           -$                   -$                        
25100635 HD EROS CONTR BLANKET SQ YD 1107 5.00$             5,535.00$          3.00$           3,321.00$           -$                   -$                        
28000305 TEMP DITCH CHECKS FOOT 30 20.00$           600.00$             20.00$         600.00$              -$                   -$                        
28000400 PERIMETER EROS BAR FOOT 120 11.00$           1,320.00$          10.00$         1,200.00$           -$                   -$                        
28000500 INLET & PIPE PROTECT EACH 2 300.00$         600.00$             225.00$       450.00$              -$                   -$                        
28100209 STONE RIPRAP CL A5 TON 326 100.00$         32,600.00$        133.00$       43,358.00$         -$                   -$                        
28200200 FILTER FABRIC SQ YD 353 5.00$             1,765.00$          3.50$           1,235.50$           -$                   -$                        
28300400 AGGREGATE DITCH TON 6 200.00$         1,200.00$          263.00$       1,578.00$           -$                   -$                        
28400100 GABIONS CU YD 37 400.00$         14,800.00$        680.00$       25,160.00$         -$                   -$                        
35101400 AGG BASE CSE B TON 81 100.00$         8,100.00$          53.00$         4,293.00$           -$                   -$                        
40200800 AGG SURF CSE B TON 12 50.00$           600.00$             79.00$         948.00$              -$                   -$                        
40600275 BIT MATLS PR CT POUND 411 5.00$             2,055.00$          3.00$           1,233.00$           -$                   -$                        
40600290 BIT MATLS TACK CT POUND 130 5.00$             650.00$             2.00$           260.00$              -$                   -$                        
40602978 HMA BC IL-9.5 N50 TON 16 500.00$         8,000.00$          518.00$       8,288.00$           -$                   -$                        
40604050 HMA SC IL-9.5 C N50 TON 15 500.00$         7,500.00$          518.00$       7,770.00$           -$                   -$                        
44000100 PAVEMENT REM SQ YD 179 40.00$           7,160.00$          25.00$         4,475.00$           -$                   -$                        
48101200 AGGREGATE SHLDS B TON 8 200.00$         1,600.00$          80.00$         640.00$              -$                   -$                        
50100100 REM EXIST STRUCT EACH 1 40,000.00$    40,000.00$        20,000.00$   20,000.00$         -$                   -$                        
50105220 PIPE CULVERT REMOV FOOT 107 30.00$           3,210.00$          25.00$         2,675.00$           -$                   -$                        
50800105 REINFORCEMENT BARS POUND 28540 2.00$             57,080.00$        2.50$           71,350.00$         -$                   -$                        
50800205 REINF BARS, EPOXY CTD POUND 1,490 5.00$             7,450.00$          2.40$           3,576.00$           -$                   -$                        
51500100 NAME PLATES EACH 1 700.00$         700.00$             900.00$       900.00$              -$                   -$                        
54003000 CONC BOX CUL CU YD 196.9 1,200.00$      236,280.00$      1,250.00$    246,125.00$       -$                   -$                        
54262715 METAL FL EN SEC 15" EACH 2 700.00$         1,400.00$          725.00$       1,450.00$           -$                   -$                        
542D0220 P CUL CL D 1 15 FOOT 86 100.00$         8,600.00$          61.00$         5,246.00$           -$                   -$                        
59100100 GEOCOMPOSITE WALL DR SQ YD 136 30.00$           4,080.00$          65.00$         8,840.00$           -$                   -$                        
66600105 FUR ERECT ROW MARKERS EACH 8 300.00$         2,400.00$          700.00$       5,600.00$           -$                   -$                        
67100100 MOBILIZATION L SUM 1 30,000.00$    30,000.00$        20,600.00$   20,600.00$         -$                   -$                        
78001110 PAINT PVT MK LINE 4 FOOT 260 10.00$           2,600.00$          21.00$         5,460.00$           -$                   -$                        
X5810103 MEMBR WTRPR SYS B STR SQ YD 136 70.00$           9,520.00$          115.00$       15,640.00$         -$                   -$                        
X7011800 TRAF CONT-PROT BLR 21 L SUM 1 5,000.00$      5,000.00$          7,600.00$    7,600.00$           -$                   -$                        
Z0013798 CONSTRUCTION LAYOUT L SUM 1 7,500.00$      7,500.00$          8,500.00$    8,500.00$           -$                   -$                        
Z0051400 REM & RESET POSTS EACH 1 100.00$         100.00$             2,000.00$    2,000.00$           -$                   -$                        
Z0077803 REMOV WOOD POST EACH 3 100.00$         300.00$             200 600.00$              -$                   -$                        

STATE OF ILLINOIS
TABULATION OF BIDS 

April 17, 2025
Laverdiere Construction Inc.

20



  T-25-08 
COMMITTEE   REPORT 

 

Mr. Chairman and Members of Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Transportation Committee has considered the following RESOLUTION and recommends 
that it be adopted by the Board. 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 

R E S O L U T I O N 

                                                        

WHEREAS, the Transportation Committee received bids; and 
  
WHEREAS, subject to the approval of the County Board and the Illinois Department of 
Transportation, accepted the following low bid: 
 
Section 25-00000-01-GM (7.210 Miles: Hot-Mix Asphalt, Milling & Resurfacing; Various 
Locations): To R. A. Cullinan & Son, a Division of UCM, in the amount of $2,421,898.32, to be 
paid from County Motor Fuel Tax Funds, Line Item 212-400-5327. 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the County Board award the contract, subject to approval 
of the appropriated Motor Fuel Tax funds by the Illinois Department of Transportation, as 
recommended by the Transportation Committee. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notify the County Board Chairman, 
Illinois Department of Transportation, Chairman of the Transportation Committee, and County 
Engineer of this action. 
 
ADOPTED this 30th day of April, 2025 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________________    _____________________________________ 

County Clerk             County Board Chairman 
 

21



Sheet 1 of 1
Tazewell County DATE:

Sec. 25-00000-01-GM
 APPROVED ESTIMATE: 2,517,110.10$   BID: 2,421,898.32$   BID: -$                   BID: -$                   
ITEM ITEM UNIT QTY. UNIT TOTAL UNIT TOTAL UNIT TOTAL UNIT TOTAL
NO. PRICE PRICE PRICE PRICE

1 P BIT MATLS TACK CT POUND 86,163      1.90$            163,709.70$      1.85$           159,401.55$      -$                   -$                   
2 HMA SURF REM BUTT JT SQ YD 1,435        37.00$           53,095.00$        38.47$         55,204.45$        -$                   -$                   
3 TEMPORARY RAMP SQ YD 100           60.00$           6,000.00$          62.29$         6,229.00$          -$                   -$                   
4 P HMA SC IL-9.5 C N50 TON 7,905        155.00$         1,225,275.00$   144.10$       1,139,110.50$   -$                   -$                   
5 P HMA SC IL-9.5 D N50 TON 2,016        155.00$         312,480.00$      152.30$       307,036.80$      -$                   -$                   
6 MATL TRANSFER DEVICE TON 9,921        3.60$            35,715.60$        3.52$           34,921.92$        -$                   -$                   
7 INCIDENTAL HMA SURF TON 180           330.00$         59,400.00$        428.38$       77,108.40$        -$                   -$                   
8 HMA SURF REM 1 1/2 SQ YD 118,234    2.75$            325,143.50$      2.80$           331,055.20$      -$                   -$                   
9 AGGREGATE SHLDS B SPL TON 2,585        60.00$           155,100.00$      54.02$         139,641.70$      -$                   -$                   
10 SHORT TERM PAVT MKING FOOT 15,264      1.65$            25,185.60$        1.39$           21,216.96$        -$                   -$                   
11 SHRT TRM PAVT MK REM SQ FT 1,696        9.00$            15,264.00$        6.69$           11,346.24$        -$                   -$                   
12 MOD URETH PM LTR-SYM SQ FT 94             15.00$           1,404.00$          4.95$           463.32$             -$                   -$                   
13 MOD URETH PM LINE  4 FOOT 6,346        2.20$            13,961.20$        1.64$           10,407.44$        -$                   -$                   
14 MOD URETH PM LINE  8 FOOT 450           4.50$            2,025.00$          3.30$           1,485.00$          -$                   -$                   
15 MOD URETH PM LINE 12 FOOT 291           6.50$            1,891.50$          4.84$           1,408.44$          -$                   -$                   
16 MOD URETH PM LINE 24 FOOT 70             14.00$           980.00$             9.90$           693.00$             -$                   -$                   
17 RAISED REF PVT MK REM EACH 472           40.00$           18,880.00$        54.51$         25,728.72$        -$                   -$                   
18 RAISED REFL PAVT MKR EACH 532           50.00$           26,600.00$        39.24$         20,875.68$        -$                   -$                   
19 TRAF CONT & PROT SPL L SUM 1               35,000.00$    35,000.00$        37,502.00$  37,502.00$        -$                   -$                   
20 MOBILIZATION L SUM 1               40,000.00$    40,000.00$        41,062.00$  41,062.00$        -$                   -$                   

TABULATION OF BIDS 
STATE OF ILLINOIS

April 17, 2025
R.A. Cullinan & Son

22



  T-25-09 
COMMITTEE   REPORT 

 

Mr. Chairman and Members of Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Transportation Committee has considered the following RESOLUTION and recommends 
that it be adopted by the Board. 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 

R E S O L U T I O N 

                                                        

WHEREAS, the Transportation Committee received bids; and 
  
WHEREAS, subject to the approval of the County Board, accepted the following low bid: 
 
Section 25-00000-05-GM (Hot-Mix Asphalt Shoulder Widening on Hopedale Road (CH 9) in 
Tazewell County): To R. A. Cullinan & Son, a Division of UCM, in the amount of $90,464.25, 
to be paid from County Matching Tax Funds, Line Item 215-400-5580. 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the County Board award the contract as recommended 
by the Transportation Committee. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notify the County Board Chairman, 
Chairman of the Transportation Committee, and County Engineer of this action. 
 
ADOPTED this 30th day of April, 2025 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________________    _____________________________________ 

County Clerk             County Board Chairman 
 

23



Sheet 1 of 1
Tazewell County DATE:
Hopedale Rd. Widening
Sec. 25-00000-05-GM
 APPROVED ESTIMATE: 95,060.00$        BID: 90,464.25$        BID: -$                   BID: -$                   
ITEM ITEM UNIT QTY. UNIT TOTAL UNIT TOTAL UNIT TOTAL UNIT TOTAL
NO. PRICE PRICE PRICE PRICE

1 EXC & GR EX SHOULDER UNIT 21             1,250.00$      26,250.00$        1,178.11$    24,740.31$        -$                   -$                   
2 HMA SHOULDERS 6 SPL SQ YD 709           90.00$           63,810.00$        87.02$         61,697.18$        -$                   -$                   
3 TRAF CONT & PROT SPL L SUM 1               5,000.00$      5,000.00$          4,026.76$    4,026.76$          -$                   -$                   

TABULATION OF BIDS 
STATE OF ILLINOIS

April 17, 2025
R.A. Cullinan & Son

24



  T-25-10 
COMMITTEE   REPORT 

 

Mr. Chairman and Members of Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Transportation Committee has considered the following RESOLUTION and recommends 
that it be adopted by the Board. 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 

R E S O L U T I O N 

                                                        

WHEREAS, the Transportation Committee received bids; and 
  
WHEREAS, subject to the approval of the County Board and the Illinois Department of 
Transportation, accepted the following low bid: 
 
Spring Lake Road District, Section 25-17000-02-GM (Pulverization of TR 101- Bass Road in 
Spring Lake Road District): To Beniach Construction Co. Inc., in the amount of $59,920.08 to be 
paid from Township Motor Fuel Tax Funds, Line Item 213-400-5580. 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the County Board award the contract as listed herein 
and authorizes the County Engineer to execute the necessary documents, subject to approval of the 
appropriated Motor Fuel Tax funds by the Illinois Department of Transportation, as recommended 
by the Transportation Committee. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notify the County Board Chairman, 
Illinois Department of Transportation, Chairman of the Transportation Committee, and County 
Engineer of this action. 
 
ADOPTED this 30th day of April, 2025 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________________    _____________________________________ 

County Clerk             County Board Chairman 
 

25



Sheet 1 of 1
Tazewell County DATE:
Spring Lake R.D. Byrne & Jones Construction
Sec. 25-17000-02-GM
 APPROVED ESTIMATE: 84,821.30$        BID: 59,920.08$        BID: 76,194.75$        BID: 112,875.00$      
ITEM ITEM UNIT QTY. UNIT TOTAL UNIT TOTAL UNIT TOTAL UNIT TOTAL
NO. PRICE PRICE PRICE PRICE

1 PULVERIZATION SQ YD 32,531      2.30$            74,821.30$        1.76$           57,254.56$        2.25$            73,194.75$        2.4 78,074.40$        
2 TRAF CONT & PROT SPL L SUM 1               10,000.00$    10,000.00$        2,665.52$    2,665.52$          3,000.00$     3,000.00$          34800.6 34,800.60$        

TABULATION OF BIDS 
STATE OF ILLINOIS

Laverdiere Construction Inc.
April 17, 2025

Beniach Construction Co. Inc.

26



BLR 09110 (Rev. 01/18/23)

Resolution for Improvement 
Under the Illinois Highway Code

Page 1 of 1Printed 04/08/25

Resolution Type

Original
Resolution Number

T-25-11 (P1 of 4)
Section Number

25-00051-00-ES

BE IT RESOLVED, by the
Governing Body Type

Board of the 
Local Public Agency Type

County

of 
Name of Local Public Agency

Tazewell Illinois that the following described street(s)/road(s)/structure be improved under

the Illinois Highway Code. Work shall be done by
Contract or Day Labor

.

NoYes
Is this project a bondable capital improvement?

For Roadway/Street Improvements:

Name of Street(s)/Road(s) Length  
(miles) Route From To

For Structures:

Name of Street(s)/Road(s) Existing 
Structure No. Route Location Feature Crossed

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED,
1.  That the proposed improvement shall consist of 
an agreement with the Tri-County Regional Planning Commission serving as the Metropolitan Planning 
Organization to assist the participating communities to coordinate their transportation needs through per JOINT 
FUNDING AGREEMENT - UNIFIED PLANNING WORK PROGRAM FY 2026 for the period July 1, 2025 to June 
30, 2026 (FY 2026)

2.  That there is hereby appropriated the sum of Fourty-Two Thousand Four Hundred Thirty-Seven and 35/100
 $42,437.35 Dollars ( ) for the improvement of 

said section from the Local Public Agency's allotment of Motor Fuel Tax funds. 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Clerk is hereby directed to transmit four (4) certified originals of this resolution to the district office  
of the Department of Transportation.

I,
Name of Clerk

John C. Ackerman
Local Public Agency Type

County Clerk in and for said
Local Public Agency Type

County

of
Name of Local Public Agency

Tazewell  in the State aforesaid, and keeper of the records and files thereof, as provided by 

statute, do hereby certify the foregoing to be a true, perfect and complete original of a resolution adopted by 

Governing Body Type
Board of

Name of Local Public Agency
Tazewell at a meeting held on

Date
April 30, 2025

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and seal this 
Day

day of 
Month, Year

.

.

(SEAL, if required by the LPA) Clerk Signature & Date

Approved
Regional Engineer Signature & Date 
Department of Transportation

27



T-25-11 Page 2 of 4 
COMMITTEE   REPORT 

 

Mr. Chairman and Members of Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Transportation Committee has considered the attached RESOLUTION and recommends 
that it be adopted by the Board. 
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 
 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the County Clerk notify the County Board Chairman, 
County Administrator, Chairman of the Transportation Committee, and County Engineer of this 
action, and submit three (3) certified signed originals of the approved resolution to the Regional 
Engineer’s District office of the Illinois Department of Transportation as notification of this 
action. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, the County Board Chairman or the County Administrator is 
hereby authorized to sign the Agreement entitled “JOINT FUNDING AGREEMENT – 
UNIFIED PLANNING WORK PROGRAM FY 2026”; a copy of which is attached hereto and 
incorporated herein. 
 
 
ADOPTED this 30th day of April, 2025 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________________    _____________________________________ 

County Clerk             County Board Chairman 
 
 

28



 

Attachment A 

JOINT FUNDING AGREEMENT – UNIFIED PLANNING WORK PROGRAM FY 2026 

This agreement is hereby entered into by the members of the participating agencies of 

the metropolitan planning organization (MPO) of the Peoria-Pekin Urbanized Area, 

recognized under Section 134 of the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act (IIJA). It is 

intended to set forth the procedures and methods agreed upon to ensure sufficient local 

matching funds enabling the Peoria-Pekin Urbanized Area to receive $974,105.55 in 

Federal Metropolitan Planning (PL) funds. The funding requires a 20% non-federal match, 

requiring a total match of $243,526.39 for Fiscal Year 2026. It is further agreed that 

the Greater Peoria Mass Transit District (GPMTD) provides $3,800 as a pass-through 

membership fee for participation in the planning process. 

The Federal PL funds and local dollars will be utilized for the work and services performed 

in accordance with the Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP). The work and services 

and their associated costs as contained in the UPWP were adopted by the Tri-County 

Regional Planning Commission. If state funds can be utilized to offset the local match, 

local dollars will be programmed by the Tri-County Regional Planning Commission in a 

separate work program.  

Each participating agency identified herein hereby agrees to pay its entire share to the 

MPO no later than November 1, 2025. The MPO is hereby designated to deposit local 

funds into a special bank account. Withdrawals from this account shall be for 

reimbursement for work accomplished on the appropriate designated work tasks. The 

MPO shall make a monthly report to the Tri-County Regional Planning Commission 

accounting for the expenses incurred on the work tasks identified in the UPWP. Federal 

and State funds shall be requested by and dispersed directly to the MPO in accordance 

with agreements of the State of Illinois and the GPMTD. 

The local money for FY 2026 shall be provided by each of the participating agencies noted 

herein by the contributing percentage of MFT funds each such agency received in 

Calendar Year 2024. 

Community 2024 MFT Allotment  2024 MFT % FY 2026 Contribution 
Peoria County  $             2,177,653.44  22.48%  $  53,900.81  
Tazewell County  $             1,714,516.84  17.70%  $  42,437.35  
Woodford County  $                596,926.38  6.16%  $  14,774.99  
Bartonville, Village of  $                133,644.24  1.38%  $    3,307.93  
Chillicothe, City of   $                137,758.11  1.42%  $    3,409.76  
Creve Coeur, Village of  $                110,916.85  1.15%  $    2,745.39  
East Peoria, City of  $                505,442.75  5.22%  $  12,510.61  
Germantown Hills, Village of   $                  76,702.12  0.79%  $    1,898.51  
Morton, Village of  $                384,792.00  3.97%  $    9,524.29  
Pekin, City of  $                713,316.31  7.37%  $  17,655.85  
Peoria, City of  $             2,543,624.20  26.26%  $  62,959.24  
Peoria Heights, Village of  $                132,812.47  1.37%  $    3,287.35  
Washington, City of  $                361,277.82  3.73%  $    8,942.27  
West Peoria, City of  $                  95,832.72  0.99%  $    2,372.03  
GPMTD   N/A  N/A  $    3,800.00  
Total    $243,526.39  
 

29



 

Any surplus of local matching money with accumulated interest will remain on deposit in 

the special bank account managed by the MPO with any excess from previous years and 

may be used for such purposes and projects as designated by the Tri-County Regional 

Planning Commission. 

This agreement is approved as indicated by signature of an agent of the undersigned 

participating agency represented on the Tri-County Regional Planning Commission: 

Peoria County  Date  

Tazewell County  Date  

Woodford County  Date  

 
Bartonville  Date  

Chillicothe  Date  

Creve Coeur  Date  

East Peoria  Date  

Germantown Hills  Date  

Morton  Date  

Pekin  Date  

Peoria  Date  

Peoria Heights  Date  

Washington  Date  

West Peoria  Date  

GPMTD  Date  

 

 

30



TAZEWELL COUNTY LAND USE COMMITTEE 
SUMMARY OF COMMITTEE AGENDA 

April 8, 2025 Meeting 
TO BE PRESENTED TO THE TAZEWELL COUNTY BOARD ON 

April 30, 2025 
 
LU-25-03 Case No. 25-09-S  The petition of Cincinnati CSG 1, LLC  for a Special Use to allow the 

construction of a 5 Mega Watt Commercial Solar Farm in an A-1 Agriculture 
Preservation District. 

 
 ZBA recommended approval.  LAND USE concurred. 
 
LU-25-04 Case No. 25-10-S  The petition of Cincinnati CSG 2, LLC  for a Special Use to allow the 

construction of a 5 Mega Watt Commercial Solar Farm in an A-1 Agriculture 
Preservation District. 

 
 ZBA recommended approval.  LAND USE concurred. 
 
LU-25-05 Case No. 25-11-Z  The petition of Nickolas Ruzicka for a Map Amendment to the Official 

Deer Creek Township Zoning Map of Tazewell County to change the zoning classification of 
property from an A-1 Agriculture Preservation Zoning District to an A-2 Agriculture Zoning 
District. 

 
 ZBA recommended approval.  LAND USE concurred. 
 
 

31



COMMITTEE REPORT   
LU-25-03 

(ZBA Case No. 25-09-S) 
 

Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board:  
  
Your Land Use Committee does hereby recommend approval of the following resolution:  
 
   RE: Approval of Special Use Petition of Cincinnati CSG 1, LLC.   
  
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------   

R  E  S  O  L  U  T  I  O N  
  

WHEREAS, the County of Tazewell has enacted Title XV, Chapter 157, Zoning (As adopted January 1, 1998) 
of the Tazewell County Code; and  
  
WHEREAS, said ordinance requires a Special Use for a Commercial Solar Energy Facility in the “A-1” 
Agriculture Preservation District; and   
  
WHEREAS, a public hearing on said Special Use was held before the Zoning Board of Appeals (ZBA) on April 
1, 2025 in Case No. 25-09-S; and 
  
WHEREAS, the ZBA deliberated its decision on April 1, 2025 and voted to recommend APPROVAL of the 
Special Use with conditions; and  
 
WHEREAS, your Land Use Committee met on April 8, 2025 to consider the application, report of the ZBA, the 
recommendation of the Community Development Administrator and Land Use Planner; and 
 
WHEREAS, your Land Use Committee voted to recommend APPROVAL of the Special Use with conditions; 
as established by the ZBA; 
 
WHEREAS, the County Board has reviewed; the report of the ZBA, the recommendation of the Land Use 
Committee, and the recommendation of Community Development Administrator and Land Use planner; and  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the County Board APPROVE this resolution and the petitioner’s 
request for Special Use Case No. 25-09-S with the finding of fact as provided by the ZBA/Land Use Committee 
with conditions. 
  
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notify Jaclynn Workman, Community Development 
Administrator of this action; 
  
 Adopted this            day of         , 20  .  
  

                          
 ATTEST:          Tazewell County Board Chairman  
 
 
                 
Tazewell County Clerk     

32



LU-25-03 

1 
 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE 
UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF TITLE XV, 

CHAPTER 157, ZONING CODE OF TAZEWELL COUNTY 
ON PETITION OF CINCINNATI CSG 1, LLC 

 
(Zoning Board Case No. 25-09-S) 

WHEREAS, a petition has been filed with the County Clerk of Tazewell County, Illinois, by 

Cincinnati CSG 1, LLC for a Special Use to allow the construction of a 5 Mega Watt Commercial 

Solar Farm in an A-1 Agriculture Preservation District; and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing on said application designated as Zoning Board Case No. 25-

09-S was held by the Tazewell County Zoning Board of Appeals on April 1, 2025, following due 

publication of notice of said hearing in accordance with law, and the said Zoning Board of Appeals 

thereafter made a report to the County Board recommending APPROVAL with the following 

conditions be established: 

1. The fence style shall be a chain-link with steel post, in accordance with the height 

requirements of § 156.06 (B)(1)(f). 

2. The Facility Owner shall ensure that all vegetation growing within the perimeter of the 

Facility and all land outside of the perimeter fence identified in the agreement as a part of 

the lease is properly and appropriately maintained. Maintenance may include, but not be 

limited to, mowing, trimming, chemical control, or the use of livestock as agreed to by the 

Landowner. 

3. Emergency and non-emergency contact information shall be kept up to date with the 

Community Development Department and be posted in a conspicuous manner at the main 

entrance to the facility and also visible from the public roadway.  

4. Vegetative screening, such as a species of evergreen trees, shall be 3-5’ at planting, and 

lower-level vegetation to provide a denser screening, as proposed as stated in testimony 

and in any other location as determined desirable by the Community Development 

Administrator. 

; and   

WHEREAS, said report of the Zoning Board of Appeals contained the following findings of 

33



LU-25-03 

2 
 

fact: 

1. The Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the 

Tazewell County Zoning Ordinance for the district in which it is located.  

(POSITIVE) The Special Use conforms to all applicable regulations of the Tazewell County 

Zoning Code to be enforced by the Community Development Administrator. 

2. The Special Use will be consistent with the purposes, goals, objectives, and standards of 

the officially adopted County Comprehensive Land Use Plan and these regulations, or of 

any officially adopted Comprehensive Plan of a municipality with a 1.5 mile planning 

jurisdiction.  

(POSITIVE) The proposed special use is within 1.5 miles of the City of Pekin which has an 

adopted Comprehensive Plan from 2006. This plan was updated in 2011 to modify the 

subject property’s future land use designation from low-density residential to industrial. The 

only zoning districts in the City of Pekin which permit solar farms through a special use 

permit are industrially zoned properties. The proposed special use is consistent with the 

following policies of the Tazewell County Comprehensive Plan:  

o Minimize conflict between land uses  

o Allow for supplemental uses to supplement farm income and support the financial 

viability of farms.  

3. The petitioner has met the requirements of Article 25 of the Tazewell County Zoning Code.  

(POSITIVE) Per the application, the requirements of Article 25 of the Tazewell County 

Zoning Code have been met. 

4. The Site shall be so situated as to minimize adverse effects, including visual impacts on 

adjacent properties.  

POSITIVE) The proposed solar farm is in an agricultural area south of the City of Pekin, 

immediately south of Highway 9. The special use site area has a berm with mature 

vegetation to the east, blocking any views of the proposed farm from 14th St. The residential 

area to the northeast has substantial amounts of mature vegetation to block view of the 

34



LU-25-03 

3 
 

proposed solar farm. The applicant has proposed a 20 ft landscape buffer, consisting of 

evergreen trees, on the northern side of the solar farm adjacent to Highway 9 to shield 

views from the roadway. Per the reasons listed above, adverse visual impacts on adjacent 

properties should prove minimal. 

5. The establishment, maintenance or operation of the Special Use shall not be detrimental to 

or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare of the neighboring 

vicinity.  

(POSITIVE) The surrounding area is primarily agriculture land with some residential 

development to the northeast and east of the site. When operated appropriately, a solar 

farm is a low-intensity use which should not create any health or safety hazards. Given this 

context, the proposed special use should not pose a significant risk to the public health, 

safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare of the neighboring vicinity. 

6. The Special Use shall not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted.  

(POSITIVE) Once operational, solar farms requires little maintenance and do not require 

full-time staff to operate. Therefore, the proposed special use should pose no threat to 

nearby property owners’ use and enjoyment of their property. 

7. The Special Use shall not substantially diminish and impair property values within the 

neighborhood.  

(POSITIVE) Given the low-intensity and non-polluting natures of the project, establishment 

of the special use should not substantially diminish or impair property value in the 

surrounding area. 

8. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and other necessary facilities have been or 

are being provided.  

(POSITIVE) Per the application, all utilities and necessary facilities will be provided. 

9. Adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed 

as to minimize traffic congestion and hazard on the public streets.  

35



LU-25-03 

4 
 

 

(POSITIVE) Construction of the solar farm will require an entrance onto Illinois Route 9. The 

proposed solar farm will likely cause a temporary increase to traffic during construction but 

should have little to no impact on traffic afterward. Due to high traffic speeds on IL-9 in the 

area, the applicant should work closely with the Illinois Department of Transportation to 

design entrances that minimize traffic hazards. Based on these considerations, this finding 

is judged to be positive. 

10. The evidence establishes that granting the use, which is located one-half mile or less from a 

livestock feeding operation, will not increase the population density around the livestock 

feeding operation to such levels as would hinder the operation or expansion of such 

operation.  

Not Applicable    

11. Evidence presented establishes that granting the use, which is located more than one-half 

mile from a livestock feeding operation, will not hinder the operation or expansion of such 

operation.  

(POSITIVE) Once operational, a solar farm is a low-intensity use and will not hinder the 

operation or expansion of a livestock feeding operation within a one half mile of the subject 

property. 

12. Seventy-five percent (75%) of the site contains soils having a productivity index of less than 

125.  

(POSITIVE) The subject property contains soils with productivity index ratings ranging from 

110 to 145, with a majority of the special use site upon soils of a productivity index of 145. 

Solar projects are typically constructed in agricultural areas, but the fact remains that the 

requested special use would temporarily remove some prime agriculture land from 

production. However, when solar farms are built and maintained properly, they should not 

destroy the soil beneath, they should not negatively impact storm water infiltration, and the 

land may be reverted to farmland when the solar array is decommissioned. Therefore, this 

36



LU-25-03 

5 
 

finding is judged to be positive. 

13. The Special Use is consistent with the existing uses of property within the general area of 

the property in question.  

(POSITIVE) Most solar farms are best-suited for open agricultural areas, and the proposed 

array is in such an area. Moreover, the proposed special use should not disturb the 

residential properties nearby due to sufficient vegetative screening. Therefore, the proposed 

solar farm is consistent with surrounding uses of property. 

14. The property is suitable for the Special Use as proposed.  

(POSITIVE) Given the reasons stated above, the subject property is suitable for the 

requested special use, with one condition. 

which findings of fact are hereby      by the County Board as the reason for  

      the Special Use request, with conditions. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNTY BOARD OF TAZEWELL 

COUNTY, ILLINOIS: 

SECTION I. The petition of Cincinnati CSG 1, LLC  for a Special Use to allow the 

construction of a 5 Mega Watt Commercial Solar Farm in an A-1 Agriculture Preservation District on 

the following described property:  

 Current Owner of Property:  Robert S. Orr, Trustee of the Orr Family Trust, 5 Rosewood Ln., 

Pekin, Illinois 

 Currently a part of P.I.N. 10-10-14-300-006 and 10-10-14-300-004; an approximate 30 

acres utilized of a combined 157 acre parcel located in part of the E ½ of the SW ¼ of Sec 

14, T24N, R5W of the 3rd P.M.. Cincinnati Twp., Tazewell Co., IL; 

located along the South side of Veterans Dr. approximately ¼ of a mile West of the 

intersection of Veterans Dr. and Fourteenth St., Pekin, ILis hereby granted, with conditions. 

SECTION II.  The Community Development Administrator of Tazewell County is hereby 

authorized and directed to issue any permit for said Special Use. 

 

37



LU-25-03 

6 
 

 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this                day of                            , 20  . 

 

Ayes    Nays    Absent   

 

       
Chairman 
Tazewell County Board 

ATTEST: 
 
          
County Clerk 
Tazewell County, Illinois  

38



© 2025 Microsoft Corporation © 2025 Maxar ©CNES (2025) Distribution Airbus DS

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

IRR

IRR

IRR

IRR

IRR

IRR

IRR

IRR

O/
E

Zone AZone A

RI
GH

T 
OF

 W
AY

 W
ID

TH
 V

AR
IE

S
CO

NC
RE

TE
 P

AV
EM

EN
T

PU
BL

IC
 R

OA
D

OWNER: CINCINNATI TOWNSHIP
PIN: 10-10-14-300-003

50

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

Zone A

Zone X

N 01°02'08" W 2556.42'

N 
89

°3
6'0

5"
 E

 1
32

3.
79

'

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

Zone A

VE
TE

RA
N'

S 
DR

IV
E

100

101.82'

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

Zone X

Zone X
Zone X

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

CENTER PIVOT
IRRIGATION TOWER

TRANSMISSION
TOWER

TRANSMISSION
TOWER

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

OW
NE

R:
 C

UP
I, 

RO
BE

RT
 M

PI
N:

 1
0-

10
-2

3-
10

0-
00

6OWNER: ORR ROBERT S
PIN: 10-10-14-300-006

OWNER: ORR ROBERT S TRUSTEE
PIN: 10-10-14-300-004

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

CONDEMNATION IN FAVOR
OF SUPER-POWER

COMPANY OF ILLINOIS

RIGHT OF WAY IN FAVOR
OF SUPER-POWER

COMPANY OF ILLINOIS

PARTIAL ASSIGNMENT OF
EASEMENT AND

ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT
DATED AUGUST 31, 2018,

AND RECORDED OCTOBER
3, 2018 AS INSTRUMENT

NO. 201800013741

30' ELECTRIC EASEMENT
BOOK 700, PAGE 610

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

100' TRANSMISSION
EASEMENT AND

DOCUMENT 201400017527

EASE
EASE

EASE
EASE

EASE
EASE

EASE
EASE

EASE
EASE

EASE
EASE

EASE
EASE

EASE
EASE

50' PIPELINE EASEMENT
DOCUMENT 201900002816

EDGE OF
CONCRETE

EDGE OF
CONCRETE

EDGE OF
CONCRETE

50

100

20'

20'

N 
88

°3
3'4

4"
 W

 1
32

4.
33

' (1
32

41
0')

N 01°01'19" W 2598.85'

FOUND IRON
ROD

EXCEPTION PER
INSTRUMENT No.

200600027755

24
"R

CP
I=

50
5.

10

20' ELECTRIC EASEMENT
BOOK 700, PAGE 616

O/E

XXXXX
X

XX
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

X X X X X X X X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

300'

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

X

X

X

X

X X

X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

XXXXXXX

U/EU/EU/EU/EU/EU/E
U/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U/E U/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

24'

D
IC

AS
TE

LN
U

O
VO

, V
IN

N
IE

  B
:\W

or
ki

ng
\D

IM
EN

SI
O

N
 E

N
ER

G
Y\

24
03

52
8 

H
om

e-
G

ro
w

n 
Ill

in
oi

s 
So

la
r P

or
tfo

lio
\0

0_
C

AD
\D

es
ig

n\
Sh

ee
ts

\O
rr 

VF
W

 1
\C

-0
02

 S
ite

 P
la

n.
dw

g 
 - 

 3
/1

2/
20

25

SITE PLAN
GEI CONSULTANTS, INC.

8615 W. BRYN MAWR AVE.
SUITE 406

CHICAGO, IL 60631
(312)985-0365

Consultants

NO DATE ISSUE/REVISION APP
1 3/10/2025 ADDRESS ILDOT COMMENTS VD

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION
SHEET NAME

If this scale bar
does not measure
1" then drawing is
not original scale.

Attention:
0 1"

DRAFT

Designed:

Checked:

Drawn:

P.E. No:

GEI Project

MT

BMM

MT

Approved: BMM

2403528

SHEET NO.

C-002

DIMENSION
RENEWABLE ENERGY
3050 PEACHTREE RD

4TH FLOOR, SUITE 460
ATLANTA, GA 30305

CINCINNATI CSG 1 LLC
4.95 MWac, 7.5 MWdc SOLAR ARRAY

CINCINNATI TOWNSHIP,
TAZWELL COUNTY,

ILLINOIS

PROPERTY LINE

XPROPOSED FENCE

PROPOSED LEASE AREA

PROPOSED STONE DRIVEWAY

PROPOSED UNDERGROUND
ELECTRIC

U/E

0

SCALE, FEET

100 200

CONSTRUCTION LAYDOWN 
AREA AND EMPLOYEE PARKING

PROPOSED SITE 2

PRIMARY SITE ACCESS ROAD

6' HIGH CHAINLINK FENCE

50' RESIDENTIAL
SETBACK

50' RESIDENTIAL SETBACK

PROPOSED PV ARRAY
JA SOLAR, JAM72D40 595/MB (595W)

INTRAROW SPACING=12'
(MOD COUNT=12,798)

APPROXIMATE LEASE AREA
(27.29 ACRES)

POINT OF
INTERCONNECTION

EQUIPMENT AREA FOR
TRANSFORMER/METERING AND

PROTECTIONS EQUIPMENT

GOAB SWITCH

RECLOSER

PROPOSED STORMWATER
MANAGEMENT AREA

R20'

R20'

R45'

INSTALL CONCRETE DRIVEWAY.
SAW CUT 8" INTO CARTWAY AND
SEAL. INSTALL 2' STUBS AT
ENDS.  (SEE DETAIL)

10' EASEMENT
SETBACK

40.530999,
-89.636730

INSTALL 3' WIDE, 8"
THICK CA06 GRAVEL

TRENCH ALONG
RADIUS, TYP.

1

39



40



41



42



COMMITTEE REPORT   
LU-25-04 

(ZBA Case No. 25-10-S) 
 

Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board:  
  
Your Land Use Committee does hereby recommend approval of the following resolution:  
 
   RE: Approval of Special Use Petition of Cincinnati CSG 2, LLC.   
  
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------   

R  E  S  O  L  U  T  I  O N  
  

WHEREAS, the County of Tazewell has enacted Title XV, Chapter 157, Zoning (As adopted January 1, 1998) 
of the Tazewell County Code; and  
  
WHEREAS, said ordinance requires a Special Use for a Commercial Solar Energy Facility in the “A-1” 
Agriculture Preservation District; and   
  
WHEREAS, a public hearing on said Special Use was held before the Zoning Board of Appeals (ZBA) on April 
1, 2025 in Case No. 25-10-S; and 
  
WHEREAS, the ZBA deliberated its decision on April 1, 2025 and voted to recommend APPROVAL of the 
Special Use with conditions; and  
 
WHEREAS, your Land Use Committee met on April 8, 2025 to consider the application, report of the ZBA, the 
recommendation of the Community Development Administrator and Land Use Planner; and 
 
WHEREAS, your Land Use Committee voted to recommend APPROVAL of the Special Use with conditions; 
as established by the ZBA; 
 
WHEREAS, the County Board has reviewed; the report of the ZBA, the recommendation of the Land Use 
Committee, and the recommendation of Community Development Administrator and Land Use planner; and  
 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the County Board APPROVE this resolution and the petitioner’s 
request for Special Use Case. No. 25-10-S with the finding of fact as provided by the ZBA/Land Use 
Committee with conditions. 
  
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notify Jaclynn Workman, Community Development 
Administrator of this action; 
  
 Adopted this            day of         , 20  .  
  

                          
 ATTEST:          Tazewell County Board Chairman  
 
 
                 
Tazewell County Clerk     

43



LU-25-04 

1 
 

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE 
UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF TITLE XV, 

CHAPTER 157, ZONING CODE OF TAZEWELL COUNTY 
ON PETITION OF CINCINNATI CSG 2, LLC 

 
(Zoning Board Case No. 25-10-S) 

WHEREAS, a petition has been filed with the County Clerk of Tazewell County, Illinois, by 

Cincinnati CSG 2, LLC for a Special Use to allow the construction of a 5 Mega Watt Commercial 

Solar Farm in an A-1 Agriculture Preservation District; and 

WHEREAS, a public hearing on said application designated as Zoning Board Case No. 25-

10-S was held by the Tazewell County Zoning Board of Appeals on April 1, 2025, following due 

publication of notice of said hearing in accordance with law, and the said Zoning Board of Appeals 

thereafter made a report to the County Board recommending APPROVAL with the following 

conditions be established: 

1. The fence style shall be a chain-link with steel post, in accordance with the height 

requirements of § 156.06 (B)(1)(f). 

2. The Facility Owner shall ensure that all vegetation growing within the perimeter of the 

Facility and all land outside of the perimeter fence identified in the agreement as a part of 

the lease is properly and appropriately maintained. Maintenance may include, but not be 

limited to, mowing, trimming, chemical control, or the use of livestock as agreed to by the 

Landowner. 

3. Emergency and non-emergency contact information shall be kept up to date with the 

Community Development Department and be posted in a conspicuous manner at the main 

entrance to the facility and also visible from the public roadway.  

4. Vegetative screening, such as a species of evergreen trees, shall be 3-5’ at planting, and 

lower-level vegetation to provide a denser screening, as proposed as stated in testimony 

and in any other location as determined desirable by the Community Development 

Administrator. 

; and   

 

44



LU-25-04 

2 
 

WHEREAS, said report of the Zoning Board of Appeals contained the following findings of 

fact: 

1. The Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the 

Tazewell County Zoning Ordinance for the district in which it is located.  

(POSITIVE) The Special Use conforms to all applicable regulations of the Tazewell County 

Zoning Code to be enforced by the Community Development Administrator. 

2. The Special Use will be consistent with the purposes, goals, objectives, and standards of 

the officially adopted County Comprehensive Land Use Plan and these regulations, or of 

any officially adopted Comprehensive Plan of a municipality with a 1.5 mile planning 

jurisdiction.  

(POSITIVE) The proposed special use is within 1.5 miles of the City of Pekin which has an 

adopted Comprehensive Plan from 2006. This plan was updated in 2011 to modify the 

subject property’s future land use designation from low-density residential to industrial. The 

only zoning districts in the City of Pekin which permit solar farms through a special use 

permit are industrially zoned properties. The proposed special use is consistent with the 

following policies of the Tazewell County Comprehensive Plan:  

o Minimize conflict between land uses  

o Allow for supplemental uses to supplement farm income and support the financial 

viability of farms.  

3. The petitioner has met the requirements of Article 25 of the Tazewell County Zoning Code.  

(POSITIVE) Per the application, the requirements of Article 25 of the Tazewell County 

Zoning Code have been met. 

4. The Site shall be so situated as to minimize adverse effects, including visual impacts on 

adjacent properties.  

POSITIVE) The proposed solar farm is in an agricultural area south of the City of Pekin, 

immediately south of Highway 9. The special use site area has a berm with mature 

vegetation to the east, blocking any views of the proposed farm from 14th St. The residential 

45



LU-25-04 

3 
 

area to the northeast has substantial amounts of mature vegetation to block view of the 

proposed solar farm. The applicant has proposed a 20 ft landscape buffer, consisting of 

evergreen trees, on the northern side of the solar farm adjacent to Highway 9 to shield 

views from the roadway. Per the reasons listed above, adverse visual impacts on adjacent 

properties should prove minimal. 

5. The establishment, maintenance or operation of the Special Use shall not be detrimental to 

or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort or general welfare of the neighboring 

vicinity.  

(POSITIVE) The surrounding area is primarily agriculture land with some residential 

development to the northeast and east of the site. When operated appropriately, a solar 

farm is a low-intensity use which should not create any health or safety hazards. Given this 

context, the proposed special use should not pose a significant risk to the public health, 

safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare of the neighboring vicinity. 

6. The Special Use shall not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted.  

(POSITIVE) Once operational, solar farms requires little maintenance and do not require 

full-time staff to operate. Therefore, the proposed special use should pose no threat to 

nearby property owners’ use and enjoyment of their property. 

7. The Special Use shall not substantially diminish and impair property values within the 

neighborhood.  

(POSITIVE) Given the low-intensity and non-polluting natures of the project, establishment 

of the special use should not substantially diminish or impair property value in the 

surrounding area. 

8. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage and other necessary facilities have been or 

are being provided.  

(POSITIVE) Per the application, all utilities and necessary facilities will be provided. 

9. Adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed 

46



LU-25-04 

4 
 

as to minimize traffic congestion and hazard on the public streets.  

(POSITIVE) Construction of the solar farm will require an entrance onto Illinois Route 9. The 

proposed solar farm will likely cause a temporary increase to traffic during construction but 

should have little to no impact on traffic afterward. Due to high traffic speeds on IL-9 in the 

area, the applicant should work closely with the Illinois Department of Transportation to 

design entrances that minimize traffic hazards. Based on these considerations, this finding 

is judged to be positive. 

10. The evidence establishes that granting the use, which is located one-half mile or less from a 

livestock feeding operation, will not increase the population density around the livestock 

feeding operation to such levels as would hinder the operation or expansion of such 

operation.  

Not Applicable   

11. Evidence presented establishes that granting the use, which is located more than one-half 

mile from a livestock feeding operation, will not hinder the operation or expansion of such 

operation.  

(POSITIVE) Once operational, a solar farm is a low-intensity use and will not hinder the 

operation or expansion of a livestock feeding operation within a one half mile of the subject 

property. 

12. Seventy-five percent (75%) of the site contains soils having a productivity index of less than 

125.  

(POSITIVE) The subject property contains soils with productivity index ratings ranging from 

110 to 145, with approximately 75% of the special use site upon soils of a productivity index 

of 110. Still, when solar farms are built and maintained properly, they should not destroy the 

soil beneath, they should not negatively impact storm water infiltration, and the land may be 

reverted to farmland when the solar array is decommissioned. Therefore, this finding is 

judged to be positive. 

13. The Special Use is consistent with the existing uses of property within the general area of 

47



LU-25-04 

5 
 

the property in question.  

(POSITIVE) Most solar farms are best-suited for open agricultural areas, and the proposed 

array is in such an area. Moreover, the proposed special use should not disturb the 

residential properties nearby due to sufficient vegetative screening. Therefore, the proposed 

solar farm is consistent with surrounding uses of property. 

14. The property is suitable for the Special Use as proposed.  

(POSITIVE) Given the reasons stated above, the subject property is suitable for the 

requested special use, with one condition. 

which findings of fact are hereby      by the County Board as the reason for  

      the Special Use request, with conditions. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNTY BOARD OF TAZEWELL 

COUNTY, ILLINOIS: 

SECTION I. The petition of Cincinnati CSG 2, LLC  for a Special Use to allow the 

construction of a 5 Mega Watt Commercial Solar Farm in an A-1 Agriculture Preservation District on 

the following described property:  

 Current Owner of Property:  Robert S. Orr, Trustee of the Orr Family Trust, 5 Rosewood Ln., 

Pekin, Illinois 

 Currently a part of P.I.N. 10-10-14-300-006; an approximate 28 acres utilized of a 78.91 

acre parcel located in part of the E ½ of the SW ¼ of Sec 14, T24N, R5W of the 3rd P.M.. 

Cincinnati Twp., Tazewell Co., IL; 

 located along the South side of Veterans Dr. approximately ¼ of a mile West of the 

intersection of Veterans Dr. and Fourteenth St., Pekin, ILis hereby granted, with conditions. 

SECTION II.  The Community Development Administrator of Tazewell County is hereby 

authorized and directed to issue any permit for said Special Use. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this                day of                            , 20  . 

 

Ayes    Nays    Absent   

48



LU-25-04 

6 
 

 

 
 
       
Chairman 
Tazewell County Board 

ATTEST: 
 
          
County Clerk 
Tazewell County, Illinois  

49



© 2025 Microsoft Corporation © 2025 Maxar ©CNES (2025) Distribution Airbus DS

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

X

X

X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

XXXXXXX

U/EU/EU/EU/EU/EU/E
U/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U/E U/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

U
/E

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

/E

RI
GH

T 
OF

 W
AY

 W
ID

TH
 V

AR
IE

S
CO

NC
RE

TE
 P

AV
EM

EN
T

PU
BL

IC
 R

OA
D

OWNER: CINCINNATI TOWNSHIP
PIN: 10-10-14-300-003

50

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

N 01°02'08" W 2556.42'

N 
89

°3
6'0

5"
 E

 1
32

3.
79

'

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

VE
TE

RA
N'

S 
DR

IV
E

100

101.82'

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

CENTER PIVOT
IRRIGATION TOWER

TRANSMISSION
TOWER

TRANSMISSION
TOWER

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

OW
NE

R:
 C

UP
I, 

RO
BE

RT
 M

PI
N:

 1
0-

10
-2

3-
10

0-
00

6OWNER: ORR ROBERT S
PIN: 10-10-14-300-006

OWNER: ORR ROBERT S TRUSTEE
PIN: 10-10-14-300-004

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

O/
E

CONDEMNATION IN FAVOR
OF SUPER-POWER

COMPANY OF ILLINOIS

RIGHT OF WAY IN FAVOR
OF SUPER-POWER

COMPANY OF ILLINOIS

PARTIAL ASSIGNMENT OF
EASEMENT AND

ASSUMPTION AGREEMENT
DATED AUGUST 31, 2018,

AND RECORDED OCTOBER
3, 2018 AS INSTRUMENT

NO. 201800013741

30' ELECTRIC EASEMENT
BOOK 700, PAGE 610

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

EA
SE

100' TRANSMISSION
EASEMENT AND

DOCUMENT 201400017527

EASE
EASE

EASE
EASE

EASE
EASE

EASE
EASE

EASE
EASE

EASE
EASE

EASE
EASE

EASE
EASE

50' PIPELINE EASEMENT
DOCUMENT 201900002816

EDGE OF
CONCRETE

EDGE OF
CONCRETE

EDGE OF
CONCRETE

50

100

20'

20'

N 
88

°3
3'4

4"
 W

 1
32

4.
33

' (1
32

41
0')

N 01°01'19" W 2598.85'

FOUND IRON
ROD

EXCEPTION PER
INSTRUMENT No.

200600027755

24
"R

CP
I=

50
5.

10

20' ELECTRIC EASEMENT
BOOK 700, PAGE 616

O/E

XXXXX
X

XX

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X X X X X X X X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

300'

D
IC

AS
TE

LN
U

O
VO

, V
IN

N
IE

  B
:\W

or
ki

ng
\D

IM
EN

SI
O

N
 E

N
ER

G
Y\

24
03

52
8 

H
om

e-
G

ro
w

n 
Ill

in
oi

s 
So

la
r P

or
tfo

lio
\0

0_
C

AD
\D

es
ig

n\
Sh

ee
ts

\O
rr 

VF
W

 2
\C

-0
02

 S
ite

 P
la

n.
dw

g 
 - 

 3
/1

2/
20

25

SITE PLAN
GEI CONSULTANTS, INC.

8615 W. BRYN MAWR AVE.
SUITE 406

CHICAGO, IL 60631
(312)985-0365

Consultants

NO DATE ISSUE/REVISION APP
1 3/10/2025 ADDRESS ILDOT COMMENTS VD

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION
SHEET NAME

If this scale bar
does not measure
1" then drawing is
not original scale.

Attention:
0 1"

Designed:

Checked:

Drawn:

P.E. No:

GEI Project

VD

BMM

VD

Approved: BMM

2403528

SHEET NO.

C-002

DIMENSION
RENEWABLE ENERGY
3050 PEACHTREE RD

4TH FLOOR, SUITE 460
ATLANTA, GA 30305

CINCINNATI CSG 2 LLC
4.95 MWac, 7.5 MWdc SOLAR ARRAY

CINCINNATI TOWNSHIP,
 TAZWELL COUNTY,

ILLINOIS

LEGEND:

PROPERTY LINE

XPROPOSED FENCE

PROPOSED LEASE AREA

PROPOSED STONE DRIVEWAY

PROPOSED UNDERGROUND
ELECTRIC

U/E

0

SCALE, FEET

100 200

PRIMARY SITE ACCESS ROAD

6' HIGH CHAINLINK FENCE

PROPOSED PV ARRAY (SITE 2)
JA SOLAR, JAM72D40 595/MB (595W)

INTRAROW SPACING=12'
(MOD COUNT=12,825)

APPROXIMATE LEASE AREA
(26.62 ACRES)

POINT OF
INTERCONNECTION

EQUIPMENT AREA FOR
TRANSFORMER/METERING AND
PROTECTIONS EQUIPMENT

GOAB SWITCH

RECLOSER

50' RESIDENTIAL SETBACK

50' RESIDENTIAL
SETBACK

50' RESIDENTIAL SETBACK

CONSTRUCTION LAYDOWN

O  

AREA AND PARKING

PROPOSED SITE 1

20' WIDE LANDSCAPING
BUFFER

50



51



52



53



COMMITTEE REPORT  
LU-25-05 

(ZBA Case No. 25-11-Z) 
 

Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Land Use Committee has considered the following Resolution and recommends it be Adopted 
by the Board: 
 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------  
R  E  S  O  L  U  T  I  O  N 

 

WHEREAS, the Land Use Committee beg leave to report that they have examined the 

attached proposed Ordinance regarding Zoning Case No. 25-11-Z to amend the Official Zoning 

Maps of Title XV, Chapter 157, Zoning (As adopted January 1, 1998) of the Tazewell County Code 

and the report of the Tazewell County Zoning Board of Appeals on said proposed Ordinance, and 

 WHEREAS, said report being made after a public hearing on said proposed Ordinance, and 

including a findings of fact thereon as provided by law, your said Committee recommends that the 

report, and finding of fact of said Zoning Board be      ADOPTED   and the petition for said 

Rezoning be   APPROVED   by the County Board. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the County Board approve this petition; 

 NOW THEREFORE BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the County Clerk notify the 

Tazewell County Community Development Administrator of this action. 

 
ADOPTED this      day of      20 . 

 
 
             

      Tazewell County Board Chairman 

 

ATTEST: 
 

      

Tazewell County Clerk 

54



LU-25-05 
  

 1 

         AN ORDINANCE AMENDING TITLE XV, 
 CHAPTER 157, ZONING - CODE OF TAZEWELL COUNTY 

ON PETITION OF NICKOLAS RUZICKA 

(Zoning Board Case No. 25-11-Z) 

WHEREAS, a petition has been filed with the County Clerk of Tazewell County, Illinois, By 

Nickolas Ruzicka for an Amendment to the Official Deer Creek Township Zoning Maps of Tazewell 

County to change the Zoning Classification of property from an A-1 Agriculture Preservation Zoning 

District to an A-2 Agriculture Zoning District; and  

WHEREAS, a public hearing on said application designated as Zoning Board Case No. 25-

11-Z as held by the Tazewell County Zoning Board of Appeals on April 1, 2025, following due 

publication of notice of said hearing in accordance with law, and the said Zoning Board of Appeals 

thereafter made a report to the County Board recommending approval; and 

   WHEREAS, said report to the Zoning Board of Appeals contained the following findings 

of fact:  

1. The proposed amendment shall not be detrimental to the orderly development of Tazewell 

County.  

(POSITIVE) The proposed amendment shall not be detrimental to the orderly development 

of Tazewell County as it is consistent with the Future Land Use for Tazewell County, which 

identifies the subject property as A-2 agricultural. 

2. The proposed amendment shall not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, 

morals or general welfare of Tazewell County.  

(POSITIVE) The proposed amendment will allow for the development of a single family 

dwelling. The surrounding area sees many other examples of single family dwellings on 

agriculturally zoned property. As such, the proposed amendment possesses no foreseeable 

danger or risk to the public health, safety, morals or general welfare of Tazewell County or 

its residents. 

3. The request is consistent with existing uses of property within the general area of the 

property in question.  

55



LU-25-05 
  

 2 

(POSITIVE) Properties in the surrounding area are typically used for agricultural purposes, 

for single family dwellings, or are undeveloped and contain mostly timber. The proposed 

amendment will still permit agricultural use to occur on the property but will open up the 

possibility to develop a single-family dwelling. As both of these types of uses are seen in the 

surrounding area, the request is consistent with the existing uses of property within the 

general area. 

4. The request is consistent with the zoning classifications of property within the general area 

of the property in question.  

(POSITIVE) A majority of the surrounding area is zoned A-1 but the property directly to the 

west is zoned A-2. 

5. The suitability of the property in question for the uses permitted under the existing zoning 

classification.  

(NEUTRAL) Agriculture is the primary use permitted under the existing zoning classification 

of A-1 and is also the use of the subject property as of present day. The requested zoning of 

A-2 also lists agriculture as a permitted use. As the property in question is suitable for the 

uses permitted under the existing zoning as well as for the proposed zoning, this finding is 

judged to be neutral. 

6. The suitability of the property in question for the uses permitted under the proposed zoning 

classification.  

(POSITIVE) The subject property is currently utilized for agricultural production which is a 

permitted use in both the current zoning (A-1) and proposed zoning classification (A-2). The 

applicant indicates a desire to develop a single family dwelling on the subject property which 

is a permitted use in the A-2 zone. 

7. The trend of development, if any, in the general area of the property in question, including 

changes, if any, which may have taken place since the property in question was placed in its 

present zoning classification.  

(POSITIVE) While there has not been much recent development in the general area, 

56



LU-25-05 
  

 3 

development which is present includes single family residences on large tracts of 

agriculturally zoned land. 

8. The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, considered in the context of the 

land development in the area surrounding the subject property.  

(POSITIVE) While the subject property has no structures, it has been utilized for agricultural 

production. Other properties in the area are mostly utilized for agricultural purposes as well 

but also contain single family dwellings or have large tracts of undeveloped timber land. 

9. The proposed map amendment is within one and one half (1 ½) miles of a municipality and 

consistent with an adopted Comprehensive Plan.  

(NEUTRAL) The subject property is within 1.5 miles of the Village of Goodfield which has a 

Comprehensive Plan. Staff was not able to view the adopted Comprehensive Plan to 

determine if the area was identified in their future land use map or if there were goals or 

objectives around the type of development to occur within 1.5 miles of the municipality. 

10. The relative gain to the public as compared to the hardship imposed upon the individual 

property owner.  

(POSITIVE) Rezoning the property to A-2 would align the property with the future land use 

map as seen in the Tazewell County Comprehensive Plan. Comprehensive Plans are 

generally seen as documents which serve a public benefit so this rezone would be seen as 

a positive in this instance. Otherwise the public does not see much of a gain from rezoning 

from A-1 to A-2 as their purpose and permitted uses are relatively similar. Denying the 

proposed rezone would require the property owner to either identify a different location to 

construct of single family dwelling or apply for a special use permit under the property’s 

current zoning. 

11. The proposed amendment is consistent with the goals, objectives, and policies of the 

Tazewell County Comprehensive Plan. 

 

57



LU-25-05 
  

 4 

(POSITIVE) The proposed zoning map amendment is consistent with the following 

goals, objectives, and policies of the Tazewell County Comprehensive Plan:  

o Minimize conflict between land uses.  

o Avoid land development that occurs in isolated areas away from existing 

developed areas.  

o Provide sufficient land to accommodate new residents and businesses in 

accordance with the Comprehensive Plan.  

which findings of fact are hereby       ADOPTED           by the County Board as the reason for           

         APPROVING             the Rezoning request. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNTY BOARD OF TAZEWELL 

COUNTY, ILLINOIS: 

 SECTION I. The petition of Nickolas Ruzicka for a Map Amendment to the Official Deer 

Creek Township Zoning Map of Tazewell County to change the zoning classification of property 

from an A-1 Agriculture Preservation Zoning District to an A-2 Agriculture Zoning District for the 

following described property: 

P.I.N. 07-07-26-300-008; an approximate 20+/- acre parcel located in part of NW ¼ 

of the SW ¼ of Sec. 26, T25N, R2W of the 3rd P.M., Deer Creek Twp., Tazewell Co., 

IL; 

located along the South and East sides of Wiegand Rd. where it intersects with Wilkinson 

Rd., Deer Creek, IL. 

is hereby granted. 

SECTION II.  This Ordinance shall be in effect upon passage. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this     day of    , 20  . 

 

      Ayes                    Nays                    Absent                  

 

58



LU-25-05 
  

 5 

 

              
Chairman, County Board 

ATTEST:      Tazewell County, Illinois 
 
                                                
County Clerk 
Tazewell County, Illinois 

59



60



61



62



P-25-06  
 COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Property Committee has considered the following RESOLUTION and recommends 
that it be adopted by the Board: 
 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

R E S O L U T I O N 
 
WHEREAS, the County's Property Committee recommends to the County Board to approve 
fencing, cameras, and an alarm system for the new Impound/Storage Building for the 
Sheriff’s Office at the Tremont campus; and  
 
WHEREAS, the project was funded through the Capital Improvement Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, approval of the bid award for the construction of the building was previously 
approved through resolution P-24-17 on June 26, 2024; and  
 
WHEREAS, providing fencing, cameras and alarm system would complete the project; and 
 
WHEREAS, FencePeoria was deemed the best option for a 150 linear feet galvanized chain 
link fence with 8’ tall barbed wire fencing at the cost of $15,525; and  
 
WHEREAS, The Designed Solutions was deemed the best option for the camera equipment, 
including labor, at a total cost of $7,340; and 
 
WHEREAS, Oberlander Alarm Systems was deemed the best option for the alarm system, 
including labor, at a total estimated cost of $1,100; and 
 
WHEREAS, these costs would exceed the original budgeted amount for the project; and 
 
WHEREAS, the County Administrator recommends moving forward with the projects as 
submitted. 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the County Board approve this recommendation. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notifies the County Board Office,  
the Facilities Director, the Finance Director, Sheriff’s Office, and the Auditor of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 30th DAY OF APRIL, 2025. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Tazewell County Clerk    Tazewell County Board Chairman 
 
 63



64



65



66



67



P-25-07  
 COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Property Committee has considered the following RESOLUTION and recommends 
that it be adopted by the Board: 
 
--------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

R E S O L U T I O N 
 
WHEREAS, the County’s Property Committee recommends to the County Board to 
approve the bid proposal submitted by P.J. Hoerr to design and build a new Animal Control 
Building at the Tremont Campus (RFP #2025-P-02); and  
 
WHEREAS, the current animal control facility has been determined to be inadequate for 
current operations, with issues including: 

• inadequate space for the animal control facilities team 
• poor ventilation due to the HVAC system circulating the same air throughout the 

entire facility 
• not meeting current-day animal standards based on the space within kennels, 

separation between kennels, and lack of quarantine areas  
• kennels that are due for replacement 
• not having the ability to perform veterinarian services onsite 
• not having adoption rooms within the facility 

 
WHEREAS, a request for proposal was issued soliciting proposals from vendors to 1) 
determine the ideal location for the facility on the Tremont Campus, and 2) propose a 
building that will meet the long-term needs of the facility based on a preliminary layout 
determined by the animal control director; and 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed layout includes separate quarantine rooms, a veterinarian medical 
room, better pet adoption areas, dog kennels that will allow for interior and exterior access, 
and a fenced unloading area; and 
 
WHEREAS, proposals were submitted by P.J. Hoerr, Blunier Builders, Inc., GIVSCO 
Construction Co., and CAD Construction, Inc., in the amounts provided in the attached bid 
report, excluding alternatives, with PJ Hoerr proposing a pre-engineered metal building and 
the other three vendors proposing a post-frame building; and 
 
WHEREAS, PJ Hoerr’s proposal is recommended as the best proposal with: 

• The location being proposed along the ring road drive near the EMA building, with 
the cost of completely updating the drive being included in the proposal 

• A pre-engineered metal building using steel, which eliminates any concerns with 
wood when areas of the facility are routinely power-washed 

• A robust HVAC system, with three separate systems (employee areas, quarantined 
animals, and non-quarantined areas) using a dedicated outdoor air system (DOAS) 
which would have the ability to turn over air in the animal confinement areas 
fourteen times per hour. 

68



 
 
 

 
 
WHEREAS, the proposed timeline by PJ Hoerr would result in the building being completed 
in January 2026; and  
 
WHEREAS, preliminary building design features were provided with the proposal and 
county representatives would work with PJ Hoerr on determining the final layout and 
features prior to initiating construction; and 
 
WHEREAS, PJ Hoerr’s base bid price was submitted as three million four hundred eighty-
nine thousand twenty-three dollars ($3,489,023); and 
 
WHEREAS, an alternate was given for PJ Hoerr to provide all counters and countertops, 
rather than being partially provided by the kennels vendor at a cost of thirty-two thousand 
dollars ($32,000); and 
 
WHEREAS, additional items are expected for the project with total costs of $264,700, as 
listed below and in Exhibit A that will be County-purchased or able to be added to the PJ 
Hoerr contract at a later date: 
 

• Kennels Additional Costs:  $    150,000 
• Dog Kennel Runs (budgeted separately by Animal Control):  $      33,000  

• Furniture:  $      45,000  

• Adding Windows in Animal Confinement Areas:  $      15,000  
• Gas-Powered Hot Water High Pressure Washer:  $      12,500  
• Shed Relocation (up to cost for site prep & moving):  $        6,500  

• Builders Risk Insurance:  $        2,700  

 
WHEREAS, with the design being at the preliminary stage, it is recommended that 5% 
contingency be budgeted for the project to account for any changes during the final design 
process and for unforeseen items (e.g. additional site preparation costs) for a total amount 
of one hundred eighty-nine thousand, two hundred eighty-six dollars ($189,286); and 
 
WHEREAS, it is recommended that the County administrator, in consultation with the 
Property Committee Chairman and County Board Chairman, be authorized to issue change 
orders to incorporate the applicable above-listed expected costs when the amounts are 
fully determined, and for any other project costs that arise for a total amount not to exceed 
$25,000, with Property Committee being notified of the change orders at the next 
scheduled meeting and having the ability to reset the County Administrator’s change order 
authority; and 
 
 

69



 
 
WHEREAS, $1.576 million was budgeted for the facility in the 5-year Capital Improvement 
Plan (“CIP”) through a combination of the CIP Fund and Animal Control Fund; and  
 
WHEREAS, the additional $2.23 million in expected costs, plus any used contingency, would 
be paid from the CIP Fund and would require that amount to be a budgeted transfer from 
the General Fund to the CIP Fund for FY 2026 to maintain 100% funding of the 5-year CIP 
Fund. 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the County Board approves the recommendations and 
authorizes the Chairman to enter into an agreement with PJ Hoerr for both the base bid 
and alternate for counters and countertops for three million five hundred twenty-one 
thousand and twenty-three dollars ($3,521,023).   
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County administrator, in consultation with the Property 
Committee Chairman and County Board Chairman, is authorized to issue change orders to 
incorporate the applicable above-listed expected costs when the amounts are fully 
determined, and for any other project costs that arise for a total amount not to exceed 
$25,000, with Property Committee being notified of the change orders at the next 
scheduled meeting and having the ability to reset the County Administrator’s change order 
authority. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notifies the County Board Office, Animal 
Control Director, Facilities Director, Finance, and the Auditor of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 30th DAY OF APRIL, 2025. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Tazewell County Clerk    Tazewell County Board Chairman 
 
 

70



Exhibit A - New Animal Control Facility Costs

Current Proposed Contract Amount:

Base Bid 3,489,023$   

Alternate: Providing All Counters and Countertops 32,000$         

Total 3,521,023$   

Known Additional Costs:

Kennels Additional Costs 150,000$       

Dog Kennel Runs (budgeted separately by Animal Control) 33,000$         

Furniture 45,000$         

Adding Windows in Animal Confinement Areas 15,000$         

Gas-Powered Hot Water High Pressure Washer 12,500$         

Shed Relocation (up to cost for site prep & moving) 6,500$           

Builders Risk Insurance 2,700$           

Total 264,700$      

Total Expected Cost: 3,785,723$   

5% Contingency Amount 189,286$      

71



Tazewell County
Project # 2025-P-02
Design-Build of the Animal 
Control Facility

03.14.2025 @ 2:30 pm

Bidder:
P.J. Hoerr Blunier Builders, Inc. GIVSCO Construction Co.

Date/Time Received:
03.14.2025 @ 2:02 pm 03.14.2025 @ 2:02 pm 03.14.2025 @ 2:22 pm

Base Bid:
including all material costs, 
labor, freight, disposal of 
removed materials, repairs, etc.

Wood Building:
$3,471,307.00 $2,880,200.00 $3,399,000.00

Optional 
Cost/Considerations:

 Pre-Engeneered Metal Building:
$3,489,023.00 

Rate for Time and Material 
Calculations

Warranty Terms

Start Date  Proposed Start:
05.01.2025 

 Proposed Start:
May, 2025 

 Proposed Start Date:
04.14.2025 

Completion Date/Number 
of Days to Completion  Proposed Completion:

01.08.2026 
 Proposed Completion:

June, 2026 

 Proposed Completion Date:
12.26.2025 

172



Tazewell County
Project # 2025-P-02
Design-Build of the Animal 
Control Facility

03.14.2025 @ 2:30 pm

Bidder:

Date/Time Received:

Base Bid:
including all material costs, 
labor, freight, disposal of 
removed materials, repairs, etc.

Optional 
Cost/Considerations:

Rate for Time and Material 
Calculations

Warranty Terms

Start Date

Completion Date/Number 
of Days to Completion

CAD Construction, Inc.

03.14.2025 @ 2:24 pm

$3,460,000.00

Not Provided

Not Provided

273



   Document A141
®

 – 2014
Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Design-Builder

Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

1

ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS: 
The author of this document has 
added information needed for its 
completion. The author may also 
have revised the text of the original 
AIA standard form. An Additions and 
Deletions Report that notes added 
information as well as revisions to the 
standard form text is available from 
the author and should be reviewed. A 
vertical line in the left margin of this 
document indicates where the author 
has added necessary information 
and where the author has added to or 
deleted from the original AIA text.

This document has important legal 
consequences. Consultation with an 
attorney is encouraged with respect 
to its completion or modification.

Consultation with an attorney is also 
encouraged with respect to 
professional licensing requirements 
in the jurisdiction where the Project is 
located.

AGREEMENT made as of the  16  day of  April  in the year  2025 
(In words, indicate day, month and year.)

BETWEEN the Owner:
(Name, legal status, address and other information)

Tazewell County 
11 South 4th Street, Suite 432 
Pekin, Illinois 61554  

and the Design-Builder:
(Name, legal status, address and other information)

P.J. Hoerr, Inc.  
107 North Commerce Place  
Peoria, IL 61604  

for the following Project:
(Name, location and detailed description)

New Animal Control Building Project # 2025-P-02 
21314 State Route 9  
Tremont, IL 61568
Project: Design and Construction of a New Animal Control Center  

The Owner and Design-Builder agree as follows.

74



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

2

TABLE OF ARTICLES

1 GENERAL PROVISIONS

2 COMPENSATION AND PROGRESS PAYMENTS

3 GENERAL REQUIREMENTS OF THE WORK OF THE DESIGN-BUILD CONTRACT

4 WORK PRIOR TO EXECUTION OF THE DESIGN-BUILD AMENDMENT

5 WORK FOLLOWING EXECUTION OF THE DESIGN-BUILD AMENDMENT

6 CHANGES IN THE WORK

7 OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES

8 TIME

9 PAYMENT APPLICATIONS AND PROJECT COMPLETION

10 PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY

11 UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK

12 COPYRIGHTS AND LICENSES

13 TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION

14 CLAIMS AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

15 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

16 SCOPE OF THE AGREEMENT

TABLE OF EXHIBITS

A DESIGN-BUILD AMENDMENT

B INSURANCE AND BONDS

C SUSTAINABLE PROJECTS

ARTICLE 1   GENERAL PROVISIONS
§ 1.1 Owner’s Criteria
This Agreement is based on the Owner’s Criteria set forth in this Section 1.1. 
(Note the disposition for the following items by inserting the requested information or a statement such as "not 
applicable" or "unknown at time of execution." If the Owner intends to provide a set of design documents, and the 
requested information is contained in the design documents, identify the design documents and insert "see Owner’s 
design documents" where appropriate.)

§ 1.1.1 The Owner’s program for the Project:
(Set forth the program, identify documentation in which the program is set forth, or state the manner in which the 
program will be developed.)

The design and construction of an approximately 10,368 sq. ft. facility would 

75



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

3

accommodate Animal Control’s long-term needs.  The Design-Builder will work with Animal Control to validate the 
design and propose modifications to address long-term needs and the building site. The Contractor will be responsible 
for all phases of the project, including sitepreparation.   

§ 1.1.2 The Owner’s design requirements for the Project and related documentation:
(Identify below, or in an attached exhibit, the documentation that contains the Owner’s design requirements, 
including any performance specifications for the Project.)

The Project Specifications RFP 2025-P-02 Design-Build for New Animal Control Facility Sections 1.1 & 2.2 and 
Exhibit A Owner’s Criteria as provided by the county in the Request for Proposal. 

§ 1.1.3 The Project’s physical characteristics:
(Identify or describe, if appropriate, size, location, dimensions, or other pertinent information, such as geotechnical 
reports; site, boundary and topographic surveys; traffic and utility studies; availability of public and private utilities 
and services; legal description of the site; etc.)

Reference the attached proposal which the GMP is based off for specific building characteristics.

§ 1.1.4 The Owner’s anticipated Sustainable Objective for the Project, if any:
(Identify the Owner’s Sustainable Objective for the Project such as Sustainability Certification, benefit to the 
environment, enhancement to the health and well-being of building occupants, or improvement of energy efficiency. If 
the Owner identifies a Sustainable Objective, incorporate AIA Document A141™–2014, Exhibit C, Sustainable 
Projects, into this Agreement to define the terms, conditions and Work related to the Owner’s Sustainable Objective.)

None 

§ 1.1.5 Incentive programs the Owner intends to pursue for the Project, including those related to the Sustainable 
Objective, and any deadlines for receiving the incentives that are dependent on, or related to, the Design-Builder’s 
services, are as follows:
(Identify incentive programs the Owner intends to pursue for the Project and deadlines for submitting or applying for 
the incentive programs.)

None 

§ 1.1.6 The Owner’s budget for the Work to be provided by the Design-Builder is set forth below: 
(Provide total for Owner’s budget, and if known, a line item breakdown of costs.)

$3,500,000 

§ 1.1.7 The Owner’s design and construction milestone dates:

.1 Design phase milestone dates:

 NA 

.2 Submission of Design-Builder Proposal:

 NA 

.3 Phased completion dates:

 NA 

.4 Substantial Completion date:

 NA 

76



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

4

.5 Other milestone dates:

NA  

§ 1.1.8 The Owner requires the Design-Builder to retain the following Architect, Consultants and Contractors at the 
Design-Builder’s cost:
(List name, legal status, address and other information.)

.1 Architect

EA Architecture & Design, Inc.
  802 N Clinton St, Bloomington, IL 61701
  

.2 Consultants

 KED bluestone
   707 NE Jefferson Ave., Peoria, Illinois

   Austin Engineering
   311 SW Water St.. Ste 215, Peoria, IL 61602 

.3 Contractors

  

§ 1.1.9 Additional Owner’s Criteria upon which the Agreement is based:
(Identify special characteristics or needs of the Project not identified elsewhere, such as historic preservation 
requirements.)

NA 

§ 1.1.10 The Design-Builder shall confirm that the information included in the Owner’s Criteria complies with 
applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, or lawful orders of public authorities. 

§ 1.1.10.1 If the Owner’s Criteria conflicts with applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, or 
lawful orders of public authorities, the Design-Builder shall notify the Owner of the conflict. 

§ 1.1.11 If there is a change in the Owner’s Criteria, the Owner and the Design-Builder shall execute a Modification in 
accordance with Article 6. 

§ 1.1.12 If the Owner and Design-Builder intend to transmit Instruments of Service or any other information or 
documentation in digital form, they shall endeavor to establish necessary protocols governing such transmissions. 
Unless otherwise agreed, the parties will use AIA Document E203™–2013 to establish the protocols for the 
development, use, transmission, and exchange of digital data and building information modeling.

§ 1.2 Project Team
§ 1.2.1 The Owner identifies the following representative in accordance with Section 7.1.1:
(List name, address and other information.)

Mike Deluhery, County Administrator  
11 South 4th Street, Suite 432  
Pekin, Illinois 61554  

77



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

5

§ 1.2.2 The persons or entities, in addition to the Owner’s representative, who are required to review the 
Design-Builder’s Submittals are as follows:
(List name, address and other information.)

NA  

§ 1.2.3 The Owner will retain the following consultants and separate contractors:
(List discipline, scope of work, and, if known, identify by name and address.)

NA  

§ 1.2.4 The Design-Builder identifies the following representative in accordance with Section 3.1.2:
(List name, address and other information.)

Matthew Brown & John Sutherland
P.J. Hoerr, Inc.
107 North Commerce Place    
Peoria, IL 61604  

§ 1.2.5 Neither the Owner’s nor the Design-Builder’s representative shall be changed without ten days’ written notice 
to the other party. 

§ 1.3 Binding Dispute Resolution
For any Claim subject to, but not resolved by, mediation pursuant to Section 14.3, the method of binding dispute 
resolution shall be the following: 
(Check the appropriate box. If the Owner and Design-Builder do not select a method of binding dispute resolution 
below, or do not subsequently agree in writing to a binding dispute resolution other than litigation, Claims will be 
resolved by litigation in a court of competent jurisdiction.)

[  X  ] Arbitration pursuant to Section 14.4

[    ] Litigation in a court of competent jurisdiction

[    ] Other: (Specify)

  

§ 1.4 Definitions
§ 1.4.1 Design-Build Documents. The Design-Build Documents consist of this Agreement between Owner and 
Design-Builder and its attached Exhibits (hereinafter, the "Agreement"); other documents listed in this Agreement; 
and Modifications issued after execution of this Agreement. A Modification is (1) a written amendment to the 
Contract signed by both parties, including the Design-Build Amendment, (2) a Change Order, or (3) a Change 
Directive. 

§ 1.4.2 The Contract. The Design-Build Documents form the Contract. The Contract represents the entire and 
integrated agreement between the parties and supersedes prior negotiations, representations or agreements, either 
written or oral. The Contract may be amended or modified only by a Modification. The Design-Build Documents shall 
not be construed to create a contractual relationship of any kind between any persons or entities other than the Owner 
and the Design-Builder. 

§ 1.4.3 The Work. The term "Work" means the design, construction and related services required to fulfill the 
Design-Builder’s obligations under the Design-Build Documents, whether completed or partially completed, and 
includes all labor, materials, equipment and services provided or to be provided by the Design-Builder. The Work may 
constitute the whole or a part of the Project.

78



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

6

§ 1.4.4 The Project. The Project is the total design and construction of which the Work performed under the 
Design-Build Documents may be the whole or a part, and may include design and construction by the Owner and by 
separate contractors.

§ 1.4.5 Instruments of Service. Instruments of Service are representations, in any medium of expression now known or 
later developed, of the tangible and intangible creative work performed by the Design-Builder, Contractor(s), 
Architect, and Consultant(s) under their respective agreements. Instruments of Service may include, without 
limitation, studies, surveys, models, sketches, drawings, specifications, digital models and other similar materials. 

§ 1.4.6 Submittal. A Submittal is any submission to the Owner for review and approval demonstrating how the 
Design-Builder proposes to conform to the Design-Build Documents for those portions of the Work for which the 
Design-Build Documents require Submittals. Submittals include, but are not limited to, shop drawings, product data, 
and samples. Submittals are not Design-Build Documents unless incorporated into a Modification.

§ 1.4.7 Owner. The Owner is the person or entity identified as such in the Agreement and is referred to throughout the 
Design-Build Documents as if singular in number. The term "Owner" means the Owner or the Owner’s authorized 
representative.

§ 1.4.8 Design-Builder. The Design-Builder is the person or entity identified as such in the Agreement and is referred to 
throughout the Design-Build Documents as if singular in number. The term "Design-Builder" means the 
Design-Builder or the Design-Builder’s authorized representative.

§ 1.4.9 Consultant. A Consultant is a person or entity providing professional services for the Design-Builder for all or 
a portion of the Work, and is referred to throughout the Design-Build Documents as if singular in number. To the 
extent required by the relevant jurisdiction, the Consultant shall be lawfully licensed to provide the required 
professional services. 

§ 1.4.10 Architect. The Architect is a person or entity providing design services for the Design-Builder for all or a 
portion of the Work, and is lawfully licensed to practice architecture in the applicable jurisdiction. The Architect is 
referred to throughout the Design-Build Documents as if singular in number.

§ 1.4.11 Contractor. A Contractor is a person or entity performing all or a portion of the construction, required in 
connection with the Work, for the Design-Builder. The Contractor shall be lawfully licensed, if required in the 
jurisdiction where the Project is located. The Contractor is referred to throughout the Design-Build Documents as if 
singular in number and means a Contractor or an authorized representative of the Contractor. 

§ 1.4.12 Confidential Information. Confidential Information is information containing confidential or business 
proprietary information that is clearly marked as "confidential." 

§ 1.4.13 Contract Time. Unless otherwise provided, Contract Time is the period of time, including authorized 
adjustments, as set forth in the Design-Build Amendment for Substantial Completion of the Work. 

§ 1.4.14 Day. The term "day" as used in the Design-Build Documents shall mean calendar day unless otherwise 
specifically defined.

§ 1.4.15 Contract Sum. The Contract Sum is the amount to be paid to the Design-Builder for performance of the Work 
after execution of the Design-Build Amendment, as identified in Article A.1 of the Design-Build Amendment. 

ARTICLE 2   COMPENSATION AND PROGRESS PAYMENTS
§ 2.1 Compensation for Work Performed Prior To Execution of Design-Build Amendment
§ 2.1.1 Unless otherwise agreed, payments for Work performed prior to Execution of the Design-Build Amendment 
shall be made monthly. For the Design-Builder’s performance of Work prior to the execution of the Design-Build 
Amendment, the Owner shall compensate the Design-Builder as follows:
(Insert amount of, or basis for, compensation, including compensation for any Sustainability Services, or indicate the 
exhibit in which the information is provided. If there will be a limit on the total amount of compensation for Work 
performed prior to the execution of the Design-Build Amendment, state the amount of the limit.)

79



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

7

§ 2.1.2 The hourly billing rates for services of the Design-Builder and the Design-Builder’s Architect, Consultants and 
Contractors, if any, are set forth below.
(If applicable, attach an exhibit of hourly billing rates or insert them below.)

NA  

Individual or Position Rate
  

§ 2.1.3 Compensation for Reimbursable Expenses Prior To Execution of Design-Build Amendment
§ 2.1.3.1 Reimbursable Expenses are in addition to compensation set forth in Section 2.1.1 and 2.1.2 and include 
expenses, directly related to the Project, incurred by the Design-Builder and the Design-Builder’s Architect, 
Consultants, and Contractors, as follows: 

.1 Transportation and authorized out-of-town travel and subsistence; 

.2 Dedicated data and communication services, teleconferences, Project web sites, and extranets;

.3 Fees paid for securing approval of authorities having jurisdiction over the Project;

.4 Printing, reproductions, plots, standard form documents;

.5 Postage, handling and delivery;

.6 Expense of overtime work requiring higher than regular rates, if authorized in advance by the Owner;

.7 Renderings, physical models, mock-ups, professional photography, and presentation materials 
requested by the Owner;

.8 All taxes levied on professional services and on reimbursable expenses; and

.9 Other Project-related expenditures, if authorized in advance by the Owner.

§ 2.1.3.2 For Reimbursable Expenses, the compensation shall be the expenses the Design-Builder and the 
Design-Builder’s Architect, Consultants and Contractors incurred, plus an administrative fee of  Four point four nine   
percent ( 4.49   %) of the expenses incurred.

§ 2.1.4 Payments to the Design-Builder Prior To Execution of Design-Build Amendment
§ 2.1.4.1 Payments are due and payable upon presentation of the Design-Builder’s invoice. Amounts unpaid  Sixty  (  
60  ) days after the invoice date shall bear interest at the rate entered below, or in the absence thereof at the legal rate 
prevailing from time to time at the principal place of business of the Design-Builder.
(Insert rate of monthly or annual interest agreed upon.)

1   % One Percent Per Month  

§ 2.1.4.2 Records of Reimbursable Expenses and services performed on the basis of hourly rates shall be available to 
the Owner at mutually convenient times for a period of two years following execution of the Design-Build 
Amendment or termination of this Agreement, whichever occurs first.

§ 2.2 Contract Sum and Payment for Work Performed After Execution of Design-Build Amendment
For the Design-Builder’s performance of the Work after execution of the Design-Build Amendment, the Owner shall 
pay to the Design-Builder the Contract Sum in current funds as agreed in the Design-Build Amendment.

ARTICLE 3   GENERAL REQUIREMENTS OF THE WORK OF THE DESIGN-BUILD CONTRACT
§ 3.1 General
§ 3.1.1 The Design-Builder shall comply with any applicable licensing requirements in the jurisdiction where the 
Project is located. 

§ 3.1.2 The Design-Builder shall designate in writing a representative who is authorized to act on the Design-Builder’s 
behalf with respect to the Project. 

§ 3.1.3 The Design-Builder shall perform the Work in accordance with the Design-Build Documents. The 
Design-Builder shall not be relieved of the obligation to perform the Work in accordance with the Design-Build 
Documents by the activities, tests, inspections or approvals of the Owner. 

80



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

8

§ 3.1.3.1 The Design-Builder shall perform the Work in compliance with applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, 
rules and regulations, or lawful orders of public authorities. If the Design-Builder performs Work contrary to 
applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, and lawful orders of public authorities, the 
Design-Builder shall assume responsibility for such Work and shall bear the costs attributable to correction.

§ 3.1.3.2 Neither the Design-Builder nor any Contractor, Consultant, or Architect shall be obligated to perform any act 
which they believe will violate any applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, or lawful orders 
of public authorities. If the Design-Builder determines that implementation of any instruction received from the 
Owner, including those in the Owner’s Criteria, would cause a violation of any applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, 
codes, rules and regulations, or lawful orders of public authorities, the Design-Builder shall notify the Owner in 
writing. Upon verification by the Owner that a change to the Owner’s Criteria is required to remedy the violation, the 
Owner and the Design-Builder shall execute a Modification in accordance with Article 6. 

§ 3.1.4 The Design-Builder shall be responsible to the Owner for acts and omissions of the Design-Builder’s 
employees, Architect, Consultants, Contractors, and their agents and employees, and other persons or entities 
performing portions of the Work.

§ 3.1.5 General Consultation. The Design-Builder shall schedule and conduct periodic meetings with the Owner to 
review matters such as procedures, progress, coordination, and scheduling of the Work. 

§ 3.1.6 When applicable law requires that services be performed by licensed professionals, the Design-Builder shall 
provide those services through qualified, licensed professionals. The Owner understands and agrees that the services 
of the Design-Builder’s Architect and the Design-Builder’s other Consultants are performed in the sole interest of, and 
for the exclusive benefit of, the Design-Builder.

§ 3.1.7 The Design-Builder, with the assistance of the Owner, shall prepare and file documents required to obtain 
necessary approvals of governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Project.

§ 3.1.8 Progress Reports
§ 3.1.8.1 The Design-Builder shall keep the Owner informed of the progress and quality of the Work. On a monthly 
basis, or otherwise as agreed to by the Owner and Design-Builder, the Design-Builder shall submit written progress 
reports to the Owner, showing estimated percentages of completion and other information identified below:

.1 Work completed for the period;

.2 Project schedule status;

.3 Submittal schedule and status report, including a summary of outstanding Submittals;

.4 Responses to requests for information to be provided by the Owner; 

.5 Approved Change Orders and Change Directives;

.6 Pending Change Order and Change Directive status reports; 

.7 Tests and inspection reports;

.8 Status report of Work rejected by the Owner; 

.9 Status of Claims previously submitted in accordance with Article 14;

.10 Cumulative total of the Cost of the Work to date including the Design-Builder’s compensation and 
Reimbursable Expenses, if any; 

.11 Current Project cash-flow and forecast reports; and

.12 Additional information as agreed to by the Owner and Design-Builder.

§ 3.1.8.2 In addition, where the Contract Sum is the Cost of the Work with or without a Guaranteed Maximum Price, 
the Design-Builder shall include the following additional information in its progress reports:

.1 Design-Builder’s work force report;

.2 Equipment utilization report; and

.3 Cost summary, comparing actual costs to updated cost estimates.

§ 3.1.9 Design-Builder’s Schedules
§ 3.1.9.1 The Design-Builder, promptly after execution of this Agreement, shall prepare and submit for the Owner’s 
information a schedule for the Work. The schedule, including the time required for design and construction, shall not 
exceed time limits current under the Design-Build Documents, shall be revised at appropriate intervals as required by 

81



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

9

the conditions of the Work and Project, shall be related to the entire Project to the extent required by the Design-Build 
Documents, shall provide for expeditious and practicable execution of the Work, and shall include allowances for 
periods of time required for the Owner’s review and for approval of submissions by authorities having jurisdiction 
over the Project.

§ 3.1.9.2 The Design-Builder shall perform the Work in general accordance with the most recent schedules submitted 
to the Owner. 

§ 3.1.10 Certifications. Upon the Owner’s written request, the Design-Builder shall obtain from the Architect, 
Consultants, and Contractors, and furnish to the Owner, certifications with respect to the documents and services 
provided by the Architect, Consultants, and Contractors (a) that, to the best of their knowledge, information and belief, 
the documents or services to which the certifications relate (i) are consistent with the Design-Build Documents, except 
to the extent specifically identified in the certificate, and (ii) comply with applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, 
rules and regulations, or lawful orders of public authorities governing the design of the Project; and (b) that the Owner 
and its consultants shall be entitled to rely upon the accuracy of the representations and statements contained in the 
certifications. The Design-Builder’s Architect, Consultants, and Contractors shall not be required to execute 
certificates or consents that would require knowledge, services or responsibilities beyond the scope of their services.

§ 3.1.11 Design-Builder’s Submittals
§ 3.1.11.1 Prior to submission of any Submittals, the Design-Builder shall prepare a Submittal schedule, and shall 
submit the schedule for the Owner’s approval. The Owner’s approval shall not unreasonably be delayed or withheld. 
The Submittal schedule shall (1) be coordinated with the Design-Builder’s schedule provided in Section 3.1.9.1, 
(2) allow the Owner reasonable time to review Submittals, and (3) be periodically updated to reflect the progress of 
the Work. If the Design-Builder fails to submit a Submittal schedule, the Design-Builder shall not be entitled to any 
increase in Contract Sum or extension of Contract Time based on the time required for review of Submittals.

§ 3.1.11.2 By providing Submittals the Design-Builder represents to the Owner that it has (1) reviewed and approved 
them, (2) determined and verified materials, field measurements and field construction criteria related thereto, or will 
do so and (3) checked and coordinated the information contained within such Submittals with the requirements of the 
Work and of the Design-Build Documents.

§ 3.1.11.3 The Design-Builder shall perform no portion of the Work for which the Design-Build Documents require 
Submittals until the Owner has approved the respective Submittal.

§ 3.1.11.4 The Work shall be in accordance with approved Submittals except that the Design-Builder shall not be 
relieved of its responsibility to perform the Work consistent with the requirements of the Design-Build Documents. 
The Work may deviate from the Design-Build Documents only if the Design-Builder has notified the Owner in writing 
of a deviation from the Design-Build Documents at the time of the Submittal and a Modification is executed 
authorizing the identified deviation. The Design-Builder shall not be relieved of responsibility for errors or omissions 
in Submittals by the Owner’s approval of the Submittals.

§ 3.1.11.5 All professional design services or certifications to be provided by the Design-Builder, including all 
drawings, calculations, specifications, certifications, shop drawings and other Submittals, shall contain the signature 
and seal of the licensed design professional preparing them. Submittals related to the Work designed or certified by the 
licensed design professionals, if prepared by others, shall bear the licensed design professional’s written approval. The 
Owner and its consultants shall be entitled to rely upon the adequacy, accuracy and completeness of the services, 
certifications or approvals performed by such design professionals.

§ 3.1.12 Warranty. The Design-Builder warrants to the Owner that materials and equipment furnished under the 
Contract will be of good quality and new unless the Design-Build Documents require or permit otherwise. The 
Design-Builder further warrants that the Work will conform to the requirements of the Design-Build Documents and 
will be free from defects, except for those inherent in the quality of the Work or otherwise expressly permitted by the 
Design-Build Documents. Work, materials, or equipment not conforming to these requirements may be considered 
defective. The Design-Builder’s warranty excludes remedy for damage or defect caused by abuse, alterations to the 
Work not executed by the Design-Builder, improper or insufficient maintenance, improper operation, or normal wear 
and tear and normal usage. If required by the Owner, the Design-Builder shall furnish satisfactory evidence as to the 
kind and quality of materials and equipment.

82



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

10

§ 3.1.13 Royalties, Patents and Copyrights
§ 3.1.13.1 The Design-Builder shall pay all royalties and license fees. 

§ 3.1.13.2 The Design-Builder shall defend suits or claims for infringement of copyrights and patent rights and shall 
hold the Owner and its separate contractors and consultants harmless from loss on account thereof, but shall not be 
responsible for such defense or loss when a particular design, process or product of a particular manufacturer or 
manufacturers is required by the Owner, or where the copyright violations are required in the Owner’s Criteria. 
However, if the Design-Builder has reason to believe that the design, process or product required in the Owner’s 
Criteria is an infringement of a copyright or a patent, the Design-Builder shall be responsible for such loss unless such 
information is promptly furnished to the Owner. If the Owner receives notice from a patent or copyright owner of an 
alleged violation of a patent or copyright, attributable to the Design-Builder, the Owner shall give prompt written 
notice to the Design-Builder.

§ 3.1.14 Indemnification 
§ 3.1.14.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Design-Builder shall indemnify and hold harmless the Owner, 
including the Owner’s agents and employees, from and against claims, damages, losses and expenses, including but 
not limited to attorneys’ fees, arising out of or resulting from performance of the Work, but only to the extent caused 
by the negligent acts or omissions of the Design-Builder, Architect, a Consultant, a Contractor, or anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by them or anyone for whose acts they may be liable. Such obligation shall not be construed to 
negate, abridge, or reduce other rights or obligations of indemnity that would otherwise exist as to a party or person 
described in this Section 3.1.14.

§ 3.1.14.2 The indemnification obligation under this Section 3.1.14 shall not be limited by a limitation on amount or 
type of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for Design-Builder, Architect, a Consultant, a Contractor, or 
anyone directly or indirectly employed by them, under workers’ compensation acts, disability benefit acts or other 
employee benefit acts.

§ 3.1.15 Contingent Assignment of Agreements
§ 3.1.15.1 Each agreement for a portion of the Work is assigned by the Design-Builder to the Owner, provided that

.1 assignment is effective only after termination of the Contract by the Owner for cause, pursuant to 
Sections 13.1.4 or 13.2.2, and only for those agreements that the Owner accepts by written notification 
to the Design-Builder and the Architect, Consultants, and Contractors whose agreements are accepted 
for assignment; and

.2 assignment is subject to the prior rights of the surety, if any, obligated under bond relating to the 
Contract.

When the Owner accepts the assignment of an agreement, the Owner assumes the Design-Builder’s rights and 
obligations under the agreement. 

§ 3.1.15.2 Upon such assignment, if the Work has been suspended for more than 30 days, the compensation under the 
assigned agreement shall be equitably adjusted for increases in cost resulting from the suspension.

§ 3.1.15.3 Upon such assignment to the Owner under this Section 3.1.15, the Owner may further assign the agreement 
to a successor design-builder or other entity. If the Owner assigns the agreement to a successor design-builder or other 
entity, the Owner shall nevertheless remain legally responsible for all of the successor design-builder’s or other 
entity’s obligations under the agreement.

§ 3.1.16 Design-Builder’s Insurance and Bonds. The Design-Builder shall purchase and maintain insurance and 
provide bonds as set forth in Exhibit B. 

ARTICLE 4   WORK PRIOR TO EXECUTION OF THE DESIGN-BUILD AMENDMENT
§ 4.1 General 
§ 4.1.1 Any information submitted by the Design-Builder, and any interim decisions made by the Owner, shall be for 
the purpose of facilitating the design process and shall not modify the Owner’s Criteria unless the Owner and 
Design-Builder execute a Modification.

83



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

11

§ 4.1.2 The Design-Builder shall advise the Owner on proposed site use and improvements, selection of materials, and 
building systems and equipment. The Design-Builder shall also provide the Owner with recommendations, consistent 
with the Owner’s Criteria, on constructability; availability of materials and labor; time requirements for procurement, 
installation and construction; and factors related to construction cost including, but not limited to, costs of alternative 
designs or materials, preliminary budgets, life-cycle data, and possible cost reductions. 

§ 4.2 Evaluation of the Owner’s Criteria
§ 4.2.1 The Design-Builder shall schedule and conduct meetings with the Owner and any other necessary individuals 
or entities to discuss and review the Owner’s Criteria as set forth in Section 1.1.The Design-Builder shall thereafter 
again meet with the Owner to discuss a preliminary evaluation of the Owner’s Criteria. The preliminary evaluation 
shall address possible alternative approaches to design and construction of the Project and include the 
Design-Builder’s recommendations, if any, with regard to accelerated or fast-track scheduling, procurement, or 
phased construction. The preliminary evaluation shall consider cost information, constructability, and procurement 
and construction scheduling issues. 

§ 4.2.2 After the Design-Builder meets with the Owner and presents the preliminary evaluation, the Design-Builder 
shall provide a written report to the Owner, summarizing the Design-Builder’s evaluation of the Owner’s Criteria. The 
report shall also include 

.1 allocations of program functions, detailing each function and their square foot areas;

.2 a preliminary estimate of the Cost of the Work, and, if necessary, recommendations to adjust the 
Owner’s Criteria to conform to the Owner’s budget;

.3 a preliminary schedule, which shall include proposed design milestones; dates for receiving additional 
information from, or for work to be completed by, the Owner; anticipated date for the Design-Builder’s 
Proposal; and dates of periodic design review sessions with the Owner; and

.4 the following:
(List additional information, if any, to be included in the Design-Builder’s written report.)

  

§ 4.2.3 The Owner shall review the Design-Builder’s written report and, if acceptable, provide the Design-Builder 
with written consent to proceed to the development of the Preliminary Design as described in Section 4.3. The consent 
to proceed shall not be understood to modify the Owner’s Criteria unless the Owner and Design-Builder execute a 
Modification.

§ 4.3 Preliminary Design
§ 4.3.1 Upon the Owner’s issuance of a written consent to proceed under Section 4.2.3, the Design-Builder shall 
prepare and submit a Preliminary Design to the Owner. The Preliminary Design shall include a report identifying any 
deviations from the Owner’s Criteria, and shall include the following:

.1 Confirmation of the allocations of program functions; 

.2 Site plan;

.3 Building plans, sections and elevations; 

.4 Structural system;

.5 Selections of major building systems, including but not limited to mechanical, electrical and plumbing 
systems; and

.6 Outline specifications or sufficient drawing notes describing construction materials.

The Preliminary Design may include some combination of physical study models, perspective sketches, or digital 
modeling.

§ 4.3.2 The Owner shall review the Preliminary Design and, if acceptable, provide the Design-Builder with written 
consent to proceed to development of the Design-Builder’s Proposal. The Preliminary Design shall not modify the 
Owner’s Criteria unless the Owner and Design-Builder execute a Modification.

§ 4.4 Design-Builder’s Proposal
§ 4.4.1 Upon the Owner’s issuance of a written consent to proceed under Section 4.3.2, the Design-Builder shall 
prepare and submit the Design-Builder’s Proposal to the Owner. The Design-Builder’s Proposal shall include the 
following:

84



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

12

.1 A list of the Preliminary Design documents and other information, including the Design-Builder’s 
clarifications, assumptions and deviations from the Owner’s Criteria, upon which the Design-Builder’s 
Proposal is based;

.2 The proposed Contract Sum, including the compensation method and, if based upon the Cost of the 
Work plus a fee, a written statement of estimated cost organized by trade categories, allowances, 
contingencies, Design-Builder’s Fee, and other items that comprise the Contract Sum; 

.3 The proposed date the Design-Builder shall achieve Substantial Completion;

.4 An enumeration of any qualifications and exclusions, if applicable;

.5 A list of the Design-Builder’s key personnel, Contractors and suppliers; and

.6 The date on which the Design-Builder’s Proposal expires. 

§ 4.4.2 Submission of the Design-Builder’s Proposal shall constitute a representation by the Design-Builder that it has 
visited the site and become familiar with local conditions under which the Work is to be completed. 

§ 4.4.3 If the Owner and Design-Builder agree on a proposal, the Owner and Design-Builder shall execute the 
Design-Build Amendment setting forth the terms of their agreement. 

ARTICLE 5   WORK FOLLOWING EXECUTION OF THE DESIGN-BUILD AMENDMENT
§ 5.1 Construction Documents
§ 5.1.1 Upon the execution of the Design-Build Amendment, the Design-Builder shall prepare Construction 
Documents. The Construction Documents shall establish the quality levels of materials and systems required. The 
Construction Documents shall be consistent with the Design-Build Documents.

§ 5.1.2 The Design-Builder shall provide the Construction Documents to the Owner for the Owner’s information. If 
the Owner discovers any deviations between the Construction Documents and the Design-Build Documents, the 
Owner shall promptly notify the Design-Builder of such deviations in writing. The Construction Documents shall not 
modify the Design-Build Documents unless the Owner and Design-Builder execute a Modification. The failure of the 
Owner to discover any such deviations shall not relieve the Design-Builder of the obligation to perform the Work in 
accordance with the Design-Build Documents.

§ 5.2 Construction 
§ 5.2.1 Commencement. Except as permitted in Section 5.2.2, construction shall not commence prior to execution of 
the Design-Build Amendment.

§ 5.2.2 If the Owner and Design-Builder agree in writing, construction may proceed prior to the execution of the 
Design-Build Amendment. However, such authorization shall not waive the Owner’s right to reject the 
Design-Builder’s Proposal. 

§ 5.2.3 The Design-Builder shall supervise and direct the Work, using the Design-Builder’s best skill and attention. 
The Design-Builder shall be solely responsible for, and have control over, construction means, methods, techniques, 
sequences and procedures, and for coordinating all portions of the Work under the Contract, unless the Design-Build 
Documents give other specific instructions concerning these matters.

§ 5.2.4 The Design-Builder shall be responsible for inspection of portions of Work already performed to determine 
that such portions are in proper condition to receive subsequent Work.

§ 5.3 Labor and Materials
§ 5.3.1 Unless otherwise provided in the Design-Build Documents, the Design-Builder shall provide and pay for labor, 
materials, equipment, tools, construction equipment and machinery, water, heat, utilities, transportation, and other 
facilities and services, necessary for proper execution and completion of the Work, whether temporary or permanent, 
and whether or not incorporated or to be incorporated in the Work.

§ 5.3.2 When a material or system is specified in the Design-Build Documents, the Design-Builder may make 
substitutions only in accordance with Article 6.

85



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

13

§ 5.3.3 The Design-Builder shall enforce strict discipline and good order among the Design-Builder’s employees and 
other persons carrying out the Work. The Design-Builder shall not permit employment of unfit persons or persons not 
properly skilled in tasks assigned to them.

§ 5.4 Taxes
The Design-Builder shall pay sales, consumer, use and similar taxes, for the Work provided by the Design-Builder, 
that are legally enacted when the Design-Build Amendment is executed, whether or not yet effective or merely 
scheduled to go into effect.

§ 5.5 Permits, Fees, Notices and Compliance with Laws
§ 5.5.1 Unless otherwise provided in the Design-Build Documents, the Design-Builder shall secure and pay for the 
building permit as well as any other permits, fees, licenses, and inspections by government agencies, necessary for 
proper execution of the Work and Substantial Completion of the Project. 

§ 5.5.2 The Design-Builder shall comply with and give notices required by applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, 
codes, rules and regulations, and lawful orders of public authorities, applicable to performance of the Work.

§ 5.5.3 Concealed or Unknown Conditions. If the Design-Builder encounters conditions at the site that are 
(1) subsurface or otherwise concealed physical conditions that differ materially from those indicated in the 
Design-Build Documents or (2) unknown physical conditions of an unusual nature that differ materially from those 
ordinarily found to exist and generally recognized as inherent in construction activities of the character provided for in 
the Design-Build Documents, the Design-Builder shall promptly provide notice to the Owner before conditions are 
disturbed and in no event later than 21 days after first observance of the conditions. The Owner shall promptly 
investigate such conditions and, if the Owner determines that they differ materially and cause an increase or decrease 
in the Design-Builder’s cost of, or time required for, performance of any part of the Work, shall recommend an 
equitable adjustment in the Contract Sum or Contract Time, or both. If the Owner determines that the conditions at the 
site are not materially different from those indicated in the Design-Build Documents and that no change in the terms of 
the Contract is justified, the Owner shall promptly notify the Design-Builder in writing, stating the reasons. If the 
Design-Builder disputes the Owner’s determination or recommendation, the Design-Builder may proceed as provided 
in Article 14.

§ 5.5.4 If, in the course of the Work, the Design-Builder encounters human remains, or recognizes the existence of 
burial markers, archaeological sites, or wetlands, not indicated in the Design-Build Documents, the Design-Builder 
shall immediately suspend any operations that would affect them and shall notify the Owner. Upon receipt of such 
notice, the Owner shall promptly take any action necessary to obtain governmental authorization required to resume 
the operations. The Design-Builder shall continue to suspend such operations until otherwise instructed by the Owner 
but shall continue with all other operations that do not affect those remains or features. Requests for adjustments in the 
Contract Sum and Contract Time arising from the existence of such remains or features may be made as provided in 
Article 14.

§ 5.6 Allowances
§ 5.6.1 The Design-Builder shall include in the Contract Sum all allowances stated in the Design-Build Documents. 
Items covered by allowances shall be supplied for such amounts, and by such persons or entities as the Owner may 
direct, but the Design-Builder shall not be required to employ persons or entities to whom the Design-Builder has 
reasonable objection.

§ 5.6.2 Unless otherwise provided in the Design-Build Documents,
.1 allowances shall cover the cost to the Design-Builder of materials and equipment delivered at the site 

and all required taxes, less applicable trade discounts;
.2 the Design-Builder’s costs for unloading and handling at the site, labor, installation costs, overhead, 

profit, and other expenses contemplated for stated allowance amounts, shall be included in the Contract 
Sum but not in the allowances; and

.3 whenever costs are more than or less than allowances, the Contract Sum shall be adjusted accordingly 
by Change Order. The amount of the Change Order shall reflect (1) the difference between actual costs 
and the allowances under Section 5.6.2.1 and (2) changes in Design-Builder’s costs under 
Section 5.6.2.2.

86



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

14

§ 5.6.3 The Owner shall make selections of materials and equipment with reasonable promptness for allowances 
requiring Owner selection.

§ 5.7 Key Personnel, Contractors and Suppliers
§ 5.7.1 The Design-Builder shall not employ personnel, or contract with Contractors or suppliers to whom the Owner 
has made reasonable and timely objection. The Design-Builder shall not be required to contract with anyone to whom 
the Design-Builder has made reasonable and timely objection.

§ 5.7.2 If the Design-Builder changes any of the personnel, Contractors or suppliers identified in the Design-Build 
Amendment, the Design-Builder shall notify the Owner and provide the name and qualifications of the new personnel, 
Contractor or supplier. The Owner may reply within 14 days to the Design-Builder in writing, stating (1) whether the 
Owner has reasonable objection to the proposed personnel, Contractor or supplier or (2) that the Owner requires 
additional time to review. Failure of the Owner to reply within the 14-day period shall constitute notice of no 
reasonable objection. 

§ 5.7.3 Except for those persons or entities already identified or required in the Design-Build Amendment, the 
Design-Builder, as soon as practicable after execution of the Design-Build Amendment, shall furnish in writing to the 
Owner the names of persons or entities (including those who are to furnish materials or equipment fabricated to a 
special design) proposed for each principal portion of the Work. The Owner may reply within 14 days to the 
Design-Builder in writing stating (1) whether the Owner has reasonable objection to any such proposed person or 
entity or (2) that the Owner requires additional time for review. Failure of the Owner to reply within the 14-day period 
shall constitute notice of no reasonable objection.

§ 5.7.3.1 If the Owner has reasonable objection to a person or entity proposed by the Design-Builder, the 
Design-Builder shall propose another to whom the Owner has no reasonable objection. If the rejected person or entity 
was reasonably capable of performing the Work, the Contract Sum and Contract Time shall be increased or decreased 
by the difference, if any, occasioned by such change, and an appropriate Change Order shall be issued before 
commencement of the substitute person or entity’s Work. However, no increase in the Contract Sum or Contract Time 
shall be allowed for such change unless the Design-Builder has acted promptly and responsively in submitting names 
as required.

§ 5.8 Documents and Submittals at the Site
The Design-Builder shall maintain at the site for the Owner one copy of the Design-Build Documents and a current set 
of the Construction Documents, in good order and marked currently to indicate field changes and selections made 
during construction, and one copy of approved Submittals. The Design-Builder shall deliver these items to the Owner 
in accordance with Section 9.10.2 as a record of the Work as constructed.

§ 5.9 Use of Site
The Design-Builder shall confine operations at the site to areas permitted by applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, 
codes, rules and regulations, lawful orders of public authorities, and the Design-Build Documents, and shall not 
unreasonably encumber the site with materials or equipment.

§ 5.10 Cutting and Patching
The Design-Builder shall not cut, patch or otherwise alter fully or partially completed construction by the Owner or a 
separate contractor except with written consent of the Owner and of such separate contractor; such consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld. The Design-Builder shall not unreasonably withhold from the Owner or a separate contractor 
the Design-Builder’s consent to cutting or otherwise altering the Work.

§ 5.11 Cleaning Up
§ 5.11.1 The Design-Builder shall keep the premises and surrounding area free from accumulation of waste materials 
or rubbish caused by operations under the Contract. At completion of the Work, the Design-Builder shall remove 
waste materials, rubbish, the Design-Builder’s tools, construction equipment, machinery and surplus materials from 
and about the Project.

§ 5.11.2 If the Design-Builder fails to clean up as provided in the Design-Build Documents, the Owner may do so and 
Owner shall be entitled to reimbursement from the Design-Builder.

87



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

15

§ 5.12 Access to Work
The Design-Builder shall provide the Owner and its separate contractors and consultants access to the Work in 
preparation and progress wherever located. The Design-Builder shall notify the Owner regarding Project safety 
criteria and programs, which the Owner, and its contractors and consultants, shall comply with while at the site.

§ 5.13 Construction by Owner or by Separate Contractors
§ 5.13.1 Owner’s Right to Perform Construction and to Award Separate Contracts
§ 5.13.1.1 The Owner reserves the right to perform construction or operations related to the Project with the Owner’s 
own forces; and to award separate contracts in connection with other portions of the Project, or other construction or 
operations on the site, under terms and conditions identical or substantially similar to this Contract, including those 
terms and conditions related to insurance and waiver of subrogation. The Owner shall notify the Design-Builder 
promptly after execution of any separate contract. If the Design-Builder claims that delay or additional cost is involved 
because of such action by the Owner, the Design-Builder shall make a Claim as provided in Article 14.

§ 5.13.1.2 When separate contracts are awarded for different portions of the Project or other construction or operations 
on the site, the term "Design-Builder" in the Design-Build Documents in each case shall mean the individual or entity 
that executes each separate agreement with the Owner.

§ 5.13.1.3 The Owner shall provide for coordination of the activities of the Owner’s own forces, and of each separate 
contractor, with the Work of the Design-Builder, who shall cooperate with them. The Design-Builder shall participate 
with other separate contractors and the Owner in reviewing their construction schedules. The Design-Builder shall 
make any revisions to the construction schedule deemed necessary after a joint review and mutual agreement. The 
construction schedules shall then constitute the schedules to be used by the Design-Builder, separate contractors and 
the Owner until subsequently revised.

§ 5.13.1.4 Unless otherwise provided in the Design-Build Documents, when the Owner performs construction or 
operations related to the Project with the Owner’s own forces or separate contractors, the Owner shall be deemed to be 
subject to the same obligations, and to have the same rights, that apply to the Design-Builder under the Contract.

§ 5.14 Mutual Responsibility
§ 5.14.1 The Design-Builder shall afford the Owner and separate contractors reasonable opportunity for introduction 
and storage of their materials and equipment and performance of their activities, and shall connect and coordinate the 
Design-Builder’s construction and operations with theirs as required by the Design-Build Documents.

§ 5.14.2 If part of the Design-Builder’s Work depends upon construction or operations by the Owner or a separate 
contractor, the Design-Builder shall, prior to proceeding with that portion of the Work, prepare a written report to the 
Owner, identifying apparent discrepancies or defects in the construction or operations by the Owner or separate 
contractor that would render it unsuitable for proper execution and results of the Design-Builder’s Work. Failure of the 
Design-Builder to report shall constitute an acknowledgment that the Owner’s or separate contractor’s completed or 
partially completed construction is fit and proper to receive the Design-Builder’s Work, except as to defects not then 
reasonably discoverable.

§ 5.14.3 The Design-Builder shall reimburse the Owner for costs the Owner incurs that are payable to a separate 
contractor because of the Design-Builder’s delays, improperly timed activities or defective construction. The Owner 
shall be responsible to the Design-Builder for costs the Design-Builder incurs because of a separate contractor’s 
delays, improperly timed activities, damage to the Work or defective construction.

§ 5.14.4 The Design-Builder shall promptly remedy damage the Design-Builder wrongfully causes to completed or 
partially completed construction or to property of the Owner or separate contractors as provided in Section 10.2.5.

§ 5.14.5 The Owner and each separate contractor shall have the same responsibilities for cutting and patching the 
Work as the Design-Builder has with respect to the construction of the Owner or separate contractors in Section 5.10.

§ 5.15 Owner’s Right to Clean Up
If a dispute arises among the Design-Builder, separate contractors and the Owner as to the responsibility under their 
respective contracts for maintaining the premises and surrounding area free from waste materials and rubbish, the 
Owner may clean up and will allocate the cost among those responsible.

88



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

16

ARTICLE 6   CHANGES IN THE WORK
§ 6.1 General
§ 6.1.1 Changes in the Work may be accomplished after execution of the Contract, and without invalidating the 
Contract, by Change Order or Change Directive, subject to the limitations stated in this Article 6 and elsewhere in the 
Design-Build Documents.

§ 6.1.2 A Change Order shall be based upon agreement between the Owner and Design-Builder. The Owner may issue 
a Change Directive without agreement by the Design-Builder.

§ 6.1.3 Changes in the Work shall be performed under applicable provisions of the Design-Build Documents, and the 
Design-Builder shall proceed promptly, unless otherwise provided in the Change Order or Change Directive.

§ 6.2 Change Orders
A Change Order is a written instrument signed by the Owner and Design-Builder stating their agreement upon all of 
the following:

.1 The change in the Work;

.2 The amount of the adjustment, if any, in the Contract Sum or, if prior to execution of the Design-Build 
Amendment, the adjustment in the Design-Builder’s compensation; and

.3 The extent of the adjustment, if any, in the Contract Time.

§ 6.3 Change Directives
§ 6.3.1 A Change Directive is a written order signed by the Owner directing a change in the Work prior to agreement 
on adjustment, if any, in the Contract Sum or, if prior to execution of the Design-Build Amendment, the adjustment in 
the Design-Builder’s compensation, or Contract Time. The Owner may by Change Directive, without invalidating the 
Contract, order changes in the Work within the general scope of the Contract consisting of additions, deletions or other 
revisions, the Contract Sum or, if prior to execution of the Design-Build Amendment, the adjustment in the 
Design-Builder’s compensation, and Contract Time being adjusted accordingly.

§ 6.3.2 A Change Directive shall be used in the absence of total agreement on the terms of a Change Order.

§ 6.3.3 If the Change Directive provides for an adjustment to the Contract Sum or, if prior to execution of the 
Design-Build Amendment, an adjustment in the Design-Builder’s compensation, the adjustment shall be based on one 
of the following methods:

.1 Mutual acceptance of a lump sum properly itemized and supported by sufficient substantiating data to 
permit evaluation;

.2 Unit prices stated in the Design-Build Documents or subsequently agreed upon;

.3 Cost to be determined in a manner agreed upon by the parties and a mutually acceptable fixed or 
percentage fee; or

.4 As provided in Section 6.3.7.

§ 6.3.4 If unit prices are stated in the Design-Build Documents or subsequently agreed upon, and if quantities 
originally contemplated are materially changed in a proposed Change Order or Change Directive so that application of 
such unit prices to quantities of Work proposed will cause substantial inequity to the Owner or Design-Builder, the 
applicable unit prices shall be equitably adjusted.

§ 6.3.5 Upon receipt of a Change Directive, the Design-Builder shall promptly proceed with the change in the Work 
involved and advise the Owner of the Design-Builder’s agreement or disagreement with the method, if any, provided 
in the Change Directive for determining the proposed adjustment in the Contract Sum or, if prior to execution of the 
Design-Build Amendment, the adjustment in the Design-Builder’s compensation, or Contract Time.

§ 6.3.6 A Change Directive signed by the Design-Builder indicates the Design-Builder’s agreement therewith, 
including adjustment in Contract Sum or, if prior to execution of the Design-Build Amendment, the adjustment in the 
Design-Builder’s compensation, and Contract Time or the method for determining them. Such agreement shall be 
effective immediately and shall be recorded as a Change Order.

89



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

17

§ 6.3.7 If the Design-Builder does not respond promptly or disagrees with the method for adjustment in the Contract 
Sum or, if prior to execution of the Design-Build Amendment, the method for adjustment in the Design-Builder’s 
compensation, the Owner shall determine the method and the adjustment on the basis of reasonable expenditures and 
savings of those performing the Work attributable to the change, including, in case of an increase, an amount for 
overhead and profit as set forth in the Agreement, or if no such amount is set forth in the Agreement, a reasonable 
amount. In such case, and also under Section 6.3.3.3, the Design-Builder shall keep and present, in such form as the 
Owner may prescribe, an itemized accounting together with appropriate supporting data. Unless otherwise provided in 
the Design-Build Documents, costs for the purposes of this Section 6.3.7 shall be limited to the following:

.1 Additional costs of professional services;

.2 Costs of labor, including social security, unemployment insurance, fringe benefits required by 
agreement or custom, and workers’ compensation insurance;

.3 Costs of materials, supplies and equipment, including cost of transportation, whether incorporated or 
consumed;

.4 Rental costs of machinery and equipment, exclusive of hand tools, whether rented from the 
Design-Builder or others;

.5 Costs of premiums for all bonds and insurance, permit fees, and sales, use or similar taxes related to the 
Work; and

.6 Additional costs of supervision and field office personnel directly attributable to the change.

§ 6.3.8 The amount of credit to be allowed by the Design-Builder to the Owner for a deletion or change that results in 
a net decrease in the Contract Sum or, if prior to execution of the Design-Build Amendment, in the Design-Builder’s 
compensation, shall be actual net cost. When both additions and credits covering related Work or substitutions are 
involved in a change, the allowance for overhead and profit shall be figured on the basis of net increase, if any, with 
respect to that change.

§ 6.3.9 Pending final determination of the total cost of a Change Directive to the Owner, the Design-Builder may 
request payment for Work completed under the Change Directive in Applications for Payment. The Owner will make 
an interim determination for purposes of certification for payment for those costs deemed to be reasonably justified. 
The Owner’s interim determination of cost shall adjust the Contract Sum or, if prior to execution of the Design-Build 
Amendment, the Design-Builder’s compensation, on the same basis as a Change Order, subject to the right of 
Design-Builder to disagree and assert a Claim in accordance with Article 14. 

§ 6.3.10 When the Owner and Design-Builder agree with a determination concerning the adjustments in the Contract 
Sum or, if prior to execution of the Design-Build Amendment, the adjustment in the Design-Builder’s compensation 
and Contract Time, or otherwise reach agreement upon the adjustments, such agreement shall be effective 
immediately and the Owner and Design-Builder shall execute a Change Order. Change Orders may be issued for all or 
any part of a Change Directive.

ARTICLE 7   OWNER’S RESPONSIBILITIES
§ 7.1 General
§ 7.1.1 The Owner shall designate in writing a representative who shall have express authority to bind the Owner with 
respect to all Project matters requiring the Owner’s approval or authorization. 

§ 7.1.2 The Owner shall render decisions in a timely manner and in accordance with the Design-Builder’s schedule 
agreed to by the Owner. The Owner shall furnish to the Design-Builder, within 15 days after receipt of a written 
request, information necessary and relevant for the Design-Builder to evaluate, give notice of or enforce mechanic’s 
lien rights. Such information shall include a correct statement of the record legal title to the property on which the 
Project is located, usually referred to as the site, and the Owner’s interest therein.

§ 7.2 Information and Services Required of the Owner
§ 7.2.1 The Owner shall furnish information or services required of the Owner by the Design-Build Documents with 
reasonable promptness. 

§ 7.2.2 The Owner shall provide, to the extent under the Owner’s control and if not required by the Design-Build 
Documents to be provided by the Design-Builder, the results and reports of prior tests, inspections or investigations 
conducted for the Project involving structural or mechanical systems; chemical, air and water pollution; hazardous 
materials; or environmental and subsurface conditions and information regarding the presence of pollutants at the 

90



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

18

Project site. Upon receipt of a written request from the Design-Builder, the Owner shall also provide surveys 
describing physical characteristics, legal limitations and utility locations for the site of the Project, and a legal 
description of the site under the Owner’s control. 

§ 7.2.3 The Owner shall promptly obtain easements, zoning variances, and legal authorizations or entitlements 
regarding site utilization where essential to the execution of the Project.

§ 7.2.4 The Owner shall cooperate with the Design-Builder in securing building and other permits, licenses and 
inspections. 

§ 7.2.5 The services, information, surveys and reports required to be provided by the Owner under this Agreement, 
shall be furnished at the Owner’s expense, and except as otherwise specifically provided in this Agreement or 
elsewhere in the Design-Build Documents or to the extent the Owner advises the Design-Builder to the contrary in 
writing, the Design-Builder shall be entitled to rely upon the accuracy and completeness thereof. In no event shall the 
Design-Builder be relieved of its responsibility to exercise proper precautions relating to the safe performance of the 
Work.

§ 7.2.6 If the Owner observes or otherwise becomes aware of a fault or defect in the Work or non-conformity with the 
Design-Build Documents, the Owner shall give prompt written notice thereof to the Design-Builder.

§ 7.2.7 Prior to the execution of the Design-Build Amendment, the Design-Builder may request in writing that the 
Owner provide reasonable evidence that the Owner has made financial arrangements to fulfill the Owner’s obligations 
under the Design-Build Documents and the Design-Builder’s Proposal. Thereafter, the Design-Builder may only 
request such evidence if (1) the Owner fails to make payments to the Design-Builder as the Design-Build Documents 
require; (2) a change in the Work materially changes the Contract Sum; or (3) the Design-Builder identifies in writing 
a reasonable concern regarding the Owner’s ability to make payment when due. The Owner shall furnish such 
evidence as a condition precedent to commencement or continuation of the Work or the portion of the Work affected 
by a material change. After the Owner furnishes the evidence, the Owner shall not materially vary such financial 
arrangements without prior notice to the Design-Builder.

§ 7.2.8 Except as otherwise provided in the Design-Build Documents or when direct communications have been 
specially authorized, the Owner shall communicate through the Design-Builder with persons or entities employed or 
retained by the Design-Builder.

§ 7.2.9 Unless required by the Design-Build Documents to be provided by the Design-Builder, the Owner shall, upon 
request from the Design-Builder, furnish the services of geotechnical engineers or other consultants for investigation 
of subsurface, air and water conditions when such services are reasonably necessary to properly carry out the design 
services furnished by the Design-Builder. In such event, the Design-Builder shall specify the services required. Such 
services may include, but are not limited to, test borings, test pits, determinations of soil bearing values, percolation 
tests, evaluations of hazardous materials, ground corrosion and resistivity tests, and necessary operations for 
anticipating subsoil conditions. The services of geotechnical engineer(s) or other consultants shall include preparation 
and submission of all appropriate reports and professional recommendations.

§ 7.2.10 The Owner shall purchase and maintain insurance as set forth in Exhibit B.

§ 7.3 Submittals
§ 7.3.1 The Owner shall review and approve or take other appropriate action on Submittals. Review of Submittals is 
not conducted for the purpose of determining the accuracy and completeness of other details, such as dimensions and 
quantities; or for substantiating instructions for installation or performance of equipment or systems; or for 
determining that the Submittals are in conformance with the Design-Build Documents, all of which remain the 
responsibility of the Design-Builder as required by the Design-Build Documents. The Owner’s action will be taken in 
accordance with the submittal schedule approved by the Owner or, in the absence of an approved submittal schedule, 
with reasonable promptness while allowing sufficient time in the Owner’s judgment to permit adequate review. The 
Owner’s review of Submittals shall not relieve the Design-Builder of the obligations under Sections 3.1.11, 3.1.12, 
and 5.2.3. The Owner’s review shall not constitute approval of safety precautions or, unless otherwise specifically 
stated by the Owner, of any construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures. The Owner’s approval 
of a specific item shall not indicate approval of an assembly of which the item is a component.

91



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

19

§ 7.3.2 Upon review of the Submittals required by the Design-Build Documents, the Owner shall notify the 
Design-Builder of any non-conformance with the Design-Build Documents the Owner discovers.

§ 7.4 Visits to the site by the Owner shall not be construed to create an obligation on the part of the Owner to make 
on-site inspections to check the quality or quantity of the Work. The Owner shall neither have control over or charge 
of, nor be responsible for, the construction means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for the safety 
precautions and programs in connection with the Work, because these are solely the Design-Builder’s rights and 
responsibilities under the Design-Build Documents.

§ 7.5 The Owner shall not be responsible for the Design-Builder’s failure to perform the Work in accordance with the 
requirements of the Design-Build Documents. The Owner shall not have control over or charge of, and will not be 
responsible for acts or omissions of the Design-Builder, Architect, Consultants, Contractors, or their agents or 
employees, or any other persons or entities performing portions of the Work for the Design-Builder. 

§ 7.6 The Owner has the authority to reject Work that does not conform to the Design-Build Documents. The Owner 
shall have authority to require inspection or testing of the Work in accordance with Section 15.5.2, whether or not such 
Work is fabricated, installed or completed. However, neither this authority of the Owner nor a decision made in good 
faith either to exercise or not to exercise such authority shall give rise to a duty or responsibility of the Owner to the 
Design-Builder, the Architect, Consultants, Contractors, material and equipment suppliers, their agents or employees, 
or other persons or entities performing portions of the Work.

§ 7.7 The Owner shall determine the date or dates of Substantial Completion in accordance with Section 9.8 and the 
date of final completion in accordance with Section 9.10.

§ 7.8 Owner’s Right to Stop Work
If the Design-Builder fails to correct Work which is not in accordance with the requirements of the Design-Build 
Documents as required by Section 11.2 or persistently fails to carry out Work in accordance with the Design-Build 
Documents, the Owner may issue a written order to the Design-Builder to stop the Work, or any portion thereof, until 
the cause for such order has been eliminated; however, the right of the Owner to stop the Work shall not give rise to a 
duty on the part of the Owner to exercise this right for the benefit of the Design-Builder or any other person or entity, 
except to the extent required by Section 5.13.1.3.

§ 7.9 Owner’s Right to Carry Out the Work
If the Design-Builder defaults or neglects to carry out the Work in accordance with the Design-Build Documents and 
fails within a ten-day period after receipt of written notice from the Owner to commence and continue correction of 
such default or neglect with diligence and promptness, the Owner may, without prejudice to other remedies the Owner 
may have, correct such deficiencies. In such case, an appropriate Change Order shall be issued deducting from 
payments then or thereafter due the Design-Builder the reasonable cost of correcting such deficiencies. If payments 
then or thereafter due the Design-Builder are not sufficient to cover such amounts, the Design-Builder shall pay the 
difference to the Owner.

ARTICLE 8   TIME
§ 8.1 Progress and Completion
§ 8.1.1 Time limits stated in the Design-Build Documents are of the essence of the Contract. By executing the 
Design-Build Amendment the Design-Builder confirms that the Contract Time is a reasonable period for performing 
the Work.

§ 8.1.2 The Design-Builder shall not, except by agreement of the Owner in writing, commence the Work prior to the 
effective date of insurance, other than property insurance, required by this Contract. The Contract Time shall not be 
adjusted as a result of the Design-Builder’s failure to obtain insurance required under this Contract.

§ 8.1.3 The Design-Builder shall proceed expeditiously with adequate forces and shall achieve Substantial 
Completion within the Contract Time.

92



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

20

§ 8.2 Delays and Extensions of Time
§ 8.2.1 If the Design-Builder is delayed at any time in the commencement or progress of the Work by an act or neglect 
of the Owner or of a consultant or separate contractor employed by the Owner; or by changes ordered in the Work by 
the Owner; or by labor disputes, fire, unusual delay in deliveries, unavoidable casualties or other causes beyond the 
Design-Builder’s control; or by delay authorized by the Owner pending mediation and binding dispute resolution or 
by other causes that the Owner determines may justify delay, then the Contract Time shall be extended by Change 
Order for such reasonable time as the Owner may determine. 

§ 8.2.2 Claims relating to time shall be made in accordance with applicable provisions of Article 14. 

§ 8.2.3 This Section 8.2 does not preclude recovery of damages for delay by either party under other provisions of the 
Design-Build Documents.

ARTICLE 9   PAYMENT APPLICATIONS AND PROJECT COMPLETION
§ 9.1 Contract Sum
The Contract Sum is stated in the Design-Build Amendment.

§ 9.2 Schedule of Values
Where the Contract Sum is based on a stipulated sum or Guaranteed Maximum Price, the Design-Builder, prior to the 
first Application for Payment after execution of the Design-Build Amendment shall submit to the Owner a schedule of 
values allocating the entire Contract Sum to the various portions of the Work and prepared in such form and supported 
by such data to substantiate its accuracy as the Owner may require. This schedule, unless objected to by the Owner, 
shall be used as a basis for reviewing the Design-Builder’s Applications for Payment.

§ 9.3 Applications for Payment
§ 9.3.1 At least ten days before the date established for each progress payment, the Design-Builder shall submit to the 
Owner an itemized Application for Payment for completed portions of the Work. The application shall be notarized, if 
required, and supported by data substantiating the Design-Builder’s right to payment as the Owner may require, such 
as copies of requisitions from the Architect, Consultants, Contractors, and material suppliers, and shall reflect 
retainage if provided for in the Design-Build Documents.

§ 9.3.1.1 As provided in Section 6.3.9, Applications for Payment may include requests for payment on account of 
changes in the Work that have been properly authorized by Change Directives, or by interim determinations of the 
Owner, but not yet included in Change Orders.

§ 9.3.1.2 Applications for Payment shall not include requests for payment for portions of the Work for which the 
Design-Builder does not intend to pay the Architect, Consultant, Contractor, material supplier, or other persons or 
entities providing services or work for the Design-Builder, unless such Work has been performed by others whom the 
Design-Builder intends to pay. 

§ 9.3.2 Unless otherwise provided in the Design-Build Documents, payments shall be made for services provided as 
well as materials and equipment delivered and suitably stored at the site for subsequent incorporation in the Work. If 
approved in advance by the Owner, payment may similarly be made for materials and equipment suitably stored off 
the site at a location agreed upon in writing. Payment for materials and equipment stored on or off the site shall be 
conditioned upon compliance by the Design-Builder with procedures satisfactory to the Owner to establish the 
Owner’s title to such materials and equipment or otherwise protect the Owner’s interest, and shall include the costs of 
applicable insurance, storage and transportation to the site for such materials and equipment stored off the site.

§ 9.3.3 The Design-Builder warrants that title to all Work, other than Instruments of Service, covered by an 
Application for Payment will pass to the Owner no later than the time of payment. The Design-Builder further 
warrants that, upon submittal of an Application for Payment, all Work for which Certificates for Payment have been 
previously issued and payments received from the Owner shall, to the best of the Design-Builder’s knowledge, 
information and belief, be free and clear of liens, claims, security interests or encumbrances in favor of the 
Design-Builder, Architect, Consultants, Contractors, material suppliers, or other persons or entities entitled to make a 
claim by reason of having provided labor, materials and equipment relating to the Work.

93



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

21

§ 9.4 Certificates for Payment
The Owner shall, within seven days after receipt of the Design-Builder’s Application for Payment, issue to the 
Design-Builder a Certificate for Payment indicating the amount the Owner determines is properly due, and notify the 
Design-Builder in writing of the Owner’s reasons for withholding certification in whole or in part as provided in 
Section 9.5.1.

§ 9.5 Decisions to Withhold Certification
§ 9.5.1 The Owner may withhold a Certificate for Payment in whole or in part to the extent reasonably necessary to 
protect the Owner due to the Owner’s determination that the Work has not progressed to the point indicated in the 
Design-Builder’s Application for Payment, or the quality of the Work is not in accordance with the Design-Build 
Documents. If the Owner is unable to certify payment in the amount of the Application, the Owner will notify the 
Design-Builder as provided in Section 9.4. If the Design-Builder and Owner cannot agree on a revised amount, the 
Owner will promptly issue a Certificate for Payment for the amount that the Owner deems to be due and owing. The 
Owner may also withhold a Certificate for Payment or, because of subsequently discovered evidence, may nullify the 
whole or a part of a Certificate for Payment previously issued to such extent as may be necessary to protect the Owner 
from loss for which the Design-Builder is responsible because of

.1 defective Work, including design and construction, not remedied;

.2 third party claims filed or reasonable evidence indicating probable filing of such claims unless security 
acceptable to the Owner is provided by the Design-Builder;

.3 failure of the Design-Builder to make payments properly to the Architect, Consultants, Contractors or 
others, for services, labor, materials or equipment;

.4 reasonable evidence that the Work cannot be completed for the unpaid balance of the Contract Sum;

.5 damage to the Owner or a separate contractor;

.6 reasonable evidence that the Work will not be completed within the Contract Time, and that the unpaid 
balance would not be adequate to cover actual or liquidated damages for the anticipated delay; or

.7 repeated failure to carry out the Work in accordance with the Design-Build Documents. 

§ 9.5.2 When the above reasons for withholding certification are removed, certification will be made for amounts 
previously withheld.

§ 9.5.3 If the Owner withholds certification for payment under Section 9.5.1.3, the Owner may, at its sole option, issue 
joint checks to the Design-Builder and to the Architect or any Consultants, Contractor, material or equipment 
suppliers, or other persons or entities providing services or work for the Design-Builder to whom the Design-Builder 
failed to make payment for Work properly performed or material or equipment suitably delivered. 

§ 9.6 Progress Payments
§ 9.6.1 After the Owner has issued a Certificate for Payment, the Owner shall make payment in the manner and within 
the time provided in the Design-Build Documents.

§ 9.6.2 The Design-Builder shall pay each Architect, Consultant, Contractor, and other person or entity providing 
services or work for the Design-Builder no later than the time period required by applicable law, but in no event more 
than seven days after receipt of payment from the Owner the amount to which the Architect, Consultant, Contractor, 
and other person or entity providing services or work for the Design-Builder is entitled, reflecting percentages actually 
retained from payments to the Design-Builder on account of the portion of the Work performed by the Architect, 
Consultant, Contractor, or other person or entity. The Design-Builder shall, by appropriate agreement with each 
Architect, Consultant, Contractor, and other person or entity providing services or work for the Design-Builder, 
require each Architect, Consultant, Contractor, and other person or entity providing services or work for the 
Design-Builder to make payments to subconsultants and subcontractors in a similar manner. 

§ 9.6.3 The Owner will, on request and if practicable, furnish to the Architect, a Consultant, Contractor, or other 
person or entity providing services or work for the Design-Builder, information regarding percentages of completion 
or amounts applied for by the Design-Builder and action taken thereon by the Owner on account of portions of the 
Work done by such Architect, Consultant, Contractor or other person or entity providing services or work for the 
Design-Builder.

§ 9.6.4 The Owner has the right to request written evidence from the Design-Builder that the Design-Builder has 
properly paid the Architect, Consultants, Contractors, or other person or entity providing services or work for the 

94



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

22

Design-Builder, amounts paid by the Owner to the Design-Builder for the Work. If the Design-Builder fails to furnish 
such evidence within seven days, the Owner shall have the right to contact the Architect, Consultants, and Contractors 
to ascertain whether they have been properly paid. The Owner shall have no obligation to pay or to see to the payment 
of money to a Consultant or Contractor, except as may otherwise be required by law.

§ 9.6.5 Design-Builder payments to material and equipment suppliers shall be treated in a manner similar to that 
provided in Sections 9.6.2, 9.6.3 and 9.6.4.

§ 9.6.6 A Certificate for Payment, a progress payment, or partial or entire use or occupancy of the Project by the 
Owner shall not constitute acceptance of Work not in accordance with the Design-Build Documents.

§ 9.6.7 Unless the Design-Builder provides the Owner with a payment bond in the full penal sum of the Contract Sum, 
payments received by the Design-Builder for Work properly performed by the Architect, Consultants, Contractors and 
other person or entity providing services or work for the Design-Builder, shall be held by the Design-Builder for the 
Architect and those Consultants, Contractors, or other person or entity providing services or work for the 
Design-Builder, for which payment was made by the Owner. Nothing contained herein shall require money to be 
placed in a separate account and not commingled with money of the Design-Builder, shall create any fiduciary liability 
or tort liability on the part of the Design-Builder for breach of trust or shall entitle any person or entity to an award of 
punitive damages against the Design-Builder for breach of the requirements of this provision. 

§ 9.7 Failure of Payment
If the Owner does not issue a Certificate for Payment, through no fault of the Design-Builder, within the time required 
by the Design-Build Documents, then the Design-Builder may, upon seven additional days’ written notice to the 
Owner, stop the Work until payment of the amount owing has been received. The Contract Time shall be extended 
appropriately and the Contract Sum shall be increased by the amount of the Design-Builder’s reasonable costs of 
shut-down, delay and start-up, plus interest as provided for in the Design-Build Documents.

§ 9.8 Substantial Completion
§ 9.8.1 Substantial Completion is the stage in the progress of the Work when the Work or designated portion thereof is 
sufficiently complete in accordance with the Design-Build Documents so that the Owner can occupy or utilize the 
Work for its intended use. The date of Substantial Completion is the date certified by the Owner in accordance with 
this Section 9.8.

§ 9.8.2 When the Design-Builder considers that the Work, or a portion thereof which the Owner agrees to accept 
separately, is substantially complete, the Design-Builder shall prepare and submit to the Owner a comprehensive list 
of items to be completed or corrected prior to final payment. Failure to include an item on such list does not alter the 
responsibility of the Design-Builder to complete all Work in accordance with the Design-Build Documents.

§ 9.8.3 Upon receipt of the Design-Builder’s list, the Owner shall make an inspection to determine whether the Work 
or designated portion thereof is substantially complete. If the Owner’s inspection discloses any item, whether or not 
included on the Design-Builder’s list, which is not sufficiently complete in accordance with the Design-Build 
Documents so that the Owner can occupy or utilize the Work or designated portion thereof for its intended use, the 
Design-Builder shall, before issuance of the Certificate of Substantial Completion, complete or correct such item upon 
notification by the Owner. In such case, the Design-Builder shall then submit a request for another inspection by the 
Owner to determine Substantial Completion.

§ 9.8.4 Prior to issuance of the Certificate of Substantial Completion under Section 9.8.5, the Owner and 
Design-Builder shall discuss and then determine the parties’ obligations to obtain and maintain property insurance 
following issuance of the Certificate of Substantial Completion.

§ 9.8.5 When the Work or designated portion thereof is substantially complete, the Design-Builder will prepare for the 
Owner’s signature a Certificate of Substantial Completion that shall, upon the Owner’s signature, establish the date of 
Substantial Completion; establish responsibilities of the Owner and Design-Builder for security, maintenance, heat, 
utilities, damage to the Work and insurance; and fix the time within which the Design-Builder shall finish all items on 
the list accompanying the Certificate. Warranties required by the Design-Build Documents shall commence on the 
date of Substantial Completion of the Work or designated portion thereof unless otherwise provided in the Certificate 
of Substantial Completion.

95



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

23

§ 9.8.6 The Certificate of Substantial Completion shall be submitted by the Design-Builder to the Owner for written 
acceptance of responsibilities assigned to it in the Certificate. Upon the Owner’s acceptance, and consent of surety, if 
any, the Owner shall make payment of retainage applying to the Work or designated portion thereof. Payment shall be 
adjusted for Work that is incomplete or not in accordance with the requirements of the Design-Build Documents.

§ 9.9 Partial Occupancy or Use
§ 9.9.1 The Owner may occupy or use any completed or partially completed portion of the Work at any stage when 
such portion is designated by separate agreement with the Design-Builder, provided such occupancy or use is 
consented to, by endorsement or otherwise, by the insurer providing property insurance and authorized by public 
authorities having jurisdiction over the Project. Such partial occupancy or use may commence whether or not the 
portion is substantially complete, provided the Owner and Design-Builder have accepted in writing the responsibilities 
assigned to each of them for payments, retainage, if any, security, maintenance, heat, utilities, damage to the Work and 
insurance, and have agreed in writing concerning the period for correction of the Work and commencement of 
warranties required by the Design-Build Documents. When the Design-Builder considers a portion substantially 
complete, the Design-Builder shall prepare and submit a list to the Owner as provided under Section 9.8.2. Consent of 
the Design-Builder to partial occupancy or use shall not be unreasonably withheld. The stage of the progress of the 
Work shall be determined by written agreement between the Owner and Design-Builder.

§ 9.9.2 Immediately prior to such partial occupancy or use, the Owner and Design-Builder shall jointly inspect the area 
to be occupied or portion of the Work to be used in order to determine and record the condition of the Work.

§ 9.9.3 Unless otherwise agreed upon, partial occupancy or use of a portion or portions of the Work shall not constitute 
acceptance of Work not complying with the requirements of the Design-Build Documents.

§ 9.10 Final Completion and Final Payment
§ 9.10.1 Upon receipt of the Design-Builder’s written notice that the Work is ready for final inspection and acceptance 
and upon receipt of a final Application for Payment, the Owner will promptly make such inspection. When the Owner 
finds the Work acceptable under the Design-Build Documents and the Contract fully performed, the Owner will, 
subject to Section 9.10.2, promptly issue a final Certificate for Payment. 

§ 9.10.2 Neither final payment nor any remaining retained percentage shall become due until the Design-Builder 
submits to the Owner (1) an affidavit that payrolls, bills for materials and equipment, and other indebtedness 
connected with the Work, for which the Owner or the Owner’s property might be responsible or encumbered, (less 
amounts withheld by Owner) have been paid or otherwise satisfied, (2) a certificate evidencing that insurance required 
by the Design-Build Documents to remain in force after final payment is currently in effect, (3) a written statement 
that the Design-Builder knows of no substantial reason that the insurance will not be renewable to cover the period 
required by the Design-Build Documents, (4) consent of surety, if any, to final payment, (5) as-constructed record 
copy of the Construction Documents marked to indicate field changes and selections made during construction, (6) 
manufacturer’s warranties, product data, and maintenance and operations manuals, and (7) if required by the Owner, 
other data establishing payment or satisfaction of obligations, such as receipts, or releases and waivers of liens, claims, 
security interests, or encumbrances, arising out of the Contract, to the extent and in such form as may be designated by 
the Owner. If an Architect, a Consultant, or a Contractor, or other person or entity providing services or work for the 
Design-Builder, refuses to furnish a release or waiver required by the Owner, the Design-Builder may furnish a bond 
satisfactory to the Owner to indemnify the Owner against such liens, claims, security interests, or encumbrances. If 
such liens, claims, security interests, or encumbrances remains unsatisfied after payments are made, the 
Design-Builder shall refund to the Owner all money that the Owner may be compelled to pay in discharging such 
liens, claims, security interests, or encumbrances, including all costs and reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

§ 9.10.3 If, after Substantial Completion of the Work, final completion thereof is materially delayed through no fault 
of the Design-Builder or by issuance of Change Orders affecting final completion, the Owner shall, upon application 
by the Design-Builder, and without terminating the Contract, make payment of the balance due for that portion of the 
Work fully completed and accepted. If the remaining balance for Work not fully completed or corrected is less than 
retainage stipulated in the Design-Build Documents, and if bonds have been furnished, the written consent of surety to 
payment of the balance due for that portion of the Work fully completed and accepted shall be submitted by the 
Design-Builder to the Owner prior to issuance of payment. Such payment shall be made under terms and conditions 
governing final payment, except that it shall not constitute a waiver of claims.

96



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

24

§ 9.10.4 The making of final payment shall constitute a waiver of Claims by the Owner except those arising from
.1 liens, Claims, security interests or encumbrances arising out of the Contract and unsettled;
.2 failure of the Work to comply with the requirements of the Design-Build Documents; or
.3 terms of special warranties required by the Design-Build Documents.

§ 9.10.5 Acceptance of final payment by the Design-Builder shall constitute a waiver of claims by the Design-Builder 
except those previously made in writing and identified by the Design-Builder as unsettled at the time of final 
Application for Payment.

ARTICLE 10   PROTECTION OF PERSONS AND PROPERTY
§ 10.1 Safety Precautions and Programs
The Design-Builder shall be responsible for initiating, maintaining and supervising all safety precautions and 
programs in connection with the performance of the Contract. 

§ 10.2 Safety of Persons and Property
§ 10.2.1 The Design-Builder shall be responsible for precautions for the safety of, and reasonable protection to prevent 
damage, injury or loss to

.1 employees on the Work and other persons who may be affected thereby;

.2 the Work and materials and equipment to be incorporated therein, whether in storage on or off the site, 
under care, custody or control of the Design-Builder or the Architect, Consultants, or Contractors, or 
other person or entity providing services or work for the Design-Builder; and

.3 other property at the site or adjacent thereto, such as trees, shrubs, lawns, walks, pavements, roadways, 
or structures and utilities not designated for removal, relocation or replacement in the course of 
construction.

§ 10.2.2 The Design-Builder shall comply with, and give notices required by, applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, 
codes, rules and regulations, and lawful orders of public authorities, bearing on safety of persons or property, or their 
protection from damage, injury or loss.

§ 10.2.3 The Design-Builder shall implement, erect, and maintain, as required by existing conditions and performance 
of the Contract, reasonable safeguards for safety and protection, including posting danger signs and other warnings 
against hazards, promulgating safety regulations, and notify owners and users of adjacent sites and utilities of the 
safeguards and protections.

§ 10.2.4 When use or storage of explosives or other hazardous materials or equipment, or unusual methods, are 
necessary for execution of the Work, the Design-Builder shall exercise utmost care, and carry on such activities under 
supervision of properly qualified personnel.

§ 10.2.5 The Design-Builder shall promptly remedy damage and loss (other than damage or loss insured under 
property insurance required by the Design-Build Documents) to property referred to in Sections 10.2.1.2 and 10.2.1.3, 
caused in whole or in part by the Design-Builder, the Architect, a Consultant, a Contractor, or anyone directly or 
indirectly employed by any of them, or by anyone for whose acts they may be liable and for which the Design-Builder 
is responsible under Sections 10.2.1.2 and 10.2.1.3; except damage or loss attributable to acts or omissions of the 
Owner, or anyone directly or indirectly employed by the Owner, or by anyone for whose acts the Owner may be liable, 
and not attributable to the fault or negligence of the Design-Builder. The foregoing obligations of the Design-Builder 
are in addition to the Design-Builder’s obligations under Section 3.1.14.

§ 10.2.6 The Design-Builder shall designate a responsible member of the Design-Builder’s organization, at the site, 
whose duty shall be the prevention of accidents. This person shall be the Design-Builder’s superintendent unless 
otherwise designated by the Design-Builder in writing to the Owner.

§ 10.2.7 The Design-Builder shall not permit any part of the construction or site to be loaded so as to cause damage or 
create an unsafe condition.

§ 10.2.8 Injury or Damage to Person or Property. If the Owner or Design-Builder suffers injury or damage to person or 
property because of an act or omission of the other, or of others for whose acts such party is legally responsible, 

97



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

25

written notice of the injury or damage, whether or not insured, shall be given to the other party within a reasonable 
time not exceeding 21 days after discovery. The notice shall provide sufficient detail to enable the other party to 
investigate the matter. 

§ 10.3 Hazardous Materials
§ 10.3.1 The Design-Builder is responsible for compliance with any requirements included in the Design-Build 
Documents regarding hazardous materials. If the Design-Builder encounters a hazardous material or substance not 
addressed in the Design-Build Documents and if reasonable precautions will be inadequate to prevent foreseeable 
bodily injury or death to persons resulting from a material or substance, including but not limited to asbestos or 
polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB), encountered on the site by the Design-Builder, the Design-Builder shall, upon 
recognizing the condition, immediately stop Work in the affected area and report the condition to the Owner in 
writing.

§ 10.3.2 Upon receipt of the Design-Builder’s written notice, the Owner shall obtain the services of a licensed 
laboratory to verify the presence or absence of the material or substance reported by the Design-Builder and, in the 
event such material or substance is found to be present, to cause it to be rendered harmless. Unless otherwise required 
by the Design-Build Documents, the Owner shall furnish in writing to the Design-Builder the names and qualifications 
of persons or entities who are to perform tests verifying the presence or absence of such material or substance or who 
are to perform the task of removal or safe containment of such material or substance. The Design-Builder will 
promptly reply to the Owner in writing stating whether or not the Design-Builder has reasonable objection to the 
persons or entities proposed by the Owner. If the Design-Builder has an objection to a person or entity proposed by the 
Owner, the Owner shall propose another to whom the Design-Builder has no reasonable objection. When the material 
or substance has been rendered harmless, Work in the affected area shall resume upon written agreement of the Owner 
and Design-Builder. By Change Order, the Contract Time shall be extended appropriately and the Contract Sum shall 
be increased in the amount of the Design-Builder’s reasonable additional costs of shut-down, delay and start-up.

§ 10.3.3 To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Owner shall indemnify and hold harmless the Design-Builder, the 
Architect, Consultants, and Contractors, and employees of any of them, from and against claims, damages, losses and 
expenses, including but not limited to attorneys’ fees, arising out of or resulting from performance of the Work in the 
affected area, if in fact the material or substance presents the risk of bodily injury or death as described in 
Section 10.3.1 and has not been rendered harmless, provided that such claim, damage, loss or expense is attributable to 
bodily injury, sickness, disease or death, or to injury to, or destruction of, tangible property (other than the Work 
itself), except to the extent that such damage, loss or expense is due to the fault or negligence of the party seeking 
indemnity.

§ 10.3.4 The Owner shall not be responsible under this Section 10.3 for materials or substances the Design-Builder 
brings to the site unless such materials or substances are required by the Owner’s Criteria. The Owner shall be 
responsible for materials or substances required by the Owner’s Criteria, except to the extent of the Design-Builder’s 
fault or negligence in the use and handling of such materials or substances.

§ 10.3.5 The Design-Builder shall indemnify the Owner for the cost and expense the Owner incurs (1) for remediation 
of a material or substance the Design-Builder brings to the site and negligently handles, or (2) where the 
Design-Builder fails to perform its obligations under Section 10.3.1, except to the extent that the cost and expense are 
due to the Owner’s fault or negligence.

§ 10.3.6 If, without negligence on the part of the Design-Builder, the Design-Builder is held liable by a government 
agency for the cost of remediation of a hazardous material or substance solely by reason of performing Work as 
required by the Design-Build Documents, the Owner shall indemnify the Design-Builder for all cost and expense 
thereby incurred.

§ 10.4 Emergencies
In an emergency affecting safety of persons or property, the Design-Builder shall act, at the Design-Builder’s 
discretion, to prevent threatened damage, injury or loss. 

98



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

26

ARTICLE 11   UNCOVERING AND CORRECTION OF WORK
§ 11.1 Uncovering of Work
The Owner may request to examine a portion of the Work that the Design-Builder has covered to determine if the 
Work has been performed in accordance with the Design-Build Documents. If such Work is in accordance with the 
Design-Build Documents, the Owner and Design-Builder shall execute a Change Order to adjust the Contract Time 
and Contract Sum, as appropriate. If such Work is not in accordance with the Design-Build Documents, the costs of 
uncovering and correcting the Work shall be at the Design-Builder’s expense and the Design-Builder shall not be 
entitled to a change in the Contract Time unless the condition was caused by the Owner or a separate contractor in 
which event the Owner shall be responsible for payment of such costs and the Contract Time will be adjusted as 
appropriate.

§ 11.2 Correction of Work
§ 11.2.1 Before or After Substantial Completion. The Design-Builder shall promptly correct Work rejected by the 
Owner or failing to conform to the requirements of the Design-Build Documents, whether discovered before or after 
Substantial Completion and whether or not fabricated, installed or completed. Costs of correcting such rejected Work, 
including additional testing and inspections, the cost of uncovering and replacement, and compensation for any design 
consultant employed by the Owner whose expenses and compensation were made necessary thereby, shall be at the 
Design-Builder’s expense.

§ 11.2.2 After Substantial Completion
§ 11.2.2.1 In addition to the Design-Builder’s obligations under Section 3.1.12, if, within one year after the date of 
Substantial Completion of the Work or designated portion thereof or after the date for commencement of warranties 
established under Section 9.9.1, or by terms of an applicable special warranty required by the Design-Build 
Documents, any of the Work is found not to be in accordance with the requirements of the Design-Build Documents, 
the Design-Builder shall correct it promptly after receipt of written notice from the Owner to do so unless the Owner 
has previously given the Design-Builder a written acceptance of such condition. The Owner shall give such notice 
promptly after discovery of the condition. During the one-year period for correction of the Work, if the Owner fails to 
notify the Design-Builder and give the Design-Builder an opportunity to make the correction, the Owner waives the 
rights to require correction by the Design-Builder and to make a claim for breach of warranty. If the Design-Builder 
fails to correct nonconforming Work within a reasonable time during that period after receipt of notice from the 
Owner, the Owner may correct it in accordance with Section 7.9.

§ 11.2.2.2 The one-year period for correction of Work shall be extended with respect to portions of Work first 
performed after Substantial Completion by the period of time between Substantial Completion and the actual 
completion of that portion of the Work.

§ 11.2.2.3 The one-year period for correction of Work shall not be extended by corrective Work performed by the 
Design-Builder pursuant to this Section 11.2.

§ 11.2.3 The Design-Builder shall remove from the site portions of the Work that are not in accordance with the 
requirements of the Design-Build Documents and are neither corrected by the Design-Builder nor accepted by the 
Owner.

§ 11.2.4 The Design-Builder shall bear the cost of correcting destroyed or damaged construction of the Owner or 
separate contractors, whether completed or partially completed, caused by the Design-Builder’s correction or removal 
of Work that is not in accordance with the requirements of the Design-Build Documents.

§ 11.2.5 Nothing contained in this Section 11.2 shall be construed to establish a period of limitation with respect to 
other obligations the Design-Builder has under the Design-Build Documents. Establishment of the one-year period for 
correction of Work as described in Section 11.2.2 relates only to the specific obligation of the Design-Builder to 
correct the Work, and has no relationship to the time within which the obligation to comply with the Design-Build 
Documents may be sought to be enforced, nor to the time within which proceedings may be commenced to establish 
the Design-Builder’s liability with respect to the Design-Builder’s obligations other than specifically to correct the 
Work.

99



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

27

§ 11.3 Acceptance of Nonconforming Work
If the Owner prefers to accept Work that is not in accordance with the requirements of the Design-Build Documents, 
the Owner may do so instead of requiring its removal and correction, in which case the Contract Sum will be reduced 
as appropriate and equitable. Such adjustment shall be effected whether or not final payment has been made.

ARTICLE 12   COPYRIGHTS AND LICENSES
§ 12.1 Drawings, specifications, and other documents furnished by the Design-Builder, including those in electronic 
form, are Instruments of Service. The Design-Builder, and the Architect, Consultants, Contractors, and any other 
person or entity providing services or work for any of them, shall be deemed the authors and owners of their respective 
Instruments of Service, including the Drawings and Specifications, and shall retain all common law, statutory and 
other reserved rights, including copyrights. Submission or distribution of Instruments of Service to meet official 
regulatory requirements, or for similar purposes in connection with the Project, is not to be construed as publication in 
derogation of the reserved rights of the Design-Builder and the Architect, Consultants, and Contractors, and any other 
person or entity providing services or work for any of them. 

§ 12.2 The Design-Builder and the Owner warrant that in transmitting Instruments of Service, or any other 
information, the transmitting party is the copyright owner of such information or has permission from the copyright 
owner to transmit such information for its use on the Project.

§ 12.3 Upon execution of the Agreement, the Design-Builder grants to the Owner a limited, irrevocable and 
non-exclusive license to use the Instruments of Service solely and exclusively for purposes of constructing, using, 
maintaining, altering and adding to the Project, provided that the Owner substantially performs its obligations, 
including prompt payment of all sums when due, under the Design-Build Documents. The license granted under this 
section permits the Owner to authorize its consultants and separate contractors to reproduce applicable portions of the 
Instruments of Service solely and exclusively for use in performing services or construction for the Project. If the 
Design-Builder rightfully terminates this Agreement for cause as provided in Section 13.1.4 or 13.2.1 the license 
granted in this Section 12.3 shall terminate. 

§ 12.3.1 The Design-Builder shall obtain non-exclusive licenses from the Architect, Consultants, and Contractors, that 
will allow the Design-Builder to satisfy its obligations to the Owner under this Article 12. The Design-Builder’s 
licenses from the Architect and its Consultants and Contractors shall also allow the Owner, in the event this 
Agreement is terminated for any reason other than the default of the Owner or in the event the Design-Builder’s 
Architect, Consultants, or Contractors terminate their agreements with the Design-Builder for cause, to obtain a 
limited, irrevocable and non-exclusive license solely and exclusively for purposes of constructing, using, maintaining, 
altering and adding to the Project, provided that the Owner (1) agrees to pay to the Architect, Consultant or Contractor 
all amounts due, and (2) provide the Architect, Consultant or Contractor with the Owner’s written agreement to 
indemnify and hold harmless the Architect, Consultant or Contractor from all costs and expenses, including the cost of 
defense, related to claims and causes of action asserted by any third person or entity to the extent such costs and 
expenses arise from the Owner’s alteration or use of the Instruments of Service.

§ 12.3.2 In the event the Owner alters the Instruments of Service without the author’s written authorization or uses the 
Instruments of Service without retaining the authors of the Instruments of Service, the Owner releases the 
Design-Builder, Architect, Consultants, Contractors and any other person or entity providing services or work for any 
of them, from all claims and causes of action arising from or related to such uses. The Owner, to the extent permitted 
by law, further agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Design-Builder, Architect, Consultants, Contractors and any 
other person or entity providing services or work for any of them, from all costs and expenses, including the cost of 
defense, related to claims and causes of action asserted by any third person or entity to the extent such costs and 
expenses arise from the Owner’s alteration or use of the Instruments of Service under this Section 12.3.2. The terms of 
this Section 12.3.2 shall not apply if the Owner rightfully terminates this Agreement for cause under Sections 13.1.4 or 
13.2.2.

ARTICLE 13   TERMINATION OR SUSPENSION
§ 13.1 Termination or Suspension Prior to Execution of the Design-Build Amendment
§ 13.1.1 If the Owner fails to make payments to the Design-Builder for Work prior to execution of the Design-Build 
Amendment in accordance with this Agreement, such failure shall be considered substantial nonperformance and 
cause for termination or, at the Design-Builder’s option, cause for suspension of performance of services under this 
Agreement. If the Design-Builder elects to suspend the Work, the Design-Builder shall give seven days’ written notice 

100



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

28

to the Owner before suspending the Work. In the event of a suspension of the Work, the Design-Builder shall have no 
liability to the Owner for delay or damage caused by the suspension of the Work. Before resuming the Work, the 
Design-Builder shall be paid all sums due prior to suspension and any expenses incurred in the interruption and 
resumption of the Design-Builder’s Work. The Design-Builder’s compensation for, and time to complete, the 
remaining Work shall be equitably adjusted.

§ 13.1.2 If the Owner suspends the Project, the Design-Builder shall be compensated for the Work performed prior to 
notice of such suspension. When the Project is resumed, the Design-Builder shall be compensated for expenses 
incurred in the interruption and resumption of the Design-Builder’s Work. The Design-Builder’s compensation for, 
and time to complete, the remaining Work shall be equitably adjusted.

§ 13.1.3 If the Owner suspends the Project for more than 90 cumulative days for reasons other than the fault of the 
Design-Builder, the Design-Builder may terminate this Agreement by giving not less than seven days’ written notice. 

§ 13.1.4 Either party may terminate this Agreement upon not less than seven days’ written notice should the other 
party fail substantially to perform in accordance with the terms of this Agreement through no fault of the party 
initiating the termination.

§ 13.1.5 The Owner may terminate this Agreement upon not less than seven days’ written notice to the Design-Builder 
for the Owner’s convenience and without cause.

§ 13.1.6 In the event of termination not the fault of the Design-Builder, the Design-Builder shall be compensated for 
Work performed prior to termination, together with Reimbursable Expenses then due and any other expenses directly 
attributable to termination for which the Design-Builder is not otherwise compensated. In no event shall the 
Design-Builder’s compensation under this Section 13.1.6 be greater than the compensation set forth in Section 2.1.

§ 13.2 Termination or Suspension Following Execution of the Design-Build Amendment
§ 13.2.1 Termination by the Design-Builder
§ 13.2.1.1 The Design-Builder may terminate the Contract if the Work is stopped for a period of 30 consecutive days 
through no act or fault of the Design-Builder, the Architect, a Consultant, or a Contractor, or their agents or 
employees, or any other persons or entities performing portions of the Work under direct or indirect contract with the 
Design-Builder, for any of the following reasons:

.1 Issuance of an order of a court or other public authority having jurisdiction that requires all Work to be 
stopped;

.2 An act of government, such as a declaration of national emergency that requires all Work to be stopped;

.3 Because the Owner has not issued a Certificate for Payment and has not notified the Design-Builder of 
the reason for withholding certification as provided in Section 9.5.1, or because the Owner has not 
made payment on a Certificate for Payment within the time stated in the Design-Build Documents; or 

.4 The Owner has failed to furnish to the Design-Builder promptly, upon the Design-Builder’s request, 
reasonable evidence as required by Section 7.2.7.

§ 13.2.1.2 The Design-Builder may terminate the Contract if, through no act or fault of the Design-Builder, the 
Architect, a Consultant, a Contractor, or their agents or employees or any other persons or entities performing portions 
of the Work under direct or indirect contract with the Design-Builder, repeated suspensions, delays or interruptions of 
the entire Work by the Owner as described in Section 13.2.3 constitute in the aggregate more than 100 percent of the 
total number of days scheduled for completion, or 120 days in any 365-day period, whichever is less.

§ 13.2.1.3 If one of the reasons described in Section 13.2.1.1 or 13.2.1.2 exists, the Design-Builder may, upon seven 
days’ written notice to the Owner, terminate the Contract and recover from the Owner payment for Work executed, 
including reasonable overhead and profit, costs incurred by reason of such termination, and damages. 

§ 13.2.1.4 If the Work is stopped for a period of 60 consecutive days through no act or fault of the Design-Builder or 
any other persons or entities performing portions of the Work under contract with the Design-Builder because the 
Owner has repeatedly failed to fulfill the Owner’s obligations under the Design-Build Documents with respect to 
matters important to the progress of the Work, the Design-Builder may, upon seven additional days’ written notice to 
the Owner, terminate the Contract and recover from the Owner as provided in Section 13.2.1.3.

101



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

29

§ 13.2.2 Termination by the Owner For Cause
§ 13.2.2.1 The Owner may terminate the Contract if the Design-Builder

.1 fails to submit the Proposal by the date required by this Agreement, or if no date is indicated, within a 
reasonable time consistent with the date of Substantial Completion;

.2 repeatedly refuses or fails to supply an Architect, or enough properly skilled Consultants, Contractors, 
or workers or proper materials;

.3 fails to make payment to the Architect, Consultants, or Contractors for services, materials or labor in 
accordance with their respective agreements with the Design-Builder;

.4 repeatedly disregards applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations, or lawful 
orders of a public authority; or

.5 is otherwise guilty of substantial breach of a provision of the Design-Build Documents.

§ 13.2.2.2 When any of the above reasons exist, the Owner may without prejudice to any other rights or remedies of the 
Owner and after giving the Design-Builder and the Design-Builder’s surety, if any, seven days’ written notice, 
terminate employment of the Design-Builder and may, subject to any prior rights of the surety:

.1 Exclude the Design-Builder from the site and take possession of all materials, equipment, tools, and 
construction equipment and machinery thereon owned by the Design-Builder;

.2 Accept assignment of the Architect, Consultant and Contractor agreements pursuant to Section 3.1.15; 
and

.3 Finish the Work by whatever reasonable method the Owner may deem expedient. Upon written request 
of the Design-Builder, the Owner shall furnish to the Design-Builder a detailed accounting of the costs 
incurred by the Owner in finishing the Work.

§ 13.2.2.3 When the Owner terminates the Contract for one of the reasons stated in Section 13.2.2.1, the 
Design-Builder shall not be entitled to receive further payment until the Work is finished.

§ 13.2.2.4 If the unpaid balance of the Contract Sum exceeds costs of finishing the Work and other damages incurred 
by the Owner and not expressly waived, such excess shall be paid to the Design-Builder. If such costs and damages 
exceed the unpaid balance, the Design-Builder shall pay the difference to the Owner. The obligation for such 
payments shall survive termination of the Contract.

§ 13.2.3 Suspension by the Owner for Convenience
§ 13.2.3.1 The Owner may, without cause, order the Design-Builder in writing to suspend, delay or interrupt the Work 
in whole or in part for such period of time as the Owner may determine.

§ 13.2.3.2 The Contract Sum and Contract Time shall be adjusted for increases in the cost and time caused by 
suspension, delay or interruption as described in Section 13.2.3.1. Adjustment of the Contract Sum shall include 
profit. No adjustment shall be made to the extent

.1 that performance is, was or would have been so suspended, delayed or interrupted by another cause for 
which the Design-Builder is responsible; or

.2 that an equitable adjustment is made or denied under another provision of the Contract.

§ 13.2.4 Termination by the Owner for Convenience
§ 13.2.4.1 The Owner may, at any time, terminate the Contract for the Owner’s convenience and without cause.

§ 13.2.4.2 Upon receipt of written notice from the Owner of such termination for the Owner’s convenience, the 
Design-Builder shall

.1 cease operations as directed by the Owner in the notice;

.2 take actions necessary, or that the Owner may direct, for the protection and preservation of the Work; 
and,

.3 except for Work directed to be performed prior to the effective date of termination stated in the notice, 
terminate all existing Project agreements, including agreements with the Architect, Consultants, 
Contractors, and purchase orders, and enter into no further Project agreements and purchase orders.

§ 13.2.4.3 In case of such termination for the Owner’s convenience, the Design-Builder shall be entitled to receive 
payment for Work executed, and costs incurred by reason of such termination, along with reasonable overhead and 
profit on the Work not executed.

102



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

30

ARTICLE 14   CLAIMS AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION
§ 14.1 Claims 
§ 14.1.1 Definition. A Claim is a demand or assertion by one of the parties seeking, as a matter of right, payment of 
money, or other relief with respect to the terms of the Contract. The term "Claim" also includes other disputes and 
matters in question between the Owner and Design-Builder arising out of or relating to the Contract. The 
responsibility to substantiate Claims shall rest with the party making the Claim.

§ 14.1.2 Time Limits on Claims. The Owner and Design-Builder shall commence all claims and causes of action, 
whether in contract, tort, breach of warranty or otherwise, against the other, arising out of or related to the Contract in 
accordance with the requirements of the binding dispute resolution method selected in Section 1.3, within the time 
period specified by applicable law, but in any case not more than 10 years after the date of Substantial Completion of 
the Work. The Owner and Design-Builder waive all claims and causes of action not commenced in accordance with 
this Section 14.1.2.

§ 14.1.3 Notice of Claims
§ 14.1.3.1 Prior To Final Payment. Prior to Final Payment, Claims by either the Owner or Design-Builder must be 
initiated by written notice to the other party within 21 days after occurrence of the event giving rise to such Claim or 
within 21 days after the claimant first recognizes the condition giving rise to the Claim, whichever is later. 

§ 14.1.3.2 Claims Arising After Final Payment. After Final Payment, Claims by either the Owner or Design-Builder that 
have not otherwise been waived pursuant to Sections 9.10.4 or 9.10.5, must be initiated by prompt written notice to the 
other party. The notice requirement in Section 14.1.3.1 and the Initial Decision requirement as a condition precedent 
to mediation in Section 14.2.1 shall not apply.

§ 14.1.4 Continuing Contract Performance. Pending final resolution of a Claim, except as otherwise agreed in writing 
or as provided in Section 9.7 and Article 13, the Design-Builder shall proceed diligently with performance of the 
Contract and the Owner shall continue to make payments in accordance with the Design-Build Documents. 

§ 14.1.5 Claims for Additional Cost. If the Design-Builder intends to make a Claim for an increase in the Contract Sum, 
written notice as provided herein shall be given before proceeding to execute the portion of the Work that relates to the 
Claim. Prior notice is not required for Claims relating to an emergency endangering life or property arising under 
Section 10.4.

§ 14.1.6 Claims for Additional Time
§ 14.1.6.1 If the Design-Builder intends to make a Claim for an increase in the Contract Time, written notice as 
provided herein shall be given. The Design-Builder’s Claim shall include an estimate of cost and of probable effect of 
delay on progress of the Work. In the case of a continuing delay, only one Claim is necessary.

§ 14.1.6.2 If adverse weather conditions are the basis for a Claim for additional time, such Claim shall be documented 
by data substantiating that weather conditions were abnormal for the period of time, could not have been reasonably 
anticipated, and had an adverse effect on the scheduled construction.

§ 14.1.7 Claims for Consequential Damages
The Design-Builder and Owner waive Claims against each other for consequential damages arising out of or relating 
to this Contract. This mutual waiver includes

.1 damages incurred by the Owner for rental expenses, for losses of use, income, profit, financing, 
business and reputation, and for loss of management or employee productivity or of the services of such 
persons; and

.2 damages incurred by the Design-Builder for principal office expenses including the compensation of 
personnel stationed there, for losses of financing, business and reputation, and for loss of profit except 
anticipated profit arising directly from the Work.

This mutual waiver is applicable, without limitation, to all consequential damages due to either party’s termination in 
accordance with Article 13. Nothing contained in this Section 14.1.7 shall be deemed to preclude an award of 
liquidated damages, when applicable, in accordance with the requirements of the Design-Build Documents.

103



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

31

§ 14.2 Initial Decision
§ 14.2.1 An initial decision shall be required as a condition precedent to mediation of all Claims between the Owner 
and Design-Builder initiated prior to the date final payment is due, excluding those arising under Sections 10.3 and 
10.4 of the Agreement and Sections B.3.2.9 and B.3.2.10 of Exhibit B to this Agreement, unless 30 days have passed 
after the Claim has been initiated with no decision having been rendered. Unless otherwise mutually agreed in writing, 
the Owner shall render the initial decision on Claims. 

§ 14.2.2 Procedure
§ 14.2.2.1 Claims Initiated by the Owner. If the Owner initiates a Claim, the Design-Builder shall provide a written 
response to Owner within ten days after receipt of the notice required under Section 14.1.3.1. Thereafter, the Owner 
shall render an initial decision within ten days of receiving the Design-Builder’s response: (1) withdrawing the Claim 
in whole or in part, (2) approving the Claim in whole or in part, or (3) suggesting a compromise.

§ 14.2.2.2 Claims Initiated by the Design-Builder. If the Design-Builder initiates a Claim, the Owner will take one or 
more of the following actions within ten days after receipt of the notice required under Section 14.1.3.1: (1) request 
additional supporting data, (2) render an initial decision rejecting the Claim in whole or in part, (3) render an initial 
decision approving the Claim, (4) suggest a compromise or (5) indicate that it is unable to render an initial decision 
because the Owner lacks sufficient information to evaluate the merits of the Claim.

§ 14.2.3 In evaluating Claims, the Owner may, but shall not be obligated to, consult with or seek information from 
persons with special knowledge or expertise who may assist the Owner in rendering a decision. The retention of such 
persons shall be at the Owner’s expense.

§ 14.2.4 If the Owner requests the Design-Builder to provide a response to a Claim or to furnish additional supporting 
data, the Design-Builder shall respond, within ten days after receipt of such request, and shall either (1) provide a 
response on the requested supporting data, (2) advise the Owner when the response or supporting data will be 
furnished or (3) advise the Owner that no supporting data will be furnished. Upon receipt of the response or supporting 
data, if any, the Owner will either reject or approve the Claim in whole or in part.

§ 14.2.5 The Owner’s initial decision shall (1) be in writing; (2) state the reasons therefor; and (3) identify any change 
in the Contract Sum or Contract Time or both. The initial decision shall be final and binding on the parties but subject 
to mediation and, if the parties fail to resolve their dispute through mediation, to binding dispute resolution.

§ 14.2.6 Either party may file for mediation of an initial decision at any time, subject to the terms of Section 14.2.6.1.

§ 14.2.6.1 Either party may, within 30 days from the date of an initial decision, demand in writing that the other party 
file for mediation within 60 days of the initial decision. If such a demand is made and the party receiving the demand 
fails to file for mediation within the time required, then both parties waive their rights to mediate or pursue binding 
dispute resolution proceedings with respect to the initial decision. 

§ 14.2.7 In the event of a Claim against the Design-Builder, the Owner may, but is not obligated to, notify the surety, if 
any, of the nature and amount of the Claim. If the Claim relates to a possibility of a Design-Builder’s default, the 
Owner may, but is not obligated to, notify the surety and request the surety’s assistance in resolving the controversy.

§ 14.2.8 If a Claim relates to or is the subject of a mechanic’s lien, the party asserting such Claim may proceed in 
accordance with applicable law to comply with the lien notice or filing deadlines.

§ 14.3 Mediation
§ 14.3.1 Claims, disputes, or other matters in controversy arising out of or related to the Contract, except those waived 
as provided for in Sections 9.10.4, 9.10.5, and 14.1.7, shall be subject to mediation as a condition precedent to binding 
dispute resolution. 

§ 14.3.2 The parties shall endeavor to resolve their Claims by mediation which, unless the parties mutually agree 
otherwise, shall be administered by the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its Construction Industry 
Mediation Procedures in effect on the date of the Agreement. A request for mediation shall be made in writing, 
delivered to the other party to the Contract, and filed with the person or entity administering the mediation. The 
request may be made concurrently with the filing of binding dispute resolution proceedings but, in such event, 

104



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

32

mediation shall proceed in advance of binding dispute resolution proceedings, which shall be stayed pending 
mediation for a period of 60 days from the date of filing, unless stayed for a longer period by agreement of the parties 
or court order. If an arbitration proceeding is stayed pursuant to this Section 14.3.2, the parties may nonetheless 
proceed to the selection of the arbitrator(s) and agree upon a schedule for later proceedings.

§ 14.3.3 The parties shall share the mediator’s fee and any filing fees equally. The mediation shall be held in the place 
where the Project is located, unless another location is mutually agreed upon. Agreements reached in mediation shall 
be enforceable as settlement agreements in any court having jurisdiction.

§ 14.4 Arbitration
§ 14.4.1 If the parties have selected arbitration as the method for binding dispute resolution in Section 1.3, any Claim 
subject to, but not resolved by, mediation shall be subject to arbitration which, unless the parties mutually agree 
otherwise, shall be administered by the American Arbitration Association in accordance with its Construction Industry 
Arbitration Rules in effect on the date of the Agreement. A demand for arbitration shall be made in writing, delivered 
to the other party to the Contract, and filed with the person or entity administering the arbitration. The party filing a 
notice of demand for arbitration must assert in the demand all Claims then known to that party on which arbitration is 
permitted to be demanded. 

§ 14.4.1.1 A demand for arbitration shall be made no earlier than concurrently with the filing of a request for 
mediation, but in no event shall it be made after the date when the institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on 
the Claim would be barred by the applicable statute of limitations or statute of repose. For statute of limitations or 
statute of repose purposes, receipt of a written demand for arbitration by the person or entity administering the 
arbitration shall constitute the institution of legal or equitable proceedings based on the Claim.

§ 14.4.2 The award rendered by the arbitrator or arbitrators shall be final, and judgment may be entered upon it in 
accordance with applicable law in any court having jurisdiction.

§ 14.4.3 The foregoing agreement to arbitrate, and other agreements to arbitrate with an additional person or entity 
duly consented to by parties to the Agreement, shall be specifically enforceable under applicable law in any court 
having jurisdiction thereof.

§ 14.4.4 Consolidation or Joinder
§ 14.4.4.1 Either party, at its sole discretion, may consolidate an arbitration conducted under this Agreement with any 
other arbitration to which it is a party provided that (1) the arbitration agreement governing the other arbitration 
permits consolidation, (2) the arbitrations to be consolidated substantially involve common questions of law or fact, 
and (3) the arbitrations employ materially similar procedural rules and methods for selecting arbitrator(s). 

§ 14.4.4.2 Either party, at its sole discretion, may include by joinder persons or entities substantially involved in a 
common question of law or fact whose presence is required if complete relief is to be accorded in arbitration, provided 
that the party sought to be joined consents in writing to such joinder. Consent to arbitration involving an additional 
person or entity shall not constitute consent to arbitration of any claim, dispute or other matter in question not 
described in the written consent.

§ 14.4.4.3 The Owner and Design-Builder grant to any person or entity made a party to an arbitration conducted under 
this Section 14.4, whether by joinder or consolidation, the same rights of joinder and consolidation as the Owner and 
Design-Builder under this Agreement.

ARTICLE 15   MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
§ 15.1 Governing Law
The Contract shall be governed by the law of the place where the Project is located except that, if the parties have 
selected arbitration as the method of binding dispute resolution, the Federal Arbitration Act shall govern Section 14.4.

§ 15.2 Successors and Assigns
§ 15.2.1 The Owner and Design-Builder, respectively, bind themselves, their partners, successors, assigns and legal 
representatives to the covenants, agreements and obligations contained in the Design-Build Documents. Except as 
provided in Section 15.2.2, neither party to the Contract shall assign the Contract as a whole without written consent of 

105



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

33

the other. If either party attempts to make such an assignment without such consent, that party shall nevertheless 
remain legally responsible for all obligations under the Contract.

§ 15.2.2 The Owner may, without consent of the Design-Builder, assign the Contract to a lender providing 
construction financing for the Project, if the lender assumes the Owner’s rights and obligations under the Design-Build 
Documents. The Design-Builder shall execute all consents reasonably required to facilitate such assignment.

§ 15.2.3 If the Owner requests the Design-Builder, Architect, Consultants, or Contractors to execute certificates, other 
than those required by Section 3.1.10, the Owner shall submit the proposed language of such certificates for review at 
least 14 days prior to the requested dates of execution. If the Owner requests the Design-Builder, Architect, 
Consultants, or Contractors to execute consents reasonably required to facilitate assignment to a lender, the 
Design-Builder, Architect, Consultants, or Contractors shall execute all such consents that are consistent with this 
Agreement, provided the proposed consent is submitted to them for review at least 14 days prior to execution. The 
Design-Builder, Architect, Consultants, and Contractors shall not be required to execute certificates or consents that 
would require knowledge, services or responsibilities beyond the scope of their services. 

§ 15.3 Written Notice
Written notice shall be deemed to have been duly served if delivered in person to the individual, to a member of the 
firm or entity, or to an officer of the corporation for which it was intended; or if delivered at, or sent by registered or 
certified mail or by courier service providing proof of delivery to, the last business address known to the party giving 
notice. 

§ 15.4 Rights and Remedies
§ 15.4.1 Duties and obligations imposed by the Design-Build Documents, and rights and remedies available 
thereunder, shall be in addition to and not a limitation of duties, obligations, rights and remedies otherwise imposed or 
available by law.

§ 15.4.2 No action or failure to act by the Owner or Design-Builder shall constitute a waiver of a right or duty afforded 
them under the Contract, nor shall such action or failure to act constitute approval of or acquiescence in a breach 
thereunder, except as may be specifically agreed in writing.

§ 15.5 Tests and Inspections
§ 15.5.1 Tests, inspections and approvals of portions of the Work shall be made as required by the Design-Build 
Documents and by applicable laws, statutes, ordinances, codes, rules and regulations or lawful orders of public 
authorities. Unless otherwise provided, the Design-Builder shall make arrangements for such tests, inspections and 
approvals with an independent testing laboratory or entity acceptable to the Owner, or with the appropriate public 
authority, and shall bear all related costs of tests, inspections and approvals. The Design-Builder shall give the Owner 
timely notice of when and where tests and inspections are to be made so that the Owner may be present for such 
procedures. The Owner shall bear costs of (1) tests, inspections or approvals that do not become requirements until 
after bids are received or negotiations concluded, and (2) tests, inspections or approvals where building codes or 
applicable laws or regulations prohibit the Owner from delegating their cost to the Design-Builder.

§ 15.5.2 If the Owner determines that portions of the Work require additional testing, inspection or approval not 
included under Section 15.5.1, the Owner will instruct the Design-Builder to make arrangements for such additional 
testing, inspection or approval by an entity acceptable to the Owner, and the Design-Builder shall give timely notice to 
the Owner of when and where tests and inspections are to be made so that the Owner may be present for such 
procedures. Such costs, except as provided in Section 15.5.3, shall be at the Owner’s expense.

§ 15.5.3 If such procedures for testing, inspection or approval under Sections 15.5.1 and 15.5.2 reveal failure of the 
portions of the Work to comply with requirements established by the Design-Build Documents, all costs made 
necessary by such failure shall be at the Design-Builder’s expense.

§ 15.5.4 Required certificates of testing, inspection or approval shall, unless otherwise required by the Design-Build 
Documents, be secured by the Design-Builder and promptly delivered to the Owner.

§ 15.5.5 If the Owner is to observe tests, inspections or approvals required by the Design-Build Documents, the Owner 
will do so promptly and, where practicable, at the normal place of testing.

106



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

34

§ 15.5.6 Tests or inspections conducted pursuant to the Design-Build Documents shall be made promptly to avoid 
unreasonable delay in the Work.

§ 15.6 Confidential Information
If the Owner or Design-Builder transmits Confidential Information, the transmission of such Confidential Information 
constitutes a warranty to the party receiving such Confidential Information that the transmitting party is authorized to 
transmit the Confidential Information. If a party receives Confidential Information, the receiving party shall keep the 
Confidential Information strictly confidential and shall not disclose it to any other person or entity except as set forth 
in Section 15.6.1. 

§ 15.6.1 A party receiving Confidential Information may disclose the Confidential Information as required by law or 
court order, including a subpoena or other form of compulsory legal process issued by a court or governmental entity. 
A party receiving Confidential Information may also disclose the Confidential Information to its employees, 
consultants or contractors in order to perform services or work solely and exclusively for the Project, provided those 
employees, consultants and contractors are subject to the restrictions on the disclosure and use of Confidential 
Information as set forth in this Contract. 

§ 15.7 Capitalization
Terms capitalized in the Contract include those that are (1) specifically defined, (2) the titles of numbered articles or 
(3) the titles of other documents published by the American Institute of Architects.

§ 15.8 Interpretation
§ 15.8.1 In the interest of brevity the Design-Build Documents frequently omit modifying words such as "all" and 
"any" and articles such as "the" and "an," but the fact that a modifier or an article is absent from one statement and 
appears in another is not intended to affect the interpretation of either statement.

§ 15.8.2 Unless otherwise stated in the Design-Build Documents, words which have well-known technical or 
construction industry meanings are used in the Design-Build Documents in accordance with such recognized 
meanings.

ARTICLE 16   SCOPE OF THE AGREEMENT
§ 16.1 This Agreement is comprised of the following documents listed below:

.1 AIA Document A141™–2014, Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Design-Builder

.2 AIA Document A141™–2014, Exhibit A, Design-Build Amendment, if executed

.3 AIA Document A141™–2014, Exhibit B, Insurance and Bonds
(Paragraph deleted)

.5 AIA Document E203™–2013, Building Information Modeling and Digital Data Exhibit, if completed, 
or the following:

NA  

.6 Other:

  

This Agreement entered into as of the day and year first written above.

    

OWNER (Signature) DESIGN-BUILDER (Signature)

John Sutherland Executive Vice President
(Printed name and title) (Printed name and title)

107



Additions and Deletions Report for
AIA

®
 Document A141® – 2014

This Additions and Deletions Report, as defined on page 1 of the associated document, reproduces below all text the author has added 
to the standard form AIA document in order to complete it, as well as any text the author may have added to or deleted from the original 
AIA text. Added text is shown underlined. Deleted text is indicated with a horizontal line through the original AIA text.

Note:  This Additions and Deletions Report is provided for information purposes only and is not incorporated into or constitute any part 
of the associated AIA document. This Additions and Deletions Report and its associated document were generated simultaneously by 
AIA software at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025.

Additions and Deletions Report for AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 
11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in 
accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

1

PAGE 1

AGREEMENT made as of the  16  day of  April  in the year  2025 

…

Tazewell County 
11 South 4th Street, Suite 432 
Pekin, Illinois 61554  

…

P.J. Hoerr, Inc.  
107 North Commerce Place  
Peoria, IL 61604  

…

New Animal Control Building Project # 2025-P-02 
21314 State Route 9  
Tremont, IL 61568
Project: Design and Construction of a New Animal Control Center  
PAGE 2

The design and construction of an approximately 10,368 sq. ft. facility would 
accommodate Animal Control’s long-term needs.  The Design-Builder will work with Animal Control to validate the 
design and propose modifications to address long-term needs and the building site. The Contractor will be responsible 
for all phases of the project, including sitepreparation.   
PAGE 3

The Project Specifications RFP 2025-P-02 Design-Build for New Animal Control Facility Sections 1.1 & 2.2 and 
Exhibit A Owner’s Criteria as provided by the county in the Request for Proposal. 

…

Reference the attached proposal which the GMP is based off for specific building characteristics.

…

None 

…

None 

108



Additions and Deletions Report for AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 
11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in 
accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

2

…

$3,500,000 

…

 NA 

…

 NA 

…

 NA 

…

 NA 
PAGE 4

NA  

…

EA Architecture & Design, Inc.
  802 N Clinton St, Bloomington, IL 61701

…

 KED bluestone
   707 NE Jefferson Ave., Peoria, Illinois

   Austin Engineering
   311 SW Water St.. Ste 215, Peoria, IL 61602 

…

NA 

…

§ 1.1.12 If the Owner and Design-Builder and Contractor intend to transmit Instruments of Service or any other 
information or documentation in digital form, or utilize building information modeling, they shall endeavor to 
establish written protocols governing the development, use, transmission, reliance, and exchange of digital data, 
including they shall endeavor to establish necessary protocols governing such transmissions. Unless otherwise agreed, 
the parties will use AIA Document E203™–2013 to establish the protocols for the development, use, transmission, 
and exchange of digital data and building information modeling.

…

Mike Deluhery, County Administrator  
11 South 4th Street, Suite 432  
Pekin, Illinois 61554  
PAGE 5

109



Additions and Deletions Report for AIA Document A141 – 2014. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American 
Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 
11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in 
accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

3

NA  

…

NA  

…

Matthew Brown & John Sutherland
P.J. Hoerr, Inc.
107 North Commerce Place    
Peoria, IL 61604  

…

[  X  ] Arbitration pursuant to Section 14.4
PAGE 7

NA  

…

§ 2.1.3.2 For Reimbursable Expenses, the compensation shall be the expenses the Design-Builder and the 
Design-Builder’s Architect, Consultants and Contractors incurred, plus an administrative fee of  Four point four nine   
percent ( 4.49   %) of the expenses incurred.

…

§ 2.1.4.1 Payments are due and payable upon presentation of the Design-Builder’s invoice. Amounts unpaid  Sixty  (  
60  ) days after the invoice date shall bear interest at the rate entered below, or in the absence thereof at the legal rate 
prevailing from time to time at the principal place of business of the Design-Builder.

…

1   % One Percent Per Month  
PAGE 34

.4 AIA Document A141™–2014, Exhibit C, Sustainable Projects, if completed

.5 AIA Document E202™-2022, BIM Exhibit for Sharing Models with Project Participants, Where 
Model Versions May Not be Enumerated as a Contract Document, .5 AIA Document 
E203™–2013, Building Information Modeling and Digital Data Exhibit, if completed, or the 
following:

NA  

…

John Sutherland Executive Vice President

110



AIA Document D401 – 2003. Copyright © 1992 and 2003. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:29:32 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1129082955)

1

’Certification of Document s Authenticity
AIA® ™  – 2003 Document D401

I, John Sutherland, hereby certify, to the best of my knowledge, information and belief, that I created the attached final 
document simultaneously with its associated Additions and Deletions Report and this certification at 11:29:32 ET on 
04/17/2025 under Order No. 2114500459 from AIA Contract Documents software and that in preparing the attached 
final document I made no changes to the original text of AIA® Document A141™ – 2014, Standard Form of 
Agreement Between Owner and Design-Builder, other than those additions and deletions shown in the associated 
Additions and Deletions Report.

_____________________________________________________________
(Signed) 

_____________________________________________________________
(Title) 

_____________________________________________________________
(Dated)

111



   Document A141
®

 – 2014 Exhibit A
Design-Build Amendment

Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014 Exhibit A. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” 
“AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:30:04 ET on 
04/17/2025 under Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with 
the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1698248755)

1

ADDITIONS AND DELETIONS: 
The author of this document has 
added information needed for its 
completion. The author may also 
have revised the text of the original 
AIA standard form. An Additions and 
Deletions Report that notes added 
information as well as revisions to the 
standard form text is available from 
the author and should be reviewed. A 
vertical line in the left margin of this 
document indicates where the author 
has added necessary information 
and where the author has added to or 
deleted from the original AIA text.

This document has important legal 
consequences. Consultation with an 
attorney is encouraged with respect 
to its completion or modification.

Consultation with an attorney is also 
encouraged with respect to 
professional licensing requirements 
in the jurisdiction where the Project is 
located.

This Amendment is incorporated into the accompanying AIA Document A141™–2014, 
Standard Form of Agreement Between Owner and Design-Builder dated the  15  day of  
April   in the year  2025  (the "Agreement")
(In words, indicate day, month and year.)

for the following PROJECT:
(Name and location or address)

New Animal Control Building Project # 2025-P-02   
21314 State Route 9, Tremont, IL 61568    

THE OWNER:
(Name, legal status and address)

Tazewell County  
11 South 4th Street, Suite 432 
Pekin, Illinois 61554   

THE DESIGN-BUILDER:
(Name, legal status and address)

P.J. Hoerr, Inc.  
107 North Commerce Place  
Peoria, IL 61604  
The Owner and Design-Builder hereby amend the Agreement as follows.

TABLE OF ARTICLES

A.1 CONTRACT SUM

A.2 CONTRACT TIME

A.3 INFORMATION UPON WHICH AMENDMENT IS BASED

A.4 DESIGN-BUILDER’S PERSONNEL, CONTRACTORS AND SUPPLIERS

A.5 COST OF THE WORK

ARTICLE A.1   CONTRACT SUM
§ A.1.1 The Owner shall pay the Design-Builder the Contract Sum in current funds for the 
Design-Builder’s performance of the Contract after the execution of this Amendment. The 
Contract Sum shall be one of the following and shall not include compensation the Owner 
paid the Design-Builder for Work performed prior to execution of this Amendment:
(Check the appropriate box.)

[  X  ] Stipulated Sum, in accordance with Section A.1.2 below

[    ] Cost of the Work plus the Design-Builder’s Fee, in accordance with 
Section A.1.3 below

112



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014 Exhibit A. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” 
“AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:30:04 ET on 
04/17/2025 under Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with 
the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1698248755)

2

[    ] Cost of the Work plus the Design-Builder’s Fee with a Guaranteed Maximum Price, in accordance with 
Section A.1.4 below

(Based on the selection above, complete Section A.1.2, A.1.3 or A.1.4 below.)

§ A.1.2 Stipulated Sum
§ A.1.2.1 The Stipulated Sum shall be Three Million Five Hundred Twenty One Thousand Twenty Three   ($ 
3,521,023   ), subject to authorized adjustments as provided in the Design-Build Documents.

§ A.1.2.2 The Stipulated Sum is based upon the following alternates, if any, which are described in the Design-Build 
Documents and are hereby accepted by the Owner:
(State the numbers or other identification of accepted alternates. If the Owner is permitted to accept other alternates 
subsequent to the execution of this Amendment, attach a schedule of such other alternates showing the change in 
Stipulated Sum for each and the deadline by which the alternate must be accepted.)

Counter and Cabinetry As Shown On Floor Plan Sketches Accepted, $32,000.00 – Reference Attachment A 

§ A.1.2.3 Unit prices, if any:
(Identify item, state the unit price, and state any applicable quantity limitations.)

Item Units and Limitations Price per Unit ($0.00)
  NA

(Paragraphs deleted)
(Table deleted)
(Paragraphs deleted)
§ A.1.5.2 Progress Payments—Stipulated Sum
§ A.1.5.2.1 Applications for Payment where the Contract Sum is based upon a Stipulated Sum shall indicate the 
percentage of completion of each portion of the Work as of the end of the period covered by the Application for Payment.

§ A.1.5.2.2 Subject to other provisions of the Design-Build Documents, the amount of each progress payment shall be 
computed as follows:

.1 Take that portion of the Contract Sum properly allocable to completed Work as determined by 
multiplying the percentage completion of each portion of the Work by the share of the Contract Sum 
allocated to that portion of the Work in the schedule of values, less retainage of Ten   percent ( 1    %) on 
the Work. Pending final determination of cost to the Owner of Changes in the Work, amounts not in 
dispute shall be included as provided in Section 6.3.9 of the Agreement;

.2 Add that portion of the Contract Sum properly allocable to materials and equipment delivered and 
suitably stored at the site for subsequent incorporation in the completed construction (or, if approved in 
advance by the Owner, suitably stored off the site at a location agreed upon in writing), less retainage of 
Ten percent (  10  %);

.3 Subtract the aggregate of previous payments made by the Owner; and

.4 Subtract amounts, if any, the Owner has withheld or nullified, as provided in Section 9.5 of the 
Agreement.

§ A.1.5.2.3 The progress payment amount determined in accordance with Section A.1.5.2.2 shall be further modified 
under the following circumstances:

.1 Add, upon Substantial Completion of the Work, a sum sufficient to increase the total payments to the full 
amount of the Contract Sum, less such amounts as the Owner shall determine for incomplete Work, 
retainage applicable to such work and unsettled claims; and
(Section 9.8.6 of the Agreement discusses release of applicable retainage upon Substantial Completion 
of Work.)

.2 Add, if final completion of the Work is thereafter materially delayed through no fault of the 
Design-Builder, any additional amounts payable in accordance with Section 9.10.3 of the Agreement.

§ A.1.5.2.4 Reduction or limitation of retainage, if any, shall be as follows:

113



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014 Exhibit A. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” 
“AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:30:04 ET on 
04/17/2025 under Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with 
the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1698248755)

3

(If it is intended, prior to Substantial Completion of the entire Work, to reduce or limit the retainage resulting from the 
percentages inserted in Sections A.1.5.2.2.1 and A.1.5.2.2.2 above, and this is not explained elsewhere in the 
Design-Build Documents, insert provisions here for such reduction or limitation.)

 A reduction to 5% at 50% completion of work as billed.   

(Paragraphs deleted)
§ A.1.5.5 Final Payment
§ A.1.5.5.1 Final payment, constituting the entire unpaid balance of the Contract Sum, shall be made by the Owner to 
the Design-Builder not later than 30 days after the Design-Builder has fully performed the Contract and the 
requirements of Section 9.10 of the Agreement have been satisfied, except for the Design-Builder’s responsibility to 
correct non-conforming Work discovered after final payment or to satisfy other requirements, if any, which extend 
beyond final payment.

§ A.1.5.5.2 If the Contract Sum is based on the Cost of the Work, the Owner’s auditors will review and report in 
writing on the Design-Builder’s final accounting within 30 days after the Design-Builder delivers the final accounting 
to the Owner. Based upon the Cost of the Work the Owner’s auditors report to be substantiated by the 
Design-Builder’s final accounting, and provided the other conditions of Section 9.10 of the Agreement have been met, 
the Owner will, within seven days after receipt of the written report of the Owner’s auditors, either issue a final 
Certificate for Payment, or notify the Design-Builder in writing of the reasons for withholding a certificate as provided 
in Section 9.5.1 of the Agreement.

ARTICLE A.2   CONTRACT TIME
§ A.2.1 Contract Time, as defined in the Agreement at Section 1.4.13, is the period of time, including authorized 
adjustments, for Substantial Completion of the Work.

§ A.2.2 The Design-Builder shall achieve Substantial Completion of the Work not later than  Five Hundred and Forty  
( 540   ) days from the date of this Amendment, or as follows:
(Insert number of calendar days. Alternatively, a calendar date may be used when coordinated with the date of 
commencement. If appropriate, insert requirements for earlier Substantial Completion of certain portions of the 
Work.)

Portion of Work Substantial Completion Date
  

, subject to adjustments of the Contract Time as provided in the Design-Build Documents.
(Insert provisions, if any, for liquidated damages relating to failure to achieve Substantial Completion on time or for 
bonus payments for early completion of the Work.)

ARTICLE A.3   INFORMATION UPON WHICH AMENDMENT IS BASED
§ A.3.1 The Contract Sum and Contract Time set forth in this Amendment are based on the following:

§ A.3.1.1 The Supplementary and other Conditions of the Contract:

Document Title Date Pages
  Attachment A PJ Hoerr Budget and 

Scope

§ A.3.1.2 The Specifications:
(Either list the specifications here or refer to an exhibit attached to this Amendment.)

114



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014 Exhibit A. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” 
“AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:30:04 ET on 
04/17/2025 under Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with 
the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1698248755)

4

NA  

Section Title Date Pages
  

§ A.3.1.3 The Drawings:
(Either list the drawings here or refer to an exhibit attached to this Amendment.)

NA  

Number Title Date
  

§ A.3.1.4 The Sustainability Plan, if any:
(If the Owner identified a Sustainable Objective in the Owner’s Criteria, identify the document or documents that 
comprise the Sustainability Plan by title, date and number of pages, and include other identifying information. The 
Sustainability Plan identifies and describes the Sustainable Objective; the targeted Sustainable Measures; 
implementation strategies selected to achieve the Sustainable Measures; the Owner’s and Design-Builder’s roles and 
responsibilities associated with achieving the Sustainable Measures; the specific details about design reviews, testing 
or metrics to verify achievement of each Sustainable Measure; and the Sustainability Documentation required for the 
Project, as those terms are defined in Exhibit C to the Agreement.)

Title Date Pages
  NA

Other identifying information:

§ A.3.1.5 Allowances and Contingencies:
(Identify any agreed upon allowances and contingencies, including a statement of their basis.)

.1 Allowances

 NA 

.2 Contingencies

Contingency is carried by the Owner  

§ A.3.1.6 Design-Builder’s assumptions and clarifications:

 See PJ Hoerr Budget and Scope Attachment A

§ A.3.1.7 Deviations from the Owner’s Criteria as adjusted by a Modification:

 See PJ Hoerr Budget and Scope Attachment A 

§ A.3.1.8 To the extent the Design-Builder shall be required to submit any additional Submittals to the Owner for 
review, indicate any such submissions below:

 NA 

ARTICLE A.4   DESIGN-BUILDER’S PERSONNEL, CONTRACTORS AND SUPPLIERS
§ A.4.1 The Design-Builder’s key personnel are identified below:
(Identify name, title and contact information.)

115



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014 Exhibit A. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” 
“AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:30:04 ET on 
04/17/2025 under Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with 
the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1698248755)

5

.1 Superintendent 

 Ross Hodgeson or Equivalent 

.2 Project Manager

 Matthew Brown 

.3 Others

  

§ A.4.2 The Design-Builder shall retain the following Consultants, Contractors and suppliers, identified below:
(List name, discipline, address and other information.)

 EA Architect, Austin Engineering and KED bluestone 

ARTICLE A.5   COST OF THE WORK
§ A.5.1 Cost To Be Reimbursed as Part of the Contract
§ A.5.1.1 Labor Costs
§ A.5.1.1.1 Wages of construction workers directly employed by the Design-Builder to perform the construction of the 
Work at the site or, with the Owner’s prior approval, at off-site workshops.

§ A.5.1.1.2 With the Owner’s prior approval, wages or salaries of the Design-Builder’s supervisory and administrative 
personnel when stationed at the site.
(If it is intended that the wages or salaries of certain personnel stationed at the Design-Builder’s principal or other 
offices shall be included in the Cost of the Work, identify below the personnel to be included, whether for all or only 
part of their time, and the rates at which their time will be charged to the Work.)

Person Included Status (full-time/part-time) Rate ($0.00) Rate (unit of time)
  NA

§ A.5.1.1.3 Wages and salaries of the Design-Builder’s supervisory or administrative personnel engaged at factories, 
workshops or on the road, in expediting the production or transportation of materials or equipment required for the 
Work, but only for that portion of their time required for the Work.

§ A.5.1.1.4 Costs paid or incurred by the Design-Builder for taxes, insurance, contributions, assessments and benefits 
required by law or collective bargaining agreements and, for personnel not covered by such agreements, customary 
benefits such as sick leave, medical and health benefits, holidays, vacations and pensions, provided such costs are 
based on wages and salaries included in the Cost of the Work under Section A.5.1.1.

§ A.5.1.1.5 Bonuses, profit sharing, incentive compensation and any other discretionary payments paid to anyone hired 
by the Design-Builder or paid to the Architect or any Consultant, Contractor or supplier, with the Owner’s prior 
approval.

§ A.5.1.2 Contract Costs. Payments made by the Design-Builder to the Architect, Consultants, Contractors and 
suppliers in accordance with the requirements of their subcontracts.

§ A.5.1.3 Costs of Materials and Equipment Incorporated in the Completed Construction
§ A.5.1.3.1 Costs, including transportation and storage, of materials and equipment incorporated or to be incorporated 
in the completed construction.

§ A.5.1.3.2 Costs of materials described in the preceding Section A.5.1.3.1 in excess of those actually installed to allow 
for reasonable waste and spoilage. Unused excess materials, if any, shall become the Owner’s property at the 
completion of the Work or, at the Owner’s option, shall be sold by the Design-Builder. Any amounts realized from 
such sales shall be credited to the Owner as a deduction from the Cost of the Work.

116



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014 Exhibit A. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” 
“AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:30:04 ET on 
04/17/2025 under Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with 
the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1698248755)

6

§ A.5.1.4 Costs of Other Materials and Equipment, Temporary Facilities and Related Items
§ A.5.1.4.1 Costs of transportation, storage, installation, maintenance, dismantling and removal of materials, supplies, 
temporary facilities, machinery, equipment and hand tools not customarily owned by construction workers that are 
provided by the Design-Builder at the site and fully consumed in the performance of the Work. Costs of materials, 
supplies, temporary facilities, machinery, equipment and tools that are not fully consumed shall be based on the cost or 
value of the item at the time it is first used on the Project site less the value of the item when it is no longer used at the 
Project site. Costs for items not fully consumed by the Design-Builder shall mean fair market value.

§ A.5.1.4.2 Rental charges for temporary facilities, machinery, equipment and hand tools not customarily owned by 
construction workers that are provided by the Design-Builder at the site and costs of transportation, installation, minor 
repairs, dismantling and removal. The total rental cost of any Design-Builder-owned item may not exceed the 
purchase price of any comparable item. Rates of Design-Builder-owned equipment and quantities of equipment shall 
be subject to the Owner’s prior approval.

§ A.5.1.4.3 Costs of removal of debris from the site of the Work and its proper and legal disposal.

§ A.5.1.4.4 Costs of document reproductions, electronic communications, postage and parcel delivery charges, 
dedicated data and communications services, teleconferences, Project websites, extranets and reasonable petty cash 
expenses of the site office.

§ A.5.1.4.5 Costs of materials and equipment suitably stored off the site at a mutually acceptable location, with the 
Owner’s prior approval.

§ A.5.1.5 Miscellaneous Costs
§ A.5.1.5.1 Premiums for that portion of insurance and bonds required by the Design-Build Documents that can be 
directly attributed to the Contract. With the Owner’s prior approval self-insurance for either full or partial amounts of 
the coverages required by the Design-Build Documents.

§ A.5.1.5.2 Sales, use or similar taxes imposed by a governmental authority that are related to the Work and for which 
the Design-Builder is liable.

§ A.5.1.5.3 Fees and assessments for the building permit and for other permits, licenses and inspections for which the 
Design-Builder is required by the Design-Build Documents to pay.

§ A.5.1.5.4 Fees of laboratories for tests required by the Design-Build Documents, except those related to defective or 
nonconforming Work for which reimbursement is excluded by Section 15.5.3 of the Agreement or by other provisions 
of the Design-Build Documents, and which do not fall within the scope of Section A.5.1.6.3.

§ A.5.1.5.5 Royalties and license fees paid for the use of a particular design, process or product required by the 
Design-Build Documents; the cost of defending suits or claims for infringement of patent rights arising from such 
requirement of the Design-Build Documents; and payments made in accordance with legal judgments against the 
Design-Builder resulting from such suits or claims and payments of settlements made with the Owner’s consent. 
However, such costs of legal defenses, judgments and settlements shall not be included in the calculation of the 
Design-Builder’s Fee or subject to the Guaranteed Maximum Price. If such royalties, fees and costs are excluded by 
the second to last sentence of Section 3.1.13.2 of the Agreement or other provisions of the Design-Build Documents, 
then they shall not be included in the Cost of the Work.

§ A.5.1.5.6 With the Owner’s prior approval, costs for electronic equipment and software directly related to the Work.

§ A.5.1.5.7 Deposits lost for causes other than the Design-Builder’s negligence or failure to fulfill a specific 
responsibility in the Design-Build Documents.

§ A.5.1.5.8 With the Owner’s prior approval, which shall not be unreasonably withheld, legal, mediation and 
arbitration costs, including attorneys’ fees, other than those arising from disputes between the Owner and 
Design-Builder, reasonably incurred by the Design-Builder after the execution of the Agreement and in the 
performance of the Work.

117



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014 Exhibit A. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” 
“AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:30:04 ET on 
04/17/2025 under Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with 
the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1698248755)

7

§ A.5.1.5.9 With the Owner’s prior approval, expenses incurred in accordance with the Design-Builder’s standard 
written personnel policy for relocation, and temporary living allowances of, the Design-Builder’s personnel required 
for the Work.

§ A.5.1.5.10 That portion of the reasonable expenses of the Design-Builder’s supervisory or administrative personnel 
incurred while traveling in discharge of duties connected with the Work.

§ A.5.1.6 Other Costs and Emergencies
§ A.5.1.6.1 Other costs incurred in the performance of the Work if, and to the extent, approved in advance in writing by 
the Owner.

§ A.5.1.6.2 Costs incurred in taking action to prevent threatened damage, injury or loss in case of an emergency 
affecting the safety of persons and property.

§ A.5.1.6.3 Costs of repairing or correcting damaged or nonconforming Work executed by the Design-Builder, 
Contractors or suppliers, provided that such damaged or nonconforming Work was not caused by negligence or failure 
to fulfill a specific responsibility of the Design-Builder and only to the extent that the cost of repair or correction is not 
recovered by the Design-Builder from insurance, sureties, Contractors, suppliers, or others.

§ A.5.1.7 Related Party Transactions
§ A.5.1.7.1 For purposes of Section A.5.1.7, the term "related party" shall mean a parent, subsidiary, affiliate or other 
entity having common ownership or management with the Design-Builder; any entity in which any stockholder in, or 
management employee of, the Design-Builder owns any interest in excess of ten percent in the aggregate; or any 
person or entity which has the right to control the business or affairs of the Design-Builder. The term "related party" 
includes any member of the immediate family of any person identified above. 

§ A.5.1.7.2 If any of the costs to be reimbursed arise from a transaction between the Design-Builder and a related party, 
the Design-Builder shall notify the Owner of the specific nature of the contemplated transaction, including the identity 
of the related party and the anticipated cost to be incurred, before any such transaction is consummated or cost 
incurred. If the Owner, after such notification, authorizes the proposed transaction, then the cost incurred shall be 
included as a cost to be reimbursed, and the Design-Builder shall procure the Work, equipment, goods or service from 
the related party, as a Contractor, according to the terms of Section A.5.4. If the Owner fails to authorize the 
transaction, the Design-Builder shall procure the Work, equipment, goods or service from some person or entity other 
than a related party according to the terms of Section A.5.4.

§ A.5.2 Costs Not to Be Reimbursed as Part of this Contract
The Cost of the Work shall not include the items listed below:

.1 Salaries and other compensation of the Design-Builder’s personnel stationed at the Design-Builder’s 
principal office or offices other than the site office, except as specifically provided in Section A.5.1.1;

.2 Expenses of the Design-Builder’s principal office and offices other than the site office;

.3 Overhead and general expenses, except as may be expressly included in Section A.5.1;

.4 The Design-Builder’s capital expenses, including interest on the Design-Builder’s capital employed for 
the Work;

.5 Except as provided in Section A.5.1.6.3 of this Agreement, costs due to the negligence or failure of the 
Design-Builder, Contractors and suppliers or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or 
for whose acts any of them may be liable to fulfill a specific responsibility of the Contract;

.6 Any cost not specifically and expressly described in Section A.5.1; and

.7 Costs, other than costs included in Change Orders approved by the Owner, that would cause the 
Guaranteed Maximum Price to be exceeded.

§ A.5.3 Discounts, Rebates, and Refunds
§ A.5.3.1 Cash discounts obtained on payments made by the Design-Builder shall accrue to the Owner if (1) before 
making the payment, the Design-Builder included them in an Application for Payment and received payment from the 
Owner, or (2) the Owner has deposited funds with the Design-Builder with which to make payments; otherwise, cash 
discounts shall accrue to the Design-Builder. Trade discounts, rebates, refunds and amounts received from sales of 

118



Init.

/

AIA Document A141 – 2014 Exhibit A. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” 
“AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:30:04 ET on 
04/17/2025 under Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with 
the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1698248755)

8

surplus materials and equipment shall accrue to the Owner, and the Design-Builder shall make provisions so that they 
can be obtained.

§ A.5.3.2 Amounts that accrue to the Owner in accordance with Section A.5.3.1 shall be credited to the Owner as a 
deduction from the Cost of the Work.

§ A.5.4  Other Agreements
§ A.5.4.1 When the Design-Builder has provided a Guaranteed Maximum Price, and a specific bidder (1) is 
recommended to the Owner by the Design-Builder; (2) is qualified to perform that portion of the Work; and (3) has 
submitted a bid that conforms to the requirements of the Design-Build Documents without reservations or exceptions, but 
the Owner requires that another bid be accepted, then the Design-Builder may require that a Change Order be issued to 
adjust the Guaranteed Maximum Price by the difference between the bid of the person or entity recommended to the 
Owner by the Design-Builder and the amount of the subcontract or other agreement actually signed with the person or 
entity designated by the Owner.

§ A.5.4.2 Agreements between the Design-Builder and Contractors shall conform to the applicable payment provisions 
of the Design-Build Documents, and shall not be awarded on the basis of cost plus a fee without the prior consent of 
the Owner. If an agreement between the Design Builder and a Contractor is awarded on a cost plus a fee basis, the 
Design-Builder shall provide in the agreement for the Owner to receive the same audit rights with regard to the Cost of 
the Work performed by the Contractor as the Owner receives with regard to the Design-Builder in Section A.5.5, 
below.

§ A.5.4.3 The agreements between the Design-Builder and Architect and other Consultants identified in the Agreement 
shall be in writing. These agreements shall be promptly provided to the Owner upon the Owner’s written request.

§ A.5.5 Accounting Records
The Design-Builder shall keep full and detailed records and accounts related to the cost of the Work and exercise such 
controls as may be necessary for proper financial management under the Contract and to substantiate all costs 
incurred. The accounting and control systems shall be satisfactory to the Owner. The Owner and the Owner’s auditors 
shall, during regular business hours and upon reasonable notice, be afforded access to, and shall be permitted to audit 
and copy, the Design-Builder’s records and accounts, including complete documentation supporting accounting 
entries, books, correspondence, instructions, drawings, receipts, subcontracts, Contractor’s proposals, purchase 
orders, vouchers, memoranda and other data relating to the Contract. The Design-Builder shall preserve these records 
for a period of three years after final payment, or for such longer period as may be required by law.

§ A.5.6 Relationship of the Parties
The Design-Builder accepts the relationship of trust and confidence established by this Agreement and covenants with 
the Owner to exercise the Design-Builder’s skill and judgment in furthering the interests of the Owner; to furnish 
efficient construction administration, management services and supervision; to furnish at all times an adequate supply 
of workers and materials; and to perform the Work in an expeditious and economical manner consistent with the 
Owner’s interests. 

This Amendment to the Agreement entered into as of the day and year first written above.

    

OWNER (Signature) DESIGN-BUILDER (Signature)

(Printed name and title) (Printed name and title)

119



Additions and Deletions Report for
AIA

®
 Document A141® – 2014 Exhibit A

This Additions and Deletions Report, as defined on page 1 of the associated document, reproduces below all text the author has added 
to the standard form AIA document in order to complete it, as well as any text the author may have added to or deleted from the original 
AIA text. Added text is shown underlined. Deleted text is indicated with a horizontal line through the original AIA text.

Note:  This Additions and Deletions Report is provided for information purposes only and is not incorporated into or constitute any part 
of the associated AIA document. This Additions and Deletions Report and its associated document were generated simultaneously by 
AIA software at 11:30:04 ET on 04/17/2025.

Additions and Deletions Report for AIA Document A141 – 2014 Exhibit A. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” 
“American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was 
produced at 11:30:04 ET on 04/17/2025 under Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only 
be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1698248755)

1

PAGE 1

This Amendment is incorporated into the accompanying AIA Document A141™–2014, Standard Form of Agreement 
Between Owner and Design-Builder dated the  15  day of  April   in the year  2025  (the "Agreement")

…

New Animal Control Building Project # 2025-P-02   
21314 State Route 9, Tremont, IL 61568    

…

Tazewell County  
11 South 4th Street, Suite 432 
Pekin, Illinois 61554   

…

P.J. Hoerr, Inc.  
107 North Commerce Place  
Peoria, IL 61604  

…

[  X  ] Stipulated Sum, in accordance with Section A.1.2 below
PAGE 2

§ A.1.2.1 The Stipulated Sum shall be Three Million Five Hundred Twenty One Thousand Twenty Three   ($ 
3,521,023   ), subject to authorized adjustments as provided in the Design-Build Documents.

…

Counter and Cabinetry As Shown On Floor Plan Sketches Accepted, $32,000.00 – Reference Attachment A 

…

  NA

§ A.1.3 Cost of the Work Plus Design-Builder’s Fee
§ A.1.3.1 The Cost of the Work is as defined in Article A.5, Cost of the Work.

§ A.1.3.2 The Design-Builder’s Fee:
(State a lump sum, percentage of Cost of the Work or other provision for determining the Design-Builder’s Fee, and 
the method for adjustment to the Fee for changes in the Work.)

120



Additions and Deletions Report for AIA Document A141 – 2014 Exhibit A. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” 
“American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was 
produced at 11:30:04 ET on 04/17/2025 under Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only 
be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1698248755)

2

§ A.1.4 Cost of the Work Plus Design-Builder’s Fee With a Guaranteed Maximum Price
§ A.1.4.1 The Cost of the Work is as defined in Article A.5, Cost of the Work.

§ A.1.4.2 The Design-Builder’s Fee:
(State a lump sum, percentage of Cost of the Work or other provision for determining the Design-Builder’s Fee and 
the method for adjustment to the Fee for changes in the Work.)

§ A.1.4.3 Guaranteed Maximum Price
§ A.1.4.3.1 The sum of the Cost of the Work and the Design-Builder’s Fee is guaranteed by the Design-Builder not to 
exceed    ($    ), subject to additions and deductions for changes in the Work as provided in the Design-Build Documents. 
Costs that would cause the Guaranteed Maximum Price to be exceeded shall be paid by the Design-Builder without 
reimbursement by the Owner.
(Insert specific provisions if the Design-Builder is to participate in any savings.)

§ A.1.4.3.2 Itemized Statement of the Guaranteed Maximum Price
Provided below is an itemized statement of the Guaranteed Maximum Price organized by trade categories, allowances, 
contingencies, alternates, the Design-Builder’s Fee, and other items that comprise the Guaranteed Maximum Price.
(Provide information below or reference an attachment.)

§ A.1.4.3.3 The Guaranteed Maximum Price is based on the following alternates, if any, which are described in the 
Design-Build Documents and are hereby accepted by the Owner:
(State the numbers or other identification of accepted alternates. If the Owner is permitted to accept other alternates 
subsequent to the execution of this Amendment, attach a schedule of such other alternates showing the change in the 
Cost of the Work and Guaranteed Maximum Price for each and the deadline by which the alternate must be accepted.)

§ A.1.4.3.4 Unit Prices, if any: 
(Identify item, state the unit price, and state any applicable quantity limitations.)

Item Units and Limitations Price per Unit ($0.00)
  

§ A.1.4.3.5 Assumptions, if any, on which the Guaranteed Maximum Price is based:

§ A.1.5 Payments
§ A.1.5.1 Progress Payments
§ A.1.5.1.1 Based upon Applications for Payment submitted to the Owner by the Design-Builder, the Owner shall make 
progress payments on account of the Contract Sum to the Design-Builder as provided below and elsewhere in the 
Design-Build Documents.

§ A.1.5.1.2 The period covered by each Application for Payment shall be one calendar month ending on the last day of the 
month, or as follows:

121



Additions and Deletions Report for AIA Document A141 – 2014 Exhibit A. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” 
“American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was 
produced at 11:30:04 ET on 04/17/2025 under Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only 
be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1698248755)

3

§ A.1.5.1.3 Provided that an Application for Payment is received not later than the    day of the month, the Owner shall 
make payment of the certified amount to the Design-Builder not later than the    day of the    month. If an Application for 
Payment is received by the Owner after the application date fixed above, payment shall be made by the Owner not later 
than    (    ) days after the Owner receives the Application for Payment.
(Federal, state or local laws may require payment within a certain period of time.)

§ A.1.5.1.4 With each Application for Payment where the Contract Sum is based upon the Cost of the Work, or the Cost 
of the Work with a Guaranteed Maximum Price, the Design-Builder shall submit payrolls, petty cash accounts, receipted 
invoices or invoices with check vouchers attached, and any other evidence required by the Owner to demonstrate that 
cash disbursements already made by the Design-Builder on account of the Cost of the Work equal or exceed (1) progress 
payments already received by the Design-Builder, less (2) that portion of those payments attributable to the 
Design-Builder’s Fee; plus (3) payrolls for the period covered by the present Application for Payment.

§ A.1.5.1.5 With each Application for Payment where the Contract Sum is based upon a Stipulated Sum or Cost of the 
Work with a Guaranteed Maximum Price, the Design-Builder shall submit the most recent schedule of values in 
accordance with the Design-Build Documents. The schedule of values shall allocate the entire Contract Sum among the 
various portions of the Work. Compensation for design services, if any, shall be shown separately. Where the Contract 
Sum is based on the Cost of the Work with a Guaranteed Maximum Price, the Design-Builder’s Fee shall be shown 
separately. The schedule of values shall be prepared in such form and supported by such data to substantiate its accuracy 
as the Owner may require. This schedule of values, unless objected to by the Owner, shall be used as a basis for reviewing 
the Design-Builder’s Applications for Payment.

§ A.1.5.1.6 In taking action on the Design-Builder’s Applications for Payment, the Owner shall be entitled to rely on the 
accuracy and completeness of the information furnished by the Design-Builder and shall not be deemed to have made a 
detailed examination, audit or arithmetic verification of the documentation submitted in accordance with 
Sections A.1.5.1.4 or A.1.5.1.5, or other supporting data; to have made exhaustive or continuous on-site inspections; or to 
have made examinations to ascertain how or for what purposes the Design-Builder has used amounts previously paid. 
Such examinations, audits and verifications, if required by the Owner, will be performed by the Owner’s auditors acting 
in the sole interest of the Owner.

§ A.1.5.1.7 Except with the Owner’s prior approval, the Design-Builder shall not make advance payments to suppliers 
for materials or equipment which have not been delivered and stored at the site.

…

.1 Take that portion of the Contract Sum properly allocable to completed Work as determined by 
multiplying the percentage completion of each portion of the Work by the share of the Contract Sum 
allocated to that portion of the Work in the schedule of values, less retainage of Ten   percent ( 1    %) on 
the Work. Pending final determination of cost to the Owner of Changes in the Work, amounts not in 
dispute shall be included as provided in Section 6.3.9 of the Agreement;

.2 Add that portion of the Contract Sum properly allocable to materials and equipment delivered and 
suitably stored at the site for subsequent incorporation in the completed construction (or, if approved in 
advance by the Owner, suitably stored off the site at a location agreed upon in writing), less retainage of 
Ten percent (  10  %);

PAGE 3

 A reduction to 5% at 50% completion of work as billed.   

§ A.1.5.3 Progress Payments—Cost of the Work Plus a Fee
§ A.1.5.3.1 Where the Contract Sum is based upon the Cost of the Work plus a fee without a Guaranteed Maximum 
Price, Applications for Payment shall show the Cost of the Work actually incurred by the Design-Builder through the 
end of the period covered by the Application for Payment and for which Design-Builder has made or intends to make 
actual payment prior to the next Application for Payment.

122



Additions and Deletions Report for AIA Document A141 – 2014 Exhibit A. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” 
“American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was 
produced at 11:30:04 ET on 04/17/2025 under Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only 
be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1698248755)

4

§ A.1.5.3.2 Subject to other provisions of the Design-Build Documents, the amount of each progress payment shall be 
computed as follows:

.1 Take the Cost of the Work as described in Article A.5 of this Amendment;

.2 Add the Design-Builder’s Fee, less retainage of    percent (    %). The Design-Builder’s Fee shall be 
computed upon the Cost of the Work described in the preceding Section A.1.5.3.2.1 at the rate stated in 
Section A.1.3.2; or if the Design-Builder’s Fee is stated as a fixed sum in that Section, an amount which bears 
the same ratio to that fixed-sum Fee as the Cost of the Work in that Section bears to a reasonable estimate of 
the probable Cost of the Work upon its completion;

.3 Subtract retainage of    percent (    %) from that portion of the Work that the Design-Builder 
self-performs;

.4 Subtract the aggregate of previous payments made by the Owner;

.5 Subtract the shortfall, if any, indicated by the Design-Builder in the documentation required by 
Section A.1.5.1.4 or resulting from errors subsequently discovered by the Owner’s auditors in such 
documentation; and

.6 Subtract amounts, if any, for which the Owner has withheld or withdrawn a Certificate of Payment as 
provided in the Section 9.5 of the Agreement.

§ A.1.5.3.3 The Owner and Design-Builder shall agree upon (1) a mutually acceptable procedure for review and approval 
of payments to the Architect, Consultants, and Contractors and (2) the percentage of retainage held on agreements with 
the Architect, Consultants, and Contractors, and the Design-Builder shall execute agreements in accordance with those 
terms. 

§ A.1.5.4 Progress Payments—Cost of the Work Plus a Fee with a Guaranteed Maximum Price
§ A.1.5.4.1 Applications for Payment where the Contract Sum is based upon the Cost of the Work Plus a Fee with a 
Guaranteed Maximum Price shall show the percentage of completion of each portion of the Work as of the end of the 
period covered by the Application for Payment. The percentage of completion shall be the lesser of (1) the percentage of 
that portion of the Work which has actually been completed; or (2) the percentage obtained by dividing (a) the expense 
that has actually been incurred by the Design-Builder on account of that portion of the Work for which the 
Design-Builder has made or intends to make actual payment prior to the next Application for Payment by (b) the share of 
the Guaranteed Maximum Price allocated to that portion of the Work in the schedule of values.

§ A.1.5.4.2 Subject to other provisions of the Design-Build Documents, the amount of each progress payment shall be 
computed as follows:

.1 Take that portion of the Guaranteed Maximum Price properly allocable to completed Work as 
determined by multiplying the percentage of completion of each portion of the Work by the share of the 
Guaranteed Maximum Price allocated to that portion of the Work in the schedule of values. Pending final 
determination of cost to the Owner of changes in the Work, amounts not in dispute shall be included as 
provided in Section 6.3.9 of the Agreement.

.2 Add that portion of the Guaranteed Maximum Price properly allocable to materials and equipment 
delivered and suitably stored at the site for subsequent incorporation in the Work, or if approved in 
advance by the Owner, suitably stored off the site at a location agreed upon in writing;

.3 Add the Design-Builder’s Fee, less retainage of    percent (    %). The Design-Builder’s Fee shall be 
computed upon the Cost of the Work at the rate stated in Section A.1.4.2 or, if the Design-Builder’s Fee is 
stated as a fixed sum in that Section, shall be an amount that bears the same ratio to that fixed-sum fee as the 
Cost of the Work bears to a reasonable estimate of the probable Cost of the Work upon its completion;

.4 Subtract retainage of    percent (    %) from that portion of the Work that the Design-Builder 
self-performs;

.5 Subtract the aggregate of previous payments made by the Owner;

.6 Subtract the shortfall, if any, indicated by the Design-Builder in the documentation required by 
Section A.1.5.1.4 to substantiate prior Applications for Payment, or resulting from errors subsequently 
discovered by the Owner’s auditors in such documentation; and

.7 Subtract amounts, if any, for which the Owner has withheld or nullified a payment as provided in 
Section 9.5 of the Agreement.

§ A.1.5.4.3 The Owner and Design-Builder shall agree upon (1) a mutually acceptable procedure for review and 
approval of payments to the Architect, Consultants, and Contractors and (2) the percentage of retainage held on 

123



Additions and Deletions Report for AIA Document A141 – 2014 Exhibit A. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” 
“American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was 
produced at 11:30:04 ET on 04/17/2025 under Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only 
be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1698248755)

5

agreements with the Architect, Consultants, and Contractors; and the Design-Builder shall execute agreements in 
accordance with those terms.

…

§ A.2.2 The Design-Builder shall achieve Substantial Completion of the Work not later than  Five Hundred and Forty  
( 540   ) days from the date of this Amendment, or as follows:

…

  Attachment A PJ Hoerr Budget and 
Scope

PAGE 4

NA  

…

NA  

…

  NA

…

 NA 

…

Contingency is carried by the Owner  

…

 See PJ Hoerr Budget and Scope Attachment A

…

 See PJ Hoerr Budget and Scope Attachment A 

…

 NA 
PAGE 5

 Ross Hodgeson or Equivalent 

…

 Matthew Brown 

…

 EA Architect, Austin Engineering and KED bluestone 

124



Additions and Deletions Report for AIA Document A141 – 2014 Exhibit A. Copyright © 2004 and 2014. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” 
“American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was 
produced at 11:30:04 ET on 04/17/2025 under Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only 
be used in accordance with the AIA Contract Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1698248755)

6

…

  NA

125



AIA Document D401 – 2003. Copyright © 1992 and 2003. All rights reserved. “The American Institute of Architects,” “American Institute of Architects,” “AIA,” the AIA 
Logo, and “AIA Contract Documents” are trademarks of The American Institute of Architects. This document was produced at 11:30:04 ET on 04/17/2025 under 
Order No.2114500459 which expires on 06/30/2025, is not for resale, is licensed for one-time use only, and may only be used in accordance with the AIA Contract 
Documents® Terms of Service. To report copyright violations, e-mail docinfo@aiacontracts.com.
User Notes: (1698248755)

1

’Certification of Document s Authenticity
AIA® Document D401™ – 2003

I, John Sutherland, hereby certify, to the best of my knowledge, information and belief, that I created the attached final 
document simultaneously with its associated Additions and Deletions Report and this certification at 11:30:04 ET on 
04/17/2025 under Order No. 2114500459 from AIA Contract Documents software and that in preparing the attached 
final document I made no changes to the original text of AIA® Document A141™ – 2014 Exhibit A, Design-Build 
Amendment, other than those additions and deletions shown in the associated Additions and Deletions Report.

_____________________________________________________________
(Signed) 

_____________________________________________________________
(Title) 

_____________________________________________________________
(Dated)

126



DESIGN-BUILD FOR NEW
ANIMAL CONTROL FACILITY

TAZEWELL COUNTY
ANIMAL CONTROL
FACILITY

March 14, 2025

Tremont, IL

#2025-P-02127



1. Letter of Introduction - page 4

2. Company History - page 9

3. Unique Qualifications & Experience - page 11

4. Key Personnel - page 17

5. Proposed Approach to Project - page 48

6. Additional Information - page 57

7. Pricing and Required Documents - page 65

TABLE OF CONTENTS

128



Tab 1 - LETTER OF INTRODUCTION

129



 
 
March 14, 2025 
 
Mindy L. Darcy, CPA 
Tazewell County Finance Director / 
Assistant County Administrator 
11 South Fourth Street, Suite #120 
Pekin, IL 61554 
 
RE:  Request for Proposal Response 
 Design-Build Services – New Animal Control Building 
 Project # 2025-P-02 
 
Dear Ms. Darcy: 
 
We are pleased to provide our design, construction and planning qualifications to you 
and your team.  We believe you will find that PJ Hoerr has an outstanding resume of 
Design-Build and Construction Manager projects and more specifically, local 
government projects similar in nature to the New Animal Control Building. We have 
assembled a team that we feel is a “Great Fit” to design and construct your new facility.   
 
PJ Hoerr has been in the construction business since 1914, and we are constantly 
Improving the value and quality of our design, pre-construction and construction 
services.  We believe in the Design-Build process, working closely with the client and 
designer to fully plan, design, budget, and schedule the project.  
 
We hope you will consider PJ Hoerr for your current project for the following 
reasons: 

 
1. PJ Hoerr knows Tazewell County and is familiar with performing work in 

the area.  We have been a leading local construction company with our 
roots embedded in the Central-Illinois area since 1914.  We continuously 
have projects located in and around Pekin/Tremont.  Thus, we are familiar 
with the local economy, local contractors, and local labor.  We have deep 
and trusting relationships with the local subcontracting and supplier 
community.  This will guarantee you receive the best pricing and personnel 
assigned to your project.   

 
2. Our team values our relationship with Tazewell County. Over the past 7 

months, we have gained an understanding of how to work best with 
Tazewell County while working on the Tazewell County Justice Center 
Annex, and we have proven to be an asset who always has the County’s 
best interest at the forefront. We feel we can deliver excellent value while 
helping the team deliver the best fit building with the location that best 
serves your needs.  
 
 

130



 

 

 
 
 

3. At the present time, nearly seventy percent (70%) of our business is 
performed on a construction manager or design/build basis.  We know how 
to work as a part of a team, what attitude to bring to the project, and how to 
manage the pre-construction process to provide the best value to the 
Owner.  We would be very comfortable entering into a Design-Build 
agreement as noted in the request. 
 

4. PJ Hoerr is a leader in building envelope detailing and construction.  We 
constantly aid our clients in designing and building very energy-efficient 
and water-tight facilities.  Our experts have been called upon by both 
building owners and design professionals to troubleshoot problems and 
advise on design details.  We are aware of no other local firm that has a 
full-time construction quality control superintendent. 
 

5. PJ Hoerr has a reputation for producing quality work in a timely manner.  
We’ve been in business for over one hundred years and have built our 
reputation on quality work.  The only way for our construction management 
and design/build business models to succeed is to maintain this 
reputation. 

 
 
We thank you again for allowing us the opportunity to describe our company and look 
forward to continuing our relationship with you in the future.  
 
Sincerely, 
P. J. Hoerr, Inc. 
 
 
 
Scott Rinkenberger 
CEO 
M: 309-303-3068 
E: scott@pjhoerr.com 
 
 
Peoria Office 
107 N. Commerce Place 
Peoria, IL 61604 
309-688-9567 
www.pjhoerr.com 

131



PRIORITY OF PROJECT

Understanding of the Priority:

We understand that all public projects delivered by Tazewell County are important to 
the community.  It will be under public scrutiny and be visible to the public and press. 
We acknowledge that the existing facilities need upgraded, and that this new facility will 
vastly improve the conditions for personnel and the animals which reside. We will main-
tain a sense of urgency to complete this project as efficiently as possible.

Personnel Commitment:

PJ Hoerr is committing a company owner as the Principal In Charge (John Sutherland) 
and a Senior Project Manager (Matt Brown) as upper level management to oversee the 
planning and execution of the project. An additional Project Manager/Project Engineer 
will also be assigned to ensure all deliverables are met to satisfy the needs and timeline 
of Tazewell County.  The Pre-Construction/Estimator (Adam Laible) has planned and 
priced many similar facilities of this nature throughout his career.  

Corporate Commitment:

Our company truly values our relationship with Tazewell County, and we care about the 
entire team’s success. We commit to doing our very best to deliver the New Animal 
Shelter in the most economical way possible, with the highest level of quality, which 
meets your long-term goals. We will ensure that our personnel perform our work in a 
manner which meets and exceeds your expectations. 

Although PJ Hoerr is not the largest construction company in the Central-Illinois area, 
most of the other firms do a large amount of their total work outside of Central-Illinois, 
and outside of Illinois, resulting in PJ Hoerr completing more work in Central-Illinois than 
any other construction firm.  This repeat work only continues if we maintain a very good 
record of customer service and timely, quality construction.

132



FIRM CONTACT INFORMATION

PJ HOERR LOCATION RESPONSIBLE FOR PROJECT:

PJ HOERR RFP PROPOSAL CONTACT:

PJ Hoerr Inc. 

107 N Commerce Place 
Peoria, IL 61604

309.688.9567

pjhoerr.com

JOHN SUTHERLAND

Executive Vice President
PJ Hoerr Inc. 
107 N Commerce Place
Peoria, IL 61604
309.699.9191
john@pjhoerr.com

133



Tab 2 - Company History

134



PJ Hoerr stands as a premier general contractor, construction manager, and design-builder.  Founded in 
1914 by Philip J. Hoerr as a concrete construction company, our stamp can still be seen on many driveways 
and sidewalks.  In 1957 PJ Hoerr was incorporated and transitioned into general commercial construction.  
Now into our 110th year of operation, PJ Hoerr has become a diverse, multi-office commercial builder per-
forming nearly $200 million of work annually.

PJ Hoerr is privately owned by the executive ownership team of Kirk Anderson as Chairman of the Board, 
Scott Rinkenberger serving as CEO, Nick Hart as President and John Sutherland as Executive Vice 
President. The leadership team is rounded out with Colin Logue as Vice President of Bloomington/Normal 
Operations.  This team continues to lead the company based on the strong Christian values of its founder.

What makes PJ Hoerr different than other contractors is the large amount of pre-construction planning and 
design-build work that we perform.  The vast majority of our work is contracted in this manner.  We pride 
ourselves on being team players and we are very willing and able to take responsibility for both the design 
and construction of our projects.  Our staff currently includes a licensed architect and a structural engi-
neer.  We also know that cost is always an issue in construction, so PJ Hoerr continues to pursue contracts 
on a hard-bid basis.  We believe this “keeps our pencils sharp” and maintains our knowledge of current 
market costs.

PJ Hoerr self-performs approximately $30 million of carpentry, general labor, steel erection, and concrete 
work each year.  As opposed to some purely “briefcase” contractors and construction managers.  PJ Hoerr 
knows the “nuts and bolts” of building construction.

In our relentless efforts to maintain a high-quality standard while reducing completion time to a minimum, 
we created three other affiliated companies that work with us to achieve these ends.  These firms, Summit 
Masonry and Stone Works, Benchmark Cabinets and Millwork, and VanBuskirk Steel provide materials and 
craftsmanship during critical portions of the construction process.  Depending on the type of project, these 
companies will work directly for PJ Hoerr or will supply independent bids and compete for the contract as a 
typical subcontractor.

Our PJ Hoerr team of over 150 full-time employees stand ready to develop creative ways to help you design, 
manage, and build your next construction project.  Our philosophy of teamwork and our unwavering com-
mitment to Philip J. Hoerr’s early ideals of hard work and quality guide us to our ultimate goal… an enthusi-
astic, long-term, and delighted client.

FIRM HISTORY

135



General Business Organization
General Business Organization 
PJ Hoerr is an Illinois corporation with offices in Bloomington/Normal and Peoria, Illinois, and Columbia, 
Missouri.  We are a union construction firm signatory with the Laborers, Carpenters, Concrete Finishers, and 
Iron Workers unions.  Our subsidiary companies include VanBuskirk Steel, a structural steel erection company, 
Benchmark Cabinets and Millwork, a union casework production company, Summit Masonry, a union masonry 
construction company, and Reinhardt Construction, a general contracting company in Columbia, MO. 

PJ Hoerr states that it is a domestic corporation and is incorporated under the laws of the State of Illinois.  PJ 
Hoerr has complied with all the provisions of the Business Corporation Act of the State of Illinois and is in good 
standing as a domestic corporation in the State of Illinois.  See Appendix for certificate. 

PJ Hoerr is not barred to hold public contracts in Illinois. 

PJ Hoerr is not in any direct open litigation or arbitration and has none to report for the last 5 years.  However, 
PJ Hoerr is named in a lawsuit filed between a Subcontractor and an Owner. We can provide additional 
information upon request.  

 

Firm Revenues – Broken Down by Division and Subsidiaries: 
 

2020   2021   2022   2023   2024  
PJ Hoerr    

134,960,300  
   

174,416,000  
   

172,541,322  
   

176,958,500  
   

150,399,302  
Benchmark         

3,770,800  
        

4,828,000  
        

4,550,800  
        

5,240,813  
        

5,641,657  
VBS         

4,298,800  
        

4,885,900  
        

4,990,800  
        

3,416,320  
        

5,599,897  
Reinhardt                        -            

1,679,300  
     

11,176,278  
        

7,901,526  
        

9,262,332  
Summit         

3,385,400  
        

3,894,200  
        

3,927,500  
        

5,089,641  
        

5,923,368  
TOTAL    

146,415,300  
   

189,703,400  
   

197,186,700  
   

198,606,800  
   

176,826,556  
 

Size of Firm – Staffing: 

Executive and Mid-Level Managers – 7 employees 

Professionals – 33 employees 

Administrative Support – 12 employees  

Skilled Trades / Field Laborers – approximately100 employees 

Total – 150+ employees 

 

Professional Affiliations: 

AGC (Association of General Contractors), AIA (American Institute of Architects), LEED (Leadership in Energy 
and Environmental Design), LEAN, ASHE (American Society for Health Care Engineering), NFPA (The 
National Fire Protection Association), ASCE (American Society of Civil Engineers), SEI (Software Engineering 
Institute) 

 

136



Tab 3 - Unique Qualifications & Experience

137



In the last ten years, P.J. Hoerr has emphasized building our local government and municipal building 
market.  To accomplish this, we have hired several respected and knowledgeable industry profession-
als who are leaders in this field.  Combined, these individuals have over 100 years of experience com-
pleting government and municipal projects.  

On your Tazewell County Animal Shelter project, we plan to staff the project with our four most experi-
enced individuals in this market.  As stated in the personnel section, these are John Sutherland as the 
Project Executive, Matt Brown as the Senior Project Manager, Adam Laible as the Pre-Construction/
Estimator, and Ross Hodgeson as the Project Superintendent.  Collectively, they have managed the 
construction of local government, federal Government, private and municipality facilities.  They have 
led the estimating and preconstruction efforts on well over 25 projects.  

Due to the uniqueness of this project, we have collected a team of design firms who are the right fit for 
this project who add tremendous value locally to your project. EA Architects have worked on countless 
projects with PJ Hoerr and have proven to be common sense architects with an abundance of experi-
ence without the big firm price tag. 

We have also partnered with Austin Engineering. Austin Engineering has extensive local civil engineer-
ing knowledge and understands how to work with the County Administration office and the local juris-
dictions. Their value as a trusted partner has shined while working with PJ Hoerr and the County on the 
Tazewell County Justice Center Annex. 

Finally, we have brought in one of the best Mechanical, Electrical and Plumbing engineers in the area. 
KED has proven themselves to be exceptional partners who have vast experience in projects of this 
nature. KED has agreed to work with the following trade partners to deliver a design build solution; 
Montefusco HVAC, Illini Plumbing and Laser Electric, and Pipco which will all be subcontracted directly 
to PJ Hoerr and utilize KED to assist them with the MEP Design Build. 

We have intentionally brought together a team who you can partner with in achieving your goals in 
delivering a New Animal Shelter on time and on budget. This is a team you can have confidence in. We 
commit to being a team that does what is best for Tazewell County and the people who count on your 
services. We want our experience as a group to be the trusted choice.

Although we have a deep resume of projects, the following pages show a sampling of the PJ Hoerr 
Team project experience.  This selection includes many projects of similar type and structure to the 
proposed New Animal Shelter.

These projects include:

1.	 Tazewell County Justice Center Annex
2.	 Miller Welding Facility PEMB
3.	 Peoria Athletic Dome
4.	 ULM Veterinary Clinic
5.	 Highland Pet Hospital and Wellness Center
6.	 Peoria Animal Wellness Shelter (PAWS)
7.	 The Peoria Zoo
8.	 Humane Society of Central Illinois MEP Upgrades
9.	 Miller Park Zoo – South American Exhibit
10.	 Miller Park Zoo – Mule Foot Hog Exhibit
11.	 Miller Park Zoo – Sloth Exhibit
12.	 Miller Park Zoo – Concession 
13.	 Wildlife Prairie Park - Cougar and Bear Enclosure
14.	 Wildlife Prairie Park - Wolf Compound
15.	 Wildlife Prairie Park - Buffalo and Elk Areas

Firm Experience Summary

138



TAZEWELL COUNTY JUSTICE CENTER ANNEX (COURTHOUSE) - PEKIN, IL

Project Address				    101 S Capitol St. Pekin, IL 61554
Type of PJH contract                                         	 Construction Manager at Risk
Owner Rep Name                                             	 Mike Deluhery
Owner Rep Address                                          	 115 4th st. Suite 432, Pekin, IL 61564
Owner Rep Phone                                            	 309.478.5704
Owner Rep Email                                              	 mdeluhery@tazewell-IL.gov
Arch Rep Name                                                	 Matt Bickel, Wold Architects & Engineers
Arch Rep Address                                             	 220 N Smith St. Suite 310 Palentine, IL 60067
Arch Rep Phone                                                	 847.241.6100
Arch Rep Email                                                  	 mbickle@woldae.com
Project Size (SF)                                                	 90,000 SF

Project Description: PJ Hoerr is the Construction Manager at Risk on a new $39 Million, 90,000 SF, 3-story 
courthouse facility in Pekin, IL. This new facility consists of 3 courtrooms, judges chambers, jury assembly 
space, state’s attorney offices, probation and drug treatment offices, and jury deliberation space. A secured, 
in-custody transport tunnel is being built between the new courthouse and the existing Tazewell County Justice 
Center. 

Construction Costs (less A/E and CM Fees)      	$39,000,000
Project Status                                                	 In Pre-Construction
Date Complete                                                	 December 2026
PJH PE                                                                   	John Sutherland
PJH PM                                                            	 Matthew Brown
PJH Supt                                                         	 Brian Eddy
Any DBE Participation (Explain)                        	 TBD
Any Federal/State/Local Funds (Explain)         	 Local/Federal Funds (ARPA) 

139



HUMANE SOCIETY OF CENTRAL ILLINOIS - NORMAL, IL

Type of PJH contract                                         	 Hard Bid General Contract
Arch Name                                                	 Shive-Hattery
Arch Rep Address                                             	 909 Arrow Road, Champaign, IL 61821
Project Size (SF)                                                	 8,800 SF

Project Description: This project was strictly an HVAC replacement and upgrade to the facility. Upgrades 
included air handlers, ductwork, ACT grid ceilings were installed throughout.

Construction Costs (less A/E and CM Fees)      	$1,062,000
Project Status                                                	 Complete
Date Complete                                                	 2021
PJH PE                                                                   	Colin Logue
PJH PM                                                            	 Jeff Trower
PJH Supt                                                         	 Rob Mullens
Any DBE Participation (Explain)                        	 No
Any Federal/State/Local Funds (Explain)         	 No

140



SOUTH AMERICAN EXHIBIT-MILLER PARK ZOO - BLOOMINGTON, IL

Type of PJH contract                                         	 Hard Bid General Contract
Arch Name                                                	 WDM Architects/Farnsworth
Project Size (SF)                                                	 1,075 SF

Project consists of the demo/removal of the existing exhibit.  Installation of a retaining wall, site improvements 
to divide site into three exhibits, installation of site ponds and new fencing.  New building to house the Tortoise, 
Ant Eater and Bush Dogs.  Includes custom fabricated cage/gate enclosures in the building.

Construction Costs (less A/E and CM Fees)      	$1,062,600
Project Status                                                	 Complete
Date Complete                                                	 Spring 2023
PJH PE                                                                   	Colin Logue
PJH PM                                                            	 Dave Wilson
PJH Supt                                                         	 Les Tiller
Any DBE Participation (Explain)                        	 No
Any Federal/State/Local Funds (Explain)         	 No

141



In addition to the contacts listed on the project profiles, we would like to provide the following referenc-
es for your follow-up, if desired.

Reference #1
	 Bob Senneff
	 CEO
	 Graham Health System
	 210 West Walnut Street, Canton, IL 61520
	 309-647-5240 x2201
	 rsenneff@grahamhospital.org
	
	 Bob has been our point of contact for this 22-year relationship.  We have completed over 50 		
	 complex projects totaling over $110 million in construction.  Scott Rinkenberger is currently the 		
	 Principal in Charge on all of Graham’s projects.

Reference #2
	 Paula Pratt
	 Development Director 
	 Miller Park Zoo
	 1020 S Morris Ave
	 Bloomington, IL 61701
	 Phone: 309-434-2243 
	 ppratt@mpzoologicalsociety.org

	 Paula has worked with PJ Hoerr on many projects over the years and has continually utilized PJ
	 Hoerr as a resource when it comes to all aspects of construction. These projects are fun in 		
	 nature, and she recently awarded PJ Hoerr an exhibit which will be completed in May of 2025. 		
	 She has worked with Matt and the team over the years successfully completing projects for the 		
	 zoo. 

Reference #3
	 George Alwan
	 West Region Construction Manager
	 Carle Health / Carle Young Minds
	 221 NE Glen Oak Ave, Peoria, IL 61636
	 309-219-2133
	 george.alwan@carle.com

	 George has overseen multiple projects during our nearly 20-year relationship with Methodist, 		
	 Unity Point, now Carle Methodist, and Carle Pekin Hospital.  

Reference #4
	 Lisa Thompson
	 CEO
	 Project Oz 
	 1105 W Front St.
	 Bloomington, IL 61704
	 309-827-0377
	 lisat@projectoz.org

	 Lisa recently oversaw an expansion project at Project OZ. She worked diligently with our team 		
	 overcoming preconstruction hurdles that ultimately strengthened our team relationship.

Additional References

142



Tab 4 - Key Personnel

143



John Sutherland
M: 309-699-9191
E: john@pjhoerr.com
Principal in Charge (PIC)
Mr. Sutherland will have overall responsibility for the successful completion of the project from begin-
ning to end.  He will oversee the design and preconstruction process to ensure that all stakeholders 
and satisfied with the overall team’s performance.  During construction, John will still maintain overall 
responsibility and conduct frequent site visits, but the day-to-day management of the project will shift 
to the PJ Hoerr Project Management team. 

Matt Brown
M: 309-214-1085
E: mattb@pjhoerr.com
Senior Project Manager (PM)
Mr. Brown will be involved in the pre-construction phase of the project by working closely with the Proj-
ect Executive to help to develop agendas, schedules, estimates, and construction schemes.  He will be 
very involved in subcontracting the project.  Once construction begins, Matt will be on-site frequently 
and will have day-to-day responsibility to manage the project and communicate with the Owner.  Matt 
will also be responsible for preparing and submitting pay requests.

Ross Hodgson
M: 309-303-8163
E: ross@pjhoerr.com
Project Superintendent (PS)
Mr. Hodgson will have some involvement in pre-construction services advising the team on construc-
tability, schedule, and methods.  During construction, Ross will be on the site all day, every day, to 
supervise the construction, resolve problems, advance the schedule, coordinate deliveries, inspect for 
quality workmanship, and communicate with the owner.

Adam Laible
M: 309-635-1730
E: adam@pjhoerr.com
Pre-Construction / Estimating 
Adam Laible has been in the construction industry for 11 years, since he started his career at P.J. 
Hoerr in 2014. Adam works in the preconstruction and estimating department for P.J. Hoerr. His esti-
mates focus on industrial, manufacturing, municipal/government, healthcare and commercial clients. 
His estimating responsibilities have included hard bid estimates, conceptual budgets, design develop-
ment budgets, scheduling, writing contracts, and ensuring a smooth handoff to the project managers 
and field superintendents. Adam will serve as the lead estimator for this project providing budgetary 
updates with drawing progress sets through the design process as well as analyzing value engineering 
opportunities and alternative materials to help remain within budget. Adam will coordinate with our 
chosen construction and design partners to ensure the quality and constructability standards of PJH 
are withheld even during the planning stages of the project.

Hans Hinrichsen
M: 309-370-2893
E: hans@pjhoerr.com
Safety Director (SD)
Along with the Project Executive, the Project Manager, the Project Superintendent, and every other PJ 
Hoerr employee on the site, Mr. Hinrichsen will share responsibility for safe work practices and a safe 
environment.  Specifically, Hans will meet with subcontractors before they start work on the site to re-
view their work plans, he will review PJ Hoerr’s work plans, and he will make frequent site visits to help 
protect the workers, visitors, and staff from unsafe project situations.

Key Personnel and Responsibilities

144



Phil Watkins
M: 309-208-3821
E: pwatkins@pjhoerr.com
Quality Control Superintendent (QCS)
Mr. Watkins will have responsibility during pre-construction to review the designer’s details to enhance 
weather tightness and long-term durability advising the designers to help create an energy-efficient 
and watertight building envelope if new openings are added to the exterior. Phil will also review the 
documents for any issues that could affect energy efficiency and construction quality control. During 
construction, he will be on-site to review installation details with the glazers, the masons, the carpen-
ters installing siding, the roofer, and the mechanical subcontractors.

145



Adam Laible
Estimator

Hans Hinrichsen
Director of Safety

Matt Brown 
Senior Project Manager

Project Manager/ 
Project Engineer TBD

Ross Hodgson
Superintendent

Phil Watkins 
Quality Control

John Sutherland
Project Executive

PROPOSED PROJECT TEAM CHART

Austin Engineering
Civil Engineer

EA Architecture & Design, Inc.
Architect

KED Bluestone
Engineering

146



John Sutherland
Project Executive John has served in many roles during his construction career, 

starting as an intern while attending Bradley University, working 
as a Project Manager overseeing very complex and difficult con-
struction projects throughout the Midwest. With all of this, he has 
established and grown a regional division, and worked his way to 
the position of President of a ENR Top 400 Contractor. 

John has served as Project Executive on numerous county and 
public safety projects ranging from county jails and courthouses to 
county office spaces. His role in this project is complete oversight 
of the preconstruction and budgeting process, constructibility and 
security reviews, construction oversight and expediting construc-
tion schedules and closeouts. John is here to ensure that the 
construction team provides exceptional service and that the overall 
quality and timeliness of the project meets the customer’s expec-
tations. 

When the Tazewell County Justice Center was built in 2002, John 
served as the Lead Project Manager for the $14 million, 80,000 
sf facility. Currently, John serves as the Project Executive on the 
new Tazewell County Justice Center Annex and also serves as the 
Project Executive for Peoria County construction management proj-
ects. John is also involved in a renovation project for Brown Animal 
Hospital in Peoria.

EDUCATION:
Bachelors of Science in 
Construction, Minor in
Business Administration
Bradley University, Peoria, IL

AWARDS:
Tricon/Better Built 2018 Construc-
tion Person of the Year
Neighborhood House 2024 John 
Brock Award

CERTIFICATIONS:
ASHE / Healthcare Construction 
Certificate (HCCC)
International Brotherhood of 
Carpenters ICRA Training

SAFETY TRAINING:
OSHA / 30 Hour Construction 
Safety and Health Training
American Red Cross First Aid 
Training

ORGANIZATIONS:
American Society of Healthcare 
Engineers (ASHE)
The Builders Association - Kansas 
City – Past Board Member
Construction Specifications Insti-
tute – Central Missouri Chapter – 
Past President
Central Illinois Builders of AGC – 
Past President
Greater Peoria Contractors & Sup-
pliers Association – Past President

147



Matt Brown
Senior Project 

Manager

United State Air Force 
Veteran

A motivated and engaged team member who is goal oriented, driven for 
team success, dedicated to the quality of work, and who can lead fast 
track construction projects. Over 20 years of experience in the construc-
tion industry serving in nearly every role of management. Successfully 
building project in multiple industries including industrial, retail, pharma-
ceuticals, government, aviation, manufacturing, corrections, and general 
commercial construction projects across the United States. Projects 
individually ranged from $300,000 up to $350,000,000 in revenue.

EDUCATION:
Indiana State University
B.S. Construction Management/
Industrial Supervision
Community College of the Air Force
A.S. Computer Systems Control – 
Network Infrastructure

TRAINING & CERTIFICATION:
Confined Space
Fall Protection
OSHA 10 & 30
Core of Eng. Quality Control
Community and Professional 
Leadership
Certified Rigger
CPR/AED/First Aid
Job Hazard Analysis

PROJECT EXPERIENCE

Champaign County Satellite Jail Consolidation – Urbana, IL – Senior project manager 
for this $25 million project that consisted of a new correctional facility that is connect-
ed to the existing jail with over 75 inmate beds. Phase 2 of the project consisted of 
renovation of the existing building while it remains operational. Working closely with the 
County and Sheriff’s department on daily activities to limit any disruptions. Managed 
all aspects of the Project. Responsible for safety, onsite personnel, quality, schedule, 
contracting and the budget for this Project.

McLean County Law and Justice Center – Bloomington, IL – Senior project manager 
for this $40 million project that consisted of a new correctional facility with over 240 
inmate beds, new medical and mental health areas. Phase 2 of the project consist-
ed of renovation of the existing building while operational. Worked closely with the 
County and Sheriff’s department on daily activities to limit any disruptions. Managed 
all aspects of the Project. Responsible for safety, onsite personnel, quality, schedule, 
contracting and the budget for this Project.

Urbana Fire Stations – Urbana, IL – Senior project manager for this $15 million project 
that consisted of two new fire stations in Urbana. These state-of-the-art fire stations 
showcase functional apparatus bays to meet the demands of the firefighters and a 
comfortable residential living space for the units during their down time. Phase 2 of the 
project consisted of renovation of the existing building while operational. Worked closely 
with the City of Urbana to manage all aspects of the preconstruction, construction, and 
post construction. 

Veteran’s Affairs Clinic – Bloomington, IL– Senior project manager for this 13,000 
square foot Hamilton Road Clinic, which serves 22,000 veterans in the McLean County 
area. This includes primary care, behavioral health, laboratory, therapy, dietitian and 
prescription services.

Rivian/Phoenix Group Kerrick Road Warehouse – Normal, IL – Senior project manager 
for this $38 million project that consisted of a new 500,000 square foot warehouse 
space with office areas, team areas, integrated mechanical and electrical system, mass 
site excavations and site restorations. This project was an extension of an existing facili-
ty and required detailed coordination and planning with multiple stakeholders. 

148



Ross Hodgson
Project 

Superintendent

Ross Hodgson joined the team in 2014 as a Project Superinten-
dent. Ross is unique in that he not only has great field experience, 
but also has a degree in construction management. This back-
ground increases his knowledge and effectiveness in meeting 
schedules and reducing costs. Ross has successfully managed 
multiple projects ranging from a fire station facility, two major long 
term care facilities, a training center and a cancer care facility. 
Ross is organized, aggressive, safe and schedule oriented. He de-
mands quality construction and productivity from everyone on the 
job site. Ross plans ahead and is very good at working directly with 
the client and keeping them fully informed throughout the project.

EDUCATION:
Illinois State University, Normal, IL
B.S. Construction Management

TRAINING & CERTIFICATION:
Dale Carnegie Leadership Training 
Course
U.S. Army Corps Quality Manage-
ment for Contractors Training 
Course
OSHA 30 HR.
Carpenter Apprenticeship
Total Station Surveying

PROJECT EXPERIENCE

Komatsu America Corp. Office Building - Peoria, IL – Project Superintendent re-
sponsible for this $25 million, 75,000 sq. ft. new office building that is being built 
to replace an aging office building.  Once construction is complete the existing 
building will be demolished. 2025 - In progress

Hangar Development Project – Bloomington, IL – Project Superintendent respon-
sible for this 88,000 sq. ft. Pre-Engineered Metal Building hangar facility consist-
ing of two large hangar bays, ancillary maintenance and storage rooms, office and 
break room spaces, and interior parking.  The mechanical system and radiant 
in-floor heat associated with this project, coordination with contractors, A&E firm, 
and owner was crucial. This project also required close coordination with Central 
Regional Airport.   2021-Present

Westminster Village Assisted Living Building - Bloomington, IL - Project Superin-
tendent responsible for this $21 million, 80,000 square foot, Illinois Department 
of Public Health licensed building that will replace Westminster Village’s existing 
assisted living facility.  This is the second phase of Westminster Village’s master 
plan to upgrade their campus.  The new building includes twelve memory care 
units and sixty assisted living units.  Other features of the new building include 
new administration offices, a salon, a fitness room, a theatre room, new kitchens, 
new dining areas, and a memory care courtyard. - 2020

Westminster Village Martin Health Center - Bloomington, IL - Project Superin-
tendent responsible for this new $26 million, 42,000 square foot, Illinois Depart-
ment of Public Health licensed, two-story building with 48 private rooms - 24 on 
each floor. This new facility was constructed as a rectangle surrounding a wheel-
chair-accessible courtyard for residents to safely enjoy the outdoors. - 2018

Normal Fire Department Headquarters - Normal, IL - Project Superintendent 
responsible for the construction of this new $8 million, 30,000 square foot, 
facility. This new headquarters fire station is located near Illinois State University 
and uptown Normal. This station is also the location of the training facility for the 
entire department. - 2017

149



Hans Hinrichsen
Director of Safety

EDUCATION:
Bachelor in Science in Safety
Illinois State University - Blooming-
ton/Normal, IL

SAFETY TRAINING:
•	 OSHA 502 Construction Out-

reach Trainer
•	 OSHA 40-Hour 
      Hazwoper
•	 Rigger Level 1 Trainer
•	 Signal-Person Trainer
•	 Root-Cause and Incident 

investigation 
•	 OSHA 30-hour
•	 Hydromobile Erector/disman-

tler
•	 MEWP certified (Mobile El-

evated Work 		
Platforms)

Hans joined PJ Hoerr in 2012 where he has taken PJ Hoerr’s safety 
program to a new level. He works with field supervision to further safety 
performance on-site, reviews and manages claims on all insurance 
lines, oversees quarterly safety meetings, and preforms incident inves-
tigations. He also develops weekly PJ Hoerr specific toolbox talks for 
the purpose of educating our field and office employees about safety 
on active job sites. Hans and his department, oversee all safety for PJ 
Hoerr and related companies.

During Hans’ time at PJ Hoerr, he has focused on updating several 
areas of the current safety program to mirror industry leading safety 
standards. A new PJ Hoerr specific New Hire Orientation Video was 
developed and a Large Project Subcontractor Orientation Video was 
produced and implemented under his guidance. Another development 
introduced by Hans was an app-based auditing system for job site safe-
ty which provides real time analytics of company safety performance. 
In addition to his work at PJ Hoerr, Hans serves on the Illinois State 
University Safety Advisory Board in hopes to be a mentor and a strong 
example to the future minds of the safety industry. 

150



Adam Laible
Sr. Project Estimator

EDUCATION:
Bachelor of Science in Construction
Bradley University, Peoria, IL

CERTIFICATIONS
OSHA 30 Hour

Adam Laible has been in the construction industry for 11 years 
since he started his career at P.J. Hoerr in 2014. Adam works in the 
preconstruction and estimating department for P.J. Hoerr. His esti-
mates focus on industrial, manufacturing, municipal/government, 
healthcare and commercial clients.

His estimating responsibilities have included hard bid estimates, 
conceptual budgets, design development budgets, scheduling, writ-
ing contracts, and ensuring a smooth handoff to the project manag-
ers and field superintendents. Adam will serve as the lead estimator 
for this project providing budgetary updates with drawing progress 
sets through the design process as well as analyzing value engineer-
ing opportunities and alternative materials to help remain within 
budget. Adam will coordinate with our chosen construction and 
design partners to ensure the quality and constructability standards 
of PJH are withheld even during the planning stages of the project.  

151



Phil Watkins
Quality Control

SAFETY TRAINING:
•	 JLG Lift Training
•	 Scaffold Safety Training
•	 Asbestos Awareness 

Training

Phil has been working in the construction industry for over 35 
years. In the early days of his career, Phil served as a masonry 
superintendent on hundreds of different projects. Since joining 
PJ Hoerr in 1999, he has acted as a field Superintendent, Project 
Manager, and finally, a Quality Control Specialist. He has worked 
closely with forensic engineers and architectural firms in the devel-
opment of construction details for exterior building envelopes and 
the interfaces of building exterior components. Phil is responsible 
for the quality control of the entire building including the roofing, 
flashings, window systems, doors, mechanical units, and building 
component interfaces. 

Phil has been involved in large churches, medial office buildings, 
hospitals, long-term care facilities, schools, industrial buildings, 
and community centers. Another responsibility Phil takes on is 
reviewing the proposed plans/specifications during the design pro-
cess. He also inspects the work as it develops through the building 
process. This is done by setting up spray racks and testing water 
tightness and air filtration. 

W  W  W  .  E  A  -  A  D  .  N  E  T 

8 0 2   N   C L I N T O N  S T ,  S U I T E  1             B L O O M I N G T O N ,  I L   6 1 7 0 1         3 0 9 . 6 6 3 . 7 1 1 1 152



W  W  W  .  E  A  -  A  D  .  N  E  T 

8 0 2   N   C L I N T O N  S T ,  S U I T E  1             B L O O M I N G T O N ,  I L   6 1 7 0 1         3 0 9 . 6 6 3 . 7 1 1 1 153



W  W  W  .  E  A  -  A  D  .  N  E  T 

8 0 2   N   C L I N T O N  S T ,  S U I T E  1    B L O O M I N G T O N ,  I L   6 1 7 0 1   3 0 9 . 6 6 3 . 7 1 1 1 

KONGSKILDE INDUSTRIES 

Industrial Agriculture Equipment 
Normal, Illinois 

The Kongskilde Addition Project consisted of  a 75,000 square foot industrial 
building addition to the current facility. A sophisticated powder coating paint 
line was installed within this addition, used to paint the agriculture equipment 
that Kongskilde produces. Other activities within this addition include several 
individual welding stations, two robotic welding stations, and a general 
storage area for painted product. 

154



W  W  W  .  E  A  -  A  D  .  N  E  T 

A veteran of the central Illinois restaurant industry, the owner of Rob Dob's 
Restaurant & Bar approached EA Architecture & Design with a vision -- to develop an 
empty lot on Bloomington's east side into a fine-dining restaurant. Over the course of 
2 years the team at EA strategized, sketched and planned in close collaboration with 
Mr. Dobski to bring his dream to life. EA provided site development consulting, 3D 
visualization studies, structural design, architectural & interior design, lighting 
design, furniture procurement, artwork consultation, and construction administration. 

The restaurant is attached to a 3600 square-foot tenant space. 

ROB DOB’S 

2 4 1 6   E.   W A S H I N G T O N   S T .    S U I T E  C - 3          B L O O M I N G T O N ,  I L   6 1 7 0 4       3 0 9 . 6 6 3 . 7 1 1 1 

Restaurant & Bar 
Bloomington, Illinois 

155



W  W  W  .  E  A  -  A  D  .  N  E  T 

8 0 2   N   C L I N T O N  S T ,  S U I T E  1      B L O O M I N G T O N ,  I L   6 1 7 0 1          3 0 9 . 6 6 3 . 7 1 1 1 

After 75 years in business in Central Illinois, Gailey Eye Clinic ventured to open a new 
clinic in an up-and-coming shopping district of Peoria, IL.  To attract and retain clientele in 
an already well-established community, Gailey required a modern facility boasting the 
latest in technology and design. 

EA was hired early in the development process to design the site, the building and interior 
spaces from the ground up.  Creating something unique and impressive was priority, while 
budget and timeframe were slim. 

The team at EA produced full architectural and interior design, as well as furniture & 
accessory selection.  Our design team also hand-selected & procured custom artwork from 
the archives of Gailey Eye Clinic’s historical documents and photography.  The oversized, 
vintage eye chart installation in the lobby won MDC’s Great Space Award. 

GAILEY  EYE  CLINIC 
New Construction Facility 
Peoria, Illinois 

156



W  W  W  .  E  A  -  A  D  .  N  E  T 

8 0 2   N   C L I N T O N  S T ,  S U I T E  1      B L O O M I N G T O N ,  I L   6 1 7 0 1          3 0 9 . 6 6 3 . 7 1 1 1 

IRON COYOTE CHALLENGE PARK 
Fitness Center 
Bloomington, Illinois 

Iron Coyote is a 16,000 square foot building that provides an alternate avenue for 
physical fitness.  Within the building includes a ninja obstacle apparatus, a ropes 
course, a bouldering scalable wall, fun walls, basketball court and zip line for all 
ages young and old.  Support spaces for the gym area include a small office space 
for staff, rentable party rooms, and second level terrace serving food and drink.  

Construction began on this building in October of 2018 lasting for 11 months with an 
opening in August of 2019.  The building consists of a pre-engineered metal building 
on a traditional concrete foundation system.  

157



W  W  W  .  E  A  -  A  D  .  N  E  T 

2 4 1 6   E.   W A S H I N G T O N   S T .    S U I T E  C - 3    B L O O M I N G T O N ,  I L   6 1 7 0 4    3 0 9 . 6 6 3 . 7 1 1 1 

HELLER FORD 
Fordland Dealership Remodel 
El Paso, Illinois 

When Heller Ford started the process of  updating their dealership in El Paso, 
IL, EA Architecture & Design was tasked with administering the Fordland 
Dealership Facility Design Prototype standards into the remodeling.  Most 
important to the owners was applying the program standards in a way that 
made economical and logistical sense for their existing building. 

EA Architecture & Design provided site planning, architectural & interior 
design, code review, construction documents & construction administration.  
Fordland Dealership Facility Design Prototype implementation was at the core 
of  the process throughout.  The designers at EA used their experience with 
corporate prototype implementation to guide the decision makers at Heller 
Ford seamlessly through the process. 

158



W  W  W  .  E  A  -  A  D  .  N  E  T 

8 0 2   N   C L I N T O N  S T ,  S U I T E  1    B L O O M I N G T O N ,  I L   6 1 7 0 1   3 0 9 . 6 6 3 . 7 1 1 1 

LEMAN TOYOTA 
Toyota Dealership 
Bloomington, Illinois 

Leman Toyota is a new dealership in Bloomington, IL.  The building is 
approximately 34,000 square feet composed of  precast panel shop walls & 
metal panel with aluminum storefront showroom walls. 

The shop contains 16 service bays, tool storage, parts storage and support 
areas for staff.  The showroom includes office space, customer areas and 
vehicle display space. 

Along with Toyota Image Prototype Design implementation, EA provided the 
design for the architectural, structural and MEP systems. 

159



  

nathan elliott  
AIA, ALA, GGA, NCARB, LEED AP 

Principal 
 
    
  
 
 
 
Education 
Master of Architecture with 
Structural Emphasis  
– University of Illinois at  
Urbana-Champaign 
 
Bachelor of Science,  
Architectural Studies  
– Southern Illinois University 
Carbondale 
 
 
Licenses / Certifications 
Registered Architect,  
Illinois 
 
Green Globes Fellow, 
Green Building Initiative 
 
Green Globes Assessor,  
Green Building Initiative  
 
Registered LEED AP – Building 
Design + Construction,  
United States Green Building 
Council 
 
National Council of Architectural 
Registration Boards Certificate 
 
 
Professional Affiliations 
American Institute of Architects 
 
 
 
Professional Experience 
April 2014 – Present,  
EA Architecture & Design, Inc. 
 
2003 – March 2014, 
Previous Employer 
 
 

Biography 
Nathan has over 22 years of work experience in the architectural field.  From 
compiling details and drawings as an intern-architect, to leading the project design 
through project completion, Nathan has provided his knowledge and leadership in 
many capacities.   
 
 
 
Project Experience 
 
Kongskilde Industries, Inc. 
Hudson, Illinois 
Being a design-build project, Nathan help facilitate owner-contractor meetings 
discussing building details, building layouts, and equipment coordination for the 
construction of a 75,000 square foot addition.   
 
 
Gailey Eye Clinic 
Peoria, Illinois 
This is a design-build project that required clear coordination between the owner, 
contractor, and design team. Project details were communicated between all 
members to ensure the final product will meet the owner’s expectations. This is 
newly construction a 7,000 square foot building with a scheduled completion of 1 
July 2016. 
 
 
Buffalo Wild Wings 
Pekin, Illinois 
Nathan provided the structural design for this project located in Pekin, Illinois. The 
building’s structure is composed of a metal stud bearing wall system with a steel 
joist supported roof. The 10,000 square foot building was designed for a developer 
in the Peoria area. The majority of the building serves as the Buffalo Wild Wings 
restaurant chain and the other serves as a leasable space for a future tenant. 
 
 
Iron Coyote Challenge Park 
Bloomington, Illinois 
This building will house a climbing wall, training area, a zip line, and an elaborate 
suspended ropes course.  This pre-engineered building is 17,000 square foot in size 
with a 3,000 square foot second floor.  Nathan provided schematic design, 
foundation engineering and is overseeing construction.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

160



At KEDbluestone, we are an innovative team of MEP engineers who 
provide an extraordinary client experience. Our job is to simplify the 
complex, and to deliver seamless solutions that our clients can count 
on. Our aim is simple: to be exceptional.

Originally established as two independent firms with similar values, 
Keith Engineering Design and Bluestone Engineering joined forces to 
become KEDbluestone in 2024. With a history of collaboration that 
goes back decades, we are known for our unwavering commitment to 
client success, for delivering the highest standards of quality in MEP 
engineering design, and for providing an enjoyable and personable 
client experience. Our combined team includes nearly 70 employees 
and offices in Des Moines, Peoria, and Iowa City. Clients across the 
Midwest and beyond choose KEDbluestone for our proven track 
record of delivering the highest quality engineering solutions coupled 
with a tailored, engaging experience.

BASIC SERVICES
: provided by KEDbluestone

> Schematic Design Phase

> Design Development Phase

> Construction Documents Phase

> Bidding Phase

> Construction Phase

ABOUT KEDBLUESTONE

ENGINEERING SERVICES

: provided by KEDbluestone

> Mechanical engineering

> Electrical engineering

> Plumbing engineering

> Fire protection engineering

> Technology engineering

ADDITIONAL SERVICES

: provided by KEDbluestone

> Construction Observation

> Commissioning

> Energy Modeling

> Building Information Modeling

> Sustainability and LEED design

> Study Analysis

Get to know us.

Firm Description

> 65+ engineers practicing across
various disciplines

• Electrical

• Mechanical

• Plumbing/ Fire Protection

• Technology

> Known for a culture of owner-
focused solutions

> Multiple team members with LEED
AP and PE Credentials

> Reputation of responsiveness

> Offices located in:

• Peoria, Illinois

• Des Moines, Iowa

• Iowa City, Iowa

www.KEDbluestone.com

161



Engineering Services

Bringing a Custom-Designed Vet Clinic to Life
Ulm Veterinary Clinic : 530 E Fort St, Farmington, IL 61531

• Electrical Service

• Mechanical

• Plumbing

• Lighting

• HVAC

Project Size & Cost
3,335 square feet | $1.2 million

The Challenge
After outgrowing its existing space, this vet clinic constructed a new building in a 

residential area. The veterinarian was directly involved in construction, requesting 

custom design touches—such as wall-length benches instead of chairs in exam 

rooms, exam tables that fold into the wall and plenty of windows for natural light 

—to meet patient and owner needs.

KEDbluestone Solution
We coordinated with local utilities to bring all new electric, gas and water service 

to the site and built box shields around parking lights to prevent glare on 

neighbors’ properties. Because the building featured a sloped roof, we selected 

ground-mounted HVAC equipment with ventilation and exhaust features—

including electric reheat—to keep odor, moisture and humidity out of the exam, 

kennel and waiting room areas. We also installed specialty veterinary-style 

plumbing, along with corrosion-resistant electrical fixtures in the kennel area.

C
lie

nt
C

on
ta

ct Dr. Jennifer Ulm, DVM
Ulm Veterinary Clinic
309 / 245 . 2888

www.KEDbluestone.com

Commercial

Engineering Services

Designing Highland Pet Hospital’s New Facility
Highland Pet Hospital & Wellness Center: 118 Greenwood Ave, Bloomington, IL 61704

• Electrical

• Mechanical

• Plumbing

• Lighting

• HVAC

• Technology

• FIre Alarm

Project Size & Cost
7,000 square feet | $1.4 million

The Challenge
Highland Pet Hospital was outgrowing their existing facility, so they purchased 

an undeveloped plot of land to house a new, larger facility. With this, not only 

did they need MEP system designs, but they also needed to bring services to 

the undeveloped plot. Animal Hospitals also require specialized boom lighting, 

animal-safe spaces, and surgical equipment, adding complexity. The client 

requested as much usable interior space as possible, so they requested that we 

minimize utility space as much as possible.

KEDbluestone Solution
We designed the mechanical system to include outdoor units, thereby minimizing 

the amount of interior space being taken up by utilities. We coordinated with 

service providers, ensuring the necessary services were extended to the plot, at 

the correct amounts to support the new facility. When designing each system, we 

considered animal-safety measures, as well as specialized surgical equipment 

needs. The dental, surgical, and outpatient treatment rooms were designed to 

include specialized boom lighting. As a result, the Highland Pet Hospital now has 

a new, state-of-the-art facility, that will allow them to serve the community at a 

greater capacity.

C
lie

nt
C

on
ta

ct Kyle Glandon, Architect
Highland Pet Hospital
309 / 533 . 9706

www.KEDbluestone.com

Commercial

162



Engineering Services

Designing Highland Pet Hospital’s New Facility
Highland Pet Hospital & Wellness Center: 118 Greenwood Ave, Bloomington, IL 61704

• Electrical

• Mechanical

• Plumbing

• Lighting

• HVAC

• Technology

• FIre Alarm

Project Size & Cost
7,000 square feet | $1.4 million

The Challenge
Highland Pet Hospital was outgrowing their existing facility, so they purchased 

an undeveloped plot of land to house a new, larger facility. With this, not only 

did they need MEP system designs, but they also needed to bring services to 

the undeveloped plot. Animal Hospitals also require specialized boom lighting, 

animal-safe spaces, and surgical equipment, adding complexity. The client 

requested as much usable interior space as possible, so they requested that we 

minimize utility space as much as possible.

KEDbluestone Solution
We designed the mechanical system to include outdoor units, thereby minimizing 

the amount of interior space being taken up by utilities. We coordinated with 

service providers, ensuring the necessary services were extended to the plot, at 

the correct amounts to support the new facility. When designing each system, we 

considered animal-safety measures, as well as specialized surgical equipment 

needs. The dental, surgical, and outpatient treatment rooms were designed to 

include specialized boom lighting. As a result, the Highland Pet Hospital now has 

a new, state-of-the-art facility, that will allow them to serve the community at a 

greater capacity.

C
lie

nt
C

on
ta

ct Kyle Glandon, Architect
Highland Pet Hospital
309 / 533 . 9706

www.KEDbluestone.com

Commercial

163



Engineering Services

Modernizing the Peoria Animal Wellness Shelter
Peoria Animal Wellness Shelter (PAWS) : Peoria, Illinois

• Electrical

• Lighting

Project Size & Cost
8,000 square feet | cost undisclosed

The Challenge
PAWS needed to renovate their facility to improve environments for both animals and 

staff. One of the client’s main concerns was improving ventilation and temperature 

control. However, the facility’s current electrical service could not support the HVAC 

upgrades. The facility’s renovation was also more complex because it required all

corrosion-resistant, animal-safe materials. Additionally, PAWS needed a backup 

generator, to prevent HVAC downtime and the need for animal relocation.

KEDbluestone Solution
We redesigned the electrical system to incorporate a backup generator, ensuring 

cooling and ventilation would be maintained in case of a power outage, preventing the 

need for animal relocation. We utilized stainless steel enclosures, ensuring all materials 

were animalsafe. We increased the electrical service, allowing the facility to receive 

the necessary HVAC upgrades. As a result, the facility now has an upgraded electrical 

service, an upgraded HVAC system, animal-centric, corrosion-resistant environments, 

and a system that includes a backup generator for peace of mind.

www.KEDbluestone.com

Commercial

C
lie

nt
C

on
ta

ct Lauren Malmberg, Animal Control 
Administrator 
PAWS
309 / 245 . 2888

164



Engineering Services

Electrical System Designs for a New Animal Enclosure
The Peoria Zoo : 2320 N Prospect Rd, Peoria, IL 61603

• Electrical

• Lighting

• Technology

Project Size & Cost
2,505 square feet | cost undisclosed

The Challenge
The Peoria Zoo was expanding to include a new Takin animal enclosure. This 

enclosure required unique electrical designs, based around the specific needs 

and abilities of the animal. Anything within reach of the animals needed to be 

indestructible and corrosion resistant. The enclosure would need to include lighting, 

fans, and electric waterers.

KEDbluestone Solution
We designed the system to incorporate all necessary features for the animal’s habitat, 

including the lighting, fans, and electric waterers. All materials and equipment were 

chosen based on their durability and corrosion resistance, ensuring a safe and 

secure system for the enclosure. As a result of the project, the Peoria Zoo now has a 

Takin Exhibit, creating a home for the animals and expanding the zoo experience for 

visitors. C
lie

nt
C

on
ta

ct Rebecca Fredrickson, Superintendent 
of Planning, Design, and Construction 
Division
Peoria Park District
309 / 682 . 1200

www.KEDbluestone.com

Community

165



Brian Keith /  Principal | President | Electrical

KEDbluestone
707 NE Jefferson Ave., Peoria, Illinois 61603

309 / 431-3723 : direct

Bradley University : Electrical Engineering

B.S. in Electrical Engineering : 1988

34 years of professional experience

Registered Professional Engineer (P.E.)  
LEED Accredited Professional (LEED AP)

Principal

As President, Brian maintains an active role in all of the company’s projects - overseeing all electrical engineering 

from schematic design through the project close-out. He has 34 years of experience in the design of institutional, 

industrial, and commercial electrical systems, a deep understanding of how electrical systems are designed and 

installed, and detailed knowledge of the electrical costs associated with commercial projects. Before becoming 

a Principal and President, Brian served as a project manager, design engineer, and estimator for a commercial 

electrical contractor.

Highland Pet Hospital

New Facility Design

Bloomington, Illinois

Project Size & Cost:

7,000 square feet | $1.4 million

Peoria Animal Control

Facility Renovation

Peoria, Illinois

Project Size & Cost:

8,000 square feet | undisclosed

DeWitt County Animal Shelter

New Facility

Clinton, Illinois

Project Size & Cost:

2,688 square feet | undisclosed

Ulm Veterinary Clinic

New Facility Design

Farmington, Illinois

Project Size & Cost:

3,335 square feet | $1.2 million

Peoria Zoo

Addition and Renovations

Peoria, Illinois

Project Size & Cost:

TBD | anticipated $53.9 million

Peoria Zoo

New Takin Animal Enclosure

Peoria, Illinois

Project Size & Cost:

2,500 square feet | undisclosed

KEDbluestone                            Peoria : Iowa City : Des Moines : www.KEDbluestone.com

Project Experience

166



Adam Camp /  Principal | Mechanical

KEDbluestone
707 NE Jefferson Ave., Peoria, Illinois 61603

309 / 431-3712 : direct

Bradley University : Mechanical Engineering

B.S. in Mechanical Engineering : 2015

10 years of professional experience

Registered Professional Engineer (P.E.)  

Principal

Throughout Adam’s ten years of professional experience, he has become an expert in conceptual and schematic 

design, mechanical load calculations, mechanical equipment selection, and piping/ ductwork layout across a 

diverse set of HVAC applications - including education, medical, industrial, commercial, and government buildings. 

As the head of the mechanical department at KEDbluestone, Adam not only manages his own projects from kick-

off to closeout, but he also assigns project teams and mentors junior engineers, fostering a culture of continuous 

learning and growth within our organization, ensuring our clients receive the highest quality end result.

KEDbluestone                            Peoria : Iowa City : Des Moines : www.KEDbluestone.com

Project Experience

Highland Pet Hospital

New Facility Design

Bloomington, Illinois

Project Size & Cost:

7,000 square feet | $1.4 million

Peoria Animal Control

Facility Renovation

Peoria, Illinois

Project Size & Cost:

8,000 square feet | undisclosed

DeWitt County Animal Shelter

New Facility

Clinton, Illinois

Project Size & Cost:

2,688 square feet | undisclosed

Ulm Veterinary Clinic

New Facility Design

Farmington, Illinois

Project Size & Cost:

3,335 square feet | $1.2 million

Peoria Zoo

Addition and Renovations

Peoria, Illinois

Project Size & Cost:

TBD | anticipated $53.9 million

Peoria Zoo

New Takin Animal Enclosure

Peoria, Illinois

Project Size & Cost:

2,500 square feet | undisclosed

167



James Harmon / Plumbing & Fire Protection Manager

KEDbluestone
707 NE Jefferson Ave., Peoria, IL 61603

309 / 431-3724 : direct

 

29 years of professional experience

James combines a deep understanding of plumbing and fire protection design with a broad base of 29 years of 

experience—from drafting and design to estimation and construction project management. At KEDbluestone, 

his responsibilities include mechanical, fire protection, and plumbing system design and he applies his expertise 

to ensure high-quality finished products for government, commercial, healthcare, institutional and educational 

facilities.

Highland Pet Hospital

New Facility Design

Bloomington, Illinois

Project Size & Cost:

7,000 square feet | $1.4 million

Peoria Animal Control

Facility Renovation

Peoria, Illinois

Project Size & Cost:

8,000 square feet | undisclosed

DeWitt County Animal Shelter

New Facility

Clinton, Illinois

Project Size & Cost:

2,688 square feet | undisclosed

Ulm Veterinary Clinic

New Facility Design

Farmington, Illinois

Project Size & Cost:

3,335 square feet | $1.2 million

Peoria Zoo

Addition and Renovations

Peoria, Illinois

Project Size & Cost:

TBD | anticipated $53.9 million

Peoria Zoo

New Takin Animal Enclosure

Peoria, Illinois

Project Size & Cost:

2,500 square feet | undisclosed

KEDbluestone                            Peoria : Iowa City : Des Moines : www.KEDbluestone.com

Project Experience

168



 AUSTIN ENGINEERING CO., INC. 
Consulting Engineers / Landscape Architects / Surveyors   
Peoria, IL - Davenport, IA – Chattanooga, TN 
austinengineeringcompany.com 

 
 
  
 
 

 311 SW Water St., Suite 215, Peoria, IL  61602    
220 Emerson Pl., Suite 101-A, Davenport, IA  52801 
2115 Stein Drive, Suite 201, Chattanooga, TN  37421 

P 1 (844) 691-AECI 
Incorporated August 18, 1947 

 
PJ Hoerr         March 07, 2025 
Matt Brown 
Senior Project Manager 
107 Commerce Place 
Peoria, IL  61604 
(309) 888-9567 
mattb@pjhoerr.com 
 
 
Re: Design Build of New Animal Control Building 
 Tremont, IL 
 Tazewell County 
 Due Date - Time:  Friay March 14th at 2:30 PM 
 
Matt: 
 
Pursuant to your request, please utilize the following information for including Austin 
Engineering in your response to the above referenced RFQ. 
 
Lead/Senior Civil Engineer   Devin Birch, PE, President 
Lead/Senior Surveyor    Mike Cochran, PLS, Secretary-Treasurer 
Lead/Senior Architect    Sean Rennau, PLA 
 
Company Bio – Statement 
Austin Engineering provides professional Civil Engineering, Land Surveying and Landscape 
Architecture services.  Our company was established in 1937 and incorporated in 1947 and has 
played an integral role in the development of the Greater Peoria area for almost eight decades. 
We are licensed in several states across the country. Our clientele includes a diverse group of 
public and private clients, general contractors, as well as architects and fellow engineers. We 
regularly team with General Contractors for Design Build contracts.  We also perform projects 
on a variety of budgets including lump sum contracts, cost-plus, not to exceed, and on an hourly 
basis. 
 
The Austin Engineering team prides itself on its ability to work together with our clients to 
produce cost-effective designs that meet our client’s needs and desires. AECI has extensive 
experience in land design including subdivision development, senior living facilities, apartment 
complexes, condominiums, sport fields, recreational, and commercial property site development. 
We also specialize in stormwater control and management including detention/retention facility 

169



 311 SW Water St., Suite 215, Peoria, IL  61602    
220 Emerson Pl., Suite 101-A, Davenport, IA  52801 
2115 Stein Drive, Suite 201, Chattanooga, TN  37421 

P 1 (844) 691-AECI 
Incorporated August 18, 1947 

 

design and flood studies as well as hydraulic and hydrologic analysis. Our general experience 
includes numerous public improvement projects for water mains, water treatment facilities, 
sanitary sewer mains, sewage treatment plants, storm sewers, stormwater drainage, and 
transportation projects, all of which include both new projects and rehabilitation projects as well. 
 
Austin Engineering is also a full-service Land surveying company with three full-time survey 
crews on staff in Peoria, IL.  Our surveys include property boundary surveys, ALTA surveys, 
outside construction staking services, flood elevation certificates, and right of way and easement 
surveys. In addition, our survey staff provides invaluable support to our engineering staff by 
performing topographic surveys and all other survey work necessary to perform our design 
projects. 
 
Lastly, Austin Engineering is an award-winning Landscape Architecture firm.  Our project 
design experience includes commercial property, residential, governmental and public 
streetscapes and spaces.  Our focus is on cost-effective sustainable site planning that enhances 
the beauty of the natural environment.  Our work has been recognized with awards from the 
Illinois Landscape Contractors Association. 
 
Summary/Statement for approach to energy efficient/sustainable designs. 
 
Austin Engineering blurs the lines between Landscape Architecture and Civil Engineering to 
create optimal sustainable site designs for their clients.  Elements such as storm water detention 
basins are designed with locally sourced native forbs and grasses that can tolerate the extremes 
of the local climates while helping to reduce runoff and pull stormwater deep into the soils to 
help replenish aquifers. Our native planting designs also help to reduce landscape maintenance 
costs while also providing habitat for native animals, not to mention aesthetic beauty.   
 
To assist with energy savings, we carefully position plants and deciduous trees help to place 
dense leafy shade on structures, utilities and parking lots in the summer while dropping colorful 
leaves in the fall to allow warm sun exposure to building roofs and facades in the winter. We 
also use certain tree species to design wind breaks to save on heating bills during the winter.  
To further assist with sustainability within the built environment, we can use green roofs or 
permeable pavements that help reduce run off as well as reduce glare that helps to reduce heat 
island affect. 
 
If you should find that you require any additional information to complete our firm’s addition 
into your response to the RFQ, please do not hesitate to contact me. 
 
Sincerely,       
 

 
     
Devin Birch, PE  

 

170



 AUSTIN ENGINEERING CO., INC. 
Consulting Engineers / Landscape Architects / Surveyors   
Peoria, IL - Davenport, IA – Chattanooga, TN 
austinengineeringcompany.com 

 
 
  
 
 

 311 SW Water St., Suite 215, Peoria, IL  61602    
220 Emerson Pl., Suite 101-A, Davenport, IA  52801 
2115 Stein Drive, Suite 201, Chattanooga, TN  37421 

P 1 (844) 691-AECI 
Incorporated August 18, 1947 

 
 
CIVIL ENGINEER 
AUSTIN ENGINEERING COMPANY, INC. 
DEVIN BIRCH, PE 
 
University of Illinois – Urbana-Champaign  B.S. Civil Engineering 
University of Illinois – Springfield   M.B.A. 
 
Devin has over 25 years of professional experience in the Civil Engineering field in the 
following areas: Project Management, Roadway Design (Local & State), Erosion-Sedimentation-
Storm Water Control, Storm Sewer Design, Sanitary Sewer Design, Water Main Design, Site 
Development (Residential, Commercial and Industrial), Quantity Take-off, Cost Estimating and 
Construction Observation and Inspection.  Devin has been a principal with Austin Engineering 
since 2008.  He initially obtained his Professional Engineering License in Illinois in 2006 and is 
presently licensed in fourteen (14) other states. 
 
Tazewell County - Pekin, IL   Tazewell County Justice Center Annex  
Tazewell County – Mackinaw, IL  Heritage Lake Roadway & Culvert Improvements 
St. Joseph Church of Pekin – IL  New Parrish Addition 
Fondulac Park District – East Peoria, IL Farm Park Splash Pad & Restroom Improvements 
Peoria Housing Authority – IL   East Bluff Scattered Sites Residential  
City of Peoria Public Works – IL  Villa Lake Drive & Wildlife Drive Re-Construction 
 

171



 311 SW Water St., Suite 215, Peoria, IL  61602    
220 Emerson Pl., Suite 101-A, Davenport, IA  52801 
2115 Stein Drive, Suite 201, Chattanooga, TN  37421 

P 1 (844) 691-AECI 
Incorporated August 18, 1947 

 

 
 
LAND SURVEYOR 
AUSTIN ENGINEERING COMPANY, INC. 
MIKE COCHRAN, PLS 
 
Southern Illinois University – Carbondale  B.S. Industrial Technology 
University of Illinois – Springfield   M.B.A. 
 
Mike has over 20 years of field and office experience as a Surveyor in the following areas: 
Property Boundary Surveys, G.P.S. Surveys, Lot Surveys, Tract Surveys, ALTA Surveys, 
Duplex Splits, Condominium Plats, Subdivision Surveys, Easement & Right of Way Surveys, 
Construction Staking, Topographic Surveys, Aerial Control Surveys, Elevation Certificates, 
L.O.M.A. & Related F.E.M.A. Reports.  Mike has been a Principal with Austin Engineering 
since 2019. 
 
 
City of Pekin    Velde & Parkway Intersection Improvements 
City of Washington   Lakeshore Drive Right of Way Survey 
City of Peoria     Urban Decay Survey  
City of East Peoria   Access Rd. No 6 Re-Construction 
 
 

172



 311 SW Water St., Suite 215, Peoria, IL  61602    
220 Emerson Pl., Suite 101-A, Davenport, IA  52801 
2115 Stein Drive, Suite 201, Chattanooga, TN  37421 

P 1 (844) 691-AECI 
Incorporated August 18, 1947 

 

 
 
 
LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT – CIVIL ENGINEER 
AUSTIN ENGINEERING COMPANY, INC. 
SEAN RENNAU. PLA 
 
University of Illinois – Urbana-Champaign  B.S. Landscape Architecture 
Bradley University     B.S. Civil Engineering 
 
Sean has over 20 years of combined experience in the Civil Engineering and Landscape 
Architecture fields. His employment with traditional design-build firms has garnered experience 
on a variety of Civic and Residential projects from across the Midwest. His understanding of the 
design process and experience in the construction industry has honed his abilities to listen to 
project owners and work with Architects, Engineers, and Contractors in the optimal development 
of exterior spaces and habitats. Sean’s diverse background provides the means to better 
understand the scientific and aesthetic principles of Civil Engineering projects 
 
Carle Health     Methodist Café Courtyard Improvements 
      Proctor Café Courtyard Improvements 
Peoria School District 150   Anni Jo Gordan Splash Pad 
Illinois Capital Development Board  State Fair Ground Coliseum Sculpture & Garden 
Quincy, IL Housing Authority   Frederick Ball Apartments  
 

173



Tab 5 - Project Approach

174



 
Site Specific Approach 
 
PJ Hoerr and our design team have performed our initial investigation into each proposed site. Although we have not 
completed a comprehensive engineering evaluation, we have reached an initial assessment to provide you with a 
preliminary recommendation for the location of the New Animal Shelter.  
 
Once selected, our preconstruction team and engineers develop a comprehensive Alta survey, identify all existing 
utilities at each site, do preliminary soil bores, provide a qualified site analysis confirming our initial assessment of 
the proper location for the building. In the meantime, based on the known facts, the site we feel is the most 
economical location is the location nearest to the Tazewell County Emergency Management Agency Building. (See 
Below) 
 
 

 
 

The following items for each site were considered major items for consideration in choosing our preliminary site 
location: 
 
Southern Site Location 

1. This location potentially would take away space currently being utilized by the Highway Department. 
2. Substantial earthwork import fill and compaction would be required, adding costs to the project. 
3. Based on utility information which we have obtained, we have reservations on the requirements needed to 

introduce the sanitary into the existing system. We see the potential for a costly solution. 
4. Other Utility runs are further from this location.  

a. Water 
b. Gas 
c. Sanitary 

5. We would need to demolish existing parking areas to bring in utilities. 
6. Most impactful location to current ongoing county operations.  

 
 

175



Central Site Location 
1. From a soil standpoint, without borings, building on farmland might not be suitable soil from a structural 

standpoint. We often find layers of soft unusable soil when constructed in existing farm fields which 
increases the risk of unsuitable soil during construction or at the time of borings.  

2. This location potentially adds congestion to a parking lot that seems to be full and utilized near to its 
capacity 

3. Our ability to route utilities to this site is better than the Southern location, but not as efficient as the 
Northern location. 

4. This location is not ideal for county logistics and parking. 
 
Northern Site Location 

1. This location is at a higher elevation and anticipated to be “dry”, reducing risk and limiting costs. 
2. All utilities are readily available in comparison to the other two locations. 
3. We think we can introduce sanitary upstream and not overload the existing capacity of the system. 
4. It is a earthwork cut site in lieu of fill which is more cost effective. 
5. This spot already has a circle drive that can be updated and expanded on improving access for county 

personnel and maintenance.  
6. It has unused parking south of the Tazewell County Emergency Management Agency building that could be 

utilized for overflow and/or primary staff parking.  
7. We can also easily add parking at the back side of the building. 
8. We feel it will cost the least to build here as we can take advantage of existing resources.  

 
Below is a snapshot of the proposed location of the building in association with your existing facilities. 
 

 
 

176



 
Creating a Quality, Long Lasting Structure 
 
Our priority is delivering a high-quality facility that will last over time. Our proposal reflects this approach of blending 
quality and value to produce two separate viable options for design and construction. We have planned and priced a 
building with a structure and finishes which will increase the lifespan of the facility. Our Pre-Engineered Metal 
Building (PEMB) option will last an additional 25 years minimum in comparison to a traditional post frame style 
building. Additionally, our slightly cheaper option of “stick framed” will outperform any post frame construction 
building available. Our thoughtful approach keys in on three main qualities: 

 
1. Structural Integrity and Energy Code 
2. Longevity and Ease of Maintenance 
3. Sanitary Environment for animals 

 
The following represents a few examples of how we approached the design, construction materials and methods to 
meet our 3 main quality objectives. The following is included in our base price proposal: 
 

1. Our buildings incorporate the right sized foundation packages and civil principles that will ensure your 
building is sound. 

2. Our PEMB option is made of an all steel structure to add decades to the lifespan of the facility. 
3. There are very few screws in a PEMB standing seam roof in comparison to a post frame or traditional metal 

roof or shingled system. This system is low maintenance, does not require screw replacement and sealing 
and is not susceptible to the many leaks in a traditional roof system.  

4. Our stick frame option includes 12’ eave heights instead of 10’ because the 10’ option does not work due to 
the fire code and space which is required to run the mechanical, electrical and plumbing above.  

5. PJ Hoerr has included the most durable interior wall system in our proposal. (See plan model below) 
a. All back of house wet areas will have CMU walls with epoxy paint. 

i. This is much more durable than cheap FRP panels. 
ii. Easy spray cleaning eliminates mildew, mold and bacteria which will accumulate behind and 

potentially on the seams and surface of the FRP. 
iii. There are no exposed fasteners that could cause injury to animals.  
iv. Maintenance free other than washing.  

6. The ceiling system we have included in the back of house is scrubbable and can be sanitized enhancing the 
lifespan and reducing the risk of mildew, mold and bacteria. 

7. Our back of house area is clean room capable.  
8. The doors we have proposed are commercial grade, which include hollow metal frames, solid core doors and 

commercial hardware. Which in comparison to the prehung residential style products you may see from 
others provide the standard of quality you are accustomed to.  

9. Our flooring types were selected on the criteria of “best environmental use”, not on what is the most 
affordable.  

 
We understand that the county will be comparing our approach, and we want to stand out as the company who 
understands what is required to produce a building that should last 75 years with minimal maintenance. Our 
product will be a worker friendly environment, a place the public will embrace and enjoy visiting all while creating a 
place with minimal maintenance requirements within your budget.  
 
Below is a snippet of our building showing each area and identifying what floor and wall assemblies have been 
planned. 
  

177



 
General Project Approach 
 
While some construction firms want nothing to do with a project before it is completely designed and documented, 
PJ Hoerr believes we offer additional value by being involved in early preparatory design, planning, and cost 
estimating for any construction project.  Our firm includes engineers, architects, and builders who are skilled at 
partnering with our design team in making important decisions early in the process.  We also believe that every 
activity should have a schedule.  Time is money and our ability to schedule preconstruction activities can help to 
reduce overall preconstruction time as well as construction durations. Our Design-Build delivery is what we do best.  
 
As the leader of the preconstruction team, our personnel would lead all design meetings.  In addition, we would 
immediately develop a conceptual design, detailed budget and then update that budget as decisions are made and 
the design is refined.  We would also develop a preliminary project schedule including design and preconstruction 
services.  Since we are very concerned about a building’s weather tightness and energy consumption, we will also 
review proposed construction details for state-of-the-art construction methods.  All these activities could culminate 
in the development of a guaranteed maximum price (GMP) proposal for the Owner’s review.  If the cost of the project 
is still in need of trimming, then value engineering options will be developed to reduce costs without sacrificing the 
uses and purpose of the facility.  If accepted, construction of the project can begin on a fast-track basis even though 
all the final construction documents are not complete.  
 
During the construction of the project, our team will hold frequent planning and scheduling meetings with the 
subcontractors on the project and hold monthly (at least) update meetings with the Owners and Designers. Our team 
will also work on a day-to-day basis with the Architect to review the work as it progresses and develop solutions to 
the various issues that will arise. 
 
In the following pages, please see the myriad of tasks we will perform during each phase of the project that are 
imperative to properly manage schedule, budget, and quality. 
 
 
 
 

178



Scope of Services – Pre-Construction Services and Deliverables 
 

• Meet with the Design Team and Owner to understand their initial view of the project, the challenges 
expected, and our initial design strategy.  
 

• Deliberation of the site location utilizing our experienced design and construction team: 
o Discuss Advantages of each location 
o Discuss disadvantages of each location 
o Select a site location for the new building 

 
• Develop a conceptual design, conceptual budget and conceptual schedule for the project based on the initial 

information available.  
 

• Provide the preliminary plans: 
o Advise on materials 
o Advise on constructability 
o Advise on details, especially for building envelope 

 
• Provide standard process design documents for Owner review: 

o Conceptual Design Documents 
o Schematic Design Documents 
o Design Documents 
o Permit Documents 
o For Construction Documents 

 
• Collaborate with the Owner to plan all construction phase items including: 

o Construction sequencing 
o Staging and material storage 
o Contractor parking 

 
• Based on the Owner’s request and mutual agreement on project status, develop a Guaranteed Maximum 

Design Build Price. 
 

• Develop a detailed Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) participation plan. (If required) 
o Confirm and establish percentage goals in each category. 
o Locate and contact all prospective DBE firms. 
o Determine any needs the DBE firms may have and develop solutions. 
o Ensure the DBE firms have equal opportunity. 

 
• Perform a detailed building envelope review 

o Complete a multi-page checklist of envelope details and systems 
▪ Masonry details and flashings   
▪ Air/moisture barrier 
▪ Joints 
▪ Window details 
▪ Roofing 

o Discuss our findings with the designers and make detailed recommendations 
 

• Aid the Owner in obtaining zoning changes, certificates of need, etc. 
 

• Aid the design team in master planning the facility 
o Analyze available and required utilities 
o Investigate the most efficient phasing of the project 

  
• Develop detailed cost estimates at the completion of Conceptualization, Schematic Design, Design 

Development, and Construction Documents.  

179



 
• Perform value engineering analysis as needed:  

o Investigate life cycle costs 
o Investigate alternate materials/systems 
o Investigate the value of upgrades/downgrades 

 
• Finalize construction documents performing budget updates along the way.  

 
• Develop a detailed construction schedule to be used throughout the project. 

 
• Determine long lead items and pre-order if required.  

 
• Perform preliminary layout/surveying. 

 
• Assist the Design Team with any LEED and/or commissioning requirements. 

 
• Attend any required Tazewell County meetings to inform the board of the progress of the design, budget, and 

schedule. 
 
Scope of Services – Bid and Buy 
 

• Work with the Owner to develop a list of proposed bidders with the desired goal of obtaining multiple bids in 
each division with exception of our design build partners. 

 
• Develop work scopes and bid forms for each trade package.  

 
• Advertise project for bids/distribute plans.  

 
• Ensure all potential DBE firms are contacted in the pre-construction phase and participate in the bidding 

activities. 
 

• Plan for and administer pre-bid meetings.  
 

• Answer or coordinate questions during bidding.  
 

• Purchase long lead items as required by evaluation in the pre-construction phase.  
 

• Submit for land use and building permits.  
 

• Receive bids and make a preliminary determination of the lowest responsible bidder.  
 

• Produce a tabulation of all bids and provide to the Owner.  
 

• Hold detailed pre-award meetings with apparent low bidders to determine that work scopes are completely 
covered.  

o Determine their suppliers and any subcontractors 
o Discuss as-bid quantities and any exclusions/clarifications 
o Determine if subcontractors have any concerns with how the project is designed 
o Discuss cleanup expectations 
o Discuss the schedule at length 
o Determine the subcontractor’s proposed on-site personnel and supervision 
o Review safety rules/requirements 
o Confirm requirements are included 

 
• Make written recommendation of award to Owner for each subcontractor 

 

180



• Execute subcontracts and purchase orders for all labor and materials. 
 

• Attend any required Tazewell County meetings to inform the board of the final bid and buy progress.  This will 
also detail the required next steps and approvals needed to proceed. 

 
Scope of Services – Construction/Contract Administration 
 

• Hold pre-construction meetings with the Owner, Design Team, and Subcontractors. 
 

• If part of the project, start Building Information Modeling (BIM) coordination of the mechanical trades. 
 

• Hold LEAN Pull-Planning meetings with the subcontractors to develop detailed Weekly Work Plans. 
 

• Develop monthly schedule updates. 
 

• Develop monthly progress reports for the Owner. 
 

• Coordinate materials testing and inspection services. 
 

• Hold weekly progress meetings with subcontractors. 
 

• Hold progress meetings with the Owner and designers as often as they prefer. 
 

• Maintain logs for all submittals, Architect’s Supplemental Instructions, and Requests for Information. 
 

• Review/process requests for Change Orders. 
 

• Track lien waivers and initiate pay requests. 
 

• Maintain contact with building inspectors and other governing authorities. 
 

• Perform quality control inspections and water testing of the building envelope elements. 
 
• Verify the Authority Having Jurisdiction conformance during construction. 

 
• Monitor and track any DBE requirements. 

 
• Assist the Design team with any LEED and/or commissioning requirements. 

 
• Attend any required Tazewell County meetings to inform the board on the progress of the work and status of 

the budget. 
 
Scope of Services – Close Out 
 

• Assist Owner and Design Team in the preparation and completion of all punch lists. 
•  
• Coordinate/manage/document Owner training.  

 
• Arrange and manage Certificate of Occupancy inspection.  

 
• Work with Design Team to obtain successful inspection and licensing, if required. 

 
• Assist the Owner and Design Team in assembling and submitting all Authority Having Jurisdiction (AHJ) 

required certifications and forms. 
 

181



• Resolve any AHJ related issues that arise from the final inspection. 
 

• Compile Operations and Maintenance Manuals for the facility. 
  

• Develop an emergency contact list for the Owner. 
  

• Compile and submit record drawings to the Design Team and Owner. 
  

• Finalize all lien waivers, complete final payments, and close remaining contracts. 
  

• Communicate with the Owner after move-in to correct any issues or problems. 
 

• Provide all warranties as required.  
 

182



Tab 6 - Additional information

183



PJ Hoerr has been committed to constructing green for many years.  Our team has had multiple in-
dividuals who have been trained on the requirements necessary to complete an Energy Efficient and 
LEED certified project.  Additionally, PJ Hoerr has a licensed architect on staff who holds the LEED Ac-
creditation for Building Design and Construction.  Also, on non-LEED projects, we make it a policy to 
work with owners to develop recycling procedures for construction waste and utilize environmentally 
friendly design practices, among other construction methods to reduce our carbon footprint.

Recent PJ Hoerr LEED Certified Projects and LEED Status

Illinois Central College Workforce Sustainability Center
East Peoria, IL
LEED Silver

Normal Fire Department Headquarters
Normal, IL
LEED Silver

Knox College Whitcomb Art Building
Galesburg, IL
LEED Gold

Knox College Alumni Hall
Galesburg, IL
LEED Gold

Caterpillar PPG MDC
East Peoria, IL
LEED Silver

Roanoke-Benson CUSD #60 High School-Sowers Elementary School
Roanoke, IL
LEED Silver

Princeville High School
Princeville, IL
LEED Silver

Illinois Fire Service Institute
Champaign, IL
LEED Silver

University of Illinois Huff Hall Addition
Champaign, IL
LEED Silver

Energy Efficiencies Implementation
Leadership in Energy and Environmental Design 
(LEED) Experience

184



P.J. Hoerr has made significant investments in training, software, and hardware to provide complete 
Building Information Modeling or Building Information Management (BIM) on our projects.  Our initial 
step, completed in the design phase, is to develop a BIM Execution Plan.  This plan includes a step-
by-step process throughout the project that all contractors are to follow.  This process manages all the 
mechanical, electrical, and plumbing contractors through complete mechanical coordination.  This 
shows potential issues through clash detection and gives clear construction methods due to the 3D 
modeling.  This process will significantly reduce construction time and change orders.

Items included in the BIM Execution Plan
	 1.	 Design Model Use and Requirements
	 2.	 Coordination Process
	 3.	 Coordination Sign-Off
	 4.	 Model Requirements
	 5.	 Software Utilized
	 6.	 File Naming Structure
	 7.	 Coordination Milestones
	 8.	 Coordination Meeting Schedule

PJ Hoerr employs a BIM Manager, who oversees the entire BIM process.  This BIM manager will attend 
early design meetings and provide input to ensure the project is set up to fully utilize the BIM process.

Sampling of Recent BIM Projects

Illinois Central College Workforce Sustainability Center – East Peoria, IL – Project consists of a 2-sto-
ry, 29,000 SF new building that includes hands-on training bays, open work areas, classrooms, and 
offices.  $16 million.  2023

Gibson Area Hospital New MOB – Gibson City, IL – Project consists of a 2-story, 36,000 SF new build-
ing which includes a therapy gym, x-ray suite, exam rooms, and offices.  $11 million. 2022

YMCA – Bloomington – Normal, IL – Project consists of a 2-story, 76,000 SF new building which in-
cludes a full-size gym, track, pools, fitness areas, therapy rooms, and offices.  $23 million. 2021

Buehler Home Southeast Addition – Peoria, IL – Project consists of a 4-story, 35,000 SF addition that 
includes apartments, dining, workout, therapy pool, and a parking garage. $9 million.  2021

Westminster Village Assisted Living – Bloomington, IL – Project consists of a new 3-story, 80,000 SF 
assisted living facility.  $22 Million.  2019.

St. John’s Medial Office Building – Springfield, IL – Project consists of a 4-story 96,000 SF new build-
ing across the street from the existing hospital and connected via a sky bridge over the street to allow 
the hospital to become its tenant.  $16 Million.  2017

Buehler Home Florence Ave Apartments Addition – Peoria, IL – Project consists of a four-story 30,000 
SF addition consisting of a ground-level parking garage, ten apartments, and a penthouse restaurant 
with a rooftop patio. $7 Million.  2017

Building Information Management (BIM) Experience

185



PJ Hoerr uses the following techniques, procedures, and processes to reduce costs on the project:

	 •	 Working directly with Subcontractors, PJ Hoerr will develop multiple cost estimates during 	
		  the design process
	 •	 Develop value engineering alternatives that could reduce costs
	 •	 Develop enthusiasm for the project in the community with an effort to receive the
		  maximum number of bids from quality subcontractors
	 •	 Conduct organized pre-bid meetings to fully explain the project to bidders. This will
	 	 reduce the number of unknowns thereby increasing confidence in the project and 
		  lowering costs
	 •	 Hold detailed pre-award meetings with the apparent low bidder in each work category to 		
		  ensure that scopes are covered, and everyone is on the same page
	 •	 Push the schedule of the project to completion as quickly as possible using LEAN
		  Construction techniques. Time equals money and the quicker the project can be
	 	 constructed, (while maintaining quality) the lower the final cost

Change Order Control

The items listed above also greatly reduce change orders, but in addition, PJ Hoerr recommends the 
following processes to reduce change orders.

	 •	 The LEAN process vastly increases collaboration, increases project knowledge, and
		  lowers the incidence of frivolous change order requests
	 •	 PJ Hoerr will review all change order requests for fairness, accuracy, and costs
	 •	 The best way to reduce change orders is to have a complete and thorough set of plans 		
		  and to hold a detailed scope review process as described above in our “Pre-Award”
		  process

Work Product Examples
 
See attached for sample cost and change order work products showing the following:
	 •	 Cost Comparison (Budget/GMP/Bid) Breakdown
	 •	 Value Engineering / Cost Savings Spreadsheet
	 •	 Contingency Change Order Tracking Spreadsheet

Cost and Change Order Control Processes

186



Da
te

:

Pr
oj

ec
t S

qu
ar

e 
Fo

ot
ag

e:
16

5,
00

0

DI
VI

SI
O

N
TO

TA
L 

C
O

ST
CO

ST
/S

F
%

 O
F 

JO
B

TO
TA

L 
C

O
ST

C
O

ST
/S

F
%

 O
F 

JO
B

TO
TA

L 
C

O
ST

CO
ST

/S
F

%
 O

F 
JO

B
1

G
en

er
al

 R
eq

ui
re

m
en

ts
3,

77
2,

30
5

$ 
   

   
   

  
22

.8
6

$ 
   

   
5.

92
%

3,
89

1,
46

5
$ 

   
   

   
  

23
.5

8
$ 

   
   

5.
43

%
3,

99
8,

36
5

$ 
   

   
   

  
24

.2
3

$ 
   

   
4.

81
%

2
Ex

is
tin

g 
Co

nd
iti

on
s 

(D
em

o 
/ A

ba
te

m
en

t /
 W

el
l)

30
,0

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

0.
18

$ 
   

   
  

0.
05

%
30

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
0.

18
$ 

   
   

  
0.

04
%

30
,0

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

0.
18

$ 
   

   
  

0.
04

%
3

Co
nc

re
te

4,
18

6,
25

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

25
.3

7
$ 

   
   

6.
57

%
4,

18
6,

25
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
25

.3
7

$ 
   

   
5.

84
%

4,
18

6,
25

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

25
.3

7
$ 

   
   

5.
04

%
3

Pr
ec

as
t

4,
13

8,
80

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

25
.0

8
$ 

   
   

6.
50

%
1,

02
2,

85
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
6.

20
$ 

   
   

  
1.

43
%

1,
02

2,
85

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

6.
20

$ 
   

   
  

1.
23

%
4

M
as

on
ry

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

0.
00

%
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
0.

00
%

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

0.
00

%
5

St
ru

ct
ur

al
 &

 M
is

c.
 S

te
el

6,
30

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

38
.1

8
$ 

   
   

9.
89

%
7,

03
8,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
42

.6
5

$ 
   

   
9.

82
%

5,
59

8,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

33
.9

3
$ 

   
   

6.
74

%
6

Ro
ug

h 
C

ar
pe

nt
ry

25
3,

91
8

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

1.
54

$ 
   

   
  

0.
40

%
33

9,
11

8
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
2.

06
$ 

   
   

  
0.

47
%

36
0,

41
8

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

2.
18

$ 
   

   
  

0.
43

%
6

Ti
m

be
r F

ra
m

in
g

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

0.
00

%
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
0.

00
%

4,
61

6,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

27
.9

8
$ 

   
   

5.
55

%
6

Fi
ni

sh
 C

ar
pe

nt
ry

 / 
C

as
ew

or
k

13
0,

62
8

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

0.
79

$ 
   

   
  

0.
21

%
13

0,
62

8
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
0.

79
$ 

   
   

  
0.

18
%

13
0,

62
8

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

0.
79

$ 
   

   
  

0.
16

%
7

M
em

br
an

e 
Ro

of
in

g
4,

20
7,

50
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
25

.5
0

$ 
   

   
6.

61
%

4,
47

4,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

27
.1

2
$ 

   
   

6.
24

%
4,

47
4,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
27

.1
2

$ 
   

   
5.

38
%

7
G

re
en

 R
oo

f
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
0.

00
%

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

0.
00

%
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
0.

00
%

7
Ro

of
 P

av
er

s
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
0.

00
%

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

0.
00

%
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
0.

00
%

7
Ro

of
 S

cr
ee

ni
ng

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

0.
00

%
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
0.

00
%

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

0.
00

%
7

W
at

er
pr

oo
fin

g
11

9,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
0.

72
$ 

   
   

  
0.

19
%

11
9,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

0.
72

$ 
   

   
  

0.
17

%
11

9,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
0.

72
$ 

   
   

  
0.

14
%

7
Ai

r B
ar

rie
r

54
,0

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

0.
33

$ 
   

   
  

0.
08

%
46

2,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
2.

80
$ 

   
   

  
0.

64
%

46
2,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

2.
80

$ 
   

   
  

0.
56

%
7

M
et

al
 P

an
el

s
45

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
2.

73
$ 

   
   

  
0.

71
%

3,
28

4,
85

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

19
.9

1
$ 

   
   

4.
58

%
2,

49
0,

60
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
15

.0
9

$ 
   

   
3.

00
%

7
Fi

re
pr

oo
fin

g
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
0.

00
%

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

0.
00

%
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
0.

00
%

8
Do

or
s,

 F
ra

m
es

, a
nd

 H
ar

dw
ar

e
16

8,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
1.

02
$ 

   
   

  
0.

26
%

16
8,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

1.
02

$ 
   

   
  

0.
23

%
16

8,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
1.

02
$ 

   
   

  
0.

20
%

8
O

ve
rh

ea
d 

Do
or

s
80

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
0.

48
$ 

   
   

  
0.

13
%

80
,0

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

0.
48

$ 
   

   
  

0.
11

%
80

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
0.

48
$ 

   
   

  
0.

10
%

8
G

la
zi

ng
79

9,
40

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
4.

84
$ 

   
   

  
1.

26
%

2,
06

5,
20

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

12
.5

2
$ 

   
   

2.
88

%
3,

93
6,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
23

.8
5

$ 
   

   
4.

74
%

9
Dr

yw
al

l &
 A

co
us

tic
al

1,
35

2,
60

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

8.
20

$ 
   

   
  

2.
12

%
2,

21
1,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
13

.4
0

$ 
   

   
3.

08
%

2,
21

1,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

13
.4

0
$ 

   
   

2.
66

%
9

Pa
in

tin
g

53
5,

90
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

3.
25

$ 
   

   
  

0.
84

%
44

8,
35

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
2.

72
$ 

   
   

  
0.

63
%

60
5,

40
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

3.
67

$ 
   

   
  

0.
73

%
9

Fl
oo

rin
g 

/ P
ol

is
h 

Co
nc

re
te

 / 
Ep

ox
y 

/ T
ile

1,
02

4,
54

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

6.
21

$ 
   

   
  

1.
61

%
1,

06
4,

54
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
6.

45
$ 

   
   

  
1.

49
%

1,
06

4,
54

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

6.
45

$ 
   

   
  

1.
28

%
10

Sp
ec

ia
lti

es
81

,8
10

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
0.

50
$ 

   
   

  
0.

13
%

81
,8

10
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

0.
50

$ 
   

   
  

0.
11

%
81

,8
10

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
0.

50
$ 

   
   

  
0.

10
%

11
Lo

ad
in

g 
Do

ck
 E

qu
ip

m
en

t
12

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
0.

73
$ 

   
   

  
0.

19
%

12
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

0.
73

$ 
   

   
  

0.
17

%
12

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
0.

73
$ 

   
   

  
0.

14
%

12
W

in
do

w
 T

re
at

m
en

t
5,

40
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

  
0.

03
$ 

   
   

  
0.

01
%

55
,0

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

0.
33

$ 
   

   
  

0.
08

%
55

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
0.

33
$ 

   
   

  
0.

07
%

13
En

tr
y 

Ca
no

py
 o

r W
oo

d 
Su

ns
cr

ee
n 

/ R
ai

ns
cr

ee
n

22
2,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

1.
35

$ 
   

   
  

0.
35

%
22

2,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
1.

35
$ 

   
   

  
0.

31
%

1,
71

4,
25

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

10
.3

9
$ 

   
   

2.
06

%
13

Li
vi

ng
 P

la
nt

 "
G

re
en

" 
W

al
l S

ys
te

m
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
0.

00
%

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

0.
00

%
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
0.

00
%

13
Cl

ea
n 

Ro
om

20
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

1.
21

$ 
   

   
  

0.
31

%
20

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
1.

21
$ 

   
   

  
0.

28
%

20
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

1.
21

$ 
   

   
  

0.
24

%
14

El
ev

at
or

s
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
0.

00
%

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

0.
00

%
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
0.

00
%

14
Cr

an
es

60
,0

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

0.
36

$ 
   

   
  

0.
09

%
60

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
0.

36
$ 

   
   

  
0.

08
%

60
,0

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

0.
36

$ 
   

   
  

0.
07

%
21

Fi
re

 S
up

pr
es

si
on

97
5,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

5.
91

$ 
   

   
  

1.
53

%
97

5,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
5.

91
$ 

   
   

  
1.

36
%

97
5,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

5.
91

$ 
   

   
  

1.
17

%
22

Pl
um

bi
ng

2,
92

7,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

17
.7

4
$ 

   
   

4.
60

%
2,

92
7,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
17

.7
4

$ 
   

   
4.

08
%

3,
17

7,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

19
.2

5
$ 

   
   

3.
82

%
23

HV
AC

4,
78

5,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

29
.0

0
$ 

   
   

7.
51

%
6,

10
5,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
37

.0
0

$ 
   

   
8.

52
%

7,
42

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

44
.9

7
$ 

   
   

8.
93

%
26

El
ec

tr
ic

al
8,

08
5,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
49

.0
0

$ 
   

   
12

.6
9%

8,
50

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

51
.5

2
$ 

   
   

11
.8

6%
9,

65
5,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
58

.5
2

$ 
   

   
11

.6
2%

26
Sy

st
em

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

0.
00

%
95

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
5.

76
$ 

   
   

  
1.

33
%

2,
05

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

12
.4

2
$ 

   
   

2.
47

%
31

Ea
rt

hw
or

k
2,

10
0,

40
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
12

.7
3

$ 
   

   
3.

30
%

2,
10

0,
40

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

12
.7

3
$ 

   
   

2.
93

%
2,

10
0,

40
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
12

.7
3

$ 
   

   
2.

53
%

31
So

il 
Im

pr
ov

em
en

t
2,

71
5,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
16

.4
5

$ 
   

   
4.

26
%

2,
71

5,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

16
.4

5
$ 

   
   

3.
79

%
2,

71
5,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
16

.4
5

$ 
   

   
3.

27
%

32
As

ph
al

t P
av

in
g

1,
32

8,
40

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

8.
05

$ 
   

   
  

2.
09

%
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
0.

00
%

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

0.
00

%
32

Si
te

 C
on

cr
et

e
1,

15
9,

05
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
7.

02
$ 

   
   

  
1.

82
%

3,
28

3,
06

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

19
.9

0
$ 

   
   

4.
58

%
3,

28
3,

06
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
19

.9
0

$ 
   

   
3.

95
%

32
Un

it 
an

d 
Pe

rm
ea

bl
e 

Pa
ve

rs
48

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
2.

91
$ 

   
   

  
0.

75
%

48
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

2.
91

$ 
   

   
  

0.
67

%
48

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
2.

91
$ 

   
   

  
0.

58
%

32
Bu

ild
in

g 
W

at
er

 F
ea

tu
re

s 
/ R

ef
le

ct
io

n 
Po

ol
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
0.

00
%

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

0.
00

%
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
0.

00
%

32
La

nd
sc

ap
in

g
1,

16
4,

25
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
7.

06
$ 

   
   

  
1.

83
%

1,
16

4,
25

0
$ 

   
   

   
  

7.
06

$ 
   

   
  

1.
62

%
1,

16
4,

25
0

$ 
   

   
   

  
7.

06
$ 

   
   

  
1.

40
%

32
Irr

ig
at

io
n

50
,0

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

0.
30

$ 
   

   
  

0.
08

%
50

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
0.

30
$ 

   
   

  
0.

07
%

50
,0

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

0.
30

$ 
   

   
  

0.
06

%
32

De
te

nt
io

n 
Po

nd
s

10
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

0.
61

$ 
   

   
  

0.
16

%
10

0,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
0.

61
$ 

   
   

  
0.

14
%

10
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

0.
61

$ 
   

   
  

0.
12

%
32

M
is

ce
lla

ne
ou

s 
Si

te
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
78

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
0.

47
$ 

   
   

  
0.

12
%

78
,0

00
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

0.
47

$ 
   

   
  

0.
11

%
78

,0
00

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
0.

47
$ 

   
   

  
0.

09
%

32
Br

id
ge

s 
- P

ed
es

tr
ia

n 
an

d 
Ve

hi
cu

la
r

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

0.
00

%
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
0.

00
%

48
0,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

2.
91

$ 
   

   
  

0.
58

%
32

St
re

am
 B

an
k 

Re
st

or
at

io
n

16
0,

50
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

0.
97

$ 
   

   
  

0.
25

%
16

0,
50

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
0.

97
$ 

   
   

  
0.

22
%

16
0,

50
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

0.
97

$ 
   

   
  

0.
19

%
33

St
or

m
 S

ew
er

1,
67

1,
12

5
$ 

   
   

   
  

10
.1

3
$ 

   
   

2.
62

%
1,

87
1,

12
5

$ 
   

   
   

  
11

.3
4

$ 
   

   
2.

61
%

1,
77

1,
12

5
$ 

   
   

   
  

10
.7

3
$ 

   
   

2.
13

%
33

Ce
nt

ra
l P

la
nt

 U
til

ity
 C

on
ne

ct
io

ns
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
0.

00
%

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

0.
00

%
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
0.

00
%

33
Sa

ni
ta

ry
 S

ew
er

29
8,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

1.
81

$ 
   

   
  

0.
47

%
29

8,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
1.

81
$ 

   
   

  
0.

42
%

29
8,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

1.
81

$ 
   

   
  

0.
36

%
33

W
at

er
 a

nd
 F

ire
 S

er
vi

ce
54

2,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
3.

28
$ 

   
   

  
0.

85
%

54
2,

00
0

$ 
   

   
   

   
  

3.
28

$ 
   

   
  

0.
76

%
54

2,
00

0
$ 

   
   

   
   

  
3.

28
$ 

   
   

  
0.

65
%

33
Si

te
 G

as
 (M

is
c.

 - 
No

t S
er

vi
ce

)
58

,1
25

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
0.

35
$ 

   
   

  
0.

09
%

58
,1

25
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
 

0.
35

$ 
   

   
  

0.
08

%
58

,1
25

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

 
0.

35
$ 

   
   

  
0.

07
%

De
si

gn
 F

ee
s

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

0.
00

%
-

$ 
   

   
   

   
   

   
   

-
$ 

   
   

   
0.

00
%

-
$ 

   
   

   
   

   
   

   
-

$ 
   

   
   

0.
00

%

Su
bt

ot
al

 (B
ef

or
e 

Co
nt

in
ge

nc
y 

an
d 

Fe
e)

56
,9

68
,9

00
.2

0
$ 

   
 

34
5.

27
$ 

   
 

89
.4

5%
64

,1
11

,5
20

.2
0

$ 
   

 
38

8.
55

$ 
   

 
89

.4
5%

74
,3

41
,5

70
.2

0
$ 

   
 

45
0.

55
$ 

   
 

89
.4

5%

Co
nt

in
ge

nc
y 

7.
50

%
4,

27
2,

66
8

$ 
   

   
   

  
25

.8
9

$ 
   

   
6.

71
%

4,
80

8,
36

4
$ 

   
   

   
  

29
.1

4
$ 

   
   

6.
71

%
5,

57
5,

61
8

$ 
   

   
   

  
33

.7
9

$ 
   

   
6.

71
%

PJ
 H

oe
rr

 F
ee

s 
2,

44
9,

66
3

$ 
   

   
   

  
14

.8
5

$ 
   

   
3.

85
%

2,
75

6,
79

5
$ 

   
   

   
  

16
.7

1
$ 

   
   

3.
85

%
3,

19
6,

68
8

$ 
   

   
   

  
19

.3
7

$ 
   

   
3.

85
%

63
,6

91
,2

30
$ 

   
38

6.
01

$ 
   

 
10

0.
00

%
71

,6
76

,6
80

$ 
   

43
4.

40
$ 

   
 

10
0.

00
%

83
,1

13
,8

75
$ 

   
50

3.
72

$ 
   

 
10

0.
00

%

DE
SC

RI
PT

IO
N

PR
O

JE
C

T 
TO

TA
L

Ke
rin

g-
M

au
i J

im
 N

ew
 F

ac
ili

ty
50

%
 S

D
 B

ud
ge

t P
ha

se
 1

 S
um

m
ar

y 
Co

m
pa

ris
on

Ju
ne

 2
7,

 2
02

3

Go
od

 O
pt

io
n

Be
tt

er
 O

pt
io

n
Be

st
 O

pt
io

n

187



New Medical Office Building
Perry Memorial Hospital

August 16, 2019

VE / Cost Saving Options - Final

Item Description Proposed Change Accepted Amount

G1
Delete entire folding panel partition system (not approved based on 
approval of G3) (25,384.00)$            -$                          

G2

Delete folding panel partition only (structural and soffit remain in 
contract for future installation) (not approved based on approval of 
G3) (15,388.00)$            -$                          

G3
Delete folding panel partition system alternate.  Add new metal stud 
wall with double door between Break and Conference. (approved) (18,000.00)$            (20,159.00)$            

G4
Revise type of Acoustical Ceiling Tile to lesser sound rating.  Finish to 
be similar, insulated walls to deck remain. (approved) (4,744.00)$              (4,744.00)$              

G5
Change to Level 4 finish in lieu of Level 5 except hallway, entry 
(approved) (3,000.00)$              (3,000.00)$              

P1 Revise SK-1 to a 22 gauge stainless sink in liue of 18 ga (approved) (3,200.00)$              (3,200.00)$              
P2 Eliminate mixing valves at stainless sinks (approved) (1,000.00)$              (1,000.00)$              

P3
Eliminate hot water circulating line. Connect ends of hot water loop 
to maintain circulation around the facility at all times. (approved) (7,000.00)$              (7,000.00)$              

H1
Delete control system connection to hospital BAS (not approved 
based on approval of H6) (7,020.00)$              -$                          

H2 Delete hail guards on 7 RTUs (not approved) (1,666.00)$              -$                          
H3 Delete 5 year factory labor warranty on 7 RTUs (approved) (3,500.00)$              (3,500.00)$              

H4
Delete interlock of 4 exhaust fans to RTUs. Install line voltage time 
clocks above ceiling below each fan (approved) (1,071.00)$              (1,071.00)$              

H5

Delete the Trane roof top HVAC unit, wireless thermostats, and 
wireless BACnet interface. 
Replace with either Carrier or York roof top HVAC units.  Install 
standard electromechanical thermostats.  (not approved based on 
approval of H6) (50,115.00)$            -$                          

H6

Delete the Trane roof top HVAC unit and wireless thermostats.
Replace with either Carrier or York roof top HVAC units.
Install Schneider communicating, BACnet thermostats, one each for 
the 7 roof top HVAC units.  Connect these thermostats to the 
hospitals existing FMCS.  Viewable points will be unit status, space 
temperature, and duct smoke detector alarm status. (approved) (30,186.00)$            (30,186.00)$            

General Items

Plumbing

HVAC

SAMPLE VALUE ENGINEERING /
COST SAVINGS SUMMARY

188



E1
Relocate utility transformer closer to building in landscaped area 
(approved) (11,474.00)$            (11,474.00)$            

E2 Delete conduit(s) between MOB and Hospital (approved) (35,797.00)$            (35,797.00)$            
E3 Delete fiber optic line between MOB and Hospital (approved) (5,200.00)$              (5,200.00)$              

E4
Delete fire alarm network connection to Hospital (PMH will need to 
contract with 3rd party monitoring service) (approved) (4,061.00)$              (4,061.00)$              

E5
Delete fire alarm additional point capacity for future growth 
(approved) (1,882.00)$              (1,882.00)$              

E6
Delete requirement for spare parts and additional materials called 
for in specifications (approved) (3,693.00)$              (3,693.00)$              

E7 Delete video security system in its entirity (not approved) (13,385.00)$            -$                          
E8 Delete access control system in its entirity (approved) (32,829.00)$            (32,829.00)$            

E9

Delete all 10 card access openings in their entirity. 4 openings to 
include Trilogy type push button lock, the other 6 openings will be 
standard keyed locks. (approved) (4,000.00)$              (4,945.00)$              

(173,741.00)$          

Potential Additional Items
Add (3) 1-1/4" innerduct bundle in 4" conduit between MOB and 
Hospital (not approved) 4,900.00$                -$                          
Add 4" conduit between telephone pole and MOB for phone line, this 
is required if conduit between MOB and hospital is removed. 
(approved) 6,383.00$                6,383.00$                
Add copper connection between MOB and Hospital.  Pulled in new 
innerduct. (assume 10 pair) (not approved) 5,000.00$                -$                          

Additional Items Discovered to Date

Concrete discovered in street at water line connection (approved) 2,500.00$                2,980.00$                
Foundation discovered at canopy excavation (approved) 1,500.00$                1,376.00$                
Finish changes (No cost change) (approved) -$                          -$                          

(163,002.00)$          
(8,150.10)$              

(171,152.10)$          
(3,423.04)$              

(174,575.14)$          

4,691,465.00$        
(174,575.14)$          

4,516,889.86$        

Total Change to Bid Amount based on VE and Additional Items
Fee Savings (5% of total)
Total Saving including Fee
Contingency Savings (2% of total)

Electrical

Total Accepted Credit to Project

Total Savings to Project (Including Fee and Contingency)

Original Bid Amount
Total Savings to Project (Including Fee and Contingency)
Updated GMP Amount

VE / Cost Saving Overall Summary

189



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
        RE:  Mindy L. Darcy, CPA 

  Tazewell County Finance Director / 
  Assistant County Administrator 
  11 South Fourth Street, Suite #120 
  Pekin, IL 61554 

 
 

WARRANTY 
 
 
 

In accordance with our Construction Documents, we herewith guarantee all work on the above 
captioned project against defective material, equipment, or workmanship for a period of one (1) 
year beginning January 1st, 2025. 
 
Should any defects develop in the materials or workmanship within the specified period, upon 
notice from the Owner, the Contractor agrees within five (5) days after receiving written notice and 
without expense to the Owner, to repair, replace, and in general to perform all necessary corrective 
work with regard to the defective or nonconforming work or materials to the satisfaction of the 
Owner.  The foregoing shall not in any manner limit the Owner’s remedy to the Contractor’s 
liability to those defects appearing within the guaranteed period.  The Contractor agrees to perform 
the work in a manner and at a time as to minimize any damage sustained by the Owner and so as to 
not interfere with or in any way disrupt the operations of the Owner. 
 
Any defect or damage due to improper use or neglect on the part of the Owner shall be at the 
Owner’s expense. 
 
 
Sincerely, 
P.J. Hoerr, Inc. 
 
 
 
Matthew Brown 
Senior Project Manager 
 
 

190



Tab 7 - Pricing and Required Documents

191



BID FORM 

Execution of this form certifies understanding and 
compliance with the total bid package and any addenda. 

A. Fixed Fee for Complete Design-Build of the Animal Control Facility:

________________________________________________________________dollars 

($_____________________________) 

B. Proposal Submitted By:

Company Name: ______________________________________________ 

Authorized Agent Name & Title:

______________________________________________ 

Contact Person: ______________________________________________ 

City, State Zip Code: ______________________________________________ 

Daytime Telephone: ______________________________________________ 

Email: ______________________________________________ 

Addenda Received:  ______   ______   ______   ______   ______   ______   

Signature of Authorized Agent Date

PJ HOERR INC

JOHN SUTHERLAND : EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT

JOHN SUTHERLAND

107 N COMMERCE PLACE PEORIA IL 61604

309 678 9567

john@pjhoerr.com

1 2 3 4 5

3/14/25

2/13 2/26 2/26 3/02 3/10

WOOD FRAMED BUILDING OPTION

Three million four hundred seventy one thousand three hundred and seven

3,471,307.00

192



BID FORM 

Execution of this form certifies understanding and 
compliance with the total bid package and any addenda. 

A. Fixed Fee for Complete Design-Build of the Animal Control Facility:

________________________________________________________________dollars 

($_____________________________) 

B. Proposal Submitted By:

Company Name: ______________________________________________ 

Authorized Agent Name & Title:

______________________________________________ 

Contact Person: ______________________________________________ 

City, State Zip Code: ______________________________________________ 

Daytime Telephone: ______________________________________________ 

Email: ______________________________________________ 

Addenda Received:  ______   ______   ______   ______   ______   ______   

Signature of Authorized Agent Date

PJ HOERR INC

JOHN SUTHERLAND : EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT

JOHN SUTHERLAND

107 N COMMERCE PLACE PEORIA IL 61604

309 678 9567

john@pjhoerr.com

1 2 3 4 5

3/14/25

2/13 2/26 2/26 3/02 3/10

PRE-ENGINEERED METAL BUILDING OPTION

3,489,023

Three million four hundred and eighty nine thousand and twenty three

193

john
Snapshot



Vendor/Contractor: 

Subcontractor name & address:

Scope of work to be completed 
by subcontractor:

Subcontractor name & address:

Scope of work to be completed 
by subcontractor:

Subcontractor name & address:

Scope of work to be completed 
by subcontractor:

Subcontractor name & address:

Scope of work to be completed 
by subcontractor:

Tazewell County
Project #2025-P-02

Design-Build of New Animal Control Building in Tremont, IL
SUBCONTRACTOR LISTING

PJ Hoerr Inc.

The PIPCO Companies
1409 W. Altorfer Dr. 
Peoria, IL 61615

Illini Plumbing, INC
8703-C N. University St. 
Peoria, IL 61615

Montefusco HVAC
2200 W. Altorfer Dr. 
Peoria, IL 61615

Laser Electric
3611 SW Adams St.
Peoria, zil 61605

FIRE SUPRESSION / PROTECTION

PLUMBING

HEATING, VENTILATION & AIR CONDITIONING

ELECTRICAL

194



We the undersigned agree to furnish the listed equipment according to the County’s specifications and 
conditions at the stated prices enclosed in this cost proposal sheet. 
 
 
 
 
 
___________________________________________   ____________________________ 
Company Name                       County  
 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 
Address       
 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 
City      State   Zip 
 
 
______________________________________________________________________________________ 
Phone    Fax    E-mail 
 
 
 
 
___________________________________________  ___________________________________ 
Cash Discount % if any                     Agents Name (print) 
 
 
 
 
__________________________________________  ____________________ 
Signature      Date 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

PJ Hoerr Inc. Peoria

107 N Commerce Place

Peoria Illinois 61604

309.688.9567 309.688.9556 john@pjhoerr.com

John Sutherland

3.12.25

195



Assistant County Administrator / Finance Director 

Re:

1

1

2

3

1

2

1

1

2

3

4

a. 

b. 

c. 

d. 

1

2

OPTION 2: TOTAL - PRE-ENGINEERED METAL BUILDING 3,489,023$                                                     

Solid Surface Transaction top at Reception 

Solid Surface Countertop, Base Cabinets and Upper Cabinets at Breakroom 

Solid Surface Countertop and Base Cabinet at Laundry / Janitorial Storage 

Solid Surface Countertop, Base Cabinets and Upper Cabinets at Vet Room 

Conceptual Budget - Wood Framed 

Casework / Countertops / Lower Cabinets & Upper Cabinets 

Furnish and install Shingled Roofing, Gutters, Downspouts, Soffit and Fascia. 

Furnish and install Metal siding. 

Furnish and install Cast in Place building foundations. 

Furnish and install a 6" Reinforced Slab on Grade for the building. 

For the PEMB Option we will utilize Cast in Place Footings and Piers with a Masonry Foundation Wall. 

Furnish and install 8" Fully Grouted and Reinforced CMU & The Breakroom / Storm Shelter. 

Furnish and install 6" CMU walls in the "Back of house" or Animal areas. 

Carpentry

Thermal & Moisture Protection

Furnish and install in-wall blocking for misc. wall hung items. 

Furnish and install Truss Package, Wood Panelized wall Systems and all associated framing package. 

Furnish and install code required Sheeting, Fire Lid and Attic Draft Stops. 

3.14.25

Tazewell Co. Animal Control Building 

Per your request, below is our Design Build Budget for the above mentioned project.  This budget is based on the conceptual 

RFP package "Design-Build of New Animal Control Building in Tremont, Illinois Project # 2025-P-02" and the 4 issued 

Addendums. Our scope of work and budgetary cost is listed below. 

OPTION 1 : TOTAL - WOOD FRAMED STRUCTURE 3,471,307$                                                     

Mindy Darcy

Tazewell County

11 South Fourth Street Suite 120 

Pekin Illinois 61554

Attn: Mindy & Committee Review Members. 

No work included. 

No work included. 

Demolition

Concrete 

Masonry 

Steel 

196



1

2

3

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

1

2

3

4

5

1

2

a. 

3

a. 

b. 

c. 

d. 

e. 

f. 

1

1

2

1

1

2

3

Furnish and install corner guards on all outside gyps / stud framing corners. 

Furnish and install Chain-link fencing and gates at covered area. 

Furnish and install 3ea grab bars, 1ea toilet paper dispenser and mirror in each restroom. 

Furnish and install 1ea paper towel dispenser and 1ea soap dispenser at each sink location. 

Furnish and install 2ea fire extinguishers and cabinets. 

This proposal includes a $250,000 allowance for purchase and installation of kennels. 

Equipment 

Items Provided by owner @ Installed by contractor. 

Office Furniture, Filing Cabinets, Computer and Printers 

Medical Equipment 

Grooming Tub & Table (Plumbing connections are included in the GC cost of work) 

Washers and Dryers (Plumbing and Electrical connections are included in the GC cost of work) 

Refrigerators, Freezers and Microwaves 

Safe's, Storage, and Shelving 

Openings

Pressure Washer 

Walls in the Office, Lobby and Restrooms will be standard framing with drywall and epoxy paint. 

Furnishings 

Special Construction 

Items Provided and Installed by Owner. 

No work included. 

Wood Framed Option - No Work Included 

PEMB Option - Furnish and install a pre-engineered metal building designed to IBC 2018 with a steel frame, 

standing seam roof, metal wall panels and insulation package. 

Finishes 

Specialties 

Furnish and install LVT flooring in Office, Lobby, Restrooms and Breakroom areas. 

Furnish and install a hardener and densifier on the concrete floor in all other areas. 

All masonry walls will be epoxy painted. 

Furnish and install a complete wet sprinkler (or combination wet / dry for the wood building option) sprinkler 

system per NFPA 13. Including inspections, testing, required draining, hangers, design and calculations. 

Exposed areas will utilize brass uprights. 

Areas with ceilings shall use recessed sprinklers on flexible connections. 

Conveying Equipment 

Fire Suppression

No work included

Commercial grade Hollow Metal Frames and Hollow Metal Doors with a 1/2 lite in the Kennel & Back of House 

Commercial grade Hollow Metal Frames and Solid Wood Core doors in the Office / Lobby area. 

2ea Double door storefront entrances at the vestibule. 

Ceilings will be Acoustical Ceiling Tile Throughout. 

Ceilings in the Animal areas and Vet Room will be Cleanable Ceiling Tile. 

For the PEMB option we will utilize exposed ceilings in the Animal areas. 

197



4

5

1

2

3

a. 

b. 

c. 

d. 

4

5

a. i. 

b. j. 

c. k. 

d. l. 

e. m. 

f. n. 

g. 

h. 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

a. 

b. 

c. 

d. 

e. 

f. 

Furnish and install lighting fixtures, lighting controls and associated branch circuitry. 

Furnish and install general purpose wiring, devices and associated branch circuitry. 

Furnish and install electrical rough-ins for low voltage systems. 

Fire Alarm 

Telephone

HVAC Thermostats (Controls Devices and Installation by HVAC Contractor) 

Security

Access Control 

Data

Furnish and install local means of disconnect, required branch circuity and final connection to all HVAC and 

Plumbing equipment. 

Plumbing 

HVAC 

Electrical 

Gas piping to 1ea Generator 

Gas piping to 1ea Owner Provided Pressure Washer 

Provide and install stand alone controls, humidity sensors and CO2 sensors. 

All waste and vent piping in PVC. 

All water piping in copper. 

Backflow preventer (Installed Tested and Certified) 

Fire Department Connection. 

All gas piping Sch. 40 Black Steel above ground & Flex piping underground. 

Provide and install 3ea ground mounted gas/electric package rooftop units and curbs. Rooftop units serving areas 

Provide and install 1ea ERV unit to provide fresh air and air turnover. 

Provide and install exhaust fans, louvers, and motorized dampers for animal areas. 

Furnish and install 208/120V, 3 Phase 400A Distribution to serve the new facility. 

Furnish and install a 100KW, 208/120V, 3 Phase Diesel Powered Stand by generator and associated transfer switch. 

(Generator sized to backup the entire building load)

Furnish and install site lighting per owners requirements. 

All plumbing piping insulation. 

New plumbing fixtures. 

Provide and install restroom exhaust fans. 

Provide and install all return, supply, outside air, and exhaust ductwork. 

Provide and install takeoffs, pipe and flex ducting with insulation. 

Gas piping to 3ea Owner Provided Dryers. 

3ea ADA Tank Type Toilers 

5ea ADA Wall Hung Lavatories 

12ea Floor Drains 

1ea Floor Sink 

3ea Washer Boxes 

1ea Icemaker 

Provide and install all grilles, registers and diffusers. 

Provide and install water heater and other flue piping. 

3ea Mob Sinks 

1ea Laundry Sink

8ea Drop in Stainless Steel Sinks

3ea Exterior Hose Bibbs

3ea Interior Hose Bibbs 

2ea Instantaneous Water Heaters 

7ea Trench Drains 

1ea 1-1/2" Softener Unit 

Gas piping to 3ea HVAC Units 

198



9

1

2

3

4

5

3

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

Sincerely,

John Sutherland 

Executive Vice President 

P. J. Hoerr, Inc.

This budget assumes that any allowances or contingencies to cover unforseen cost, design changes, or material 

price increases will be held by owner. 

This budget includes our standard General Liability Insurance. (A Sample Copy can be provided upon request) 

Site utilities including gas, water, fire line, storm and sanitary sewer based on the provided existing utilities 

This budget includes allowances for a new small parking area and ring road. 

Seeding and final grading are included. Watering and establishing maintenance is assumes to be by owner. 

All agreements are contingent upon strikes, accidents or delays beyond our control. 

No sales tax is included. 

No LEED certifications, requirements or costs are included. 

No landscape beds, plantings or irrigation cots are included. 

Assumes all soils are suitable. (No undercutting, soil stabilization or soil amendments are included) 

Assumes no existing utilities will need to be reworked, relocated or upsized in order to accommodate the new 

Assumes data and communications work is rough-in only, devices, final terminations and testing are by owner. 

No winter conditions are included. 

No material testing fees are included. Assumes 3rd party testing will be contracted by owner. 

Assumes the owner will provide adequate space for construction material storage, equipment & parking. 

This pricing is subject to market driven price increases. 

Ameren Electrical Service to Site by Owner. We will come from the transformer set by Ameren into the new 

Assumes free use of power, water and gas provided by the owner. 

Due to normal construction operations, damage or excessive wear may occur to existing adjacent roadways. No 

cost has been included to repair this damage or replace the pavement. 

Utility service / tap fees by Owner. 

No Overtime / Shiftwork / Premium Time / Holidays is included. All work shall be first shift, Monday - Friday.

No Building Permits / Inspection Fees are included.

All network / IT / Security connections are Rough-In only. Devices and connections are by owner. 

This budget includes a Payment & Performance Bond.

No bid bond or builder's risk insurance is included. (Can be provided upon request)  

No Removal, testing, inspections or disposal of any hazardous materials is included. 

Sitework 

Exclusions & Clarifications

Site striping and clearing of organic materials. 

Mass earthwork to establish rough grade, building pad elevation, parking area and ring road. 

Chain link enclosure with standard gate around the perimeter of the back "Covered Area" 

If you have any questions about the above information do not hesitate to contact our office.

This budget assumes that the Storm Shelter does not require FEMA rated door or hardware. 

199



Cost Breakdown Date: Date:

Square Footage: 9,300          Square Footage: 9,300       

DIVISION TOTAL COST COST/SF % OF JOB TOTAL COST COST/SF % OF JOB

1 213,183.33$                       22.92$         6.14% 213,183.33$                        22.92$     6.11%

2 -$                                    -$             0.00% -$                                    -$         0.00%

3 186,185.00$                       20.02$         5.36% 224,746.25$                        24.17$     6.44%

4 83,100.00$                         8.94$           2.39% 148,200.00$                        15.94$     4.25%

5 -$                                    -$             0.00% -$                                    -$         0.00%

6 173,710.00$                       18.68$         5.00% 28,910.00$                         3.11$       0.83%

7 148,460.00$                       15.96$         4.28% -$                                    -$         0.00%

8 140,430.00$                       15.10$         4.05% 134,130.00$                        14.42$     3.84%

9 248,436.00$                       26.71$         7.16% 192,551.00$                        20.70$     5.52%

10 8,710.00$                           0.94$           0.25% 8,710.00$                           0.94$       0.25%

11 250,000.00$                       26.88$         7.20% 250,000.00$                        26.88$     7.17%

12 -$                                    -$             0.00% -$                                    -$         0.00%

13 -$                                    -$             0.00% 328,690.70$                        35.34$     9.42%

14 -$                                    -$             0.00% -$                                    -$         0.00%

21 125,000.00$                       13.44$         3.60% 80,000.00$                         8.60$       2.29%

22 292,000.00$                       31.40$         8.41% 292,000.00$                        31.40$     8.37%

23 303,000.01$                       32.58$         8.73% 303,000.00$                        32.58$     8.68%

26 448,650.00$                       48.24$         12.92% 448,650.00$                        48.24$     12.86%

31 142,500.00$                       15.32$         4.11% 142,500.00$                        15.32$     4.08%

32 155,392.29$                       16.71$         4.48% 155,392.29$                        16.71$     4.45%

33 180,375.00$                       19.40$         5.20% 180,375.00$                        19.40$     5.17%

213,500.00$                       22.96$         6.15% 198,500.00$                        21.34$     5.69%

-$                                    -$             0.00% -$                                    -$         0.00%

3,312,631.63$                    356.20$       95.43% 3,329,538.57$                     358.01$    95.43%

Contingency 0.00% -$                                    -$             0.00% -$                                    -$         0.00%

PJ Hoerr Fees 4.70% 155,693.69$                       16.74$         4.49% 156,488.31$                        16.83$     4.49%

Software Costs 0.09% 2,981.37$                           0.32$           0.09% 2,996.58$                           0.32$       0.09%

3,471,307$                  373.26$       100.00% 3,489,023$                  375.16$    100.00%

ALTERNATES QNTY / UNIT ADD VS DEDUCT COST

ALT Epoxy Flooring 6450 SF Add 13,000.00$                         

ALT Relocate Portable Building 1 EA Add 6,500.00$                           

ALT Counter & Cabinetry Shown on Floor Plan Sketches 41 LF Add 32,000.00$                         

ALT Solid Surface Countertops in Lieu of Plastic Laminate 1 LS Add 7,800.00$                           

ALT FRP Walls in Lieu of Masonry 1 LS Add 17,000.00$                         

ALT Operated Gate on Fenced in Covered Area 1 EA 16'W x 10'H Add 12,100.00$                         

ALT Chainlink Dog Kennels Along Building. 1 LS Add $45,000.00

ALT Builders Risk Insurace 1 LS WOOD Add 7,875.00$                           

ALT Builders Risk Insurace 1 LS PEMB Add 2,625.00$                           

ALT BAS HVAC Controls 1 LS Add 43,000$                              

ALT Heating & Cooling Makeup Air Unit 1 LS Add 18,000$                              

3.14.253.14.25

DESCRIPTION

Conceptual Budget - Wood Framed Conceptual Budget - PreEngineered Metal Building 

Tazewell Co. Animal Control Building 

Rough and Finish Carpentry

Envelope (Roofing, Siding, Insulation)

Openings (Doors & Glazing)

Finishes (Drywall, Ceilings, Flooring, Paint)

General Requirements

Demolition / Existing Conditions

Concrete

Masonry

Structural & Misc. Steel

Specialties

Equipment

Furnishings

Special Construction / Metal Building

Elevator

PROJECT TOTAL

Subtotal (Before Contingency and Fee)

Fire Suppression

Plumbing

HVAC

Electrical / Communications / Security

Premium Time Allowance

Sitework & Earthwork

Paving & Exterior Improvements

Utilities

Design Fees

Labor Rates Current thru May 2025

200



ID
Ta

sk
 N

am
e

D
ur

at
io

n
St

ar
t

Fi
ni

sh

1
De

sig
n 

Bu
ild

 A
ni

m
al

 S
he

lte
r -

 
Ta

ze
w

el
l C

ou
nt

y
21

5 
da

ys
Fr

i 3
/1

4/
25

Th
u 

1/
8/

26

2
RF

P 
Pr

op
os

al
 P

ro
vi

de
d

1 
da

y
Fr

i 3
/1

4/
25

Fr
i 3

/1
4/

25

3
In

te
rv

ie
w

s
1 

da
y

Tu
e 

3/
25

/2
5

Tu
e 

3/
25

/2
5

4
Pr

oj
ec

t A
w

ar
d

1 
da

y
W

ed
 4

/3
0/

25
W

ed
 4

/3
0/

25

5
Co

nc
ep

tu
al

 D
es

ig
n

10
 d

ay
s

Th
u 

5/
1/

25
W

ed
 5

/1
4/

25

6
Sc

he
m

at
ic 

De
sig

n
10

 d
ay

s
Th

u 
5/

15
/2

5
W

ed
 5

/2
8/

25

7
De

sig
n 

Do
cu

m
en

ts
20

 d
ay

s
Th

u 
5/

29
/2

5
W

ed
 6

/2
5/

25

8
Pe

rm
it/

Co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

Do
cu

m
en

ts
10

 d
ay

s
Th

u 
6/

26
/2

5
W

ed
 7

/9
/2

5

9
Su

bm
it 

Pe
rm

it 
Ci

ty
 o

f P
ek

in
20

 d
ay

s
Th

u 
7/

10
/2

5
W

ed
 8

/6
/2

5

10
Co

ns
tr

uc
tio

n 
Ph

as
e

11
0 

da
ys

Th
u 

8/
7/

25
W

ed
 1

/7
/2

6

11
Pr

oj
ec

t C
om

pl
et

io
n

1 
da

y
Th

u 
1/

8/
26

Th
u 

1/
8/

26

3/
14

3/
25

4/
30

1/
8

23
2

9
16

23
30

6
13

20
27

4
11

18
25

1
8

15
22

29
6

13
20

27
3

10
17

24
31

7
14

21
28

5
12

19
26

2
9

16
23

30
7

14
21

28
4

11
18

M
ar

 '2
5

Ap
r '

25
M

ay
 '2

5
Ju

n 
'2

5
Ju

l '
25

Au
g 

'2
5

Se
p 

'2
5

O
ct

 '2
5

N
ov

 '2
5

D
ec

 '2
5

Ja
n 

'2
6

Ta
sk

Sp
lit

M
ile

st
on

e

Su
m

m
ar

y

Pr
oj

ec
t S

um
m

ar
y

In
ac

tiv
e 

Ta
sk

In
ac

tiv
e 

M
ile

st
on

e

In
ac

tiv
e 

Su
m

m
ar

y

M
an

ua
l T

as
k

D
ur

at
io

n-
on

ly

M
an

ua
l S

um
m

ar
y 

Ro
llu

p

M
an

ua
l S

um
m

ar
y

St
ar

t-
on

ly

Fi
ni

sh
-o

nl
y

Ex
te

rn
al

 T
as

ks

Ex
te

rn
al

 M
ile

st
on

e

D
ea

dl
in

e

Pr
og

re
ss

M
an

ua
l P

ro
gr

es
s

Pa
ge

 1

Pr
oj

ec
t: 

An
im

al
 S

he
lte

r M
ile

st
on

e 
Sc

he
du

le
Da

te
: W

ed
 3

/1
2/

25

201



202



 107 N COMMERCE PL. 
PEORIA, IL 61604

203



 107 N COMMERCE PL. 
PEORIA, IL 61604

PJHOERR.COM
309.688.9567

204



 COMMITTEE REPORT   F-25-14 
 
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Finance Committee has considered the following RESOLUTION and recommends 
that it be adopted by the Board: 
 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 

R E S O L U T I O N 
 

WHEREAS, Tazewell County’s Fiscal Management Policies state that: 
 

The County Board will establish and maintain user fees for services and programs 
which benefit a specific user more than the general public. The amounts of such 
fees are determined by statute or by a cost study. At a minimum, cost studies  
should be completed at once every four years. Fees shall be reviewed annually with 
recommended changes presented to the appropriate standing committee and the 
Finance Committee. Where practicable, fees for licenses, permits, fines and other 
charges shall be set at rates to recover the County's expenses in providing the 
related program or service.  

 
WHEREAS, 55 ILCS 5/4-5001 provides that the statutory County Sheriff fees may be 
increased by the County Board if “the increase is justified by an acceptable cost study 
showing that the fees allowed by this Section are not sufficient to cover the costs of 
providing the services”; and 
 
WHEREAS, the last increase in some of the Sheriff’s Office fees occurred prior to 2013; and 
 
WHEREAS, the County Board approved an agreement with Bellwether, LLC to conduct a 
cost study of the Sheriff’s fees at the October 30, 2024 meeting with resolution F-24-33; 
and  
 
WHEREAS, 55 ILCS 5/4-5001 requires a statement of the costs of providing each service, 
program, and activity be prepared and be part of the public record; and 
 
WHEREAS, 730 ILCS 125/17 provides that the Sheriff may seek reimbursement for medical 
treatment costs; and 
 
WHEREAS, a statement of cost (attached hereto and made a part hereof) and cost analysis 
by Bellwether, LLC has been prepared; and 
 
WHEREAS, Attachment A lists the updated fees based on the cost study. 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the County Board approve the updated fees 
provided in Attachment A effective June 1, 2025. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notifies the County Board Office, 
Finance, and the Sheriff of this action.  
 

205



PASSED THIS 30th DAY OF APRIL, 2025. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________  ________________________________ 
Tazewell County Clerk    Tazewell County Board Chairman 
 
 

206



ATTACHEMENT A - SHERIFF'S OFFICE FEES

FEE DESCRIPTION
 CURRENT 

FEE 
 TOTAL 
COSTS 

 NEW        
FEE 

Serving Fees (general category, up to three attempts)  $       19.50  $       61.53  $       60.00 
Each additional person served  $       19.50  $       14.70  $       14.00 
For returning each process, in each county  -  $       15.82  $       15.00 
Mileage for each mile of necessary travel to serve any such process as Stated 
above, calculating from the place of holding court to the place of residence 
of the defendant, or witness,

 $0.50 x 
miles 

 $0.50 x 
miles 

 $0.50 x 
miles 

For serving or attempting to serve an order or judgment for the possession 
of real estate in an action of ejectment or in any other action, or for 
restitution in an action of forcible entry and detainer without aid,  and when 
aid is necessary, the sheriff shall be allowed to tax in addition the actual 
costs thereof, and for each mile of necessary travel

 $       19.50  $    170.70  $    170.00 

For attending before a court with a prisoner in any criminal proceeding, in 
each county,  per day.

 $             -    $       63.04  $       60.00 

Fingerprinting (requests from outside of the department)  $       25.00  $       39.38  $       35.00 
Eviction Stand By  $       19.50  $    116.58  $    115.00 
Over Night Fees  $       48.00  $       63.04  $       60.00 
Corrections fee for attending sick call on premises  $       10.00  $       21.01  $       20.00 
Corrections fee for transport to medical / dental off premises  $       25.00  $       42.02  $       40.00 

207



3 ATTEMPTS OF SERVICE FOR 1 PERSON 
ADDITIONAL PERSON AT SAME ADDRESS IS ADDITIONAL   $14.00 

AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE   $15.00 

 

CITY    CHARGE ($60) MILES ($0.50)  W/AFFIDAVIT ($15) 

ARMINGTON   $93.00   66   $108.00 

CREVE COEUR  $68.00   16   $  83.00 

DEER CREEK   $85.00   50   $100.00 

DELAVAN   $80.00   40   $  95.00 

EAST PEORIA   $70.00   20   $  85.00 

GREEN VALLEY  $72.00   24   $  87.00 

GROVELAND   $67.00   14   $  82.00 

HOPEDALE   $83.00   46   $  98.00 

MACKINAW   $85.00   50   $100.00 

MANITO   $78.00   36   $  93.00 

MARQUETTE HEIGHTS $66.00   12   $  81.00 

MINIER   $87.00   54   $102.00 

MORTON   $74.00   28   $  89.00 

NORTH PEKIN  $65.00   10   $  80.00 

PEKIN    $61.00   2   $  76.00 

SOUTH PEKIN  $65.00   10   $  80.00 

TREMONT   $70.00   20   $  85.00 

WASHINGTON  $85.00   50   $100.00 

 

 

 

 

208



 

SERVICE FEES 

The following counties have responded with the following information concerning their 
service fees. Kendall Co. is the closest in population to Tazewell Co. (approx. 131,000) 

DeWitt  $60 plus $.50 mileage 

Iroquois $41 plus $.50 mileage 

Kankakee $55-$105 (based on mileage)  Last cost study 5/17 
$15 additional for more than 1 person at same address 

 
Kendall $82-$87 (based on mileage)  Last cost study 12/20 
  $70 additional person served at same address  

Requires self-addressed stamped envelope and copies to be provided  
$65 counter service 

Lake  $59-$158 (based on mileage)  Last cost study 12/17 
Only 1 attempt for 1 person 
$15 additional person served at same address 
 

Livingston $55 plus $1 mileage 

Logan  $42 plus $1 mileage 

McLean $50 plus $0.50 mileage 
  $14 return of service 

Macon  $35 plus $1 mileage 

Randolph $53 plus $1 mileage 

Richland $32 plus $1 mileage 

Rock Island $45-$68 (based on mileage)  Last cost study 2/10 

St. Clair $42 

Wabash $38 plus $1 mileage 

We are asking to raise our $19.50 plus $0.50 mileage to $60 plus $0.50 per mile for up to 3 
attempts of service of 1 person at 1 location. An additional person to be served at the 
same location is an additional $14 plus $0.50 per mile. Affidavit of service will be an 
additional $15. If service is not successful within 3 attempts, an additional fee of $60 plus 
$0.50 per mile will be charged.  

209



EVICTION/STAND-BY FEES 

 

The following counties have responded with the following information concerning their 
eviction/stand-by fees. Kendall Co. is the closest in population to Tazewell Co. (2pprox.. 
131,000) 

DeWitt  $25 (no property), $180 
 
Kankakee $96-$146 (based on mileage) 
  $86 per hr. per deputy 
 
Kendall $285 
 
Lake  $145-$228 (based on mileage) 
  $109 rescheduling fee 
 
Livingston $59 
 
Macon  $50 
 
McLean $175 
 
Rock Island $41.94 
 
St. Clair $70 serve eviction 
  $80 stand by  
 
 
We are asking to raise our $19.50 plus $0.50 mileage to $115 plus $0.50 mileage. These 
evictions/stand-by events can require up to an hour of a deputy’s time. On occasions, 2 
deputies must be present. If this is requested and is not related to a criminal act 
occurring during the eviction, additional $115 plus $0.50 mileage will be charged. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

210



SEX OFFENDER REGISTRATION/RENEWAL FEE 

 

Sex Offender Registration fee and annual renewal fee of $100 will be enforced. CID 
Secretary will collect the fees and turn them over to the Administrative Assistant, who will 
deposit the funds with the Treasurer’s Office. $35 goes to the County and $65 is sent to 
the State. Conversations as to specifics are to be determined between the Administrative 
Assistant and Treasurer. This will allow funds to be distributed properly. If a person is 
unable to pay due to being homeless, receiving only social security disability, or other 
extreme financial situation, a waiver may be completed. If a person cannot pay the full 
$100 at the time of registration/renewal, payments may be made ($10 a month).  

Most counties responded that they do collect this fee. Many have offenders who pay the 
total overtime. Financial affidavits and/or waivers are commonly used and approved by 
either the Sheriff, Chief Deputy, or Chief Clerk. I would propose that guidelines be set up, 
and the CID secretary can determine eligibility based on those.  If a waiver is granted, it 
only applies to that particular year. A new waiver must be submitted each year. 

 

 

WEEKENDER FEES 

 

Those sentenced to serve weekends in jail so they can retain their employment during the 
week have been paying $48. This is to cover the expense of housing and food for the 
individual. Check-in is on Friday evening and check-out is on Sunday morning. Therefore, 
their stay is for 2 nights and 4 meals. This fee will be increased to $60 to cover the 
increased expenses of meals and services. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

211



ATTENDING COURT WITH DETAINEE 

ATTENDING SICK CALL ON PREMISES 

TRANSPORT TO MEDICAL/DENTAL 

 

Statute allows a fee to be charged when a Correctional Officer attends court with a 
detainee. We do not charge a current fee, but it is estimated to cost approximately $60. This 
charge would be deducted from the detainee’s funds at the time of discharge.  

Currently, we charge $10 for a sick call in jail and $25 for transport to a medical/dental 
office. It is estimated that the fee for sick calls in the jail costs approximately $20 and 
transport to a medical/dental office costs $40. 

 

OVERVIEW 

 

There were 15 potential fee changes presented to us by Bellwether. Service-related fees 
made up 5 of those fee changes. Jail-related fees made up another 5 charges, with 2 fees 
never being charged by our department in the past. The sex offender registration fee is not 
changing; however, we have not been enforcing the fee as we are allowed to. Bail/bond-
related fees are not applicable due to the new laws, and home detention fees are handled 
by probation. 

These fee changes do not affect the Sheriff’s Office accounts since the revenue goes to the 
general fund. Rather than having taxpayers pay for the missing funds to perform these 
services, it should fall onto those individuals utilizing the services. The Sheriff’s Office has 
not raised fees since the study in 2004. A cost study was completed in 2013, but no 
adjustments to fees were made. It has been approximately 20 years of the same fees for 
services that cost up to triple the fee.  

 

 

 

 

 

212



 

 

 

 

 

MISC. FEES 

 

Fingerprinting fees are set at $25, yet we are charged $28.25 by the State (BOI). Therefore, 
we are losing money providing this service. By increasing the fee to $35, the State can 
collect its portion of $28.25, and the remaining $6.75 can go towards the cost of 
maintaining the LiveScan printer. This would include toner and cleaning sheets for the 
device. 

 

213



 

 
 

Government Performance Services 
Cost of Services 

Tazewell County, Illinois 

Sheriff / Jail Fees  
 
 
 

February 2025 
 
  

214



The Tazewell County Sheriff's Department engaged Bellwether LLC to complete a review of existing and potential new fees 

authorized by Illinois State Statute.  We used data and comments provided by staff to develop models of staff effort and time spent.   

The following fees were reviewed as part of this project: 

Process Service / Civil Standby / Sheriff Sale Jail / Inmate Fees 

• Serving Summons / Garnishment / Subpoena / Attachment / Summons • Taking Bail (Bond Fee) 

• Serving Judgment / injunction / Levy • Escort Inmate to medical / dental outside of jail 

• Serving Replevin • Attending court with prisoner (any proceeding) 

• Serving Warrant • Inmate Nurse Visit (per request) 

• Returning each process • Inmate in Jail Doctor Visit (per request) 

• Removing property 

• Eviction Standby 

• Sex Offender Registration 

• Fingerprinting  
 
Fees are defined by state laws and county ordinances.  County governments may charter cost studies to review the appropriateness of these 
fees and adjust meet actual expenses. The process and authority to adjust these fees are addressed in laws of the State of Illinois.  

The following excerpts from 55 ILCS 5/4-5001) (from Ch. 34, par. 4-5001) describe the included fees. 
   

“For serving or attempting to serve summons on each defendant in each county, $10.” 

 

“For serving or attempting to serve an order or judgment granting injunctional relief in each 

county, $10.”  

 

“For serving or attempting to serve each garnishee in each county, $10.” 

 

“For serving or attempting to serve an order for replevin in each county, $10.” 

 

“For serving or attempting to serve an order for attachment on each defendant in each county, $10.” 

 

“For serving or attempting to serve a warrant of arrest, $8, to be paid upon conviction”.  

 

“For taking special bail, $1 in each county.”  

 

   “For serving or attempting to serve a subpoena on each witness, in each county, $10.”  

215



     

   “For returning each process, in each county, $5.” 

 

   “For summoning each juror, $3 with 30¢ mileage each way in all counties.” 

  

“For serving or attempting to serve notice of judgments or levying to enforce a judgment, $3 with 

50¢ mileage each way in all counties.” 

  

“For taking possession of and removing property levied on, the officer shall be allowed to tax the 

actual cost of such possession or removal.” 

 

“For attending before a court with prisoner, on an order for habeas corpus, in each county, $10 per 

day.”  

    

“For attending before a court with a prisoner in any criminal proceeding, in each county, $10 per 

day.” 

  

   “For serving or attempting to serve an order or judgment for the possession of real estate in an 

action of ejectment or in any other action, or for restitution in an action of forcible entry and 

detainer without aid, $10 and when aid is necessary, the sheriff shall be allowed to tax in addition 

the actual costs thereof, and for each mile of necessary travel, 50¢ each way.” 

  

“The foregoing fees allowed by this Section are the maximum fees that may be collected from any 

officer, agency, department or other instrumentality of the State. The county board may, however, by 

ordinance, increase the fees allowed by this Section and collect those increased fees from all 

persons and entities other than officers, agencies, departments and other instrumentalities of the 

State if the increase is justified by an acceptable cost study showing that the fees allowed by this 

Section are not sufficient to cover the costs of providing the service. A statement of the costs of 

providing each service, program and activity shall be prepared by the county board. All supporting 

documents shall be public records and subject to public examination and audit. All direct and 

indirect costs, as defined in the United States Office of Management and Budget Circular A-87, may be 

included in the determination of the costs of each service, program and activity.” 

 

 

 

 

 

216



Section 730 addresses expenses related to the housing of inmates.  In part it provides direction whereby counties may collect fees for medical 
expenses incurred. 

(730 ILCS 125/17) (from Ch. 75, par. 117)  
 
“To the extent that such person is reasonably able to pay for such care, including reimbursement from 

any insurance program or from other medical benefit programs available to such person, he or she 

shall reimburse the county or arresting authority.” 

“The county shall be entitled to a $10 fee for each conviction or order of supervision for a criminal 

violation, other than a petty offense or business offense. The fee shall be taxed as costs to be 

collected from the defendant, if possible, upon conviction or entry of an order of supervision. The 

fee shall not be considered a part of the fine for purposes of any reduction in the fine.”  

Bellwether recommends Tazewell County actively pursue recovery of inmate medical expenses and other inmate debt to the county through 
the Illinois Comptroller Local Government Debt Recovery Program. 

Bellwether LLC does not provide legal advice.  The decision to change or add fees is the sole responsibility of Tazewell County government.  

Methods 

The Cost of Services Study or Fee Review is a detailed analysis of the data related to the operations and expenses of the department.  Central 
to the analysis is: 

• Annual budgeted expenses 
• Actual expenses 
• Inclusion (or exclusion) of expense categories or lines within the department budget(s) 
• Actual staff related expenses 
• Current revenues derived from fees 
• Current revenues derived from other sources 
• Service requests - Volumes and trends 
• Changes in State Law or Regulations 
• Onsite observation of core processes related to each service 
• Appropriate exclusions of data (related to services that are non-eligible for fees) 
 
 

 

217



Bellwether engaged County staff only to the extent necessary to collect and clarify the data.   

• The provided data was assessed for reasonableness and completeness.  The Bellwether analysis produced a detailed description of 
each service under review and detailed direct and indirect costs that can be attributed to each. 

• Both direct and indirect expenses may be included for the purpose of establishing the cost of services under Illinois law.  Direct 
expenses are expenses, including labor, that are directly incurred for the purpose of delivering a particular service.  These expenses include 
pre-printed forms, dedicated equipment or software, or dedicated office facilities.  Indirect expenses are expenses that include shared 
management services or administrative costs, portions of shared facility costs and equipment.  

• While it is not possible to attribute every moment of every transaction to an individual, it is possible to understand the flow of the 
work and develop a weighted value of labor.  

• Several processes have direct materials, equipment, and other relatable costs.  To the extent possible these costs are determined on a 
"per transaction" basis.   

Indirect costs were allocated to specific activities within the office when possible, when not possible the costs were allocated to general 
administration.  According to federal rules (US Office of Management & Budget Circular A-87), indirect expenses associated with central 
services provided to sub-units of local governments would be documented in a Central Services Cost Allocation Plan to ensure the consistent 
treatment of these expenses. 

Summary of Results 

Information suggests that the fees reviewed as part of this project are not sufficient to recover actual costs.  Adjusting fees to actual costs 
would result in a potential increase in fee-based revenue. 

Actual annual revenue may vary based on the final fee established and the actual annual volume of transactions. Many counties choose to 
round down to the next full dollar to avoid additional cash management efforts. 
 
The following chart provides an overview of the gap among current fees (blue) and potential fee (red). 
 

  

218



Overview of Fee Potential 

 
 

Bellwether assumes the information provided by the departments to be true and accurate to the best of their ability and does not propose 
specific recommendations for establishing or changing fees.  Our observations suggest an increase in some fees may be warranted and 
acceptable under current state law not to exceed the Actual Total Cost above.  
 
Some annual volumes of transactions are estimates using the best judgement of the Sheriff Department staff and by juxtaposing related 
values by Bellwether staff experience. (i.e., the number of inmates relative to sick call request volume) Bellwether recommends conservative 
estimation for budgeting purposes until actual volume data can be confirmed by the department. 

  

219



The following Table contrasts the Statute Fee from the Current Fee and the calculated Total Costs 

 

 

 

FEE DESCRIPTION IN STATUTE
STATUTE FEE CURRENT FEE Total Labor Vehicle Costs Indirect Costs Total Costs Fee Change

Serving Fees (general category) 10.00$           19.50$                     36.18$           16.50$           8.86$                61.53$               42.03$           

Each additional person served 10.00$           19.50$                     12.93$           1.15$             0.62$                14.70$               (4.80)$            

    For returning each process, in each county,   5.00$             -$                         11.39$           -$               4.43$                15.82$               15.82$           

    Mileage for each mile of necessary travel to serve any 

such process as Stated above, calculating from the place 

of holding court to the place of residence of the 

defendant, or witness, 

0.50$             0.50$                       -$               -$               -$                  $0.50 x miles -$               

    For serving or attempting to serve an order or 

judgment for the possession of real estate in an action of 

ejectment or in any other action, or for restitution in an 

action of forcible entry and detainer without aid,  and 

when aid is necessary, the sheriff shall be allowed to tax 

in addition the actual costs thereof, and for each mile of 

necessary travel, 

10.00$           19.50$                     126.54$         16.50$           27.67$              170.70$            151.20$         

    For taking special bail, in each county.  1.00$             -$                         62.20$           -$               17.27$              79.47$               79.47$           

    In addition to the above fees there shall be allowed to 

the sheriff a fee of $600 for the sale of real estate which 

is made by virtue of any judgment of a court, except that 

in the case of a sale of unimproved real estate which sells 

for $10,000 or less, the fee shall be $150. In addition to 

this fee and all other fees provided by this Section, there 

shall be allowed to the sheriff a fee in accordance with 

the following schedule for the sale of personal estate 

which is made by virtue of any judgment of a court:     For 

judgments up to $1,000, $75;  For judgments from $1,001 

to $15,000, $150; For judgments over $15,000, $300.

600.00$        600.00$                   -$               -$               -$                  -$                   -$               

220



 

MUTLIPLE ATTEMPTS AT PROCESS SERVICE 

The Sheriff’s Department may establish a limit on the number of attempts for the initial fee. In the policy the Sheriff may establish an 
additional fee for further attempts. For example, additional attempts may be charged the deputy labor costs ($38.16) plus mileage. The 
department policy should be clearly posted for requesters.  

EVICTION STANDBY 

The Eviction Standby fee assumes one deputy present per hour.  Additional deputies requested as standby and not required by a criminal act 
occurring during the eviction will result in additional fees.   

BOND FEE / BOOKING FEE 

The effect of the Illinois Safe-T Act will drastically reduce the instances of collecting bond/bail.  Some Illinois Counties have instituted a 
“Booking Fee” that is not specifically defined in statute.  Bellwether’s analysis draws process similarities between the initial booking and the 
bonding processes and has used the fee calculations interchangeably.   

  

FEE DESCRIPTION IN STATUTE
STATUTE FEE CURRENT FEE Total Labor Vehicle Costs Indirect Costs Total Costs Fee Change

    For attending before a court with a prisoner in any 

criminal proceeding, in each county,  per day. 
10.00$           -$                         49.75$           -$               13.28$              63.04$               63.04$           

Sex Offender Registration - (730 ILCS 150/3) - (6) The 

person shall pay a $100 initial registration fee and a $100 

annual renewal fee. $35 retained by the County and $65 

sent to the State of Illinois

100.00$        100.00$                   -$               -$               -$                  -$                   -$               

NON-STATUTORY FEES COMMON IN OTHER COUNTIES

Fingerprinting (requests from outside of the department) -$               25.00$                     30.98$           -$               6.64$                39.38$               14.38$           

Eviction Stand By -$               19.50$                     95.55$           -$               21.03$              116.58$            97.08$           

Over Night Fees -$               48.00$                     49.75$           -$               13.28$              63.04$               15.04$           

COPY FEE (general) -$               0.50$                       -$               -$               -$                  -$                   -$               

Accident Reconstruction actual NA -$               -$               -$                  -$                   -$               

Corrections fee for attending sick call on premesis -$               10.00$                     16.58$           -$               4.43$                21.01$               15.22$           

Corrections fee for transport to medical / dental off 

premesis
-$               25.00$                     33.17$           -$               8.86$                42.02$               30.45$           

221



COLLECTION OF FEES FROM INMATES 

Collection of fees from inmates can be particularly difficult.  Illinois State Comptroller’s Act (15 ILCS 405/10.05) (from Ch. 15, par. 210.05) 
provides for programs to aid local governments in collecting fines and fees due the county.  The Local Government Debt Recovery Program is 
a ZERO cost partnership with the Illinois Comptroller’s Office.  The local government submits regular list of those owing fines or fees to the 
County.   

The Comptroller’s Office compares the list to all recipients of payments from the State of Illinois.  Any debt to the County is automatically 
deducted from the state payment (most commonly tax refunds).  There are provisions that allow Counties to go back seven years in 
collection and may collect up to $500 per year. 

Bellwether has seen several counties and municipalities increase collections on a quantum scale using this program.  We strongly recommend 
Tazewell County explore the program and exert effort into identifying and submitting outstanding debt. 

Potential Revenue  

The potential revenue gains from the proposed fee adjustments indicate a significant increase, with projected revenue rising from $96,681 to 
approximately $208,531.19. However, it is important to note that this estimate is based solely on the previous year's data and assumes that 
service volumes and collection rates remain consistent. Many factors—such as changes in demand, enforcement, external economic 
conditions, and policy adjustments—can impact actual revenue outcomes. While these projections provide valuable insight into potential 
financial improvements, they should not be viewed as a guaranteed outcome but rather as a data-driven estimate 

222



Attachment A – Sample County Board Action on Sheriff Fees 

 WHEREAS, 55 ILCS 5/4-5001 provides that the statutory County Sheriff fees may be increased by the County Board 
if an increase is “justified by an acceptable cost study showing that the fees allowed by this Section (55 ILCS 5/4-5001) 
are not sufficient to cover the costs of providing the services”; and 

WHEREAS, 55 ILCS 5/4-5001 requires a statement of the costs of providing each service, program and activity be 
prepared and be part of the public record; and 

WHEREAS, 730 ILCS 125/17 provides that the Sheriff may seek reimbursement for medical treatment costs; and  

WHEREAS, a statement of cost (attached hereto and made a part hereof) and cost analysis by Bellwether LLC. has 
been prepared; and  

WHEREAS, based on the Bellwether LLC study and the recommendation of the County Sheriff, and the County 
Board agrees that the County Code should be amended to change and establish the fees charged by the Tazewell County 
Sheriff. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED that the County Code is amended as follows: 

 

 

 

 

INSERT NEW FEE SCHEDULE HERE 

 

 

 

223



 COMMITTEE REPORT   F-25-15 
 
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Finance Committee has considered the following RESOLUTION and recommends that it be 
adopted by the Board: 
 
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

RESOLUTION 
 
WHEREAS, the County’s Finance Committee recommends to the County Board to authorize the 
planning and developing of the Operating Budget for Tazewell County for FY26; and 
 
WHEREAS, the goal is to achieve a balanced Operating Budget for the General and Special 
Revenue Funds; and  
  
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the County Board set FY26 budget parameters and process 

as follows: 
 

• Commodities and contractual expenses may increase to cover anticipated cost 
increases due to inflation 

• Departments are to continue to recognize in their respective budgets costs 
associated with the operation of their department operations as feasible (i.e. cell 
phone reimbursement, software costs unique to a department, office supply needs 
unique to a department, etc.) 

• Elected officials and department heads will have a meeting scheduled with county 
administration and two Finance Committee members appointed by the Finance 
Committee Chairman to discuss the budget requests 

• The County Administrator, Finance Committee, or Finance Committee member 
appointees may request additional information/supporting documentation for the 
need to increase costs 

• A recommendation will be made by the County Administrator to the Finance 
Committee 

• Special Revenue Funds are asked to submit operating budgets that consider the 
projected ending fund balance in relation to the County’s Fiscal Management Policy 

• It is requested that the Property Committee revise the multi-year Capital 
Improvement Plan 

• Departmental requests for any new capital expenditures greater than $5,000 should 
be submitted using a Capital Expenditure – Budget Request Form 

• Non-union employees will be considered for a general wage increase based upon the 
recommendation of the HR Committee 

• The property tax levy will be budgeted at the amount allowed under PTELL 
 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notifies the County Board Office and the 
Finance Director of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 30th DAY OF APRIL, 2025. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________  ________________________________ 
Tazewell County Clerk     Tazewell County Board Chairman 

224



       E-25-34      
 COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Executive Committees have considered the following RESOLUTION and 
recommends that it be adopted by the Board: 
 
 
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

R E S O L U T I O N 
 
WHEREAS, the County’s Executive Committee recommends the adoption of the attached 
Resolution authorizing application for Public Transportation Financial Assistance under 
Section 5311 of the Federal Transit Act of 1991, as amended (49 U.S.C.§ 5311) and to 
approve grant application for the Downstate Operating Assistance Grant Agreement made 
by TCRC, Inc. DBA We Care; and  
 
WHEREAS, the provision of public transit service is essential to the transportation of 
persons in the non-urbanized area; and 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the County Board approve this recommendation. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notifies the County Board Office, 
TCRC, Inc. DBA We Care, Treasurer, Finance, and the Auditor of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 30th DAY OF APRIL, 2025. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________  ________________________________ 
Tazewell County Clerk    Tazewell County Board Chairman 

225



226



227



228



229



230



231



232



233



234



235



236



237



238



239



240



241



242



243



244



245



246



247



248



249



250



251



252



253



254



255



256



257



258



259



260



261



262



263



264



265



266



267



268



269



270



271



272



273



274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



E-25-37  
COMMITTEE REPORT 

 
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Executive Committee has considered the following RESOLUTION and recommends 
that it be adopted by the Board: 
 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------ 

R E S O L U T I O N 
 

WHEREAS, the Executive Committee recommends to the County Board to authorize the 
2nd quarterly payment for 2025 per the agreement between Tazewell County and the 
Greater Peoria Economic Development Council; and  
 
WHEREAS, Resolution E-25-16 approved an agreement with GPEDC for twelve months 
from January 1, 2025 through December 31, 2025; and 
 
WHEREAS, Tazewell County agreed to pay the Greater Peoria Economic Development 
Council quarterly installments for the term of this Agreement provided that the full 
County Board approves based upon quarterly review of GPEDC performance.  
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the County Board approve the recommendation and 
authorize payment of the 2nd quarter investment for 2025. 
 
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notifies the County Board Office, 
Greater Peoria Economic Development Council, Finance, and the Auditor of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 30th DAY OF APRIL, 2025. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________  ________________________________ 
Tazewell County Clerk     Tazewell County Board Chairman 

284



INVOICE
Greater Peoria Economic
Development Council
201 SW Adams St
Peoria, IL 61602-1407

csetti@greaterpeoriaedc.org
+1 (309) 495-5910

;Tazewell County Treasurer
Bill to

David Zimmerman
Tazewell County
11 S. Fourth St., Suite 432
Pekin, IL 61554

Invoice details

Invoice no.: GPEDC_2025-31
Terms: Net 60
Invoice date: 04/03/2025
Due date: 06/02/2025

Description Amount

2025 GPEDC Investment 2 of 4 $18,750.00

Ways to pay

View and pay

Total $18,750.00

285

mailto:csetti@greaterpeoriaedc.org
tel:3094955910
https://connect.intuit.com/portal/app/CommerceNetwork/view/scs-v1-87eeb8b15e2e47ab8ef194591cbfc55919453b463bba4f96a3c0081561d2bb7283281ea6208e4760b3eb47b3e75534a8?locale=en_US&cta=pdfbutton


E-25-38 
COMMITTEE REPORT 

 
Mr. Chairman and Members of the Tazewell County Board: 
 
Your Executive Committee has considered the following RESOLUTION and 
recommends that it be adopted by the Board: 
 
----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

RESOLUTION 
 

WHEREAS, the County’s Executive Committee recommends to the County Board 
to add to the list of project requests for federal community project funding and 
other funding sources if the opportunity becomes available, and set the priority 
of projects; and  
 
WHEREAS, the County Board approved resolution E-25-23 on February 26, 2025 
designating the following two transportation projects as the priorities for 
submitting funding requests: 
 

• Bridge replacement for Hopedale Road over Little Mackinaw Creek 
(Structure 090-3024; Section 23-00040-00-BR)  

• Road widening of Muller Road from East Peoria to Morton (Section 22-
00019-00-WR) on February 26, 2025 (Resolution E-25-23); and 

 
WHEREAS, the Bridge Replacement for Furrow Road over Lost Creek project was 
selected to receive $500,000 through the 2025 federal community project 
funding process last year through the project nomination by Congressman 
LaHood; and 
 
WHEREAS, federal appropriations for the 2025 federal community project 
funding are unlikely since a continuing resolution is funding the federal 
government for the remainder of the year, which does not include the funding; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the Bridge Replacement for Furrow Road (TR 141) over Lost Creek 
remains a high priority for the County and should be resubmitted with first 
priority for funding opportunities, including resubmitting for the 2026 community 
project funding based on the following description: 
 

This project consists of the replacement of an existing bridge structure that 
has passed its design-life with being built in 1961, and carries the two-lane 
Township Road (Furrow Road, TR 141) over Lost Creek in the south 
outskirts of Pekin, IL in Tazewell County. The bridge serves residents, 
business, and agricultural transportation. Due to the present bridge being 
in a "dog-leg" alignment as it crosses Lost Creek, with current traffic, it 
presents safety concerns. Other detrimental characteristics include 
decaying timber piling, a narrow width impeding wider implements of 

286



husbandry, and closed abutments which restrict the water flow of Lost 
Creek. This existing bridge is restricted to less than legal loads, thereby 
impeding agri-business. 

 
WHEREAS, the two previously identified projects in resolution E-25-23 shall 
continue to be priorities for funding sources, subordinate to the Furrow Road 
Bridge Project. 
 
THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the County Board approve this 
recommendation and authorize the submittal of the projects for community 
project funding and other funding if the opportunity becomes available. 
  
BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the County Clerk notify the Highway Engineer 
and the County Board of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 30th DAY OF APRIL, 2025. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ ____________________________ 
Tazewell County Clerk   Tazewell County Board Chairman 
  

287



E-25-28 
 

REAPPOINTMENT 
 

I, Brett Grimm, Chairman of the Tazewell County (Illinois) Board, hereby reappoint Lori 
Prater of 2229 Mar Vista Drive, Washington, Illinois 61571 to the Northern Tazewell Fire 
Department board for a term commencing May 1, 2025 and expiring April 30, 2027. 
  
 

COMMITTEE REPORT 
  

TO:  Tazewell County Board 
FROM:  Executive Committee 
 
This Committee has reviewed the reappointment of Lori Prater to the Northern Tazewell 
Fire Department board and we recommend said reappointment be approved. 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION OF APPROVAL 
 

The Tazewell County Board hereby approves the reappointment of Lori Prater to the 
Northern Tazewell Fire Department board. 
 
The County Clerk shall notify the County Board Office and Mark F. Rossi Law Office. 
 
PASSED THIS 30th DAY OF APRIL, 2025. 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
              
Tazewell County Clerk     Tazewell County Board Chairman 

288



E-25-29 
 

REAPPOINTMENT 
 

I, Brett Grimm, Chairman of the Tazewell County (Illinois) Board, hereby reappoint 
Kathy Perhay of 2 Colonial Court, Washington, IL 61571 to the Northern Tazewell Fire 
Protection District for a term commencing March 01, 2025 and expiring February 28, 2028. 
 
 

COMMITTEE REPORT 
  

TO:  Tazewell County Board 
FROM:  Executive Committee 
 
This Committee has reviewed the reappointment of Kathy Perhay to the Northern Tazewell 
Fire Protection District and we recommend said reappointment be approved. 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION OF APPROVAL 
 

The Tazewell County Board hereby approves the reappointment of Kathy Perhay to the 
Northern Tazewell Fire Protection District. 
 
The County Clerk shall notify the County Board Office and the County Board Office will 
notify Arthur Kingery, 416 Main St., Ste. 915, Peoria, IL 61602 of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 30th DAY OF APRIL, 2025. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
              
Tazewell County Clerk     Tazewell County Board Chairman 

289



E-25-30 
 

REAPPOINTMENT 
 

I, Brett Grimm, Chairman of the Tazewell County (Illinois) Board, hereby reappoint 
Brad Brooks of 1300 Highview Road, East Peoria, IL 61611, to the East Peoria Sanitary 
District for a term commencing May 01, 2025 and expiring April 30, 2028. 
 
 

COMMITTEE REPORT 
  

TO:  Tazewell County Board 
FROM:  Executive Committee 
 
This Committee has reviewed the reappointment of Brad Brooks to the East Peoria 
Sanitary District and we recommend said reappointment be approved. 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION OF APPROVAL 
 

The Tazewell County Board hereby approves the reappointment of Brad Brooks to the East 
Peoria Sanitary District. 
 
The County Clerk shall notify the County Board Office and the County Board Office will 
notify Attorney Dick Williams, 139 E. Washington Street, East Peoria, IL 61611. 
 
PASSED THIS 30th DAY OF APRIL, 2025.  
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
              
Tazewell County Clerk     Tazewell County Board Chairman 

290



E-25-31 
REAPPOINTMENT 

 
I, Brett Grimm, Chairman of the Tazewell County (Illinois) Board, hereby reappoint 
Samantha Severns, 105 Morton Street, Creve Coeur, IL 61610 to the Greater Creve Coeur 
Sanitary District for a term commencing May 1, 2025 and expiring April 30, 2028. 
 
 

COMMITTEE REPORT 
  

TO:  Tazewell County Board 
FROM:  Executive Committee 
 
This Committee has reviewed the reappointment of Samantha Severns to the 
Greater Creve Coeur Sanitary District and we recommend said reappointment be 
approved. 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION OF APPROVAL 
 

The Tazewell County Board hereby approves the reappointment of Samantha Severns to 
the Greater Creve Coeur Sanitary District. 
 
The County Clerk shall notify the County Board Office and the County Board Office will 
notify Attorney Caitlin Paluska of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 30th DAY OF APRIL, 2025. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
             
Tazewell County Clerk    Tazewell County Board Chairman 

291



E-25-32 
 

REAPPOINTMENT 
 

I, Brett Grimm, Chairman of the Tazewell County (Illinois) Board, hereby reappoint 
Wilbert Grimm of 1600 Gingoteague Way, Pekin, IL to the Lake Arlann Drainage District 
for a term commencing January 01, 2025 and expiring December 31, 2027. 
 
 

COMMITTEE REPORT 
  

TO:  Tazewell County Board 
FROM:  Executive Committee 
 
This Committee has reviewed the reappointment of Wilbert Grimm to the Lake Arlann 
Drainage District and we recommend said appointment be approved. 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION OF APPROVAL 
 

The Tazewell County Board hereby approves the reappointment of Wilbert Grimm to the 
Lake Arlann Drainage District. 
 
The County Clerk shall notify the County Board Office and the County Board Office will 
notify McGrath Law Office of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 30th DAY OF APRIL, 2025. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
 
              
Tazewell County Clerk     Tazewell County Board Chairman 

292



E-25-33 
 

APPOINTMENT 
 

I, Brett Grimm, Chairman of the Tazewell County (Illinois) Board, hereby appoint 
Nic Maquet, 111 S. Capitol Street, Pekin, IL to the Lake Arlann Drainage District for a term 
commencing May 1, 2025 and expiring August 31, 2025. 
 
 

COMMITTEE REPORT 
  

TO:  Tazewell County Board 
FROM:  Executive Committee 
 
This Committee has reviewed the appointment of Nic Maquet to the Lake Arlann Drainage 
District and we recommend said appointment be approved. 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION OF APPROVAL 
 

The Tazewell County Board hereby approves the appointment of Nic Maquet to the Lake 
Arlann Drainage District. 
 
The County Clerk shall notify the County Board Office and the County Board Office will 
notify McGrath Law Office of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 30th DAY OF APRIL, 2025. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
              
Tazewell County Clerk     Tazewell County Board Chairman 

293



E-25-35 
 

REAPPOINTMENT 
 

I, Brett Grimm, Chairman of the Tazewell County (Illinois) Board, hereby reappoint 
Jimmy Stevens of 8 Wilmar Terrace, East Peoria, IL to the Board of Review for a term 
commencing June 01, 2025 and expiring May 31, 2027. 
 
 

COMMITTEE REPORT 
  

TO:  Tazewell County Board 
FROM:  Executive Committee 
 
This Committee has reviewed the reappointment of Jimmy Stevens to the Board of Review 
and we recommend said reappointment be approved. 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION OF APPROVAL 
 

The Tazewell County Board hereby approves the reappointment of Jimmy Stevens to the 
Board of Review. 
 
The County Clerk shall notify the County Board Office and the County Board Office will 
notify the Tazewell County Board Chairman of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 30th DAY OF April, 2025.  
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
              
Tazewell County Clerk     Tazewell County Board Chairman 

294



E-25-36 
 

REAPPOINTMENT 
 
I, Brett Grimm, Chairman of the Tazewell County (Illinois) Board, hereby reappoint John 
Bisanz of 103 Cayman, Washington, IL to the Board of Review for a term commencing 
June 01, 2025 and expiring May 31, 2027. 
____________________________________________________________________ 
 

COMMITTEE REPORT 
 
To:         Tazewell County Board 
From:      Executive Committee 
 
The Committee has reviewed the reappointment of John Bisanz to the Board of Review 
and we recommend said appointment to be approved. 

 
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------  

 
R E S O L U T I O N OF APPROVAL 

 
The Tazewell County Board hereby approves the reappointment of John Bisanz to the 
Board of Review. 
 
The County Clerk shall notify the County Board Office and the County Board Office will 
notify the County Board Chairman of this action. 
 
PASSED THIS 30th DAY OF April, 2025. 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
________________________________  ________________________________ 
Tazewell County Clerk    Tazewell County Board Chairman 

295



 Tazewell County Board 
Calendar of Meetings  

 May 2025 
 

     
   

Zoning Board of Appeals  Tuesday, May 6  Crawford, Hopkins, Stahl, Hall, Goddard,  
 Duane Lessen, Chair   5:30pm – Justice Center Woodrow, Schmidgall, Longfellow 
      Conference Room  
 
 Land Use    Tuesday, May 13  Hopkins, Stahl, Hall, Goddard, Woodrow,     
 Russ Crawford, Chair   5:00pm – McKenzie Building Schmidgall, Longfellow 
      Jury Room 
 
 Health Services   Thursday, May 8  Sinn, Hopkins, Longfellow, Goddard,   
 Jay Hall, Chair    5:30 pm – Health   Stump, Rich-Stimson, Schmidgall 
      Department - Tremont 
 
 Insurance Review   No May meeting   Graff, Hopkins, Mingus   
 Tammy Rich-Stimson, Chair 
   

Transportation   Tuesday, May 20  Proehl, Graff, Milam, Rich-Stimson,     
 Greg Menold, Chair   1:30pm – Highway   Nelms, Woodrow 
      Department - Tremont 
 
 Property    Tuesday, May 20  Hopkins, Mingus, Proehl, Harris, Stahl,     
 Max Schneider , Chair   3:30pm – Justice Center Schmidgall, Joesting, Phillips 
      Conference Room 
 
 Finance    Tuesday, May 20  Schneider, Woodrow, Milam, Mingus,    
 Mike Harris, Chair   following Property – Justice Proehl, Crawford, Stahl, Joesting,  
        Center Conference Room Schmidgall, Phillips 
 
 Human Resources   Tuesday, May 20  Woodrow, Milam, Schmidgall, Joesting,  
 Mike Harris, Chair   following Finance – Justice Crawford, Mingus, Proehl, Stahl, Phillips 
      Center Conference Room 
 

Risk Management   Wednesday, May 21   Harris, Crawford, Hall, Joesting, Menold,    
 Brett Grimm, Chair   4:00pm – McKenzie Building  Mingus, Proehl, Sinn, Schneider 
      Jury Room 
 

Executive    Wednesday, May 21    Harris, Crawford, Hall, Joesting, Menold,        
Brett Grimm, Chair   following Risk Management Mingus, Proehl, Sinn, Schneider  

 
Board of Health   No May meeting  Hall   

       
 

Memorial Day Holiday  Monday, May 26  County Offices Closed  
 
 County Board    Wednesday, May 28  All County Board Members   
      6:00 pm – Justice Center 
      Conference Room 
 

296


	HS-25-08 Resolution - Agreement for Deputy Administrator of Tazewell County Animal & Rabies Control.pdf
	RESOLUTION

	T-25-07 - Robison Rd Box Culvert - 19-14119-00-DR.pdf
	19-14119-00-DR.pdf
	Sheet1 (2)
	Sheet1 (3)


	County Board Packet.pdf
	Land Use Summary of Action
	Special Use Recommendation Class A Cases
	Special Use Ordinance - Class A
	Special Use Recommendation Class A Cases
	Special Use Ordinance - Class A
	Rezoning Recommendation
	Rezoning Ordinance

	4-22-25 Property agenda packet - reduced.pdf
	P-25-07 Animal Control building.pdf
	Exhibit A - Cost Breakdown.pdf
	Sheet1

	2025-P-02 - Bid Award Sheet-Final.pdf
	Sheet1



	4-22-25-Finance-Agenda Packet.pdf
	F-25-15_ FY26 Budget Parameters.pdf
	THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the County Board set FY26 budget parameters and process as follows:
	 Commodities and contractual expenses may increase to cover anticipated cost increases due to inflation
	 Departments are to continue to recognize in their respective budgets costs associated with the operation of their department operations as feasible (i.e. cell phone reimbursement, software costs unique to a department, office supply needs unique to ...
	 Elected officials and department heads will have a meeting scheduled with county administration and two Finance Committee members appointed by the Finance Committee Chairman to discuss the budget requests
	 A recommendation will be made by the County Administrator to the Finance Committee
	 Special Revenue Funds are asked to submit operating budgets that consider the projected ending fund balance in relation to the County’s Fiscal Management Policy
	 It is requested that the Property Committee revise the multi-year Capital Improvement Plan
	 Departmental requests for any new capital expenditures greater than $5,000 should be submitted using a Capital Expenditure – Budget Request Form
	 Non-union employees will be considered for a general wage increase based upon the recommendation of the HR Committee
	 The property tax levy will be budgeted at the amount allowed under PTELL

	F-25-14 Approve Bellwether cost study for Sheriff's Office.pdf
	New Fees Listing - Attachement A - Without Judgements.pdf
	Attachment A



	E-25-38 Community Project Funding - amended.pdf
	RESOLUTION

	04-30-25 CoBo Agenda.pdf
	D. Communications from elected and appointed county officials
	1. Health Department Overview by Amy Fox and Stacie Ealey




